Women's health in sport: The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding and iron deficiency.

Miss Georgie Emma Kate Bruinvels BSc

University College London (UCL)

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

I, Georgie Bruinvels confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Where information has been derived from other sources, I confirm that this has been indicated in the thesis.

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my thanks to my supervisors (Dr Charles Pedlar and Professor Toby Richards), to Dr Richard Burden and Dr Nicola Brown, to all participants who were involved in my studies, and finally to all my friends and family.

Abstract

Menstruation is the leading cause of iron deficiency anaemia in pre-menopausal women. When combined with regular exercise, iron deficiency (ID) risk in menstruating women is increased. This may be exacerbated in those with heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB), which despite no validated diagnosis, is thought common in the general population but is underinvestigated in exercisers. Accordingly, the potential relationship between menstruation, ID and performance remains unknown. The aims of this research were to: a) identify HMB prevalence (utilising a diagnostic series) and association with fatigue and perceived disruption to exercise training/performance in exercising women; b) evaluate the impact and existing diagnosis of ID.

A 'Female Health Questionnaire' was developed to identify HMB amongst other factors in an exercising population (n=789), elite athletes (n=90) and London Marathon runners (n=1073). The relationships between iron status, HMB and fatigue or the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance was then investigated in exercising women (n=271). Finally, a clinical trial assessed the impact of intravenous iron repletion (single dose of 20 mg·kg⁻¹) on exercise and aerobic capacity, haematological markers, fatigue and mood disturbance in non-elite, iron deficient (serum ferritin \leq 30µg·L⁻¹), exercising women (n=32).

HMB was identified to be common (37% elite athletes, 36% marathon runners), and associated with perceived disruption to exercise training/performance and fatigue, but these relationships were independent of iron status. Iron repletion improved exercise and aerobic capacity, but only in those more severely iron deficient (serum ferritin <15 μ g·L⁻¹), with wide individual variation, unrelated to baseline serum ferritin.

In conclusion, HMB is a risk factor for ID, physiological and psychological function decrements in exercising women. Intravenous iron repletion effectively restores iron status and improves functional exercise capacity when true ID exists. Serum ferritin as a biomarker for ID and its associated normative data should be re-evaluated to avoid false positive ID diagnosis.

Impact statement

UCL research has highlighted a lack of awareness and understanding of common issues experienced by exercising women that can affect both their exercise performance and general health. These findings should inform future practice amongst sports physicians and sports scientists, and a forthcoming research focus should be placed on identifying treatment options.

The menstrual cycle has the potential to affect exercise performance. However, the causes for this and optimal treatment options are largely unknown. Prior research assessing menstrual dysfunction in athletes has primarily focussed on amenorrhea and oligomenorrhea. However, here, heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) was shown to be a prevalent issue in both recreational and elite level athletes, with more than 1 in 3 reporting a history of this condition. Menstruation is the leading cause of iron deficiency in developed countries, likelihood is inevitably exacerbated in those with HMB. HMB was found to have a detrimental effect on physiological and psychological function.

Those who exercise have an increased risk of iron deficiency, and supplementation amongst this populous is common. Accordingly, nearly 80% of elite athletes reported use of iron supplementation. However, many were found to supplement without prior knowledge of iron status. Unnecessary iron supplementation is not beneficial to exercise or aerobic capacity, it can cause several unwanted side effects and is a primary risk factor in those with genetic abnormalities that predispose them to iron overload.

There has been a previous lack of clarity surrounding the diagnosis of iron deficiency, particularly amongst those who exercise. Serum ferritin is the primary marker used for diagnosis, and cut-offs typically range from 12 - 40 μ g·L⁻¹. However, applying the principle that a positive response to iron repletion indicates iron deficiency, the results from a recent clinical trial suggest that existing diagnostic guidelines and markers need to be re-evaluated. Diagnosing iron deficiency using a serum ferritin cut-off of 30 μ g·L⁻¹, an overall improvement in physiological and psychological function was seen when exercising women had their iron stores repleted. However, when broken down into groups based on severity of iron deficiency, as defined using serum ferritin, endurance and aerobic capacity only increased in those with more severe iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹). However, amongst this group there was a range of individual variation in response, not predicted by baseline serum ferritin. This trial firstly highlighted that existing serum ferritin can be used to identify those with an increased iron deficiency risk, measurement of other iron

status markers alongside this is necessary to enhance diagnostic ability. For best practice, iron status should be monitored longitudinally, with intervention only when a significant decline is observed.

Sports physicians should assess for HMB on presentation in athletes and need to be aware of the potential impacts it can have. Other markers in addition to serum ferritin should be used for iron deficiency diagnosis, and both athletes and athlete support personnel need to ensure that appropriate advice is sought prior to supplementation.

Table of contents

Acknowledgements2		
Abstract3		
Impact state	ment	4
List of abbre	eviations	.11
List of tables	5	.13
List of figure	9S	.16
List of public	cations	.18
1 Chapton	4	24
11 Gen	ral introduction	.21
2 Review	of the literature	.20
2.1 VVna 2.1 1	At IS IFON ?	.20
2.1.1 2.2 Diet	chemistry of iron in the body	.20
2.2 DISI 2.3 Euro	ctions of iron	.21
2.3 101	Iron-containing haem compounds	28
2.3.1	Iron containing haem enzymes	30
233	Iron containing non-haem enzymes	.30
234	Immune function	.30
235	Other functions	.31
2.4 A la	ck of iron: iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia	.31
2.5 Dia	unosis of IDA and iron deficiency	.32
2.5.1	Serum ferritin for diagnosis of IDA in regular exercisers	.32
2.5.2	Haemoglobin concentration (IHb) for diagnosis in those who exercise	.33
2.5.3	Other candidate markers for the determination of iron status	.34
2.6 Tota	al haemoglobin mass	.34
2.7 Prev	valence of IDA. anaemia and iron deficiency	.36
2.8 Typ	es and causes of anaemia	.36
2.8.1	Macrocytic anaemia	.37
2.8.2	Microcytic anaemia	.37
2.8.3	Normocytic anaemia	.38
2.9 Cau	ses of iron deficiency	.38
2.10 Iron	bioavailability, types of dietary iron, and essential trace elements	.40
2.10.1	Iron bioavailability and types of dietary iron	.40
2.10.2	Dietary factors that can impact iron absorption	.41
2.11 Sus	ceptibility to iron deficiency in exercising women	.43
2.11.1	Iron deficiency in the exercising population	.43
2.11.2	Iron deficiency specifically in exercising women	.46
2.11.3	Iron deficiency in menstruating women	.47
2.12 The	menstrual cycle in female athletes	.50
2.13 Effe	ct, diagnosis and treatment of iron deficiency	.51
2.13.1	Effects of iron deficiency in animal models	.52
2.13.2	Effects of iron deficiency on exercise performance	.52
2.13.3	Previous research evaluating the impact of iron therapy in iron deficient,	
- ··· ·	exercising participants	.54
2.13.4	Other relevant effects of iron deficiency	.62
2.13.5	The impact of iron therapy on fatigue and mood disturbance	.62
2.14 Iron	deficiency and the female athlete triad	.63
2.15 Mar	agement and treatment of iron deficiency	.65
2.15.1	Dietary intervention	.65
2.15.2	Oral supplementation	.65
2.15.3	Intravenous injections	.66

	2.15	4 Intramuscular injections	67
	2.16	Effects of iron supplementation in iron sufficient athletes	67
	2.17	Transport, delivery and storage of iron	67
	2.17	1 Iron transport within blood	67
	2.17	2 Iron tissue uptake	68
	2.17	3 Iron storage	70
	2.17	4 Toxicity of iron	70
	2.17	5 Release of free iron and haemoglobin into the circulation	71
	2.18	Maintenance of iron homeostasis	72
	2.18	1 Iron entry into the circulation	72
	2.19	Regulation of iron homeostasis	76
	2.19	1 Systemic control of iron homeostasis	76
	2.19	2 Cellular control of iron homeostasis	79
	2.20	Summary	82
	2.21	Overall aims and hypotheses of this thesis	83
	2.21	1 Thesis aims	83
2	Gon	aral methodology	84
5	3 1	Female Health Questionnaire	+0 <i>۱</i> ۵
	3.1	Diagnosis of Heavy Menstrual Rleeding (HMR)	 אק
	3 1 2	Accompanying questions in the Female Health Ouestionnaire	03 87
	313	Limitations with the existing 'Female Health Ouestionnaire'	
	32	Iniversity ethics approval process	Q1
	3.2	Famala Health Questionnaire v2	
	3.3	Limitations with the Female Health Ouestionnaire v2	
	0.0.1		
4	The id	entified prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) and its ass	sociation
	with re	ported menstrual cycle driven disruption to exercise training/perf	ormance
	in elite	and non-elite athletes	100
	4.1	Abstract	100
	4.2	ntroduction	101
	⊿ 2 1		
	۲ .۲.۱	Study aims	101
	4.2.2	Study aims Study hypotheses	101 101
	4.2.2 4.3	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods	101 101 102
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent	101 101 102 102
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent Inclusion criteria	101 101 102 102 102
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent Inclusion criteria Participants	101 101 102 102 102 102
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent Inclusion criteria Participants Study design	101 101 102 102 102 102 102
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 102
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 103
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results Participant characteristics - stage 1	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results Participant characteristics - stage 1 Participant characteristics - stage 2	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.5 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.2	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2.	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 106
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.3	Study aims Study hypotheses	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 106 109
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5	Study aims Study hypotheses	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 106 109 109
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6	Study aims Study hypotheses	101 101 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 106 109 109 109 109 109 109
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6	Study aims	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 106 106 109 109 109 naemia enstrual
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes Elite vs non- elite athletes. Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 106 106 106 109 109 naemia enstrual 111
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.5 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.4.5	Study aims Study hypotheses	101 101 102 102 102 102 103 103 105 105 106 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 101 111 113
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.4.5 4.5.1	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes Elite vs non- elite athletes. Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle. Discussion Limitations	101 101 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 106 109
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.5.1 4.5.1 4.6	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results. Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes Elite vs non- elite athletes. Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 106 109
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.4.6 4.5.1 4.5.1 4.6 4.7 4.9	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results. Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes Elite vs non- elite athletes. Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle. Discussion Limitations Conclusions Future Perspectives	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 106 106 106 109 109 109 109 111 113 116 116 117
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.4.6 4.5 4.5.1 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9	Study aims Study hypotheses	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 106 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 111 111 111 116 117
	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.5 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.4.6 4.5.1 4.5.1 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes Elite vs non- elite athletes Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle. Discussion Limitations Conclusions Future Perspectives Acknowledgements Author Contributions	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 106 106 106 109 109 109 109 naemia enstrual 111 113 116 117 117
5	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.5 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.4.6 4.5 4.5.1 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 The as	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants Study design Data Analysis Results Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes Elite vs non- elite athletes Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle. Discussion Limitations Conclusions Future Perspectives Acknowledgements Author Contributions	101 101 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 109 1017 111 111 111
5	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.5 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.5.1 4.5.1 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 The as and th	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants. Study design Data Analysis Results. Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes. Elite vs non- elite athletes. Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle. Discussion Limitations. Conclusions. Future Perspectives Acknowledgements Author Contributions	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 106 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 101 117 117 117 tatus,
5	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.5 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.5 4.5.1 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 The as and th disrup	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants. Study design Data Analysis Results. Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes. Elite vs non- elite athletes. Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle. Discussion Limitations. Conclusions. Future Perspectives Acknowledgements Sociation between identified heavy menstrual bleeding and iron si e association of these with the perception that the menstrual cycle ts exercise training/performance in exercising women.	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 106 106 106 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 109 117 117 117 117 117 tatus, e 119
5	4.2.2 4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.4 4.4.5 4.4.6 4.4.6 4.5 4.5.1 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 The as and th disrup 5.1	Study aims Study hypotheses Materials and Methods Ethics and participant consent. Inclusion criteria Participants. Study design Data Analysis Results. Participant characteristics - stage 1. Participant characteristics - stage 2. Results from stages 1 and 2. Elite Athletes Elite vs non- elite athletes. Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of ar and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the me cycle	101 101 102 102 102 102 102 103 105 105 106 105 106 109 109 109 109 109 119 117 117 117 117 tatus, e 119 119

	5.2	Introduction	120
	5.2.	1 Study aims	120
	5.2.2	2 Study hypotheses	121
	5.3	Materials and methods	121
	5.3.	1 Ethics and participant consent	121
	5.3.2	2 Inclusion criteria	121
	5.3.3	3 Exclusion criteria	121
	5.3.4	4 Participants	121
	5.3.	5 Study design	122
	5.3.6	6 Measurements and definitions	124
	5.3.	7 Data analysis	124
	5.4	Results	125
	5.4.	1 Participant Characteristics	125
	5.4.2	2 Identified prevalence of HMB, iron deficiency and IDA	127
	5.4.3	3 Level of awareness of HMB and iron status	128
	5.4.4	4 Association between identified HMB, iron deficiency and IDA with reporter	ed
		menstrual cycle disruptions to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance	130
	5.5	Discussion	134
	5.5.	1 Limitations	137
	5.6	Conclusions	138
	5.7	Future perspectives	139
	5.8	Acknowledgements	139
	5.9	Author Contributions	139
6	Tho in	anact of identified heavy monstrual blooding and iron status on fatigue i	n
U		sing and monstructing woman	110
	6 1	Abetract	140
	6.2	Introduction	1/1
	62	1 Study aims	142
	6.2	2 Study hypotheses	142
	6.3	Materials and Methods	142
	6.3	1 Ethics and participant consent	142
	632	2 Inclusion criteria	142
	633	3 Exclusion criteria	142
	6.34	4 Participants	143
	6.3.5	5 Study design	143
	636	6 Measurements and definitions	144
	6.3.	7 Data handling and statistical analysis	145
	6.4	Results	147
	6.4.	1 Participant Characteristics	147
	6.4.2	2 Prevalence and impact of identified HMB on IDA, anaemia and iron	
		deficiency	147
	6.4.3	3 Impact of HMB and iron status independently on fatigue	148
	6.5	Reliability of the MFI-20	152
	6.5.	1 Relationship between fatigue and markers of iron status	152
	6.5.2	2 Relationship between identified HMB, anaemia, IDA and fatigue	153
	6.5.3	3 Relationship between HMB and fatigue	155
	6.6	Discussion	157
	6.6.	1 Limitations	159
	6.7	Conclusions	160
	6.8	Future perspectives	161
	6.9	Acknowledgements	161
	6.10	Author Contributions	161
7		VOMAN trial: the impact of intravenous iron on exercise and aerobic	
•	canacity fatigue and mood disturbance in iron deficient non-elite exercising		
	wome	n	162
	7.1	Abstract	162
			_

7.2	Intr	oduction	163
7	.2.1	Study aims	164
7	.2.2	Study hypotheses	164
7.3	Mat	erials and methods	164
7	.3.1	Ethics and participant consent	164
7	.3.2	Inclusion criteria	164
7	.3.3	Exclusion criteria	165
7	.3.4	Participants	165
7	.3.5	Study design	165
7	.3.6	Measurements	166
7	.3.7	Measurement of Exercise and aerobic capacity: Exercise test	166
7	.3.8	Measurement of Exercise and aerobic capacity: Total haemoglobin n	nass
		test	168
7	.3.9	Haematology and biochemistry	172
7	.3.10	Fatigue	173
7	.3.11	Mood disturbance	173
7	.3.12	Iron administration	174
7	.3.13	Data analysis	174
7.4	Res	sults	176
7	.4.1	Participant characteristics	176
7	.4.2	Exercise and aerobic capacity	176
7	.4.3	Haematology and biochemistry	182
7	.4.4	The effect of baseline serum ferritin	182
1	.4.5	Relationship between baseline iron status and change in end points.	184
1	.4.6	Relationship between VO_{2max} and total haemoglobin mass	190
1	.4.7	Other markers that are potentially related to change in endpoints	191
7	.4.8	I raining and menstrual cycle questionnaire	193
7	.4.9	Fallgue	194
75	.4.10 Dic		199 201
7.5	0150 751	Limitations	201
76	Cor		210 211
7.7	Fut	ure perspectives	211
7	71	Future studies	212
7.8	Aut	hor Contributions	213
3 (·	Seneral	Discussion, overall conclusions and future research	214
8.1	Pre	valence and impact of HMB in the exercising population	214
ð.2	HIM	B, Iron status and fatigue	217
8.3 0.4	Pre	valence of Iron deficiency	218
0.4	imp	Effect on everyland acrehia consolity	210
0	0.4.1 0.4.2	Effect on fatigue and mood disturbance	210
0	0.4.Z	Diagnosis	210
0	0.4.3 0 / /	Maghaniam of iron deficional	220
0 0	9.4.4 2.1.5	Awaranoss and supplementation	220
0 8 5	+.J I im	nwareness and supplementation	22 I
0.J 8 6	Eut	ure studies and directions	223 221
0.0 ג	19 u t	Future derivation of a Female Health Ouestionnaire	224 201
ں م	.0.1	Other future directions	22 4 201
87		ourier ruture directions	·····224 225
8.8	Kev	recommendations	223
0.0	ney		££1
) F	Referen	ces	229
10	Appe	ndices	262
10.	1 Publ	ication: The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding	among
	athle	etes and mass start runners of the 2015 London Marathon. (Letter	to the
	F 114		~~~

10.2	Publication: The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual	Bleeding
	(Menorrhagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes. (Research Article)	264
10.3	Publication: Sport exercise and the menstrual cycle: where is the re-	esearch?
	(Editorial)	273
10.4	Other publications	274
10.5	Oral presentations	274
10.6	Abstracts and Posters	275
10.7	Grants	276
10.8	Selected media exposure	276
10.9	Other work	279
10.10) IRONWOMAN Trial: Participant Information Sheet	280
10.11	1 IRONWOMAN Trial: NHS Ethics Approval letter	284
10.12	2 IRONWOMAN Trial: St Mary's Ethics Approval	288
10.13	3 IRONWOMAN Trial: Informed consent	289
10.14	4 IRONWOMAN Trial: Female athlete monitoring questionnaire	290
10.15	5 Questionnaires	294

List of abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index
BRUMS	Brunel mood scale
CaO ₂	Arterial oxygen content
СН	Corpuscular haemoglobin content
CHCM	Corpuscular haemoglobin concentration mean
CI	Confidence interval
СО	Cardiac output
COHb	Carboxyhaemoglobin
%COHb	Percentage carboxyhaemoglobin
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
CvO ₂	Venous oxygen content
EPO	Erythropoiesis
GDF-15	Growth differentiation factor - 15
Hb	Haemoglobin
[Hb]	Haemoglobin concentration
Hct	Haematocrit
HDW	Haemoglobin distribution width
НМВ	Heavy menstrual bleeding
HR	Heart rate
ID	Iron deficiency
IDA	Iron deficiency anaemia
IDNA	Iron deficiency non-anaemia
IL	Interleukin
IV	Intravenous
MCH	Mean corpuscular haemoglobin
MCHC	Mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration
MCV	Mean corpuscular volume
MFI-20	Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory-20
MPC	Mean platelet component
MPM	Mean platelet mass
MPV	Mean platelet volume
NICE	National Institute for Care Excellence
O ₂	Oxygen
OR	Odds ratio
PCT	Platelet haematocrit
PDW	Platelet distribution width
PV	Plasma volume

RCV	Red cell volume
RDW	Red cell distribution width
RBC	Red blood cell
SATA	Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association
SD	Standard deviation
sFer	Serum ferritin
tHbmass	Total haemoglobin mass
TIBC	Total iron binding capacity
TSAT	Transferrin saturation
TTE	Time to exhaustion
ΫO ₂	Exertional oxygen consumption
VO₂max	Maximal oxygen consumption
VCO₂	Carbon dioxide output
WBC	White blood cell
WHO	World Health Organisation

List of tables

- Table 2.1A summary of the effects of iron repletion on physical performance in iron
deficient but not anaemic exercising participants.
- Table 4.1Participant characteristics, including identified prevalence of heavy
menstrual bleeding (HMB).
- Table 4.2 The perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts training/performance, seeking of help/advice for heavy periods, knowledge of a history of anaemia and iron supplementation in those who have and have not met the heavy menstrual bleeding HMB criteria, when identified using the outlined criteria.
- Table 4.3A comparison between elite and non-elite characteristics.
- Table 4.4The unadjusted and adjusted results from the logistic regression of the
perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance.
- Table 5.1Clinical characteristics of participants.
- Table 5.2A comparison of characteristics between those with and without heavy
menstrual bleeding (HMB), when identified using the outlined criteria.
- Table 5.3 Reported historical knowledge of anaemia, iron deficiency and use of supplementation in those with iron deficiency anaemia and severe (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹) and moderate (serum ferritin < 30 μ g·L⁻¹) iron deficiency.
- Table 5.4 The likelihood of having IDA, or severe (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹) or moderate (serum ferritin < 30 μ g·L⁻¹) iron deficiency based on whether those identified with HMB have or have not sought advice/help for heavy periods.
- Table 5.5 Likelihood of reporting that the menstrual cycle disrupts everday lifestyle/exercise performance in those identified with heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB), iron deficiency anaemia (IDA) and severe and moderate iron deficiency (ID).
- Table 5.6The effect of iron status on the perception of whether the menstrual cycle
disrupts everday lifestyle/exercise performance
- Table 5.7The unadjusted and adjusted results from the logistic regression of the
perception of disruptions of the menstrual cycle to everday
lifestyle/exercise performance .
- Table 6.1The difference between the prevalence of IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency
in those who did or did not meet the outlined HMB criteria.
- Table 6.2A comparison in fatigue scores (MFI-20) between those identified with and
without heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB).

- Table 6.3A comparison between different fatigue scores (MFI-20) across the total
sample between those with and without anaemia, IDA or ID. Anaemia ([Hb]
 $< 12.0 \text{ g}\cdot\text{dL}^{-1}$), IDA ([Hb] $< 12.0 \text{ g}\cdot\text{dL}^{-1}$ and serum ferritin $< 15 \ \mu\text{g}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$), and
iron deficiency (ID; serum ferritin $< 15 \ \mu\text{g}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$).
- Table 6.4 A comparison between different fatigue scores (MFI-20) in those identified with HMB (n=112) between those with and without anaemia, IDA or ID. Anaemia ([Hb < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹), IDA ([Hb] < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹ and serum ferritin < $15 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$), and iron deficiency (ID; serum ferritin < $15 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$).
- Table 6.5Mean and standard deviations for each aspect of fatigue, alongside inter-
item correlations, Cronbach's alpha if the item is deleted, and the corrected
item-total correlation.
- Table 6.6The association between haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) and serum
ferritin and the five subscales of the MFI-20 and total fatigue.
- Table 6.7The unadjusted and adjusted results from the logistic regression of
anaemia.
- Table 6.8The unadjusted and adjusted results from the logistic regression of IDA.
- Table 6.9The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between identified heavy
menstrual bleeding (HMB) and general fatigue.
- Table 7.1Baseline participant characteristics.
- Table 7.2A comparison between exercise and aerobic capacity, and haematology
and biochemistry measures at baseline and post intravenous iron injection.
- Table 7.3Changes in endurance and aerobic capacity when comparing those with
severe (sFer < 15 μ g·L⁻¹) and moderate (sFer > 15 μ g·L⁻¹ but ≤ 30 μ g·L⁻¹)
iron deficiency.
- Table 7.4The relationship between baseline haemoglobin ([Hb]) and serum ferritin
(sFer) and the changes in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass.
- Table 7.5The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between the combination of
haemoglobin ([Hb]) and serum ferritin and change in total haemoglobin
mass (g).
- Table 7.6The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between haemoglobin ([Hb]) and
serum ferritin and change in total haemoglobin mass (g·kg⁻¹).
- Table 7.7The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between haemoglobin ([Hb]) and
serum ferritin and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (mL·min⁻¹).
- Table 7.8The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between haemoglobin ([Hb]) and
serum ferritin and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹).
- Table 7.9The relationship between both change in haemoglobin ([Hb]) and change
in serum ferritin (sFer) and the changes in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin
mass.

- Table 7.10The impact of day of the menstrual cycle on the relationship between
baseline haemoglobin ([Hb]) and serum ferritin (sFer) and changes in
 $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass.
- Table 7.11Mean and standard deviations for each aspect of fatigue, alongside inter-
item correlations, Cronbach's \propto if the item is deleted and the corrected
item-total correlation for tests at baseline.
- Table 7.12Mean and standard deviations for each aspect of fatigue, alongside inter-
item correlations, Cronbach's alpha if the item is deleted and the corrected
item-total correlation for the post-injection tests.
- Table 7.13The unadjusted relationship between MFI subscales and baseline
haemoglobin concentration and level of serum ferritin.
- Table 7.14Effects of intravenous iron on feelings of health on the day of testing using
the EQ-5D-5L questionnaire. The percentage of participants who reported
no problem compared to those who reported any problem (from slight to
extreme).

List of figures

- Figure 1.1 An overview of the hypotheses. i. There is an association between HMB and IDA and IDNA; ii. IDA and IDNA are on the causal pathway between HMB and perceived reported effects of the menstrual cycle on exercise training and performance. iii. The relationship between HMB and fatigue is mediated by IDA and IDNA; and iv. IDNA causes a reduction in aerobic and exercise capacity, while also being associated with increased fatigue.
- Figure 2.1 The association between haemoglobin concentration and maximal oxygen uptake (VO_{2max}). Figure adapted from (1).
- Figure 2.2 The association between total haemoglobin mass and maximal oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$). Figure adapted from (1).
- Figure 2.3 Factors that contribute to increasing the susceptibility to iron deficiency in exercising women.
- Figure 2.4 Potential relationship between iron deficiency and the female athlete triad in exercising women as outlined in a recent review (2).
- Figure 2.5 The mechanism by which iron enters enterocytes, and is then either stored within the cell or is exported from the basolateral membrane into the circulation. The mechanism for haem iron entry into the cell is not yet understood, however it is thought to involve the haem carrier protein 1. Non-haem iron enters the cell via the DMT1 iron transport protein after being reduced by Dcytb. It is then either stored as ferritin or transported through the cell for export via ferroportin. Figure adapted from (3).
- Figure 4.1 Reported number of symptoms of in the outlined heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) diagnostic series across participants when ranked based on 5 km personal best times. Q1 represent those with the fastest times, Q4 the slowest.
- Figure 5.1 Derivation of study sample.
- Figure 6.1 Derivation of study sample.
- Figure 7.1 Study design.
- Figure 7.2 VO_{2max} test in the St Mary's University performance lab.
- Figure 7.3 Haemoglobin mass test equipment glass spirometer (A), with bag (B) and mouthpiece attached (C), gas syringe (D), oxygen valve (E). Figure adapted from (4).
- Figure 7.4 Effect of intravenous iron on primary and secondary endpoints. Individual changes in VO_{2max}, time to exhaustion (TTE), total haemoglobin mass (tHbmass), haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]), corpuscular haemoglobin content (CH) and ferritin (sFer) from baseline to 2 weeks post intravenous

iron. Data are presented as a percent change from baseline with individual changes shown in grey, and mean change in black.

- Figure 7.5 Percentage change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ from baseline in response to intravenous iron when participants were grouped by baseline serum ferritin. Severe iron deficiency – sFer < 15 µg·L⁻¹ and moderate iron deficiency - sFer > 15 µg·L⁻¹ ¹ but ≤ 30 µg·L⁻¹.
- Figure 7.6 The relationship between total haemoglobin mass and $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ at a. baseline and b. post injection.
- Figure 7.7 The relationship between change in total haemoglobin mass and change in total $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ in response to the intravenous iron injection.
- Figure 7.8 Relationship between change in total haemoglobin mass and a. 5 km personal best time; b. weekly exercise volume; c. baseline $\dot{V}O_{2max}$; d. CHCM, and haematocrit in response to intravenous iron, p < 0.05; f. Relationship between change in haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ in response to intravenous iron.
- Figure 7.9 Relationship between change in total haemoglobin mass and baseline platelet biomarkers. a. association between change in haemoglobin mass and baseline mean platelet component; b. association between change in haemoglobin mass and platelet distribution width.
- Figure 7.10 Effects of intravenous iron on fatigue (MFI). A comparison between subscale Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory scores (MFI; median ± IQR) at baseline and post-injection.
- Figure 7.11 Effects of intravenous iron on fatigue (Piper fatigue score). A comparison between subscale Piper fatigue scores (PFS; median ± IQR) at baseline and post-injection.
- Figure 7.12 Effect of intravenous iron on mood disturbance using the BRUMS mood scale. A comparison between mood disturbance at baseline and post-injection.
- Figure 8.1 An overview of the conclusions. i. There is an association between HMB and IDA and IDNA; ii. The association between HMB and perceived reported effects of the menstrual cycle on exercise training and performance is independent of IDA and IDNA; iii. The relationship between HMB and fatigue is not mediated by IDA and IDNA; and iv. There was an overall increase in exercise and aerobic capacity in response to intravenous iron in iron deficient (serum ferritin < 15), non-elite exercising women, however this response was not universal and independent of serum ferritin. However, a reduction in fatigue was observed in all. There is potential for IDA and possibly IDNA to actually be responsible for HMB.

List of publications

Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Richards T, Pedlar C. The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding among athletes and mass start runners of the 2015 London Marathon. Br J Sports Med. 2016 May; 50(9):566.

Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Richards T, Pedlar C. The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Menorrhagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes. PLoS One. 2016 Feb 22; 11(2):e0149881.

Bruinvels G, Burden RJ, McGregor AJ, Ackerman KE, Dooley M, Richards T, Pedlar C. Sport exercise and the menstrual cycle: where is the research? Br J Sports Med. 2017 Mar;51(6):487-488

Under second review

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Brown N, Simpkin A, Mansour D, Brown J, Richards T. The impact of heavy menstrual bleeding and iron status on fatigue in menstruating women.

Publications under review

Publication under first review:

Other publications during PhD

Ackerman KE, Holtzman B, Cooper KM, Flynn EF, **Bruinvels G**, Tenforde AS, Popp KL, Simpkin AJ, Parziale AL[.] Low Energy Availability Surrogates Correlate with Health and Performance Consequences of Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport (RED-S). Br J Sports Med. 2018 Mar; doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-098958

Lewis NA, Towey C, **Bruinvels G**, Howatson G, Pedlar CR. Effects of exercise on alterations in redox homeostasis in elite male and female endurance athletes using a clinical point-of-care test. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2016 Oct; 41(10):1026-1032

Blagrove R, **Bruinvels G**, Read P. Early sport-specialization and intensive training in adolescent female athletes: risks and recommendations. Strength and Conditioning Journal. 2017:1 doi:10.1519/ssc.000000000000315

Pedlar C, Brugnara C, **Bruinvels G**, Burden R. Iron Balance and Iron Supplementation for the Female Athlete: A Practical Approach. Eur J Sports Science. 2017 Dec 27;349(2):1–11

Wang G, Durussel J, Shurlock J, Mooses M, Fuku N, **Bruinvels G**, Pedlar C, Burden R, Murray A, Yee B, Keenan A, McClure JD, Sottas PE, Pitsiladis. Validation of whole-blood transcriptome signature during microdose recombinant human erythropoietin (rHuEpo) administration. BMC Genomics. BioMed Central; 2017 Nov 14;18(Suppl 8):817.

Oral presentations

Bruinvels G, Durussel J, McClure JD, McBride MW, Wondimu DH, Wang G, Mooses M, Mooses K, Wang J, Murray A and Pitsiladis Y. Blood gene expression profiles of trained athletes in response to altitude exposure and differentiation from rHuEpo doping. 2014 In: Abstracts of the 93rd Annual Meeting of the German Physiological Society, Mainz, Germany. March 2014.

Bruinvels G. Iron Metabolism in Endurance Iron-Deficient, Non-Anaemic (IDNA) Athletes. Presented to the Robbins Group, Department of Physiology, Anatomy and Genetics at the University of Oxford. November 2014

Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Pedlar C, Richards T. The Prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding in exercising women. Female Athlete Conference, Boston. June 2015

Bruinvels G. Women's health in sport. The prevalence and impact of iron deficiency on exercise performance. Joint Women's Health and Patient Blood Management Initiative: Advisory Board, Singapore. January 2017

Future

Ackerman KA, **Bruinvels G**. Periods, Performance, and the Pill – Effects of the Menstrual Cycle on Performance and Contraception Choices for the Modern Female Athlete. 2018 Annual Meeting, World Congress on Exercise is Medicine.

Published conference proceedings 2016

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Yong TT, Cushway T, Richards T. Heavy Menstrual Bleeding and iron status in exercising women in Singapore. Network for the Advancement

of Patient Blood Management, Haemostasis and Thrombosis. 17th Annual Symposium, April 2016.

2017

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Yong TT, Cushway T, Richards T. The impact of heavy menstrual bleeding (menorrhagia) and iron status in exercising females. British Jounral of Sports Medicine. Feb 2017, 51(4)304 IOC World Conference – Prevention of Injury and Illness in Sport

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Brown N, Butcher A, Chau M, Richards T. IRONWOMAN Trial: The impact of intravenous iron on exercise performance in iron deficiency, exercising women. Network for the Advancement of Patient Blood Management, Haemostasis and Thrombosis. 18th Annual Symposium, April 2017

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Butcher A, Chau M, Cushway T, Richards T. The impact of heavy menstrual bleeding and iron status on fatigue in menstruating women. Network for the Advancement of Patient Blood Management, Haemostasis and Thrombosis. 18th Annual Symposium, April 2017

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Brown N, Butcher A, Chau M, Richards T. IRONWOMAN Trial: The impact of intravenous iron on exercise performance in iron deficiency, exercising women. Seventh Congress of the International Bioiron Society (2017)

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Butcher A, Chau M, Cushway T, Richards T. The impact of heavy menstrual bleeding and iron status on fatigue in menstruating women. Seventh Congress of the International Bioiron Society (2017)

Yong TT, **Bruinvels G**, Pedlar C, Burden R, Cushway, T, Richards T. Heavy Menstrual Bleeding, iron status and fatigue in exercising women in Singapore. Royal College of Obstetrics & Gynaecologists World Congress 2017.

Parziale AL, **Bruinvels G**, Richards T, Pedlar CR, Ackerman KE. The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding Among Exercising Women. 2017 Annual Meeting, World Congress on Exercise is Medicine

1 Chapter 1

1.1 General introduction

In the words of Nelson Mandela "Education is the most powerful weapon which you can use to change the world.."

Athletes are always striving for the best. Pushing their bodies to their physiological limit. But while the positive health effects of regular exercise are clearly established (5), it is also important to 'first do no harm' (6). Research shows that athletes respond differently to the general population (7). Sports medicine and sports science researchers are constantly trying to address how we can help athletes to perform better; run faster, recover better, reduce risk of injury and illness. However, in the past, the vast majority of research has been conducted in male athletes (8).

Historical context

Historically, medical trials were solely conducted in men. This gender bias in research dates back to before World War II where women were labelled as 'protected subjects' due to fear that any clinical testing could potentially cause harm to unborn foetuses (9). The fluctuations in hormones through the menstrual cycle also caused concern, increasing the complexity of studies resulting in a need for greater sample sizes, adding to the expense. Despite observations that women and men are physiologically different, men were deemed to be adequate proxies for women (10,11).

In 1990, the National Institutes of Health, a part of the United States health agency, formed the Office of Research on Women's Health in an attempt to overcome this research gender gap and to ensure adequate research into women's health was conducted (10). Despite clear advances in research through the publication of resources (12), development of centres of excellence and the formation of multiple independent bodies (10), in 2010 a report by the Institute of Medicine concluded that research findings were not being effectively translated into general practice (13). A recent review looking at female representation in 1,382 sport and exercise research studies involving over six million participants between 2011 - 2013 found the representation of women to be only 39% (8). Further, within studies, where both genders were included in research, the relative representation of females across three key sports science journals was found to be 33 - 37%. There were even fewer female only studies (14). Evidently, this is a significant cause for concern, and must be addressed.

Research has increasingly attempted to assess how athletic performance may be affected by the changes in levels of ovarian hormones (15,16). For example, Sung *et al.* (2014) found resistance training in the follicular phase to be more effective in the development of muscular strength when compared to training in the luteal phase, suggesting that for maximal benefit strength training could be based on time in the menstrual cycle (17). There is a need to investigate this further in the future as it could have significant implications for optimal performance.

Female physiology and the menstrual cycle

The ovarian hormones fluctuate in a cyclical pattern over an average of 28-days (15). As previously highlighted, this hormonal cycle can be a confounding factor to research in women, therefore where studies are conducted in women, the impact of the menstrual cycle is often ignored altogether, alternatively, women are only tested in the follicular phase, where hormone levels are at their lowest, or only women using a contraceptive device to stabilise hormone levels are included (16). Evidently, this has resulted in distinct knowledge gaps.

A number of elite athletes have recently attributed sub-optimal sports performance to their menstrual cycle (18-20), but scientific knowledge surrounding female physiology is yet to elucidate conclusive reasons for this (15). Dependent on sport type, training volume and performance level, 6 - 79% of exercising women experience reproductive system irregularities (21). The principal menstrual cycle dysfunctions studied in exercising women are primary and secondary amenorrhea, anovulation, luteal phase deficiency and oligomenorrhea (22-24). Accordingly, pre-pubertal participation in intensive exercise is associated with a three-fold increase in susceptibility to amenorrhea (25). Yet, other menstrual cycle dysfunctions are seldom researched (24).

Heavy menstrual bleeding

Heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) is defined by the National Institute for Care Excellence (NICE) in the United Kingdom, as "excessive menstrual blood loss which interferes with a woman's physical, social, emotional and/or material quality of life" (26), while historically defined as 80 mL blood loss or more (27). However, as will be explained further in this thesis, neither of these are universally used or recognised, and are clearly difficult to evaluate. Therefore, other surrogates for diagnosis have been applied. But there is yet to be a recognised and validated means for HMB diagnosis. This is likely in part due to a lack of clarity regarding the desired outcome or impact of HMB, be it psychological or physiological impact. Is it the sheer psychological impact of perceived large amounts of blood loss or is it the repercussions or the associated factors that occur from excessive

blood loss, such as iron deficiency. Where there is an increase in menstrual blood loss, risk of iron deficiency is clearly enhanced, which can ultimately progress to iron deficiency anaemia (IDA). Despite being very common, IDA is slow to manifest and often goes unnoticed. It can significantly impact both quality of life and exercise performance. Identification of HMB could both highlight IDA risk and also enable earlier detection of a potentially debilitating issue (28,29).

Despite this, there is a lack of research evaluating whether excessive blood loss is indeed an issue amongst those who exercise. Consequently, the potential for HMB to affect exercise performance is unknown, in addition to the reasons for this. This will be addressed in Chapter 4, where, using a combination of a number of existing definitions, the prevalence of HMB in both marathon runners and elite athletes will be evaluated (15).

Historically, the primary treatment option for menstrual cycle dysfunctions has been through hormonal intervention, for example use of the oral contraceptive pill (OCP) or intrauterine devices (15,30,31). The use of hormonal intervention will provide a more stable hormonal milieu and is often used as a treatment option for HMB (15,31). However, recent research has identified negative outcomes of the use of hormonal contraceptives, such as the OCP, for example, OCP use has been associated with increased inflammation, decreased aerobic ability and a reduction in maximal power, while significantly, also potentially masking an underlying energy deficiency (31-34). The effects on performance of other possible forms of hormonal contraception such as intrauterine systems, the depot injection, the vaginal ring and the hormonal implant need further research.

In summary, there is an evident need to assess prevalence of other menstrual cycle dysfunctions that could be an issue in athletes to try and elucidate reasons for reported effects on performance. Identification of HMB could highlight potential iron deficiency risk. Given the highlighted repercussions associated with use of hormonal contraception methods, alternative treatment options are also necessary.

Menstruation and iron status

Iron is an essential element, required by all cells, and vital for physiological function and physical performance (35,36). As a result of menstrual blood loss, women are particularly susceptible to iron deficiency and IDA (37). Due to the increased menstrual blood loss associated with HMB, it is recognised as an important risk factor for iron deficiency (28,29,38). However, as a result of the highlighted lack of research surrounding HMB in exercising women, it is unknown how this may affect performance and whether iron is causative. This will be addressed in chapter 5, where the mediating effect of iron status in

the association between identified HMB, and a reported disruption of the menstrual cycle to exercise training/performance will be evaluated. HMB and iron deficiency are both associated with increased fatigue (28,38), however to my knowledge, the role of iron in the causal pathway between HMB and fatigue has not been assessed. Excess fatigue will clearly impact exercise performance, and needs consideration if indeed HMB is found to be prevalent amongst those who exercise, therefore this will be addressed in chapter 6.

Iron status and exercise capacity

The impacts of IDA on exercise performance are well established (36), however, the consequences of iron deficiency without anaemia are less clear (39). The World Health Organisation (WHO) define IDA in non-pregnant woman as a haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹ and a serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ (40). But, there is much ambiguity surrounding the diagnosis of iron deficiency without anaemia, particularly amongst the exercising population. The WHO indicate that iron depletion occurs in both men and women when serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ (41), however a lack of iron in bone marrow has been observed when serum ferritin is 30 μ g·L⁻¹ (42). As a result of the haemoconcentration that can ensue post exercise, potentially masking an underlying deficiency (43,44). Accordingly, it is estimated that day-to-day variation in serum ferritin in endurance athletes is 13 - 75% (45). Therefore, especially in elite athletes, cut-off values for serum ferritin used by sports medicine doctors to indicate iron deficiency in women, and therefore the point at which to intervene with either oral or intravenous iron supplementation are typically high, and may be as high as 40 μ g·L⁻¹ (46).

Applying the principal that that a positive response to iron therapy indicates iron deficiency (47), studies evaluating the impact of iron repletion in iron deficient but not anaemic athletes when using a an inclusion criteria for serum ferritin ranging from 12 - 40 μ g·L⁻¹ have produced conflicting results (48-54). This is likely due to inconsistencies in study protocols, the varying serum ferritin cut-off values, small sample sizes, and differing administration routes (48-54). Further, previous studies, using intravenous iron repletion have only been conducted in elite and well-trained populations (51,52), who, as previously highlighted, may respond differently to non-elite athletes (7). Since intravenous injections bypass gut absorption (55), they offer a much faster and more efficient way for repleting iron stores and assessing the effect. This will be addressed in chapter 7, where the impact of iron repletion will be evaluated in non-elite exercising women, with a serum ferritin \leq 30 μ g·L⁻¹.

It has been suggested that iron repletion may afford some other non-haematological effects in those who are iron deficient. In a non-athletic population, reductions in fatigue and improved cognition and quality of life have been observed in response to iron repletion (56,57). In fact, a recent study hypothesises that cognitive function is impaired prior to physical function when iron stores are sub-optimal (58). However, previous studies in iron deficient, exercising women have only evaluated the effect of iron repletion on physiological and haematological outcomes in isolation, subjective markers of fatigue and mood have not previously been considered in conjunction. Therefore, chapter 7 will also incorporate measures of fatigue and mood disturbance alongside markers of aerobic and exercise capacity.

There are numerous side effects to oral supplementation including gastrointestinal distress and nausea (59), while supplementation when iron levels are sufficient is not associated with an improved performance (60). In fact, excessive supplementation can increase oxidative stress and inflammation (61). Further, in light of the transient increases in hepcidin, the peptide hormone responsible for control of iron absorption (62), that occur in response to iron, unnecessary supplementation has the potential to worsen iron status, due to windows of limited potential for absorption (51). Therefore, there is an evident need for better clarification about when intervention is necessary.

This thesis will first assess whether HMB, when identified using a diagnostic series, is indeed a problem in those who exercise. It will then identify the prevalence and establish whether it is associated with reported disruption to exercise training/performance caused by the menstrual cycle. This will then be considered in relation to iron status. Finally, when using serum ferritin for diagnosis, the impact of iron deficiency on aerobic and exercise capacity in conjunction with fatigue and mood disturbance will be evaluated. Existing criteria and markers used for iron deficiency diagnosis will be questioned, alongside highlighting the impact that a deficiency has. This will also enable the assessment of whether iron deficiency, possibly caused by HMB, could be a cause for some of the reported detrimental effects on performance attributed to the menstrual cycle in women.

2 Review of the literature

Exercising women are prone to a number of health issues, some caused or exacerbated by their participation in sport (7). These have the potential to impact on their exercise performance and general state of health and well-being. Results from a number of different studies have found risk of iron deficiency to be increased in those who exercise, with evidence suggesting 24 - 47% of exercising women to be iron deficient (59). In fact, the IOC recommends regular screening for iron deficiency (6). This section firstly explains what iron is and its role in the body. The diagnosis, causes of, and susceptibility to iron deficiency will then be discussed in addition to the possible effects it may have, particularly in those who exercise. Treatment options and optimal dietary sources will then be highlighted. The second half of this review will provide an overview of cellular and systemic iron homeostasis, describing the impact of exercise on iron metabolism.

2.1 What is iron?

2.1.1 Chemistry of iron

Iron the most abundant element in the earth's core, and the fourth most abundant in the earth's crust (63). It has an atomic number of 26 and is a d-block element in the periodic table with an electron configuration of $1s^22s^22p^63s^23p^63d^64s^2$. As a transition metal, it can exist in many oxidation states from -2 to +6, however it is most commonly found in either its ferrous (Fe(II); Fe²⁺) or ferric (Fe(III); Fe³⁺) ionic form. Since the electrons in the 3s and 4d outer subshells are close in energy, iron is very reactive, being able to change oxidation states and exchange electrons readily, therefore having good redox potential.

The physical state of iron is dependent on the surrounding environment (64). It reacts readily with oxygen, and is influenced by the temperature and pH of its surroundings (64). The reactive nature of iron ions, with unoccupied d orbitals, means that it does not tend to exist alone in the environment, coordinating reversibly with various organic and inorganic ligands alongside a concomitant transfer of electrons (35). The primary ligands to which iron binds are oxygen, sulphur and nitrogen, for example, it is commonly found bound to oxygen as haematite (Fe₂O₃) or magnetite (Fe₃O₄) (35). It's ability to adjust redox potential and electronic spin state (1000mV to -550mV) means that it is highly useful in human physiology and has evolved to become an invaluable element for biochemical reactions (35,65). It is therefore evident that a lack of iron is likely to have a significant impact on physiological function.

Despite iron being an essential micronutrient for all living organisms (66,67), excess free iron within tissues under aerobic conditions can be very harmful. With very good redox potential, iron is highly toxic, readily reacting with oxygen, to produce reactive oxygen species (ROS) based on Fenton and Harber-Weiss reactions (68). Therefore, regulatory protection mechanisms have evolved, as will be discussed further in this thesis, significantly, in part as a means for protection against the harmful effects of free iron, in aerobic conditions, and at a neutral pH, iron is most commonly found in its ferric form (69). The insoluble nature of ferric (Fe³⁺) ions reduces iron availability in this environment. This means that despite the physical abundance of iron, acquisition at a neutral pH, in aerobic conditions, is problematic (69).

2.2 Distribution of iron in the body

Typically, the human body contains 3 - 4 g of iron (70). Very specific transport processes and mechanisms have evolved to enable the controlled uptake of the insoluble ferric iron into the bloodstream (69). The majority of body iron is intracellular, and approximately two thirds ($\sim 2 - 3$ g) is incorporated into haemoglobin within erythrocytes, and around a tenth is stored as myoglobin within muscle (71). The rest is located to macrophages (in the liver, spleen and bone marrow), iron containing proteins and enzymes (such as transferrin), with any excess iron being stored as either ferritin or haemosiderin (typically 0 - 1g) (71). Ferritin and haemosiderin are iron storage proteins and are primarily found in the liver and spleen, but can also be found in the duodenum, bone marrow, skeletal muscle and other anatomical areas (72). Since iron containing proteins are essential for ATP production, iron is present in all cells to some extent. Despite the toxic nature of iron, there is no specific iron excretion mechanism, therefore regulation of iron metabolism, transport and storage occurs in a tightly controlled process, and control of total body iron is maintained through the regulation of iron absorption which will be discussed in the second part of this section (73).

On a daily basis, very little iron is lost, amounting to approximately 1 - 2 mg each day, and this is primarily from epithelial shedding, particularly from skin and the gastrointestinal and genitourinary tracts, in addition to sweat (74,75). Menstruating women inevitably experience increased blood loss, and, on average this amounts to another 1 - 2 mg each day when bleeding (74).

2.3 Functions of iron

Iron is required for many biological functions, including; oxygen transport and storage, cellular and mitochondrial respiration, electron transfer reactions, cell growth and differentiation, while also vital for immune function (35). The majority of iron exists in complexes bound to proteins, either coordinated to amino acid side chains or forming part of a prosthetic group (73). Being necessary for their synthesis and function, iron-containing proteins can either be haem compounds, such as haemoglobin and myoglobin, haem enzymes, such as haem oxidase, or non-haem compounds, such as metalloflavoproteins (67). A summary of the different types of iron-containing proteins and examples of their key roles of iron are described below:

2.3.1 Iron-containing haem compounds

2.3.1.1 Oxygen transport in blood

Oxygen is transported in the blood in two forms, approximately 98% is reversibly bound to haemoglobin in erythrocytes, and the remaining 2% is dissolved in the plasma. Within each erythrocyte there are approximately 270 million haemoglobin molecules. On a daily basis, erythropoiesis typically requires 20 - 30 mg of iron as more than two million erythrocytes are produced and cleared each second (76). Therefore, the majority of plasma iron is directed to the bone marrow for this process (76).

Haemoglobin is a tetrameric protein made up of two pairs of interconnecting polypeptide globulin chains. One pair of chains is alpha-like and the other is beta-like. Each chain has a haem prosthetic group comprised of a protoporphyrin IX tetrapyrrole ring and a central iron atom, which is typically in its ferrous (Fe²⁺) form (35). Dioxygen can reversibly bind to the haem prosthetic groups, facilitating oxygen transport in the circulation (35,77). Since each haemoglobin molecule has four haem groups, there are four oxygen binding sites, and therefore it can bind to and transport four oxygen molecules. Haem synthesis is a complex process involving eight different reactions and enzymes. Half of the reactions take place in the cytoplasm and half in the mitochondrion. Iron is essential for functioning of the enzyme 5-aminolevulinic acid synthase, which controls the first step in haem synthesis, in the mitochondrion (78). Therefore, iron availability in part dictates the initial rate-limiting step in haem synthesis (35). The following four steps in the haem synthesis pathway occur in the cytoplasm. Then the final three reactions take place in the mitochondrion, with the process ultimately involving the insertion of ferrous iron into the protoporphyrin ring (78). This final step is catalysed by ferrochelatase, an enzyme that also contains iron as part of an iron-sulphur cluster (79,80). Iron regulatory proteins and iron regulatory elements are involved in iron sensing to ensure enough iron is present to enable synthesis of erythroid

haem. Therefore, iron is both a vital part of haem and the erythropoiesis process (81). Iron is essential for the process by which oxygen is transported from the lungs to tissues for oxidative phosphorylation.

Maximal oxygen uptake, which can also be termed $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ is determined by both the amount of oxygen in the blood and the oxygen consumption of skeletal muscle (1). As the transport of oxygen in blood is dependent on haemoglobin, this is clearly dependent on sufficient iron availability. The unloading of oxygen at target tissues from haemoglobin is dictated by the surrounding environment. The affinity of haemoglobin for oxygen varies dependent on pH, pCO2, the presence of phosphates and the temperature. Changes in these conditions alter the haemoglobin-iron interaction, which in turns reduces or increases oxygen affinity (35).

2.3.1.2 Oxygen transport in muscle

Iron is also a component of myoglobin, a protein that functions to transport oxygen from erythrocytes to muscle myocytes. Myoglobin consists of a single polypeptide chain, containing eight alpha helices (82). Similarly to haemoglobin, it has a porphyrin ring containing a central ferrous (Fe²⁺) ion. The ferrous ion interacts with six ligands in a myoglobin molecule, one of which is the binding site for oxygen, to which it can bind reversibly (82). Myoglobin will reduce in states of iron deficiency, decreasing oxygen availability for myocyte function (83).

2.3.1.3 Electron transfer reactions and iron containing enzymes

There are a number of iron-containing proteins that are involved in oxidative phosphorylation in the inner mitochondrial membrane, where a series of redox reactions occur as proteins donate and accept electrons in the electron transfer respiratory chain (84). This action creates a pH electrochemical gradient across the membrane, which is then used by protons as they enter the mitochondrion through ATP synthase, driving ATP synthesis from ADP. A total of 40 different proteins are involved in the respiratory chain including both haem-containing proteins and non-haem iron-sulphur proteins (35).

ATP functions to store and transport chemical energy within cells for metabolism. ATP is required by all cells, and when the body is placed under increased physiological strain, for example, during exercise, demand for ATP is increased. Hence, there are large numbers of mitochondria in muscle tissue to meet the increased ATP requirements that typically occur in this tissue. Energy is released from ATP as it is broken down into ADP.

2.3.2 Iron containing haem enzymes

Iron-containing haem enzymes are a group of enzymes which have a haem prosthetic group typically complexed to another enzyme (84). Cytochoromes are a type of haem-containing enzymes, and are involved in oxidative phosphorylation. Haem is located at the active site, and electrons are simultaneously accepted or donated by the iron ion, as it changes oxidation state, transferring between its reduced ferrous (Fe^{2+}) state and its ferric (Fe^{3+}) oxidised state (35). Specific examples include cytochromes b, bc1 and c, cytochrome c oxidase and succinate dehydrogenase (85). Cytochrome bc1 also has an iron-sulphur protein with a 2Fe-2S centre, which is called a Rieske Centre (86).

2.3.3 Iron containing non-haem enzymes

Iron-sulphur proteins form a group of non-haem enzymes, where iron is bound to either two or four sulphur atoms (86). Iron-sulphur cluster biogenesis takes place in mitochondria (84). The iron-sulphur groups are typically ligated to cysteine residues on proteins (86). Ferredoxins (e.g. NADH dehydrogenase) are an example of iron-sulphur proteins which are involved in electron transfer reactions in mitochondria. Again, here an iron ion simultaneously loses or gains an electron transferring between its reduced ferrous (Fe²⁺) state and its ferric (Fe³⁺) oxidised state, without a significant change in structure. Unlike cytochromes, iron-sulphur proteins are non-haem, and they specifically accept or donate a single electron. They are also involved in regulatory iron sensing and the ligation of certain substrate ligands (87). Many cytosolic and mitochondrial types of iron-sulphur proteins have been identified and more are likely to be discovered as technology advances (88).

2.3.4 Immune function

Iron is required for the immune response, however invading pathogens also require iron, so internal iron sequestering is necessary to prevent pathogenic availability and therefore survival (35,89). Inevitably, pathogens have evolved, finding ways to leach iron for survival. However, protection mechanisms are in place to reduce iron availability; firstly, the majority of iron is intracellular, located to haemoglobin and myoglobin reducing availability; and secondly any free iron in the circulation is primarily sequestered by high affinity proteins, namely haptoglobin and haemopexin (35,89).

The iron-regulatory peptide hormone hepcidin is also involved when an infection is present, in a process that will be described further subsequently, its expression is upregulated, increasing release from the liver, and limiting iron release into the circulation, promoting cellular storage (90), and potentially preventing uptake into enterocytes through control of divalent metal transporter 1 expression (91). As part of the immune response, extra hepcidin is also released from some immune cells, including macrophages and neutrophils (92). There are a number of further mechanisms which restrict iron availability, limiting intracellular iron availability, sequestering iron (89).

2.3.5 Other functions

In addition to the above, iron is necessary for many other physiological processes, for example iron-sulphur clusters as cofactors for many processes (93). Indeed, it is thought that more necessary functions of iron will be discovered in time (93). DNA synthesis for example is iron dependent, with iron being an essential cofactor for the production of the rate limiting enzyme, ribonucleotide reductase (71). It is also required for DNA replication, steroid synthesis, gene regulation and cell proliferation and differentiation (71).

2.4 A lack of iron: iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia

Iron deficiency can be defined as a reduction in total body iron, typically occurring when iron losses exceed iron absorption over extended periods of time. Iron deficiency is the most common nutritional deficiency globally (94). Given the many essential roles of iron, a lack of iron has the potential to fundamentally impact upon physical, physiological and psychological function. Accordingly, there is much scope for impairments to exercise capacity and functional performance as will be discussed in more detail subsequently.

Iron deficiency can occur in isolation or in conjunction with anaemia. Anaemia can be defined as a reduction in erythrocytes or a reduction in haemoglobin (95). Accordingly, iron deficiency anaemia (IDA) occurs when the cause for the reduction in erythrocytes and haemoglobin is a lack of iron. Where iron deficiency occurs in isolation, and therefore body iron stores are either reduced or depleted, typically defined by a decrease in serum ferritin, but haemoglobin ([Hb]) is still within the clinical reference range used for the diagnosis of IDA ([Hb] $12.0 - 16.0 \text{ g} \cdot \text{dL}^{-1}$ in women), iron deficiency non-anaemia (IDNA) is diagnosed. In IDNA it is assumed that iron supply for erythropoiesis is suffice, however if left untreated, IDNA can progress to IDA.

Both iron deficiency and IDA can manifest in many ways including fatigue, muscle weakness, dizziness, pallor, often with non-specific signs and symptoms that are slow to develop so can often go unnoticed with the establishment of a new sense of 'normal'. As a result, the impacts are often not appreciated until iron levels are repleted (96). There are also some neurological sequelae that can occur as a result of IDA including pica (a compulsive need for non-food materials including ice, paper and dirt), restless leg

syndrome, reduced neurotransmitter synthesis, hypomyelination and neurocognitive effects (97).

2.5 Diagnosis of IDA and iron deficiency

The World Health Organisation (WHO) define anaemia as a [Hb] < 13.0 g·dL⁻¹ in men, [Hb] < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹ in non-pregnant women, and [Hb] < 11.0 g·dL⁻¹ in pregnant women (95). The most accurate means for diagnosing iron deficiency is through bone marrow aspiration, however due to the invasive nature of this technique, it is seldom used (98). Since a good correlation has been found between serum ferritin and total body iron stores under steady state conditions, this is typically used as the primary marker of iron status, and therefore for the diagnosis of iron deficiency (99). The WHO define iron depletion as serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ (41). Iron deficiency anaemia (IDA) is therefore defined as [Hb] < 13.0 g·dL⁻¹ alongside a serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ in men, and as [Hb] < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹ alongside a serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ in non-pregnant women (100).

However, the efficacy and reliability of both [Hb] and serum ferritin have been questioned, particularly in certain populations, including in those who exercise (45). Accordingly, the clinical ranges may be of limited significance in this group.

2.5.1 Serum ferritin for diagnosis of IDA in regular exercisers

It is widely acknowledged that serum ferritin is the primary means for assessing iron stores in healthy individuals (101). However, the suitability and reliability of serum ferritin as a means for indicating iron levels in those who exercise has been questioned. In endurance athletes specifically it is estimated that day-to-day variation is 13 - 75% (45). Levels have been shown to increase directly after exercise (102). One study found a 22% increase in serum ferritin in response to a maximal rowing ergometer test (102). The cause is not fully understood, but several factors have been suggested including: a.) a haemoconcentration, as a result of exercise-induced plasma volume shifts; b.) the effect of an inflammatory response, where since ferritin is an acute phase protein, dependent on intensity, exercise may trigger a transient increase in inflammatory cytokines, acutely increasing levels of serum ferritin; and c.) an exercise-induced red blood cell lysis (43,44). Accordingly, there is evident potential for underlying iron deficiency to be masked, and for there to be a disconnect between serum ferritin levels and iron stores in bone marrow. It is therefore important to appreciate that serum ferritin only reflects body iron stores in the absence of inflammation. The specific serum ferritin cut-off for iron deficiency diagnosis is also unclear. When compared to a bone marrow aspiration, a diagnosis of iron deficiency using serum ferritin < 16 μ g·L⁻¹ has a specificity of 98% and a sensitivity of 75% (98). Further, the absence of bone marrow iron stores have been demonstrated when ferritin $\leq 12 \,\mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ (103). However, there has been much debate over the point at which low serum ferritin levels may have a detrimental impact on physiological function, and therefore athletic performance. The typical reference range in women is extremely broad, from $10 - 200 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ (104,105). Yet, in 1993, Hallberg et al. suggested a lack of iron stores and signs of iron deficient erythropoiesis when serum ferritin was 25 - 40 μ g·L⁻¹ (98). Others also question the lower end of the reference range, feeling that despite being the point at which the WHO specify iron depletion, an iron deficient state will have already been reached by this point, likely affecting physiological function (98,106). Another study showed that when using a serum ferritin cut-off of 30 µg·L⁻¹, the sensitivity and specificity for iron deficiency diagnosis improved to 92% and 96% (42). While Heinrich et al. (1970) identified that a cut-off of 30 µg·L⁻¹, through the assessment of the absorption rate of ⁵⁹Fe, could conclusively be used to identify iron deficiency, while the possibility of pre-latent iron deficiency needs to be considered in those with a serum ferritin in the range of $30 - 99 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ (107). As a result, there is a lack of consensus over the required serum ferritin level to prevent a negative impact on performance in sports medicine, where the pursuit for optimal performance is paramount (46). As will be discussed further in Section 2.13, diagnostic criteria used in studies assessing the impact of iron deficiency have used a range of cut-offs for iron deficiency diagnosis, and this will be addressed further in this thesis.

2.5.2 Haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) for diagnosis in those who exercise

[Hb] is dependent on the total circulating mass of haemoglobin and plasma volume. Therefore, [Hb] is susceptible to distinct variation through intravascular fluid shifts, so exercise, posture and hydration status can all impact on the result, potentially causing an inaccurate representation (108,109). For example, an acute haemoconcentration can occur post exercise, while a haemodilution, a pseudoanaemia, can also result in response to an expansion in plasma volume in response to chronic training (44,110). In a measurement which will be discussed subsequently, the use of total haemoglobin mass provides a more reliable alternative (Section 2.5.3). Since the total amount of oxygen transported in plasma is minimal, this provides a much more accurate means for assessing oxygen carrying capacity (1).

The typical female [Hb] reference range is broad, $(12.0 - 16.0 \text{ g} \cdot \text{dL}^{-1})$, therefore there is potential for significant decreases in [Hb] to occur before IDA is diagnosed, effectively creating a relative state of IDA. This was again highlighted as an issue by Hallberg *et al.*

in 1993, he proposed that the relative decrease in [Hb] from the individual's habitual optimal value should be interpreted as opposed to the individual value itself (98). This suggests that [Hb] should be longitudinally monitored, however determination of a baseline 'normal' value may be problematic.

Clinically, both [Hb] and serum ferritin measurements are required for the diagnosis of IDA. Transferrin saturation and serum iron may also be considered. However, despite the evident questions of the suitability of serum ferritin and [Hb], and ambiguity over cut-off values for diagnosis, the use of serum ferritin and [Hb] are currently acknowledged to be the most efficient and cost effective means for diagnosing IDA and iron deficiency, so these are frequently measured in isolation (111,112).

2.5.3 Other candidate markers for the determination of iron status

In addition to transferrin saturation and serum iron, other biomarkers that may be more effective for analysis of iron status and warrant future investigation include transferrin and soluble transferrin receptor. Soluble transferrin receptor is less biologically variable than serum ferritin, and is not an acute phase reactant (113). It is also a marker of increased erythropoiesis (114). Interestingly, the serum transferrin receptor/log ferritin index has also shown significant potential for the indication of IDA and iron deficiency, with indication improving when combined with the individual readings of serum ferritin and serum transferrin receptor (115). However, particularly in a sports medicine context, serum ferritin is currently the primary measure used (111,112).

Red cell indices including mean corpuscular haemoglobin concentration (MCHC), mean corpuscular haemoglobin (MCH) and mean corpuscular volume (MCV) can also be used for the diagnosis of pre-latent anaemia and anaemia. These are often measured as part of the full blood count alongside [Hb], and can particularly be used to aid diagnosis of the specific type of anaemia as will be explained further in Section 2.7.

2.6 Total haemoglobin mass

Total haemoglobin mass offers a different means for indirectly assessing iron status. Total haemoglobin mass represents the total circulating mass of haemoglobin in the body. By definition, anaemia indicates a deficiency in [Hb], which will cause a reduction in maximal oxygen uptake (1). Maximal oxygen uptake, also termed $\dot{V}O_{2max}$, is determined by both the amount of oxygen in the blood and the oxygen consumption of skeletal muscle, with iron being essential for both. Clinically, [Hb] is typically used to determine the amount of oxygen in the blood, hence this is used for IDA diagnosis. Therefore, in states

of IDA, $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ will be compromised. However as demonstrated in Figure 2.1, the correlation between $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and [Hb] is small, reflecting the confounding influence of blood volume on [Hb], again questioning the suitability of [Hb] for IDA diagnosis (1). There is a much stronger relationship between total haemoglobin mass and $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Figure 2.2), suggesting this to be a more reliable means for indication of a reduction in maximal oxygen transport uptake than [Hb], and for the indication of when IDA is present (1).



Figure 2.1 – The association between haemoglobin concentration and maximal oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$). Figure adapted from (1).



Figure 2.2 – The association between total haemoglobin mass and maximal oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$). Figure adapted from (1).

2.7 Prevalence of IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency

In 2011 the World Health Organisation (WHO) estimated that globally, anaemia is present in 2 billion individuals, equating to 29.0% of non-pregnant women of a reproductive age (aged 15 - 49), increasing to 38.0% of pregnant women (aged 15 - 49), with the greatest prevalence being in infants aged 5 - 59 months, where 42.6% were found to be anaemic (273.2 million) (116). This research did not include men or the elderly, however earlier research conducted from 1993 - 2005 found prevalence in men to be 12.7%, equating to 260 million, while prevalence in the elderly was 23.9% (164 million) (37). Therefore, pregnant women and young infants are at the greatest risk of anaemia, while risk is lowest in adult males. The increased prevalence in the elderly is likely due to a greater likelihood of inflammatory conditions or illnesses which compromise iron absorption.

The most common cause of anaemia across the world is iron deficiency, being the cause for approximately half of all cases of anaemia (117). While more common in less developed countries, IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency are prevalent conditions across the total population (116).

Despite relatively cheap and effective treatment options, iron deficiency is the most common nutritional deficiency globally, thought to affect approximately 50% of the total population (94,111). According to the National Diet and Nutrition Survey in the general population in the United Kingdom, the prevalence of iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹) in adult men aged 19 - 49 is 0 - 2.5 %, whereas in non-pregnant women this is ranges from 8.2 – 16.0 % (118). As will be described subsequently, there are certain groups with an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency, and this thesis will specifically focus on those who exercise (59). This risk is clearly greater in menstruating women, and exacerbated further as volume of menstrual blood loss increases. There is however significant variation in statistics defining the prevalence of both iron deficiency alone and IDA in exercising women in the literature. In exercising women specifically, prevalence of IDNA varies from 24 – 47% (59), while IDA prevalence in exercising women varies from 8 – 14% (119-121). Part of this ambiguity is likely to be caused by the effects of different sport, intensity and volume of training in addition to other factors which will be explained further in this thesis.

2.8 Types and causes of anaemia

There are different types of anaemia, with a variety of different associated aetiologies and characteristics. These are identified by assessing the characteristics of red blood cells, including their size and [Hb]. Historically, this classification system, as outline outlined by Maxwell Wintrobe in the 1930s, used MCV and MCHC for anaemia-type identification
(122,123). More recently red cell distribution width (RDW) was added to improve diagnostic ability (124), however due to variation in the technology used for assessment and therefore reference intervals there is a need for a variety of algorithms and calculation to aid diagnosis (125,126). With the advance of technology, new techniques and tools are emerging designed to increase the reliability and accuracy of the diagnosis of anaemia, producing specific percentages of cells that are hypochromic, macrocytic and microcytic (126). The different types of anaemia and possible aetiology and characteristics associated with them are explained below:

2.8.1 Macrocytic anaemia

In macrocytic anaemia, erythrocytes are larger than normal, this is typically diagnosed by an increased mean corpuscular volume (MCV) or a greater percentage of macrocytic cells (126). There are two types of macrocytic anaemia; megaloblastic or non-megaloblastic, which are caused by a number of different factors including; a nutritional deficiency (primarily vitamin B12 or folate), drug use, the presence of a chronic illness (e.g. hypothyroidism, reticulocytosis) or a disordered bone marrow (127,128). These will either result in a defect in DNA synthesis, or a defect to the erythrocyte membrane (127,128). Typically, where there is a DNA defect, erythrocytes are oval in shape, whereas where the membrane is defected, cells are round (125,128). The most likely cause of megaloblastic macrocytic anaemia in exercising women is a vitamin B12 or folate deficiency, and a lack of either of these nutrients causes a defect in DNA synthesis, resulting in oval shaped erythrocytes (127,128). Under these circumstances, RNA synthesis continues regardless, and dyspoietic cells are produced which are larger than normal in size, with a bigger nucleus (127). The most common cause of non-megaloblastic macrocytic anaemia is excessive alcohol intake (129).

2.8.2 Microcytic anaemia

In microcytic anaemia, haemoglobin synthesis is affected, and as a result erythrocytes are smaller with a lower haemoglobin content than normal and therefore mean corpuscular volume (MCV) is low and there are an increased number of hypochromic cells (126). There are four different causes of microcytic anaemia including thalassaemia, iron deficiency, anaemia of inflammation and sideroblastic anaemia (130).

Thalassaemia

This is a hereditary condition where there is a mutation to either the \propto - or β - globin gene, resulting in either a reduction in or a lack of synthesis of the respective haemoglobin chain (130). As a result, a reticulocytosis occurs.

Iron deficiency anaemia

This is the most common type of anaemia and occurs because there is insufficient iron for the erythropoietic process, causing cells to be microcytic and hypochromic. Senescent erythrocytes will therefore have less iron impacting upon the essential functions for which iron is required. IDA can be multifactorial and the causes will be explained in further detail in Section 2.9.

Anaemia of inflammation

An increased production of inflammatory cytokines causes renal erythropoietin release to be supressed, while also resulting in increased hepcidin release, reducing iron uptake and entry into the circulation (130,131). As a result, erythropoiesis is reduced.

Sideroblastic anaemia

This can be either acquired or hereditary. Iron accumulates in the mitochondria of atypical developing erythroblasts. Iron is not available for haem synthesis, resulting in the development of ringed sideroblasts as opposed to erythrocytes (130). One relatively rare cause of sideroblastic anaemia is a vitamin B6 deficiency (132). Pyridoxal phosphate, which is a catabolically active form of vitamin B6, acts as a cofactor for 5–aminolevulinate synthase, which catalyses the initial step in haem synthesis, where coenzyme A, 5-aminolevulinic acid and carbon dioxide and produced from the reaction between succinyl-CoA and glycine (133). Therefore, a lack of vitamin B6 will inevitably affect haem synthesis.

There are a number of techniques used for identification of the aetiology of microcytic anaemia, including determining the proportion of hypochromic cells. In states of IDA, more red blood cells are hypochromic than microcytic when compared to those with a β -thalassaemia trait (134).

2.8.3 Normocytic anaemia

In some cases during early state anaemia, after acute blood loss or if there are multiple underlying anaemia causes present, countering one another (e.g. iron and vitamin B12 deficiencies), values for MCV can be within the normal range (128). This is a common form of anaemia, highlighting the need for the newer means for diagnosis (126).

2.9 Causes of iron deficiency

Iron deficiency is frequently multifactorial, and there are four primary causes including:

- 1. Increased loss
- 2. Decreased intake
- 3. Increased demand
- 4. Decreased absorption

1. Increased loss

This is most commonly caused by a large amount of blood loss. There are several ways that this can occur, examples include: a haemorrhage, major surgery, illness, childbirth, significant menstrual blood loss, blood donation, excess use of non-steroidal antiinflammatories, bleeding defects, and athletic-related losses (135). Particularly in less developed countries, malaria is a major cause of increased blood loss through intravascular haemolysis, with a resulting haematuria. The immune response to malaria also supresses erythropoietin release.

2. Decreased intake

Women typically eat less iron rich food than men, and unsurprisingly risk of a lack of intake is increased in vegetarians and vegans (36). However, poverty and malnutrition resulting in a lack of dietary iron intake are the most common causes of iron deficiency particularly in less developed countries (135).

3. Increased demand

Infants and adolescents have an increased requirement for iron as they grow, and pregnant women, particularly in their second and third trimesters also have an increased need as foetal and maternal erythroid mass increases. Demand is also increased post-partum; however, this is likely offset by the absence of menstruation (136). Increased erythropoietic stimuli will also require increased iron, this could be as a result of a hypoxic stimulus, increased exercise training, or administration of erythropoiesis stimulating agents (135).

4. Decreased absorption

Conditions resulting in inflammation, increasing hepcidin production will reduce iron absorption, such as irritable bowel disease and chronic heart failure. A reduction in iron absorption can also occur as a result of various types of infection which may trigger an immune response such as malaria, or other conditions specifically inhibiting absorption such as Helicobacter pylori infections, coeliac disease and bariatric surgery (135-138). Alternatively, the consumption of certain foods (as will be discussed further below) can also have an impact.

Notably, there are genetic conditions that can result in loss of function or mutations to genes involved in iron metabolism which can increase susceptibility to iron deficiency.

2.10 Iron bioavailability, types of dietary iron, and essential trace elements

2.10.1 Iron bioavailability and types of dietary iron

The typical western non-vegetarian diet contains approximately 7 mg per 1000 kCal of iron, however of this, it is estimated that only 5 - 35 % is absorbed (67). On a daily basis, this equates to in the region of 1 - 2 mg. Recommended daily intake for non-pregnant premenopausal women is 18 mg, which is significantly more than the 8 mg advised for men (139). However, absorption of iron is dependent on a number of factors including the type of iron (i.e. haem or non-haem) (140). Haem iron primarily comes from the haemoglobin found in animal sources; meat and fish. Whereas non-haem iron typically comes from plant-based sources, including vegetables, fruits, legumes, fortified cereals, nuts and pulses.

The bioavailability of haem iron is superior to that of non-haem, therefore absorption of haem iron is better. Approximately 15 - 35 % of haem iron is absorbed, compared to 2 - 20 % of non-haem iron. However, typically, intake of non-haem iron is much greater than haem iron, so its relative contribution to total iron is often larger (140,141).

As will be explained further, despite being easier, research is inconclusive as to the mechanism by which haem iron is transported into enterocytes. The haem iron transporter - HCP1 has been suggested, but clarity as to the specific process is lacking (142). As will be described in further detail below, absorption of non-haem iron is more complex, hence explaining the difference in bioavailability. There is also potential for various other dietary elements to affect absorption of iron, non-haem iron in particular (140,143).

2.10.1.1 Essential trace elements for iron absorption

Alongside ensuring iron intake and uptake is suffice, it is also important to appreciate the influence of other elements which are also necessary for iron acquisition and metabolism. One such example is copper. This is an essential trace element for iron absorption, and a deficiency can also be a cause for anaemia with or without iron deficiency (144). Despite definitive research in animal models, the exact mechanism by which this manifests in humans is not conclusive (144). There are a number of copper-dependent proteins that are involved in iron uptake and utilisation, and a lack of copper has been found to result in a drop in [Hb] (145,146). It has previously been suggested that the mechanism involves a reduction in copper-dependent ferroxidases, in a process that will be described further subsequently, the copper-dependent ferroxidases ceruloplasmin (in hepatocytes and macrophages) and hephaestin (in enterocytes), are necessary for the oxidation of ferrous

iron to ferric iron for transferrin binding and transport in the circulation, in addition to preventing harmful ferrous iron from entering the circulation (144,145). However, increasing evidence suggests that this may not be the primary mechanism by which a copper deficiency impacts, and that there are other copper-dependent processes which are also involved in iron uptake and utilisation that cause erythropoiesis to be restricted when there is a lack of copper (144). Evidently, while copper uptake needs to be suffice for the maintenance of optimal iron status, further research is required to this avail.

2.10.2 Dietary factors that can impact iron absorption

There are several dietary elements that are thought to play a role in the cellular uptake of dietary iron. As previously explained, with no iron excretion mechanism, there is a tightly regulated uptake process. This is primarily controlled by an internal feedback mechanism involving iron sensing and hepcidin, however dietary factors can also have a significant influence.

Research demonstrating the inhibiting and enhancing effects of dietary elements is often inconclusive, primarily because the effects are problematic to measure. The effect of an element that enhances dietary iron uptake may be offset by an inhibitor, for example eating a kale and broccoli salad with wholegrain bread. Kale and broccoli are good sources of ascorbic acid, aiding iron uptake, while the wholegrain bread is rich in fibre and phytates, potentially countering this (147).

While there is a known association between iron absorption and iron stores (ferritin) (98), there is a dearth of conclusive research assessing the combined effect of dietary iron intake and menstruation on risk of iron deficiency. Very few have found a correlation between total dietary iron intake and iron status (148-151). Specific haem intake however has been found to correlate more effectively by most (147,149,152,153). Accordingly, some have found vegetarianism to be associated with an increased risk of low serum ferritin (154,155), including a recent meta-analysis (156). Yet interestingly, in 2005, a study was conducted in the United Kingdom comparing iron status in those following a lacto-ovo-vegetarian diet (no meat or fish for at least a year), a poultry/fish diet and a red meat diet (157). Serum ferritin in the poultry/fish diet was found to be significantly greater than the other two groups, which were very comparable (157). However, this study also established that menstrual blood loss was a much more significant predictor of serum ferritin levels than iron intake (157). With blood loss being inversely proportional to serum ferritin levels (157). In fact, dietary iron intake was not associated with serum ferritin, despite the superiority of the poultry/fish diet. While iron status in those following a lacto-oco-vegetarian diet did not appear to differ to those following a red meat diet, total iron intake was actually greater in

those in the lacto-ovo-vegetarian group, potentially explaining this finding (157). Evidently further research is required to specifically evaluate the impact of diet on iron status, including assessing the effect of other nutritional elements that could alter absorption.

2.10.2.1 Enhanced iron uptake

Ascorbic and citric acid

Ascorbic and citric acids found in foods such as fruits, vegetables and juices are the only factors that can enhance iron uptake in a vegetarian diet (158). Ascorbic acid can act in two ways to optimise iron uptake. The primary mechanism is through its ability to reduce ferric iron to ferrous iron prior to entry into enterocyte, facilitating iron absorption (159). It is also thought to be able to chelate iron, further enhancing iron uptake (159). However, the positive impact of ascorbic and citric acids on iron uptake can be reduced by cooking and processing, therefore careful handling should be applied (160). Studies assessing the effect of ascorbic acid on iron status have been equivocal, with some concluding no impact, however there are a number of possible confounding factors that should be considered, including the absence of a control group, other potentially confounding deficiencies, insufficient time for an effect to manifest, and small sample sizes (147). Further, the criteria used for iron deficiency diagnosis varied and not all participants were deficient. Conversely, a randomised controlled trial where 122 iron deficient women ([Hb] \geq 11.0g·L⁻¹ and serum ferritin $\leq 40 \mu \cdot L^{-1}$) were given fruit juice daily, some fortified with iron and some not, found that iron status only improved in those consuming the fortified juice (161). This suggests that iron intake may need to be increased alongside ascorbic acid.

Animal and fish products

Intake of meat, poultry and fish has also been shown to enhance non-haem iron uptake. Yet, despite the efficacy being well evidenced, the specific mechanism by which animal tissue may aid iron uptake is unsure. It has been suggested that the peptides within the animal tissue act in a similar way to ascorbic acid, reducing and chelating iron (162,163). Others have suggested a specific involvement of glycosaminoglycan's and L-a-glycerophosphocholine (164,165). Evidently further research is warranted as these factors could have a significant impact on iron status.

2.10.2.2 Inhibition of iron uptake

Factors that can specifically inhibit iron absorption include phytates (phytic acid), calcium, tannates, phosphates, carbonates, oxalates, polyphenols and peptides from partially digested proteins (140).

Phytates and polyphenols

Phytates from foods such as grains (e.g. oats and bran), vegetables, seeds, nuts and fruits, are thought to be the primary and most potent inhibitor, and phytate intake should be considered alongside meals when determining iron absorption (140,143). Phytic acid chelates iron, resulting in the formation of an insoluble complex which cannot be digested or absorbed due to a lack of phytase enzymes in the intestine (166-168). Intake of ascorbic acid can however counteract these effects (169). The processing and cooking of phytates can also reduce their inhibitory effects (143). Polyphenols, typically occurring in vegetables, fruits, cereals, tea, coffee, legumes and wine also have an inhibitory effect (170,171).

Dairy products and calcium

Calcium has been found to have a negative impact on both haem and non-haem iron absorption (172,173). This inhibition is suggested to occur at the point of initial uptake into the enterocyte (174). The extent to which calcium can have an impact, particularly when eaten in conjunction with other foods, is unsure, and again further research is required to decipher this. Inhibitory effects of other animal proteins such as egg, milk and albumin in addition to soy protein have also been demonstrated (175,176).

Future research should address the potential for iron fortified products and further evaluate the interrelation of and effect of consumption of dietary elements on the absorption of iron.

2.11 Susceptibility to iron deficiency in exercising women

There are a range of populations with an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency; for the purposes of this review, two groups will be focused on:

- Exercising population
- Menstruating women

2.11.1 Iron deficiency in the exercising population

Those who exercise have been found to have an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency, likely experiencing increased losses and a reduction in absorption as explained further below. As a result, demand is increased, and dietary intake or absorption rate is often not sufficient to meet increased requirements.

2.11.1.1 Increased loss

There are four mechanisms by which increased iron losses occur through exercise including sweating, gastrointestinal bleeding, haematuria (presence of blood in urine), and exercise-induced haemolysis.

Sweating

Iron is a physiological constituent of sweat, and it is therefore inevitable that exercise is associated with increased iron losses through increased sweat (177). Exercising in the heat, for longer durations and at a higher intensity can therefore potentially increase iron loss. Interestingly, iron loss through sweat during exercise appears to be greater in the first hour than in the second (178), so training more than once a day may cause greater iron loss than completing one longer session.

Gastrointestinal bleeding

Gastrointestinal complaints are common amongst those who exercise, with 30 – 70% reporting this (179). Iron losses can also occur as a result of gastrointestinal bleeding (180). Due to the exercise-induced vascular shunts where blood flow to the skin and muscles is increased, blood flow to the gastrointestinal tract will decrease (181,182). The reduction in blood flow can cause the cells of the gastrointestinal tract to become starved of oxygen and other essential substrates, resulting in necrosis and mucosal bleeding, and therefore iron loss (182). Gastrointestinal damage, resulting in blood loss can also be caused by use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatories and other painkillers, use of which is thought widespread by athletes (182).

Haematuria

Likely to be dependent on intensity, exercise can cause haematuria (blood in urine). The effects of the mechanical trauma that can ensue with exercise can cause microscopic legions in the glomerulus and bladder resulting in blood loss (183,184). Furthermore, the repetitive impact from exercising can also cause haemolysis in the glomerulus, further increasing blood loss (184,185).

Exercise induced haemolysis

Exercise-induced red blood cell lysis is also postulated to result in increased iron losses (186). The exact mechanism for this is not yet fully understood (187,188). But the extent to which this occurs is likely to be dependent on the type of exercise, increasing in high impact sports, however haemolysis has been reported in non-impact sports such as swimming where high intensity muscle contractions may compress blood vessels, resulting in red cell lysis (180,189). The extent of haemolysis in weight baring sports, for example running, or sports with a large amount of contact such as rugby is likely to be significantly greater, while also thought dependent on exercise intensity, biomechanics and the ground surface (180,186). Interestingly, research suggests running speed and exercise intensity are more of a determinant of haemolysis rate than ground surface (188). As red blood cells

are destroyed, haptoglobin will sequester the haemoglobin, in a process that will be described in the second part of this chapter. The magnitude of haemolysis can be identified by post-exercise free plasma haptoglobin measurements (180,190). Haptoglobin binds to the haemoglobin that is released when red cell lysis occurs, sequestering the iron (191,192). In response to a significant amount of haemolysis, haptoglobin levels will decrease (193).

2.11.1.2 Decreased intake

Typically consuming less dietary iron, women have been found to be at an increased risk of insufficient intake than male counterparts (194-196). With risk also inevitably exacerbated in vegetarians and vegans (36).

2.11.1.3 Increased demand

Exercise creates an increased erythropoietic stimulus and causes various iron-dependent pathways to be upregulated to meet increased physiological demand. Accordingly, required daily intake is suggested to be elevated by 30-70% in those who exercise, since iron is essential for erythropoiesis (194,195,197). A practice often used by elite athletes, training at altitude also accelerates erythropoiesis, further increasing demand for iron (198).

2.11.1.4 Reduced absorption

The exercising population are also at increased risk of iron deficiency through reduced absorption. As will be explained further in the second part of this review, hepcidin is the key regulator of systemic iron metabolism, and as an acute phase protein, it is also upregulated in response to particular pro-inflammatory cytokines (199). Depending on the intensity, exercise can cause an inflammatory response. For example, research has shown increases in interleukin-1 (IL-1), interleukin-6 (IL-6) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) in response to exercise (200,201). These cytokines have been shown to increase in individuals both immediately and 2 hours after a marathon (202). As a result, transient hepcidin increases can occur post exercise, which may impact upon iron absorption into the gut and subsequently, the bloodstream. Research suggests that hepcidin levels typically peak 3 - 6 hours after the exercise-induced peak in the pro-inflammatory cytokines (203). In light of this, dietary iron consumption or oral iron administration during this time is likely to be ineffective (204). Therefore athletes who are in hard training have an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency, and this is exacerbated by those who train more than once a day, reducing the window of possibility for iron absorption (204). A recent study found that even after 12 hours of rest, when comparing athletes and non-athletes, hepcidin levels were significantly greater in athletes, highlighting the significant potential for reduced absorption (205). Recent research has however found that iron status supersedes inflammation in control of hepcidin regulation therefore in states of iron deficiency the magnitude of the hepcidin response may be attenuated (51,203). Regardless, this effect has the potential to worsen iron status, and previous studies have found both iron deficiency and IDA to be more common in exercising women when compared to sedentary controls (120,121,206). Significantly, it is well-known that athletes frequently supplement with iron, with some supplementing without prior knowledge of iron status (39). Supplementation can incur unwanted side effects, increase oxidative stress and inflammation (61), while also causing transient increases in hepcidin, reducing iron absorption and potentially worsening iron status (51). The use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs has also been shown to reduce absorption.

2.11.2 Iron deficiency specifically in exercising women

Most research suggests that the prevalence of IDA and iron deficiency is higher in athletes than in non-athletes, with risk specifically increasing in exercising and menstruating women. There are a multitude of factors that increase susceptibility, which are shown in Figure 2.1. Significantly, menstrual blood loss has been estimated to equate to iron loss of 1-2 mg per day during menstruation (74), and when compared to men, women typically consume less iron (194-196). Numerous studies have attempted to assess the prevalence of iron deficiency in exercising women, however, given that this is likely confounded by different serum ferritin cut-off values to indicate iron deficiency (ranging from 12 - 40 µg·L⁻ ¹), specific prevalence has not been defined, with results suggesting that 18 - 57% of exercising women are iron deficient (106). The ambiguity may also be in part due to the level of the athlete, the type of sport they compete in, the training volume, training surface, diet, and intensity, in addition to volume of menstrual blood loss and dietary iron intake amongst other possible factors. It is also important to consider that particularly in the case of elite athletes, some sports and/or federations may undertake regular screening for the assessment of iron status, which could confound prevalence data. The prevalence of IDA in a group of elite level soccer players was found to be 29% (207). While in a mixed group of athletes from a range of different sports, both those primarily aerobic-based and anaerobic-based, iron deficiency was found in 47.4% (208). Another study in elite basketball players found IDA in 14% of female athletes, with 35% being iron deficient (119). While prevalence of IDA in a group of US recreational athletes was found to be 9.7%, and iron deficiency 39% (120). Evidently, there is significant variation in reported IDA and iron deficiency prevalence. A significant confounder to the prevalence data is the ambiguity surrounding the definition of these conditions when using [Hb] and serum ferritin as diagnostic tools.



Figure 2.3 – Factors that contribute to increasing the susceptibility to iron deficiency in exercising women.

2.11.3 Iron deficiency in menstruating women

As previously highlighted, prevalence of iron deficiency in women of a reproductive age is greater than male counterparts and post-menopausal women. The primary cause of both iron deficiency and IDA in high-income countries is menstrual blood loss (74,209). It is inevitable that those with increased menstrual blood loss have a greater likelihood of being iron deficient or having IDA. Average volume of blood loss each menstrual period is estimated to be 30 - 50 mL, but this can vary significantly, but is difficult to measure (210). In 1964, Hallberg and Nilsson used an alkaline haematin method to quantify menstrual blood loss (27). In this process, haem is extracted from collected sanitary products using 5% sodium hydroxide (27). However, this process is expensive, labour intensive and deemed unhygienic by some, and so is infrequently used. It has however been refined (211), but the introduction of 'ultra-slim' sanitary products interferes with haem absorption, affecting reliability, and increasing potential for [Hb] to be underestimated (212).

Once menstrual blood loss and [Hb] are obtained, using the following formula, menstrual iron loss can be evaluated (157):

$$Menstrual iron \ loss = \frac{Menstrual \ blood \ loss \ \times \ [Hb] \ \times \ 0.00334}{Cycle \ length}$$

While found to substantially vary between individuals (213), the volume of blood loss by an individual does not tend to vary much between cycles (214). Research evaluating determinants in control of blood loss assessed non-identical and identical twins, concluding a significant genetic component, with identical twins showing much less variation in blood loss (215). Suggesting that volume of blood loss is primarily genetically controlled. It is thought that for every 1 mg of iron lost, there is a concomitant decrease of 6.9 μ g·L⁻¹ in serum ferritin (157). Therefore the enhanced risk of iron deficiency in this group is evident (74,157).

2.11.3.1 Heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB)

Iron losses in those with heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) are on average 5 - 6 times greater than those without each cycle (216). The National Institute for Care Excellence (NICE) of the United Kingdom define HMB as "excessive menstrual blood loss which interferes with a woman's physical, social, emotional and/or material quality of life" (26). Earlier research applied a more quantitative approach for the definition, classifying HMB to be present when there is at least 80 mL of blood loss each cycle (217). However, the subjectivity of the NICE definition is hard to evaluate, there are no means to quantify what equates to "interferences" with the different aspects of quality of life. While there are numerous issues associated with measuring total volume of blood loss, including those associated with hygiene, in addition to the potential for an appreciable amount of blood to be lost extraneously and therefore not collected by sanitary products (212). Also, given that total blood volume can significantly vary from person to person, a loss of 80 mL blood will be far more significant in some individuals than others. The existing means for diagnosis as specified by the NICE is through the opinion of the woman herself (26), which is inevitably problematic particularly given that this is a personal topic which is not commonly discussed, meaning that awareness is likely to be poor. It is therefore clear that there is a need for an improved means for HMB diagnosis. The American College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology go some way to providing a more objective diagnosis, recognising the presence of any of the following symptoms to equate to HMB:

- 1. bleeding that lasts more than 7 days;
- bleeding that soaks through one or more tampons or pads every hour for several hours in a row;
- 3. needing to change pads or tampons during the night; or

4. menstrual flow with blood clots that are as big as a quarter or larger (218).

Similarly, Fraser *et al.* (2015) have recently identified a four-part diagnostic series which has been used effectively to facilitate diagnosis (28). If two or more of the symptoms are reported, a diagnosis of HMB is made (28). The criteria include;

- 1. Passing of large blood clots;
- 2. Need for double sanitary protection (both towels and tampons);
- 3. Need for frequent changes of tampons and towels (meaning changes every 2 hours or less, or 12 sanitary items per period); and
- 4. Flooding through to clothes or bedding (28).

Clearly, both of these guidelines rely on self-report and are perceptual in nature. However, they are clearly more objective than the diagnosis by the NICE, and a combination of these was applied in this thesis.

Depending on the criteria utilised, in the general population, approximately 20 - 30% of menstruating women have HMB (219,220). This may be in conjunction with, or occur as a result of other conditions, for example, endometriosis, polycystic ovary syndrome or a bleeding disorder such as von Willebrand disease (219). However, a study in university students found only 20.7% of those identified with HMB (n = 82) to have an underlying menstrual cycle-related pathology or a bleeding disorder (Gursel et al. 2014). Suggesting HMB to be a condition in its own entirety.

Using the four-part diagnostic criteria outlined above, Fraser *et al.* (2015) conducted an internet-based survey across five European countries, including France, Spain, Germany, Netherlands and Switzerland. A total of 4506 were surveyed, and overall HMB prevalence was found to be 27.2% (28), and therefore in accordance with previous indications of prevalence (219,220). More specifically the prevalence per country was: France - 30.3%, Spain - 32.9%, Germany – 32.9%, Netherlands – 22.2% and Switzerland – 25.0% (28). The results from this survey also showed that approximately half of those with HMB had not sought medical help (28). However, worryingly, half of those who reported seeking medical help did not have HMB diagnosed (28). Further, of those with HMB, 81.8% indicated that their symptoms were not under control, and the majority indicated that HMB affected their quality of life (28).

A number of studies have examined the prevalence of IDA and iron deficiency in those with HMB, finding approximately 3 in 5 to be iron deficient, and 1 in 4 to have IDA (19,20).

While highlighting the potential impact that increased menstrual blood loss can have on iron status, the relevance to this amongst those who exercise is uncertain, as no research into HMB has been conducted within this population. This will be addressed in this thesis.

Despite HMB having a significant impact on quality of life, mood, energy levels and productivity, due to the sensitivity of the condition, particularly amongst certain cultures, it frequently goes unnoticed. Significantly, the symptoms of HMB are similar to those seen in iron deficiency and IDA, so notwithstanding the likely relation between the two, there is potential for one to be missed in diagnosis (28). However as previously highlighted, the prevalence of HMB in the athletic population is unknown.

2.12 The menstrual cycle in female athletes

Athletes are more likely to have an irregular menstrual cycle than non-athletes, and inevitably dependent on sport type, training volume and performance level, 6 - 79% of exercising women experience reproductive system irregularities (21). Pre-pubertal participation in intense exercise typically delays onset of menarche by around a year, and also increases likelihood of future menstrual disorders (24). In exercising women, the most researched and commonly discussed dysfunctions include primary and secondary amenorrhea, anovulation, luteal phase deficiency and oligomenorrhea (22-24,31). The prevalence of oligomenorrhea (infrequent menstruation) and amenorrhea (absent menstruation) is increased in athletes when compared to the general population, and in particular in those competing in certain sports and events where a low body mass is desirable for performance, training volumes are large and/or where there is substantial focus on aesthetics, such as ballet and endurance running (15,31). In fact, it has been suggested that up to 69% of those who exercise have secondary amenorrhea (where individuals have had at least one menstrual cycle previously, but then absent menstrual cycle for at least 6 months), compared to 2 - 5% of the general population (31). Susceptibility to secondary amenorrhea is also increased in those with a delayed circadian rhythm due to alterations in melatonin release, e.g. in flight attendants (221). This is hypothesised to be caused by the impact of melatonin on luteinising hormone, and could have implications for athletes undergoing long haul travel, however further research is required to investigate this (222).

Amenorrhea can be caused by a number of factors, as discussed widely in the literature; one factor particularly relevant in those who exercise is energy deficiency. The female athlete triad is a term used, specifically relating to menstrual dysfunction in exercising women, describing the interrelationship between low bone density, low energy availability

and menstrual dysfunction (223). In 2014 however, the IOC created a new term – Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport (RED-S) (224). This more broadly demonstrates the impact that an energy deficiency in sport can have. The potential role of iron in the female athlete triad will be discussed further in Section 2.11 (2).

There have been a number of cases where athletes have cited their menstrual cycle to be a cause for poor athletic performance in the press (18-20). However, research defining the effects of the menstrual cycle on exercise, and suitable strategies to mitigate these is absent. With the primary research focus being on dysfunctions associated with amenorrhea (24,31), there is an evident need to consider other menstrual dysfunctions. It is outside of the scope of this thesis to look at all types of dysfunction, however the primary issue that is likely to be associated with iron deficiency; heavy menstrual bleeding, will be addressed.

It is possible that risk of IDA and iron deficiency is further increased in those who exercise and have HMB, however despite some research in the general population, there is a lack of research in the exercising population. In light of the interferences with a women's physical, social, emotional and/or material quality of life, as per the NICE definition for HMB (26), notwithstanding the known negative impacts of IDA and the potential impacts of iron deficiency it is important to address whether this may be a problem in this population, where the potential to impact exercise performance is evident. This thesis will identify the effect of HMB and iron deficiency with or without anaemia on markers of exercise performance. If indeed HMB is found to be prevalent amongst exercisers, awareness needs to be raised as it is currently not a dysfunction that is commonly considered amongst the athlete populous (31).

2.13 Effect, diagnosis and treatment of iron deficiency

IDA has a distinct impact on exercise performance, however the impact of iron deficiency without anaemia (IDNA) is less certain. Much previous research evaluating the effects of IDNA and the efficacy of treatment has focused on clinically unwell populations, where other medical issues, such as heart failure or kidney disease, are likely to confound results (225,226). These results are therefore not applicable to exercising, healthy populations in whom there exists substantial ambiguity as to the impact on performance, the clinical diagnosis and optimal treatment options. The primary reasons for this are:

• There is a lack of a universally agreed consensus on serum ferritin cut-off values for the diagnosis of iron deficiency – optimal levels of serum ferritin for those who

exercise are unknown and research addressing the possible impacts of iron deficiency have typically used cut-off values ranging from 12 - 40 μ g·L⁻¹ (48-54).

- Differing administration routes, which are likely to have varying efficacy studies have used intravenous injections, oral tablets or intramuscular injections.
- Differing study protocols studies have used different dosing strategies, i.e. a single high intravenous dose compared to smaller doses spread across a length of time, and different time courses for follow up testing, typically ranging from 24 hours – 12 weeks post iron treatment.
- Small sample sizes the absence of a power calculation in some studies has further made the drawing of conclusions problematic.
- Differing populations some studies use elite and well-trained athletes, whereas some use non-elite, recreational exercisers. Elite and highly trained athletes are likely to undergo increased physiological stress compared to the more general exercising population, resulting in differing responses to interventions such as iron administration, and possibly having differing optimal levels of iron stores (48-54). Further, potential for significant increases in exercise and aerobic capacity is much smaller, as these are likely to already be very high. So, despite increases being meaningful on an individual level, these may not be reflected statistically.

2.13.1 Effects of iron deficiency in animal models

The effect of IDNA in animals has been shown. Several murine studies have been conducted comparing IDA, IDNA and iron sufficient rats (227-229). IDNA was found to cause suboptimal mitochondrial function and capacity, likely through modifications to iron-containing proteins. Specifically, Finch *et al.* (1976) attributed the reduced function to the non-haem containing enzyme \propto -glycerophosphate (227), while Willis *et al.* (1987) observed a reduction in cytochrome c alongside other iron-containing enzymes (228). Evidently, IDNA has the potential to have non-haematological effects, altering oxidative enzymes and mitochondrial function and future human studies are required to assess this further specifically at a cellular level.

2.13.2 Effects of iron deficiency on exercise performance

This thesis will primarily focus on how iron deficiency may impact upon components of exercise performance in humans. Where [Hb] is reduced in states of IDA, maximal oxygen uptake, $\dot{V}O_{2max}$, as determined by the amount of oxygen in the blood and the oxygen consumption of skeletal muscle, is reduced (1). On the other hand, $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ can increase through an increase in cardiac output and [Hb]. Cardiac output is most likely to increase

through an enhanced blood volume, which can occur as a result of an increase in erythrocyte mass, again necessitating iron (1).

As explained in section 2.6, IDA is typically measured using [Hb], however as demonstrated in Figures 2.1 and 2.2, there is a minimal relationship between $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and haemoglobin concentration, likely reflecting the influence of blood volume on this reading. Figure 2.2 demonstrates that total haemoglobin mass correlates much more closely with $\dot{V}O_{2max}$, suggesting that this may provide a more accurate means for indication (1). As previously highlighted, being an essential part of myoglobin, iron deficiency will also impact oxygen transport to muscle myocytes. Further, a lack of iron will impair the function of iron-containing oxidative enzymes, including those involved in the electron transfer process in mitochondria, affecting the production of ATP.

The reduction in oxygen carrying capacity associated with IDA evidently explains how this condition affects exercise performance. However, where absolute haemoglobin mass and therefore oxygen-carrying capacity is not affected in states of IDNA, the impact on exercise performance is less certain (46,110). Given the many other essential roles of iron, there is evidently still significant potential for a negative impact on physiological function. While non-haematological effects have been shown in animals (227-229), some have demonstrated other factors that could impact either directly or indirectly on exercise performance. For example, iron deficiency has recently been associated with an increased risk of osteoporosis (230), while, in non-athletes, research suggests cognitive performance may be affected, which could impact upon exercise performance through a lack of motivation and concentration (57). This will be discussed further below. Low iron stores have also been associated with increased levels of oxidative stress (231).

Yet studies assessing the impact of iron repletion in IDNA athletes have led to inconclusive results, questioning not only the mechanism of impact of IDNA but the accuracy of the diagnosis itself. Research is hampered by a lack of human studies, in addition to studies purely looking at IDA and not IDNA and a number of other factors which will be discussed further below. Since iron deficiency can be indicated by a positive response to iron therapy (47), it could be suggested that where no improvements in functional outcome are seen, iron deficiency is either not present or did not impact on the measured outcomes. The following section will focus on previous key studies that have assessed the impact of iron repletion on functional performance.

2.13.3 Previous research evaluating the impact of iron therapy in iron deficient, exercising participants

It has been widely demonstrated that where serum ferritin is < 40 μ g·L⁻¹, iron therapy will result in significant elevations in serum ferritin, regardless of the supplementation route (46,232). However, research pertaining to whether this is associated with a concomitant improvement in performance is equivocal. A number of studies have been conducted in an attempt to evaluate this, and summary of the findings from these, categorised by the different routes of administration, are described below and summarised in Table 2.1. Some have shown increases in iron status to be transient, returning to initial pre-supplementation levels with no associated impact on performance (51,233). Inevitably, where the gut is bypassed, i.e. using intravenous injections, increases in serum ferritin will occur regardless of baseline values.

2.13.3.1 Oral supplementation

The majority of previous research evaluating the impact of iron deficiency on haematological markers and performance measures have used oral iron repletion. This means for iron therapy is cheap and easy to administrate. However, conclusive findings from these studies are lacking, with distinct variation in study protocol, participant type, markers of assessment, and inclusion criteria. Firstly, excluding the study Powell and Tucker, (234) oral iron supplementation has been shown to increase serum ferritin when measured at a pre-determined follow-up point (49,50,52,54,235-241). The lack of increase in serum ferritin in the study by Powell and Tucker may have been due to follow-up blood tests being only 14 days after iron supplementation was initiated (234). Normal practice is to allow a period of at least three months for repletion of iron stores using oral iron (242), and while the other studies here demonstrated a significant increase in serum ferritin levels, at the end of the predetermined trial period some participants still had low serum ferritin levels. For example, in the eight week supplementation period applied by LaManca and Haymes (1993), five participants still had a serum ferritin < 20 μ g·L⁻¹ at the end of the trial (236).

Improvements in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ were only evident in the studies conducted by La Manca and Haymes (1993) (236), Friedmann *et al.* (2001), (237) and in the severely iron deficient group in the study by Wachsmuth *et al.* (2015) (241). However, while an increase in in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ was not seen, an improvements in endurance times or energy efficiency, and a reduction in energy expenditure were evident in a number of studies (50,238,239,243). Significantly, participants in the studies conducted by Wachsmuth *et al.* (2015) (241) and Friedmann *et al.* (2001) (237) undertook the period of supplementation for amongst the longest time across all studies here, being 70 and 84 days respectively, and the baseline serum ferritin levels for inclusion were low (serum ferritin < 12 µg·L⁻¹ and < 20 µg·L⁻¹

respectively). While other studies applied the similar inclusion criteria, these studies were longer, therefore, it is possible that the individuals in the other studies had been taking oral supplementation for an insufficient time period for an impact to be significant. The only other study that was comparable in length was that by Matter *et al.* (1987) (235) lasting for 77 days. However, this study applied a more lenient criteria for inclusion (serum ferritin < $40 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$), potentially explaining the differing findings here. Conversely, while none of the participants in the study by LaManca and Haymes (1993) were diagnosed with anaemia, a significant increase in [Hb] was seen post treatment, suggesting that a relative state of anaemia was present, therefore improvements in maximal exercise capacity are likely to be due to increased oxygen transport (236).

Evidently, there is significant variation in the inclusion criteria used for iron deficiency across these studies, ranging from a serum ferritin of < 12 μ g·L⁻¹ used by Radjen *et al.* (2011) (240) and in the trial completed by Wachsmuth *et al.* (2015) (241) to a serum ferritin of sFer < 40 μ g·L⁻¹ used by Matter *et al.* (1987) (235). This could be another factor explaining some of the variation in findings, and could be enhanced further by the variation in study duration. For example, despite using an inclusion criteria of a serum ferritin of < 12 μ g·L⁻¹, the duration of the study conducted by Radjen *et al.* (2011) was only 56 days, so the absence of a change in exercise measures could be attributed to insufficient supplementation duration (240). Another significant factor that needs consideration is the compliance of supplementation. This is particularly significant given the negative side effects associated with oral iron supplementation, which could discourage use. Accordingly, a compliance of only 30% was reported in one study (239). While some studies did monitor compliance, this can be difficult to accurately measure.

As highlighted in a recent review, it is likely that some of these oral supplementation studies have not conducted a power or an effect size calculation, amounting to another factor pertaining to the ambiguity of results (244). While, significantly, the performance level of the participants in these studies also varied. Further, a number of studies assessed participants at the onset of a training block, therefore there was an inevitable increase in exercise performance markers, despite this being controlled for (50,239), there is still potential for this to distort findings.

Considering the known increase in hepcidin after iron administration, taking oral iron too frequently, and taking a dose that is too high for requirement has the potential to worsen iron status. Hepcidin levels have been found to increase for three hours post supplementation, therefore whenever iron is taken, iron absorption may not be possible for the subsequent three hour period, this is particularly significant if this falls at a meal time

(180,203). Further, if iron is taken in the period after exercise, the acute inflammatory response may drive hepcidin levels up, again preventing iron absorption (180,203). Therefore, despite evident increases in serum ferritin, absorption may have been limited and could have confounded study results.

2.13.3.2 Intramuscular iron therapy

Likely due to the pain associated with injection, there is a sparsity of studies assessing the impact of iron repletion using intramuscular iron therapy. Both studies that did apply this method followed very similar protocols (48,53). Trained women were administered 2 mL of iron every other day for 10 days (5 x 2 mL) into the gluteus maximus (48,53). A comparable increase in serum ferritin was seen when participants were tested 5- and 10-days after study initiation, and 20- and 24-days after study initiation respectively (48,245). To evaluate performance, Blee *et al.* (1999) assessed a variety of measures intending to indirectly test anaerobic power and endurance capacity, finding the iron administration to have no impact (48). Peeling *et al.* (2007) also concluded similar findings, seeing no improvement in submaximal or maximal exercise capacity (53). Therefore, despite effectively restoring serum ferritin, from the two studies assessing intramuscular iron therapy, it can be concluded that there was no impact on performance. Despite this, there is potential that the small sample sizes in these studies could have limited the applicability of the results, while the criteria used for diagnosis of iron deficiency was also very lenient (Table 2.1).

2.13.3.3 Intravenous iron therapy

Similar to research assessing intramuscular iron therapy, likely due to the only relatively recent development of safer formulations (55), few studies have evaluated the effect of intravenous iron therapy in exercising women. Using highly trained distance runners, both Garvican et al. (2014) (52), and Burden et al. (2015) (51) found intravenous iron injections to significantly increase serum ferritin. Garvican et al. (2014) (52) also found an increase in VO_{2max} and total haemoglobin mass in response to intravenous iron therapy. However, this finding was not mirrored in the study by Burden et al. (2015) (51) where no changes were seen in any markers of performance. The reasons for this are unsure and could be attributable to several factors. Firstly, despite the total dose of iron administered being similar (500 mg and 550 \pm 171 mg, the latter calculated using the Ganzoni formula (246)), Burden et al. (2015) (51) administered this in a single high bolus, while Garvican et al. (2104) (52) spread administration out over 6 weeks (2 - 4 injections). Secondly, the criteria used for diagnosis differed, Burden *et al.* (2015) (51) used a serum ferritin < 40 μ g·L⁻¹ for men, and a serum ferritin < 30 μ g·L⁻¹ for women, while Garvican *et al.* (2014) (52) used a serum ferritin \leq 35 µg·L⁻¹ in addition to a transferrin saturation < 20%, or a serum ferritin \leq 15 μ g·L⁻¹ alone. Therefore, the inclusion criteria used in the study by Garvican *et al.* (2014) (52) was stricter than that used Burden et al. (2015) (51) suggesting that the participants

in this trial may not have been deficient. Finally, the follow up tests were performed at different times, with Garvican *et al.* (2014) (52) testing participants around one week after study completion and Burden *et al.* (2015) 24 hours post injection and 4 weeks post injection. Therefore, it is possible that despite the significant increase in serum ferritin, the impact of iron repletion on exercise performance in the case of the latter may not have had time to manifest within 24 hours, and the positive effects of this may have been lost after four weeks. However, the fact that serum ferritin levels were still supraoptimal at this point counters this later hypothesis. Evidently, the performance level of the participants in both trials was very comparable, with the desired effect of restoring iron status being obtained. With only 7 athletes in each study receiving iron, it is possible that more participants may be required to evaluate this further.

Clearly further clarification is required here, a topic that will be addressed in this thesis.

Study	Inclusion criteria	Subjects (treatment and placebo)	Administration route	Dosing protocol and duration	Effect
Matter <i>et al</i>. 1987 (235)	sFer < 40 µg·L⁻¹	n = 29 F	Oral	50 mg elemental iron, 1 x day, 77 days	No improvement in VO _{2max}
Rowland e<i>t al.</i> (1988) (243)	sFer < 20 µg·L⁻¹	n = 14 F	Oral	325 mg, 1 x day, 28 days	No improvement in VO _{2max} but improved endurance performance
Powell and Tucker (1991) (234)	sFer < 35 µg·L⁻¹	n = 10 F	Oral	Ferrous sulphate, 130 mg 1 x day, 14 days	No change in blood iron indices or metabolic parameters
Klingshirn <i>et al.</i> (1992) (54)	sFer < 20 µg·L ⁻¹ , [Hb] > 12.0 g·dL ⁻¹	n = 18 F	Oral	50 mg, 2 x day, 56 days	No improvement in VO _{2max}
Fogelholm <i>et al.</i> (1992) (49)	sFer ≤ 25 µg·L ⁻¹ , [Hb] > 12.0 g·dL ⁻¹	n = 31 F	Oral	100 mg, 1 x day, 56 days	No change in blood lactate or VO _{2max}

Table 2.1 – A summary of the effects of iron repletion on physical performance in iron deficient but not anaemic exercising participants.

LaManca and Haymes (1993) (236)	sFer < 20 µg·L⁻¹	n = 20 F	Oral	50 mg, 2 x day, 56 days	Improved VO _{2max} and decreased blood lactate
Hinton <i>et al.</i> (2000) (50)	sFer < 16 µg·L ⁻¹ , [Hb] > 12.0 g·dL ⁻¹	n = 42 F	Oral	10 mg, 2 x day, 42 days	Improvement in VO _{2max}
Friedmann <i>et al.</i> 2001 (237)	sFer < 20 µg·L⁻¹	n = 23 F, 17 M	Oral	100 mg 2 x day, 84 days	Improvement in VO _{2max} , no change in blood volume
Hinton and Sinclair (2005) (238)	sFer < 16 µg·L⁻¹ IDNA	n = 20 M+F	Oral	30 mg, 1 x day, 42 days	No improvement in VO _{2max} , improved energetic efficiency
Della Vale and Haas 2011 (239)	[Hb] > 12.0 g/dL, sFer < 20 μg/l	n = 40 F	Oral	50 mg, 2 x day, 42 days	No improvement in VO _{2max}
Radjen e <i>t al.</i> 2011 (240)	[Hb] > 12.0 g/dL, sFer < 12 μg/l, TSAT > 16%	n = 17 F	Oral	50 mg, 1 x day, 56 days	No improvement in VO _{2max}
Wachsmuth <i>et al.</i> (2015) (241)	sFer < 12 μg·L ⁻¹ , or sFer < 25 μg·L ⁻¹ > 12 μg·L ⁻¹ , [Hb] > 12.0 g·dL ⁻¹	n = 22 F	Oral	100 mg, 1 x day, 70 days	Improvement in VO _{2max} in severe, not in moderate. Improved haemoglobin mass in both groups

Garvican e<i>t al.</i> (2014) (52)	sFer ≤ 35 µg·L ⁻¹ + TSAT < 20% or sFer ≤15 µg·L ⁻¹ , [Hb] > 12.0 g·dL ⁻¹	n = 13 F, 14 M	Oral and IV	Oral – 105 mg, 2 x day, 42 days; IV - 550 mg (ferric carboymaltose 2-4 injections), 42 days	Improvement in VO _{2max} and haemoglobin mass only in IV group
Burden <i>et al.</i> (2015) (51)	sFer < 40 μg·L ⁻¹ for men, sFer < 30 μg·L ⁻¹ for women, [Hb] > 12.0 g·dL ⁻¹	n = 9 F, 6 M	IV	500 mg, single dose	No change in performance markers or total haemoglobin mass
Blee et al. (1999) (48)	sFer < 40 µg·L ⁻¹ , [Hb] > 11.5 g·dL ⁻¹	n = 15 F	IM	5 x 2 ml, 8 days	No change in performance markers
Peeling et al. (2007) (245)	sFer < 35 µg·L ⁻¹ , [Hb] > 11.5 g·dL ⁻¹	n = 16 F	IM	5 x 2 ml, 10 days	No improvement in VO _{2max}

Oral – oral iron, IV – intravenous iron, IM – intramuscular iron, F = female participants, M = male participants, sFer – serum ferritin, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, TSAT – transferrin saturation

2.13.3.4 Overall assessment of iron therapy in iron deficient individuals

It is evident that providing sufficient time is allowed, where individuals have a suboptimal baseline serum ferritin (< 40 µg·L⁻¹), oral, intramuscular or intravenous iron therapy will cause this to increase. Therefore, despite evident increases in serum ferritin, in the case of the oral supplementation studies, the time course for supplementation may have been insufficient for the restoration of iron status to affect markers of exercise performance. Accordingly, it is significant to note that in the studies where oral iron supplementation was taken for a longer time period, improvements in exercise performance markers were seen (236,237,241). However, the observed effect of iron repletion in both the intramuscular studies (48,53), and the results from the intravenous study conducted by Burden et al. (2015) (51) conflict this, since despite the follow up serum ferritin levels being significantly greater than those seen in the oral repletion studies, no increases in markers of exercise performance were seen. Conversely, the intravenous iron therapy study by Garvican et al. (2014) (52) did show increases in both maximal exercise capacity and total haemoglobin mass. Significantly, the criteria for inclusion in the latter study by Garvican et al. (2014) (52) was much stricter than that of the other injection studies, suggesting that existing diagnoses for iron deficiency may need to be re-evaluated. Given the highlighted adverse effects of excess iron, there is an evident need to address the point at which supplementation should be applied, and this will be addressed in this thesis.

Additionally, given the wide reference range for [Hb] and the discussed potential for intravascular fluid shifts, despite the inclusion of IDNA participants only, it is possible that improvements in aerobic capacity in some studies could actually be due to increases in [Hb] (52). A state of IDA could have been masked. Significantly, a moderate effect of iron therapy on [Hb] was shown in a recent meta-analysis (46).

There was also a wide variation in performance level of the participants in these studies. The participants in both studies using intravenous iron for repletion and both studies using intramuscular iron for repletion were highly trained and elite (48,51-53). Whereas the participants in the oral supplementation studies were of a wide range of ability from the more elite to recreational level. In fact, despite the fast development of the female fitness industry, no injection studies have been conducted in recreational level athletes. This is likely to be because negative performance impacts are more likely to be appreciated and highlighted in the elite populous, with a rapid need for restoration, where both athletes and coaches are carefully monitoring performance (48,51,52,180). Additionally, due to cost implications and accessibility, the use of intravenous iron therapy for the treatment of iron deficiency is clearly more likely in this population, and accordingly, to date, repletion by

this means has only been evaluated in elite and well-trained athletes (51,52). Given that highly trained athletes may respond differently to recreational exercisers, there is clearly a need to evaluate this further. This could have a substantial impact, and will be addressed in this thesis.

Considering the conflicting results from previous research outlined here, and in light of the significant variation in measurements seen in those who exercise (45), it could be suggested that the use of serum ferritin and the criteria for diagnosis when using serum ferritin for iron status evaluation should be questioned. This is something of particular interest in this thesis, and will be evaluated further.

Additionally, the differing evidence highlighted here suggests that a more overarching review in this area is warranted. The substantial variation in study design may make a meta-analysis problematic to conduct, so a review that is more systematic in nature would be more appropriate. This should enable a better evaluation of the required need for further study. Sub-group analysis could then be conducted based on trial protocol and participant status, and could lead to more tangible outcomes.

2.13.4 Other relevant effects of iron deficiency

IDA and anaemia are leading causes of fatigue, however the association between IDNA and fatigue has been less conclusive. Similar to the assessment of exercise performance in response to iron therapy, when assessing the impact of iron repletion on fatigue there have also been conflicting results, with some finding fatigue to decrease (56,226,247,248), while others not (249). Psychology plays a significant part in sports performance, however, none of these studies were conducted in an exercising population, something that will be addressed further in this thesis.

2.13.5 The impact of iron therapy on fatigue and mood disturbance

To my knowledge, one study has assessed the effect of iron supplementation on mood disturbance and fatigue in an exercising population alongside measuring exercise performance and haemoglobin mass (58). The aim of this study was to determine whether in fact serum ferritin cut-offs for both exercise related and cognitive impacts of iron deficiency need to be higher. An inclusion criteria for serum ferritin between $30 - 100 \,\mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ was applied (58). Evidently, this is outside of the typical criteria used by many for the diagnosis of iron deficiency. In response to oral supplementation, the results showed that despite not finding any significant increase in haemoglobin mass or any measureable improvements in exercise performance, there was a reduction fatigue and mood

disturbance (58). This could have been due to a placebo effect, or alternatively it could suggest that for optimal cognitive performance serum ferritin should be higher than often thought, with effects on aerobic capacity occurring secondary to cognitive impacts (58). In support of this, a study specifically looking at unexplained fatigue in women, concluded that to prevent fatigue, a ferritin cut-off of < 50 μ g·L⁻¹ should be applied (247). This will be addressed further in this thesis since it has the potential to impact upon sports performance in addition to everyday health.

Clearly, there is reason to suggest that iron deficiency could impact upon both exercise performance (physical and psychological) and fatigue (50,238,239,250), however there is also compelling evidence countering this (51). Given the known negative impacts of iron overload and toxicity further investigation is important in this thesis, particularly as supplementation is believed common amongst the exercising population (39).

2.14 Iron deficiency and the female athlete triad

A review article has recently been published suggesting a role for iron deficiency in the female athlete triad (2). As previously described, the female athlete triad is a syndrome that has three primary causes, including a poor energy status, impaired bone health and a compromised reproductive function (31). All three factors are frequently seen in female athletes, be it together, or in isolation, and are particularly common in those competing in endurance sports, or in events with an increased drive for thinness (31). The effects of these can be severe and detrimental to a woman's exercise performance, and significantly, to their health (31). Typically, low energy availability drives the impaired bone health and compromised reproductive system while also impacting upon numerous other non-vital biological processes, many of which are also seen in iron deficiency (2). For example, both iron deficiency and energy deficient state, the presence of iron deficiency is likely to exacerbate risk of hypothyroidism (251,252).





As highlighted previously, iron deficiency and IDA have been suggested to have a role in cognitive function, with research suggesting that it also decreases serotonin and noradrenaline function (253). Since the development of eating disorders is believed to be significantly driven by anxiety, the reduction in these hormones could be, in part, responsible for restrictive eating behaviours (253). Undereating inevitably increases risk of iron deficiency, and those who exercise are more susceptible to this, not least because exercise can cause appetite suppression (254). Iron deficiency itself has also been found to reduce appetite, exacerbating the issue (2).

Increases in oestrogen have been found to decrease hepatic hepcidin expression, therefore in energy deficient states, the lower levels of oestrogen may cause increased hepcidin expression, resulting in an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency (255). However, those with lower levels of oestrogen are also more likely to be amenorrhoeic so wouldn't be experiencing monthly blood loss, hence studies suggest that iron status may be balanced (2). Further research should address this relationship.

There is increasing evidence to suggest an association between iron deficiency with or without anaemia and an impairment in bone health (230), a factor that is compromised in those with endocrine suppression and a reduced energy availability. To conclude, evidently there are some significant overlaps between the biological repercussions of a lack of iron and the female athlete triad, often with one accentuating the effects of the other (2). More research is required particularly in human models, since most research to date has been conducted in rodents. Significantly the causative effects of one on the other should also be

considered i.e. does iron deficiency have an impact on oestrogen suppression, since this could help inform treatment options.

2.15 Management and treatment of iron deficiency

There are a number of treatment options that can be applied when iron deficiency is diagnosed. These are outlined below:

2.15.1 Dietary intervention

Dietary modifications should be the first method that should be considered when iron stores are deemed suboptimal (111). Appreciably however, this may not be sufficient to meet demand, meaning that other options are necessary (250). Dietary iron can either be haem (from animal sources) or non-haem (all other types of iron) as will be explained further below. Absorption of haem iron is far more efficient than non-haem, and there are several factors that can influence absorption, which will be outlined.

2.15.2 Oral supplementation

Oral iron is a common and cost-effective method used for repleting iron stores. While considered safe, the long-term effects of supplementation are unknown. As oral iron is typically poorly absorbed, complete repletion of iron stores can take three to six months (256). There are a number of common side effects associated with oral iron supplementation including abdominal discomfort, constipation, heartburn, vomiting and nausea (256). Up to 70% of patients administered oral iron are suggested to experience gastrointestinal side effects, with ferrous sulphate particularly problematic (257). In order to reduce side effects, a reduction in frequency and dosage of supplementation has been suggested, and that iron should be taken alongside food (inevitably this may impact absorption), while liquid formulations instead of oral formulations may also help (256). Several other side effects have been associated with unnecessary or excessive supplementation; excessive supplementation has been associated with increases in oxidative stress and inflammation in young and healthy individuals (61). while also increasing risk of haemochromatosis, particularly in those with the haemochromatosis HFE gene (258).

Increased intake of dietary and oral iron is also primary risk factor in those with genetic abnormalities that predispose them to iron overload, for example in those with haemochromatosis (7). Haemochromatosis is a hereditary condition, occurring where there is a mutation in the HFE gene located in the short arm of chromosome 6 (259). Most cases of haemochromatosis are caused by a HFE mutant genotype. HFE is involved in iron sensing, and is therefore involved in regulation of hepcidin, where there is a mutation

therefore, hepcidin expression may be limited, increasing iron bioavailability (259). In those who have homozygous or heterozygous mutations of the C282Y or H63D alleles, or alternatively with a compound mutation of C282Y/H63D, risk of clinically significant iron overload is increased, therefore caution should be applied with supplementation (259). Approximately 0.4% Caucasians carry a homozygous C282Y mutation, and 6% a heterozygous C282Y mutation (260). Interestingly, prevalence of HFE gene mutations seems to be particularly high in elite endurance athletes (259).

The timing of dosing is imperative since a large intake of iron will cause a transient increase in hepcidin, therefore reducing subsequent iron absorption (203). Therefore, if oral iron is taken just prior to a meal, absorption of dietary iron from the meal could be substantially reduced. Significantly, a recent study concluded lower and less frequent doses to be more effective at repleting iron stores (261). Suggesting that for optimal absorption it may be best to supplement with smaller doses of oral iron every other day (261). Caution should also be applied to ensure oral supplementation is not taken when inflammation is likely, e.g. post intense exercise, as the increased hepcidin levels will prevent absorption. Research has recently found hepcidin levels to remain elevated for 3 - 6 hours post the inflammation that ensues with exercise (203).

Oral iron usage has been found to be common in the sporting context, particularly given the known association between exercise and iron loss (39). This has been demonstrated in cycling, where a third of elite French cyclists were found to supplement excessively, greater than advised, resulting in hyperferritaemia (39). Coaches often encourage athletes to supplement in phases of hard training, particularly when fatigue is reported or observed regardless of prior knowledge of iron status. Burden *et al.* (2015) has suggested that this may be counterproductive because where iron status is sufficient, an increase in iron will elevate hepcidin, resulting in a decrease in iron absorption, possibly having a detrimental effect on performance (51).

2.15.3 Intravenous injections

There are some instances where oral iron is not an appropriate means for iron repletion. Therefore, other administration routes such as intravenous or intramuscular injections are necessary. Intravenous iron injections are particularly used when oral iron will not meet demand, for example after significant blood loss, or in circumstances where absorption is ineffective, for example in inflammatory conditions such as irritable bowel disease. Historically, there have been a number of severe risks associated with intravenous iron injections, including anaphylaxis caused by allergic reactions (262). However, new formulations of parenteral iron are much safer (263). Here, iron is delivered in a carbohydrate complex, enabling it to be released slowly (262,264). As a result, large doses

can be administered over a relatively short period (typically 30-60 minutes). Intravenous iron injections have the ability to fully restore iron levels in a one-off dose through direct injection into the bloodstream meaning that controlled absorption is bypassed. The main negative associated with intravenous iron is the expense.

2.15.4 Intramuscular injections

Although effective, use of intramuscular injections for the restoration of iron levels is not common, and accordingly little research has been conducted using this means for iron repletion (74). Injections are painful and are associated with gluteal sarcomas and skin discolouration (265).

2.16 Effects of iron supplementation in iron sufficient athletes

Notably, previous research has shown no performance benefit of iron supplementation in non-iron deficient or anaemic athletes, identified by the lack of response of iron status markers to oral iron therapy (60). Given the associated risks and side effects, unnecessary supplementation is not recommended and can result in severe health repercussions (59,61,187).

The second part of this literature review will firstly focus on the transport, delivery and storage of iron. It will then outline the control and maintenance of iron metabolism. Given the fundamental roles of iron described in the first section of this review, a biochemical understanding of these processes is essential when assessing iron status in the female athlete.

2.17 Transport, delivery and storage of iron

2.17.1 Iron transport within blood

On entry into the circulation, ferric iron is picked up and scavenged by transferrin for tissue delivery. Transferrin is a 75 - 80 k-Da glycosylated protein plasma iron carrier, primarily secreted by the liver with a half-life of eight days (71). In addition to binding to plasma iron, it also binds to iron in extracellular fluids such as cerebrospinal and lymph fluids, and is distributed equally between the extracellular fluid and plasma (71). Each transferrin protein can transport up to two ferric ions to target tissues, undergoing a conformational change in the process (71,73). The binding of iron is pH-dependent, and iron is not bound in acidic conditions (71). The process of iron scavenging followed by tissue delivery is very dynamic, and is regulated by the expression of transferrin receptors 1 and 2, which are located on target tissues (266). Despite this being a vital process, only a very small amount of iron is

bound to transferrin, amounting to approximately 3 mg, and equating to less than 0.1% of total body iron (67). However, in order to meet erythropoietic demands, transferrin is turned over more than ten times each day (67). The majority of iron making up this dynamic pool comes from recycled senescent erythrocytes, taken up by reticuloendothelial macrophages in a process which will be described in further detail below (67).

Under normal physiological conditions only approximately 30% of transferrin is saturated with iron (71). Where iron is present in plasma but is not bound to transferrin, it is termed non-transferrin-bound iron (NTBI). Transferrin has a high affinity for iron, so NTBI is typically only present where there is either a lack of transferrin (atransferrinemia) or if all transferrin is saturated. In these instances, other transporters such as albumin, citrate or acetate will bind to the NTBI (73). Ferritin within plasma also transports iron to tissues, however the mechanism for this is yet to be fully elucidated.

2.17.2 Iron tissue uptake

Since the primary means for iron delivery to cells is via transferrin, target cells express transferrin receptors. The primary transferrin receptors are transferrin receptors 1 and 2, and levels of these typically correlate with iron requirements of the cell. The iron-containing transferrin binds to the cell surface transferrin receptors, forming a holo-transferrin-transferrin receptor 1 complex (85). This will enter cells via receptor-mediated endocytosis, forming clathrin coated pits (267). The low pH environment in the formed endosome which is created by proton pumps, causes the complex to breakdown (85). Ferric iron is then reduced to ferrous iron, a reaction catalysed by the ferriductase six-transmembrane epithelial antigen of phosphate 3 (STEAP3) (85). Ferrous iron crosses the endosomal membrane via DMT1, entering the labile iron pool in the cytolsol (85). From here there are a number of different destinations for ferrous iron dependant on need, as explained below. Apotransferrin is then recycled and released. The effectiveness of iron uptake is dictated by the iron content of transferrin.

2.17.2.1 Ferrous iron in cells

There are three primary destinations for intracellular ferrous iron, as explained below:

Cellular iron utilisation

The majority of iron is transported to the mitochondria either for incorporation into haem or for incorporation into iron dependent proteins. The process by which iron transverses cells and enters mitochondria is yet to be decisively elucidated, in part confounded by a variation in different cell types (268,269). It is also likely that iron is transported to cells via several different processes. Firstly, a direct mechanism by which iron is delivered to the outer

mitochondrial membrane directly from the endosome has been demonstrated in reticulocytes (268,269). Secondly, iron in the cytosolic labile iron pool has been found to form low and high molecular weight intracellular complexes (270,271). While further research is required to gain a better understanding of these, chaperone proteins such as glutathione (GSH) (272), poly C binding proteins (e.g. poly (rC) binding protein 1 - PCRP1) (273), and monothiol glutaredoxins (e.g. glutaredoxin 3 - Grx3-type) (274), have been implicated in assisting with iron transport throughout the cell, including to mitochondria (85). Finally, it has also been postulated, and demonstrated in murine and yeast cells that the mitochondrial membrane potential can drive direct entry of iron into mitochondria (275,276). Further research is evidently required to more specifically identify the mechanisms involved in human cells, and to establish the specific intracellular organelles to which chaperones are responsible for transport.

There is also a degree of ambiguity surrounding the mechanism by which iron transverses the outer and inner mitochondrial membranes (277). Voltage dependent anion channels, which are the primary means for transport of metabolites into and out of mitochondria, exist in high abundance in the outer mitochondrial membrane, so it has been suggested that iron may enter via these (277). However, DMT1 isoforms have also been identified which present another option for iron import (278,279).

Mitoferrin 1 and 2 (MFRN1 and 2) are responsible for iron import across the intracellular mitochondrial membrane (280). A study in mouse erythroid cells found that iron was transported from transferrin receptor 1 containing endosomes through binding to the MFRN 1 importer. This is stabilised through interaction with an ATP-binding cassette transporter – Abcb10, facilitating iron entry (281).

Once in mitochondrion, iron will either be stored, used for the biosynthesis of iron-sulphur clusters or used for haem synthesis.

Cellular iron storage

In a cell, when the demand is low, and iron is in excess, it can be stored as ferritin within the cytosol. Some cell types also have iron stored as ferritin in mitochondria (MTFT) (267). When required, nuclear receptor coactivator 4 targets ferritin for iron release back into the cytosolic labile iron pool (282).

Cellular iron export

Excess iron can also be exported out of the cell via ferroportin (Section 2.18), with the aid of ceruloplasmin or hephaestin.

2.17.3 Iron storage

As previously explained, the majority of body iron is located to haemoglobin. Due to the toxicity of unbound iron, the storage of excess iron is crucial for optimal physiological functioning. Ferritin and haemosiderin are the iron-storage complexes which are responsible for this.

Ferritin is a spherical heteropolymeric, intracellular, cytosolic iron-storage protein consisting of 24 heavy (H) or light (L) type subunits that form a hollow sphere which can contain up to 4500 iron atoms (3,73). Cytoplasmic chaperones such as poly (rC)-binding protein 1 (PCBP1) transport iron in its ferrous form to ferritin (273). Here, it is oxidised back to ferric iron, a process which is catalysed by the heavy type subunits which act as ferroxidases (73).

While the majority of ferritin is intracellular, there is also some found within serum. Research suggests that a small amount of iron may be delivered to tissues by plasma ferritin (73). Serum ferritin is primarily comprised of light-type (L) subunits, and is thought to be secreted by macrophages, hepatocytes and Kupffer cells (283,284). This ferritin is less iron rich than that found within tissues (285). As previously highlighted, since serum ferritin correlates with iron stores in most physiological situations, in the clinical setting it is typically used as a means for measuring iron status (286,287). However, this is not always the case, as it is particularly susceptible to transient variation in certain situations, in states of inflammation, or post exercise, as previously highlighted (73,288). However, due to its role as an acute phase reactant, it is often used as a marker of both acute and chronic inflammation, and can be used as a non-specific marker of illness (288). Accordingly, the use of serum ferritin to evaluate iron status needs to be treated with caution.

Iron is also stored as haemosiderin. Iron from the labile pool is taken up by ferritin and is then transformed into haemosiderin for storage; haemosiderin is a complex of ferritin (289). The reverse of this happens for iron mobilisation back into the labile pool from haemosiderin via ferritin (289).

2.17.4 Toxicity of iron

As previously highlighted, there is no physiological mechanism for excreting surplus iron. Excess free iron within tissues under aerobic conditions can be very harmful, causing excessive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (68). Through evolution, organisms have developed proteins which can bind to iron to prevent harmful damage, while keeping it stable and accessible for physiological requirements. Based on the Fenton and Harber-Weiss reactions, iron in excess will catalyse the production of hydroxyl radicals from hydrogen peroxide and superoxide (68,290). While production of ROS within cells is normal, excess production is harmful, and iron overload can cause cellular damage, for example, it will result in the peroxidation of lipid membranes (291,292). At physiological pH and under aerobic conditions however, extracellular iron is bound to transferrin keeping iron in its soluble state, making it available, while also preventing toxicity. In homeostatic conditions, approximately 30% of transferrin is bound to iron, however once transferrin saturation exceeds 80%, it becomes saturated resulting in an increase of NTBI (266,293). This NTBI is potentially harmful, having the ability to catalyse ROS-producing reactions. It can form chelates, which are subsequently internalised into cells in an unregulated manner, causing damage (68). The insolubility of iron at neutral pH and under aerobic conditions is therefore vital in serving as a protection mechanism (294).

2.17.5 Release of free iron and haemoglobin into the circulation

Under normal physiological conditions 10 - 20% of total erythrocytes are haemolysed early, before the end of the typical red blood cell lifespan and prior to senescence and macrophage identification for phagocytosis (295). During haemolysis, the erythrocytes release haemoglobin freely into plasma. Similarly to iron, free haemoglobin is toxic, causing an increased production of ROS (296). However, the two glycoproteins haptoglobin (Hp) and haemopexin (HPX) act as scavengers for the released haemoglobin and haem, primarily functioning to prevent their pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidant effects (297).

Both Hp and HPX are acute phase proteins, therefore their expression can be induced by inflammatory mediators. Hp, is secreted by hepatocytes, and specifically binds to the released haemoglobin, sequestering the iron (191,192). The Hp-Hb complex will then bind to the cluster of differentiation receptor 163 (CD163) on the surface of macrophages and will be endocytosed, resulting in Hb breakdown and iron release (295,298). Where there is a significant amount of haemolysis, Hp will be unable to sequester all the free haemoglobin. As a result, the haemoglobin will readily be oxidised to ferrihaemoglobin, releasing free haem (299). Ferrihaem will then be transported to HPX by albumin (297). HPX has the highest haem binding affinity of any known haem-binding protein, and typically binds haem that is released from early haemolytic erythrocyte breakdown (299). On binding, the haem-HPX complex undergoes receptor-mediated endocytosis via the LDL receptor-related protein (LRP1) (299,300). These receptors are particularly located to hepatocytes, macrophages and in splenic tissue, therefore the haem will enter these tissues, and will be broken down, freeing the iron (299). Essentially, Hp and HPX facilitate the recycling of haemolysed erythrocytes, while also protecting against the harmful effects

of free haemoglobin and haem. Hp and HPX biomarker levels can be used as a means for assessing haemolysis.

2.18 Maintenance of iron homeostasis

Maintenance of iron homeostasis is a very refined and important process which is controlled at both a systemic and cellular level.

2.18.1 Iron entry into the circulation

There are three cell types from which iron can enter the circulation, all of which are involved in the maintenance of iron homeostasis;

- Intestinal enterocytes these are primarily located to the upper jejunum and duodenum. They are responsible for absorption of dietary iron.
- Macrophages these are typically located to the spleen, liver or bone marrow. They are responsible for the recycling of iron from senescent erythrocytes.
- Hepatocytes these store iron, releasing it when needed.

2.18.1.1 Iron entry into the circulation via intestinal enterocytes

Iron absorption into the circulation via intestinal enterocytes takes the form of 3 phases as shown in Figure 2.3:

- 1. Iron transport into enterocytes.
- 2. Iron transport across enterocytes.
- 3. Iron release from the basolateral enterocyte membrane.
- 1. Iron transport into enterocytes

The mechanism by which iron it taken up into enterocytes is dictated by the type of iron. As previously highlighted, there are two types of dietary iron, namely haem iron (typically animal sources) and non-haem iron (typically non-animal, plant sources), the bioavailability of which varies. Uptake of haem iron across the apical enterocyte membrane is much more efficient than uptake of non-haem iron, however the exact mechanism of haem uptake has historically been unsure. Recent research suggests a role for haem carrier protein 1 (HCP1), a hydrophobic protein consisting of nine transmembrane domains (301). Expression of HCP1 can be controlled both pre- and post- translationally (142,302). However some have found this protein to have a role in folate transport as opposed to haem transport, so further research is required (303).

The process by which non-haem iron is absorbed is much more complex (Figure 2.5). At the typical physiological pH (approximately 7.4), ferrous iron (Fe^{2+}) is oxidised to ferric iron
(Fe³⁺), which is insoluble, and therefore direct entry into cells is not possible. However, the gastric acid and ferric reductase enzymes (such as duodenal cytochrome B) in the proximal duodenum lower the pH, enabling the reduction of ferric iron back to ferrous iron, which can then be transported across the apical membrane of enterocytes by a ferrous iron transporter such as divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1) (67).



Figure 2.5 – The mechanism by which iron enters enterocytes, and is then either stored within the cell or is exported from the basolateral membrane into the circulation. The mechanism for haem iron entry into the cell is not yet understood, however it is hypothesised to involve the haem carrier protein 1 (HCP1). Non-haem iron enters the cell via divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1), an iron transport protein, after being reduced by duodenal cytochrome B (Dcytb), a ferriductase. It is then either stored as ferritin or transported through the cell for export via ferroportin. Figure adapted from (3).

The reduction of ferric iron to ferrous iron in the presence of oxygen is catalysed by a ferrireductase such as duodenal cytochrome B (Dcytb), located on the apical enterocyte membrane (304,305). Dyctb is a di-haem transmembrane oxidoreductase which reduces ferric iron, and requires endogenous or secreted reductants to act as an electron donor in the process (304,306,307). Ascorbate is thought to be the primary reducing agent, however some research also suggests that this process could be facilitated by other reductants (308). While much research has focused on the role of ascorbate in the control of iron uptake (304), other roles for this ester have been suggested in addition to increasing the reductase activity of Dyctb (304,306).

Once reduced, ferrous iron (Fe²⁺) enters enterocytes via a divalent mental transporter (DMT1), this is a protein that transverses the apical cell membrane. DMT1 is located on the brush border of the apical enterocyte membrane and in addition to ferrous iron, it can also transport other metals providing they have a valency of two. DMT1 is coded by the SLC11A2 gene, and has 12 transmembrane domains, terminating in the enterocyte cytoplasm (309,310). The primary function of DMT1 is to co-transport protons alongside ferrous iron into cells (310,311). The required proton gradient is thought to be driven by a sodium/hydrogen exchanger on the apical brush border membrane (3). The efflux of positive ions also assists with iron absorption by lowering the surrounding pH aiding partial release of ferric iron from its protein carriers, prior to its reduction by Dyctb to ferrous iron (304).

2. Iron transport across enterocytes

Within enterocytes, haem iron is thought to be mobilised by haem oxygenase 1 (HO-1), this frees ferrous iron ions into the labile iron pool (312). The specific transport process of both haem and non-haem derived ferrous iron within enterocytes is unsure, however it is thought that it is either chelated by small molecular weight organic acids, intracellular proteins or by amino acids (3). Poly-r(C)-binding iron-trafficking proteins have been suggested in this role (313). Depending on cellular iron status, iron will either be transported straight across the enterocyte to the basolateral membrane for entry into the blood, or will be stored. When iron is in excess, or suffice, it is stored as ferritin. In humans, enterocytes are typically sloughed every 2-5 days, so stored iron that has not been transported into the circulation will be lost (314).

3. Iron transport across the basolateral membrane

Iron is exported from enterocytes into the bloodstream via ferroportin, the only mammalian ferrous iron export protein discovered to date (315). It is coded by the SLC40A1 gene and has a 12-transmembrane domain terminating in the cytoplasm (316-318). It has been specifically localised to enterocytes, hepatocytes, macrophages and on the placental syncytiotrophoblast, clearly suggesting these as key sites for the regulation of iron homeostasis (319).

Transport of iron via ferroportin is coupled to the re-oxidation of its ferrous form to its insoluble ferric form. The process is catalysed by the multicopper ferroxidase, hephaestin, which is located on the basolateral membrane (320,321). Once in the bloodstream, ferric iron will be picked up by transferrin, the glycosylated protein plasma iron carrier. Transferrin

transports iron throughout the circulation while also removing it from ferroportin to maintain the gradient to drive cellular iron export (73).

2.18.1.2 Iron entry into the circulation via macrophages

The average lifespan of an erythrocyte is 120 days, and when the cells reach senescence macrophages remove them from the circulation by erythrophagocytosis, in a process that usually takes place in the spleen, liver or bone marrow (322). On a daily basis, it is estimated that 0.8% of iron in erythrocytes is recycled, amounting to approximately 40 - 60 mg (70,73). Within macrophages, the erythrophagocytosis occurs in the hydrolytic environment of phagolysosomes. This results in the breakdown of first the erythrocyte and then haemoglobin, freeing haem (73). The specific mechanism by which haem is broken down and iron is released has not yet been elucidated. However, the enzyme haem oxygenase-1 (HO-1) has been found to break down haem, releasing the iron (73).

Depending on current iron status, the released iron is either stored within the macrophage cytoplasm or is transported into the bloodstream. The export of iron from macrophages into the bloodstream again occurs via ferroportin, and is controlled by hepcidin, in a process described in more detail subsequently (71). However iron is oxidised by the multicopper ferroxidase protein ceruloplasmin as opposed to hephaestin as in enterocytes (320). Four of the six copper atoms in each ceruloplasmin protein are involved in this oxidation process.(323)

Significantly, on a daily basis, the iron that arises from the breakdown of senescent erythrocytes in macrophages forms the vast majority of iron that enters the plasma (approximately 20 mg per day) (324). Intestinal uptake only typically amounts to 1 - 2 mg (70).

2.18.1.3 Iron entry into the circulation via hepatocytes

Iron can also enter the circulation from hepatocytes. Again, it is released via ferroportin, and is controlled by hepcidin expression. In a similar process to iron export from macrophages and enterocytes, a copper ferroxidase is responsible for the oxidation of ferrous iron prior to transferrin binding. Formed through alternative splicing, a different form of ceruloplasmin containing a glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor catalyses this reaction (325). Hepatocytes provide a long-term store of iron, and release is thought to be slower than from macrophages (135).

2.19 Regulation of iron homeostasis

In order to maintain homeostasis and control iron absorption and release, a number of specific proteins and hormones are involved at both a systemic and cellular level. At a systemic level this control is primarily transcriptional, while at a cellular level this is post-transcriptional.

2.19.1 Systemic control of iron homeostasis

2.19.1.1 Hepcidin

Hepcidin is a 2.7 kDa peptide hormone consisting of 25 amino acids and containing four disulphide bonds (76). Coded by the HAMP gene, it is primarily produced by hepatocytes and is responsible for the regulation of iron entry into the plasma through controlling both absorption across the basolateral membrane of enterocytes and the entry of recycled iron from macrophages and stored iron from hepatocytes (62). Other cell types have also been found to express hepcidin mRNA at a much lower level, including adipocytes, cardiomyocytes, parietal cells and cells of the immune system (76). It typically exists in the circulation as a free protein, however a small fraction is weakly bound to albumin and α 2-macroglobulin (326).

Hepcidin controls iron plasma entry post-translationally through its effect on ferroportin (199). On binding with ferroportin, it causes it to be internalised, and ubiquitinated (327). It is then endocytosed into endosomes and degraded (76,327). As a result, plasma delivery of iron into the bloodstream is prevented, and iron accumulates in the cell (328). Therefore, when levels of hepcidin are high, iron absorption from enterocytes and release from macrophages and hepatocytes is reduced, decreasing plasma iron. When iron levels are low, and therefore hepcidin levels are low, iron uptake from enterocytes and macrophage and hepatocyte release into the circulation is increased, elevating plasma iron (329). If hepcidin levels remain high, the iron stored in enterocytes will be lost as these cells are sloughed (330). Hepcidin has also been found to alter expression of DMT1, therefore influencing iron uptake into enterocytes (91).

Being the site of hepcidin production, the liver appears to be the primary controller of HAMP expression. Interestingly, circadian rhythm also has an effect on hepcidin release, as release is thought to increase through the day (136).

HAMP gene expression is homeostatically controlled by a number of factors, including iron status, erythropoiesis, hypoxia and inflammatory mediators, and will now be discussed in further detail (331,332).

2.19.1.2 Increased hepcidin expression

There are two primary factors that result in an increase in hepcidin expression including iron overload and inflammation and infection.

Iron overload

HAMP expression increases in response to elevated iron both in the liver and in plasma through independent pathways. Firstly, elevated levels of iron in the liver cause expression of the growth factor and cytokine bone morphogenetic protein 6 (BMP6) to increase (333). As a member of the transforming growth factor beta superfamily (TGF-ß) (334), once activated, this binds to haemojuvelin, a co-receptor ligand required for activation of the BMP signalling pathway. The BMP6/haemojuvelin complex then binds to the activated BMP receptor (333,334), initiating an intracellular signalling cascade starting with the phosphorylation of SMAD (contraction of Sma and Mad) (76). This results in an increase in signalling to the proximal and distal ends of the HAMP promoter, causing HAMP expression to be upregulated, increasing hepcidin production, therefore reducing iron absorption into the bloodstream (335-337).

The mechanism by which plasma iron dictates hepcidin release is not yet fully understood, however it has been elucidated that both iron in the liver and plasma transferrin saturation are sensed by transferrin receptors 1 and 2 and the hepatic haemochromatosis protein HFE (338). When iron levels are high, HFE and transferrin receptor 2 are thought to bind together to form a signalling complex which then results in hepcidin activation and an associated reduction in iron absorption (338).

Inflammation and infection

HAMP is a type II acute phase protein (199), therefore expression increases as a result of release of particular cytokine inflammatory mediators through the Janus kinase/signal transducers and activators of transcription 3 (JAK/STAT-3) pathway (333,339). For example, interleukins such as IL-6 and IL-22 have been shown to increase HAMP gene transcription (199,340). A separate additional independent mechanism for increase in hepcidin release not involving the STAT-3 pathway has recently been suggested, which is activated in response to other TGF-ß superfamily cytokines (341). This is particularly significant for those who exercise, since these cytokines are likely to be upregulated post-exercise, and recent research has specifically focused on the association between exercise and hepcidin release. Peeling *et al.* (2017) found a 7.5 fold increase in serum hepcidin three hours post exercise (342). It was concluded that a number of factors dictate this including the release of IL-6, baseline serum ferritin and serum iron, in addition to exercise duration (342). Despite previous research showing that iron status supersedes

inflammation in control of hepcidin expression (51), it is evident that those who exercise are likely to experience transient increases in hepcidin, and attention should be applied to the timing of dietary iron intake for maximal iron absorption.

As previously highlighted, given that iron is essential for the survival of most microorganisms, this inflammation-induced hepcidin release acts as a defence mechanism, restricting iron uptake and therefore protecting against the invasion of these foreign bodies (333). Interestingly however, cytokines involved in the type I pathways (e.g. IL-1 and TNF- α) do not have the same impact on HAMP expression (199).

2.19.1.3 Suppression of hepcidin expression

There are three primary causes for a suppression of hepcidin expression, including iron deficiency, hypoxia and an increased erythropoietic stimulus.

Iron deficiency

In iron deficient states, there are a couple of pathways by which hepcidin expression is thought to be supressed. Firstly, evidence suggests that the serine protease matriptase-2 is induced in the liver, and cleaves haemojuvelin, disrupting the BMP6/haemojuvelin complex, resulting in the cessation of HAMP expression (343). Secondly, plasma iron can also specifically block hepcidin signalling through the action of transferrin receptor 1 on HFE (344). It sequesters HFE, preventing binding to and interaction with transferrin receptor 2, and therefore stopping the resulting activation of hepcidin (344).

As a result of menstruation, resting levels of hepcidin in premenopausal women are likely to be lower than those of postmenopausal women (330).

Hypoxia

Historically, it was believed that hypoxia directly supresses hepcidin. The mechanism was thought to involve the hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs), which are stabilised under hypoxic conditions (345). Up until recently, research has suggested that these could either directly supress hepcidin expression through the HAMP promoter or indirectly through a reduction in BMP6 signalling (346). However, further more recent research suggests that an increased erythropoietic drive, and therefore increased erythropoietin (EPO) release was required alongside this to supress hepcidin (347). Under hypoxic conditions this would most likely be seen, as oxygen demand is increased.

Increased erythropoietic drive

Despite much previous uncertainty, research is increasingly suggesting that erythropoiesis alone can directly supress hepcidin expression. However, there has been much ambiguity as to the direct mechanism of action. When erythropoietic demand is elevated, EPO production is increased, inevitably enhancing iron requirements. Recently, using mouse models, Kautz *et al.* (2014) have discovered erythroferrone, a hormone which has been postulated as an erythroid regulator of hepcidin (347). This is encoded by the Fam132b gene, and is a member of the Clq/tumour necrosis factor family (348). It is hypothesised to be released by erythrocytes in response to increased erythropoietin (EPO), and has been found to supress hepcidin via the JAK/STAT pathway (347). However, to date only very limited and inconclusive human research has been conducted, the vast majority has been conducted in mice (81). Erythroblasts have been found to express the erythroferrone gene (81), however function and mechanism of action is yet to be elucidated.

Both hypoxia and increases in EPO are also thought to induce matriptase-2 production in a similar mechanism to that in iron deficiency (76).

2.19.2 Cellular control of iron homeostasis

Since all cells require iron, yet an excess of iron is toxic and harmful, tight regulation and control at a both a cellular level and a systemic level is necessary. Cellular iron homeostasis is controlled by iron regulatory proteins (IRPs) and iron response elements (IREs). With regard to iron uptake, they function to control the regulation and expression of DMT1 and Dcytb, and therefore can dictate non-haem iron uptake. In states of iron deficiency, DMT1 and Dcytb expression is increased, when iron levels are optimal, expression is decreased.

2.19.2.1 Iron regulatory proteins (IRPs) and Iron response elements (IREs)

The function of iron regulatory proteins 1 and 2 (IRP 1 and IRP 2) is to sense cytosolic iron levels and then to either influence mRNA stability or alter translation of key proteins involved in the regulation of intracellular iron homeostasis (349). IRPs also regulate many other genes, demonstrating the wide range of tissues and proteins that are iron dependent, while also essential for mitochondrial function (349). IRPs post-transcriptionally regulate the expression of IREs. IREs are conserved stem-loop structures. In the case of the control of iron uptake into enterocytes and therefore the control of DMT1 expression, IREs are found on the DMT1 mRNA. They are also found on the mRNA of transferrin receptor 1, ferroportin, HIF-2 α and ferritin, as will be discussed subsequently (349).

There is tissue specific variation in the response to IRP-IRE binding, largely dependent on the location of mRNA binding (93). For example, in conditions of iron overload IRPs bind to the 5'UTR of specific target mRNAs such as L- and H- ferritin, ferroportin and HIF-2 α to reduce translation, preventing iron uptake and storage (71). While in iron deficient states, IRPs can bind to the 3'UTR of DMT1 and transferrin receptor 1 mRNA to increase iron absorption (349). Significantly, much of these processes have been conducted in murine models, therefore further mammalian human research is required to ascertain the exact roles of IRPs in iron homeostasis.

2.19.2.2 Ferroportin

As previously highlighted, ferroportin is the only known iron export protein. Its expression can be regulated at different levels, including transcriptionally, translationally and post-translationally.

1. Transcriptional control of ferroportin

Research evaluating the control of ferroportin at a transcriptional level is not as conclusive as translational and posttranslational control. Two primary mechanisms have been hypothesised.

Within macrophages specifically, it is thought that both haem and iron are key in regulation of ferroportin transcription. This regulation is believed to be via the transcriptional repressor Btb And Cnc Homology 1 (Bach1) (350), which is suggested to be able to sense cellular levels of both haem and iron (351). On activation, it will have a number of downstream effects resulting in increased haem-oxygenase 1, ferritin and ferroportin transcription, while also triggering iron release from haem (350). Haem activation of haem-oxygenase 1 alone further stimulates iron release (352). The released iron will then bind to IRPs, preventing IRP binding to 5'UTR ferroportin and ferritin IREs, and as a result transcription is increased (353).

Expression of ferroportin is also thought to be regulated at a transcriptional level by hypoxia inducible factor 2 alpha (HIF-2 α) (354). Since HIF-2 α requires oxygen for breakdown and prolyl hydroxylase 2 requires iron for function, in hypoxic conditions or iron deficiency, HIF-2 α is not broken down by prolyl hydroxylase 2, and it instead binds to HIF-1 β . Increased expression of HIF-2 α results in increased transcription of genes which specifically result in increased iron uptake, including ferroportin, Dcytb and DMT1 (354,355). Therefore, in hypoxia or iron deficiency, iron uptake and entry into the bloodstream is increased.

2. Translational control of ferroportin

Translation of ferroportin is controlled by IRP 1 and IRP 2. To inhibit translation, these bind to the 5'UTR of IRE's in ferroportin mRNA (356).

3. Posttranslational control of ferroportin

Posttranslational ferroportin expression is controlled by the peptide hormone hepcidin, as previously explained (327). This is believed to be the primary and most important mechanism for controlling plasma iron entry and maintaining homeostasis (357).

Non-hepcidin internalisation of ferroportin

While hepcidin is the only ligand that can cause ferroportin internalisation and degradation, ceruloplasmin is also essential for iron export (358). In the absence of ceruloplasmin, ferroportin is internalised and degraded (358).

Cellular iron is primarily homeostatically controlled by iron status and hypoxia.

2.19.2.3 Adequate iron or iron overload impact on cellular activity

When cellular iron stores are optimal or too high, activity of IRP 1 and IRP 2 is reduced. IRP 1 binds to an iron-sulphur cluster, where it functions as a cytosolic aconitase, stopping activity, and IRP 2 is degraded by ubiquitin ligase (312). A lack of IRP activity causes transferrin receptor mRNA to be degraded, therefore preventing extra cellular iron entry (312). This also allows translation of ferritin and ferroportin mRNA to enable storage and export of iron.

2.19.2.4 Iron deficiency and hypoxia impact on cellular activity

When there is a cellular iron deficiency, IRP 1 is released from the iron-sulphur cluster, and IRP 2 is stabilised. Both IRPs will then bind to IREs located in the UTRs in the mRNA of key iron uptake, storage and export proteins to influence expression. As a result, iron uptake is increased, and storage and export are decreased (71).

In addition to the previously discussed impact of hypoxia on hepcidin expression, it has been suggested that the hypoxic stimulus also drives hepcidin-independent responses at a cellular level, increasing iron absorption by increasing expression of iron transporters (81). In murine models, in addition to increasing expression of DMT1 and DcytB (359), HIF- 2α has been shown to upregulate ferroportin expression by binding to the promoter on ferroportin response elements in states of both hypoxia and iron deficiency (81,354,360362). However, since these conclusions were drawn from murine studies, and future mammalian research is required.

2.20 Summary

Exercise clearly has the potential to increase susceptibility to iron losses, and therefore menstruating women who exercise are inevitably at increased risk of deficiency. Given the likely impact on iron status, research is required first examining the prevalence of HMB in those who exercise. The effects that this has on outcomes which have the potential to affect performance then need to be considered. The importance of iron is evident, and while the repercussions of IDA are clear, an increased understanding surrounding the impact and diagnosis of IDNA is evidently required. This will enable a more accurate assessment of prevalence and when intervention is required. Existing ambiguity may in part be due to the suitability of markers used for its diagnosis. Iron homeostasis is a very tightly controlled process, and exercise can cause necessary modification in homeostatic mechanisms, which are essential given the adverse impacts of excess free iron.

2.21 Overall aims and hypotheses of this thesis

2.21.1 Thesis aims

- i. To establish the prevalence of HMB amongst exercising women of different performance levels when HMB was identified using a self-created, nonvalidated criteria. Then to identify whether this was associated with the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance in this population and with a history of self-reported anaemia.
- ii. Using the same criteria for HMB, firstly to identify whether identified HMB presence increased likelihood of iron deficiency and IDA and secondly to evaluate whether iron status is involved in any relationship between identified HMB and the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance in an exercising population.
- iii. Again, applying the same criteria for HMB identification, to first identify any association between HMB, iron status and fatigue in an exercising population, and second to evaluate whether an association between identified HMB and fatigue is mediated by IDA.
- iv. Finally, to evaluate the impact of iron repletion, using a single intravenous iron injection, on exercise and aerobic capacity, haematological markers and subjective measures of fatigue and mood disturbance in iron deficient (serum ferritin \leq 30 µg·L⁻¹), non-elite, exercising women.

As outlined in Figure 1.1, the primary hypotheses for this thesis are:

- i. When identified using a four-part series (outlined in chapter 3), HMB is common in exercising women, being more common in those who are recreational. and associated with both the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance and a history of self-reported anaemia.
- ii. Identified HMB increases risk of iron deficiency and IDA, and iron deficiency is on the pathway between identified HMB and the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance in exercising women.
- iii. The presence of identified HMB and iron deficiency, IDA or anaemia all increase fatigue in exercising women. The relationship between identified HMB and fatigue is mediated by IDA.
- iv. Iron repletion in non-elite, iron deficient (serum ferritin ≤ 30 µg·L⁻¹) exercising women improves exercising and aerobic capacity and reduces fatigue and mood disturbance.



Figure 1.1 - An overview of the hypotheses. i. There is an association between HMB (when identified using a self-report, four-part series) and IDA and ID; ii. IDA and IDNA are on the causal pathway between identified HMB and perceived disruption to exercise training/performance caused by the menstrual cycle. iii. The relationship between HMB and fatigue is mediated by IDA and ID; and iv. ID causes a reduction in aerobic and exercise capacity, while also being associated with increased fatigue.

3 General methodology

Chapter 3 outlines the methods that have been used in more than one study in this thesis. Where methodologies have been applied uniquely to a chapter, these will be expanded upon within the relevant individual chapter. Therefore, here the development of the 'Female Health Questionnaire' will be detailed, including how and why the specific questions were included, in addition to the university ethics approval process.

3.1 Female Health Questionnaire

The 'Female Health Questionnaire' was developed with the primary aim of identifying the presence of heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) when using the outlined means for diagnosis

in this thesis. Other questions were then asked alongside it so that these findings could be put into context through the consideration of typical exercise training, association of HMB with iron status, awareness of both HMB and iron status and the potential impacts that HMB may have on ability in exercise. The questionnaire was developed by the author of this thesis, and was evaluated by the primary supervisors involved in this PhD. Excluding the criteria used for the diagnosis of HMB, all questions were novel, and included for the reasons outlined in this chapter.

3.1.1 Diagnosis of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (HMB)

As previously highlighted, the identification of HMB both in research and when patients present in the clinical setting is challenging with no validated criteria. Both the criteria applied by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence in the UK (NICE) of 'excessive menstrual blood loss which interferes with a woman's physical, social, emotional and/or material quality of life' (26,363), and the objective definition of a loss of 80 mL of blood or more each period (213), are very difficult to assess. There is no validated guidance for the measure and interpretation of impacts on physical, social, emotional and/or material quality of life. The use of quality of life questionnaires have been proposed, however the subjective nature of these can be challenging. While the assessment of blood loss is inevitably difficult, with significant issues surrounding hygiene. Further, blood volumes can vary significantly between individuals, and it could be argued that a specific value can equate to a considerably different proportion of total blood volume in different individuals, affecting the severity of the increased loss. Further, not all menstrual loss is blood, enhancing the potential for measurement inaccuracies (212). Clearly there is a lack of clarity as to whether it is the physical blood loss that should be reflected in the definition or whether it is more perceptual, relating to the impact that it has on the individual. It is also significant to note that the aetiology of HMB is often unknown. Using the pictorial blood assessment chart, an assessment of cause for HMB in university students found only 20.7% of those with HMB (n = 82) had an underlying bleeding disorder or menstrual cyclerelated pathology such as polycystic ovary syndrome (Gursel et al. 2014). Suggesting HMB to be a condition in its own entirety.

As a result, more recently, a number of different methods have been suggested to try and provide a more robust means for HMB diagnosis, as recently explained in a Special Report published by Women's Health (364). Yet there is still a lack of agreement. Therefore, it is important to acknowledge that throughout this thesis the criteria applied for identified HMB is not validated.

In this thesis the following criteria was applied for HMB diagnosis, where HMB was identified if a history of two or more symptoms was reported:

- 1. Flooding through to clothes or bedding
- 2. Need of frequent changes of sanitary towels or tampons (meaning changes every 2 hours or less, or 12 sanitary items per period
- 3. Need of double sanitary protection (tampons and towels)
- 4. Pass large blood clots

This criteria applied a combination of the diagnostic series created by Fraser *et al.* (2015) (28), and the criteria applied by the American College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (218). Both provide a novel option and are based on the symptoms commonly experienced by individuals reporting HMB in primary care. The criteria created by Fraser *et al.* (2015) includes the following symptoms, and individuals are told to indicate a history of any of the symptoms in the previous year. If two or more are indicated, HMB is diagnosed: (28)

- 1. Flooding through to clothes or bedding
- 2. Need of frequent changes of sanitary towels or tampons (meaning changes every 2 hours or less, or 12 sanitary items per period
- 3. Need of double sanitary protection (tampons and towels)
- 4. Pass large blood clots

While the criteria utilised by the American College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (218) includes the following symptoms. The identification of a history of any one of these at any time indicates HMB (218):

- 1. Bleeding that lasts more than 7 days.
- 2. Bleeding that soaks through one or more tampons or pads every hour for several hours in a row.
- 3. Needing to wear more than one pad at a time to control menstrual flow.
- 4. Needing to change pads or tampons during the night.
- 5. Menstrual flow with blood clots that are as big as a quarter or larger.

While these symptoms are inevitably subject to individual perception, they go some way to providing a more objective means for the diagnosis of HMB, while also capturing the perceptual elements highlighted by the NICE.

Previous research has found a correlation between the number of sanitary towels and tampons used with total blood loss (365). However, not all research is in agreement with this as the changing of tampons and towels may also be reflective of a women's state of

hygiene, as previously been found (366). Further, this does not capture the size or type of tampon or towel used. Despite being less likely to have an effect in developed countries, the socio-economic status of an individual may also impact upon this and still needs to be considered. The passing of large blood clots, need for double sanitary protection and flooding through to clothes or bedding, while still subjective in nature, are more objective than the number of tampon and towel changes. The need for double protection and flooding through to clothes and bedding indicates excess flow alone.

Limitations with the HMB diagnosis applied in this thesis

Evidently the diagnosis of HMB throughout this thesis and globally has to be interpreted with caution. Essentially, the end goal of HMB identification needs to be established – be it purely the need for further gynaecological assessments, the effects on quality of life or alternatively the potential increased susceptibility to other potential medical conditions or issues such as iron deficiency. For the purposes of this thesis, the key aims are to establish whether symptoms associated with HMB are something experienced by those who exercise, while also considering both the potential impact on iron status in this population and an association between this and the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts training/performance. These have not previously been considered. If indeed deemed to be an issue amongst this population, and found to be associated with a compromised iron status and self-reported menstrual cycle disruption to exercise training/performance, this tool could be utilised by sports physicians to provide an indication of risk, suggesting when gynaecological and/or haematological input should be advised.

Evidently, it must be acknowledged that the fact that this criteria is novel, means that comparison between prevalence here and previous research is subject to inaccuracy.

Notable other methods for the quantification of blood loss have been tested including the Pictorial Blood Assessment Chart (367), however again this has a subjective element, making effectiveness questionable.

3.1.2 Accompanying questions in the Female Health Questionnaire

Questions 1 and 11 - Age

Firstly, to ensure participants were 18 years or older, there was a requirement to ask for both age and date of birth. On analysis, both were checked for inconsistencies. Age was also asked to enable identification of any associations between this and HMB presence.

Questions 2 and 3 - Performance level and exercise volume of the participants

The total exercise time and personal best times (in the last year) were requested to determine whether there was an association between the performance level of the athlete, in addition to determining whether those who exercised more were less likely to suffer HMB. As highlighted previously, typically amenorrhea and oligomenorrhea are the principle menstrual cycle dysfunctions experienced in those who exercise, other menstrual dysfunctions are often ignored, and perceived to be less prevalent.

Question 4 - Frequency of periods

Participants were asked to report the number of periods they have had in the past year to enable assessment of whether this was associated with HMB presence, in addition to gaining an indication of menstrual cycle patterns within athletes. Again, questioning the existing perceptions of amenorrhea and oligomenorrhea.

Question 5 – Advice for heavy periods

Previous research suggests that HMB awareness is poor, while also often prone to misdiagnosis. Given the association between HMB and negative impacts on quality of life, in addition to the financial burden that is associated with HMB, it is important to assess this. While not directly asking whether an individual is aware about whether they have heavy periods, this question enabled identification of willingness to seek help if perception is that an individual has heavy periods. Significantly this information could be used to help inform future practice, including highlighting the need to put in place interventions to improve education and discussion.

Question 6 - Awareness of anaemia

HMB is associated with an increased risk of anaemia, therefore the capturing of this information will provide an assessment of whether appropriate tests are being performed in clinical care, in addition to explanation of outcome. Further, this will also enable assessment of iron status awareness amongst athletes, in addition to gaining an indication of whether supplementation use is informed.

Question 7 – Use of iron supplementation

Given the increased risk of iron deficiency both in those with HMB and in those who exercise, use of iron supplementation was relevant here. Further, since supplementation in athletes is thought common, this will also provide an indication of usage.

Question 9 - Use of the oral contraceptive pill (OCP)

The oral contraceptive pill (OCP) is used by exercising women for a number of different reasons other than birth control. It is often used as a means to regulate their menstrual

cycle, or to treat amenorrhea, dysmenorrhea, HMB or to relieve other symptoms (226). However, there is little research looking at any other physiological effects of the OCP in this population that could potentially be detrimental to performance. A number of studies have recently been published suggesting that it could result in increased inflammation (368,369), oxidative stress (370), and a reduction in aerobic capacity (371). For the purposes of this research we wanted to capture general prevalence of OCP usage, while also determining if this seems to be a common treatment option used by those with HMB.

Question 10 – perception of whether an individual feels that their menstrual cycle disrupts their exercise training/performance

Given the hypothesised effects that the menstrual cycle can have on performance, it was important to establish whether individuals perceived their menstrual cycle to be disruptive. Any relationship between the indication of this and identified HMB (when identified using the criteria in this thesis) with or without an associated compromised iron status, can then be investigated.

3.1.3 Limitations with the existing 'Female Health Questionnaire'.

There are a number of limitations to the Female Health Questionnaire used in this thesis that will now be explained.

Time frames - there is a disparity in time frames used in this questionnaire. Both question 3 (performance times) and question 4 (number of periods) ask in context of the previous year, where as question 9 asks for current use, whereas the rest of the questions (2, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 10) ask or imply experiences 'ever'. Inevitably this will confound results, making conclusive evaluation problematic, therefore results must be interpreted with caution.

Question 5 – this only asks whether any 'help/advice' was sought, it does not specifically ask from whom this was sought. To gain a better indication of medical understanding and awareness it would be advisable to have directly asked whether medical help/advice had been sought.

Question 6 – this asked whether participants had ever 'had' anaemia, to their knowledge. This is perceptual and does not suggest diagnosis. Therefore, to evaluate this more accurately it would have been better to specifically ask whether they had ever been 'diagnosed' with anaemia.

Question 7 – this question asked whether an individual has supplemented with iron. It does not capture whether supplementation was prescribed. While it is significant to note supplementation use without knowledge of anaemia, and in chapters 5 and 6, supplementation use without a current iron deficiency, it is difficult to evaluate medical practice because it is based on adherence to treatment and perception around need for supplementation (which as previously highlighted is deemed common in the athletic population).

Question 9 – this only captures OCP use, and does not factor in other forms of contraception. It is also important to appreciate that use of hormonal contraception can cause altered bleeding, which could for example induce episodes of heavy bleeding. These are actually withdrawal bleeds and not specific episodes of menstruation, thus confounding study results.

Subjectivity – clearly the subjective nature of these questions must be appreciated and is acknowledged in each chapter.





Female Health Questionnaire

The research group at St Mary's University, London in collaboration with University College London are investigating iron status in endurance athletes. One of the key factors considered to impact upon iron status in female athletes is blood loss during the menstrual cycle. This is further exacerbated in those who experience larger blood losses (heavy menstrual bleeders). Currently little research has been conducted in this area, therefore we are conducting a survey-based study firstly to look at the prevalence of menstrual issues amongst female athletes and secondly to investigate how the menstrual cycle affects training and performance. Could all women who read this please answer the survey – not just those who feel they might have an issue with their menstrual cycle.

In order to participate in this study you must be:

- Female
- 18 years or older
- Pre-menopausal

By completing this survey you are giving consent for the information you provide to be included in this study. Your participation is voluntary and is specific to this study, and shall not be taken to imply consent to participate in any subsequent experiment or deviation from that detailed. All information will remain confidential as to your identity, and you may withdraw from the study at any time without reason.

If there is anything you do not understand or wish to ask questions about, please feel free to ask.

Thank you for participating

Do you agree to these terms?

YES	NO
YES	NO

1. Age

2. How much time do you spend exercising each week?

	Time (minutes)
Running	
Cycling	
Swimming	
Other	

3. Please specify your personal best times for all/any of the below in the last year:

	Time (minutes)
5km run (inc Parkrun)	
10km run	
Half marathon	
10M TT cycle	
25M TT cycle	
2km row	

- 4. Approximately how many periods have you had in the last year?
- 5. Have you ever sought advice/help for heavy periods?

YES NO	
--------	--

6. To your knowledge, have you ever had anaemia?

YES	NO	DON'T KNOW	

7. Have you ever supplemented with iron?

YES		NO	DON'T KNOW	
-----	--	----	------------	--

8. Have you ever experienced any of the following? (tick all that apply)

Flooding through to clothes or bedding
Need of frequent changes of sanitary towels or tampons
(meaning changes every 2 hours or less, or 12 sanitary items per period)
Need of double sanitary protection (tampons and towels)
Pass large blood clots

9. Do you currently use the oral contraceptive pill?

YES NO	
10. Do you feel that your menstrual cycle disrupts your training/performance?	
YES NO	
11. Date of birth: (dd/mm/yyyy)	
12. We will be conducting more research in this area. If you are happy to be contacte	d
further please provide your email address:	

3.2 University ethics approval process

Since the IRONWOMAN trial was to be conducted in the performance laboratory at St Mary's University, Twickenham, all university ethical approval sought in this PhD was through this committee.

St Mary's University have a three-tiered Ethical Application System, as follows:

Level 1 – Low risk research, can be signed off by supervisor and is logged by the ethics rep. and reported to the ethics sub-committee.

Level 2 – Medium risk research, where there is greater potential for harm to participants. This is signed-off by supervisor and sent to the school ethics representative for review. This will then either be approved or will be deemed high risk and will undergo a Level 3 review.

Level 3 – This involves research that is associated with physical or psychological risk. This will be reviewed by the University Ethics Sub-Committee, and the student and supervisor will be invited to attend a review meeting. Research will either be approved, rejected or amendments will be advised. In instances where further ethics approval is required (e.g. NHS ethics approval), this will need to be presented in addition to the application.

The 'Female Health Questionnaire' was approved for use in the studies in this thesis via Level 3 approval. In Chapter 7, the IRONWOMAN Trial was firstly approved via the NHS Ethics Committee (approval number: 15/LO/1570), and it was then approved via the Level 3 route. The clinical trials registration number for this trial was ISRCTN14032359.

In Chapters 5 and 6, while the 'Female Health Questionnaire' was approved via the St Mary's University ethics committee, the blood tests were conducted as part of routine 'wellwoman' health appointments. Despite all participants providing written informed consent, the analysis of this data was not initially meant to be for a research study, it was meant to form a retrospective audit, therefore IRB ethical approval was not sought. However more laterally it was decided to analyse this due to the impact that these findings could have.

3.3 Female Health Questionnaire v2

This questionnaire was specifically derived for chapters 5 and 6, and with an opportunity to ask a few more questions, this was slightly longer than version 1. The alterations from version 1 and reasons for asking these are outlined below:

Questions 2 and 3 - height and weight

Information about height and weight were added firstly in order to determine whether these were risk factors for HMB or a compromised iron status, and secondly to determine whether these were confounders. This data was already due to be collected.

Question 4 - Presence of co-morbidities

The presence of co-morbidities have the potential to confound the results increasing risk of HMB and/or iron deficiency so it is important to capture and control for this information if necessary.

Question 5 - premenopausal

Given the association between age and fatigue, participants were required to be premenopausal. Further, in order to investigate the association between HMB and current iron status, it was important to only include premenopausal women.

Addition of question 7 (competition level of participants) and removal of question 3 (exercise performance times) from v.1

In the first version of the questionnaire this question was hard to quantify. The primary aim of question 3 was to gain a better indication of the performance level of the participants, however, with the possibility of there being a language barrier, and given the potential for different sports involvement, and focusing on the end goal of identifying competition level, this question was simplified.

Question 11 – knowledge of iron deficiency

Due to the limitations on total question number in version 1, a history of iron deficiency was not requested. To gain a better understanding of knowledge of iron status, this question was included.

Questions 11, 12 and 13 – knowledge of anaemia and iron deficiency and iron supplementation in the previous 3 months

As current iron status was being measured it was important to gain an understanding of awareness of this through asking this question. Additionally, by capturing current supplementation use it enabled evaluation of unwarranted iron use (particularly if no knowledge of iron deficiency or anaemia is indicated), in addition to factoring this into analysis as a potential confounder.

Removal of question asking about OCP use

Since this was not factored into analysis in version 1, this was removed.

Question 14 - Do you feel that your menstrual cycle disrupts your everyday lifestyle/exercise performance?

This was slightly altered from the question used in the first version of the questionnaire. The main reason for this was that the group we collaborated with in Singapore wanted to gain a better generic understanding of potential menstrual cycle impact and the initial cohort did not just comprise exercisers. Therefore it is difficult to compare this question to that in the previous version, however, regardless this can still be used to ascertain whether iron status is involved in any association identified.

3.3.1 Limitations with the Female Health Questionnaire v2

A number of the limitations of version 1 of this questionnaire still apply for version 2. Similarly to version 1, the time scales in this questionnaire are inconsistent making causal inferences problematic. The majority of the questions here however are 'ever'.





Female Health Questionnaire

The research group at St Mary's University, London in collaboration with University College London and Vifor Pharma are investigating iron status in endurance athletes. One of the key factors considered to impact upon iron status in female athletes is blood loss during the menstrual cycle. This is further exacerbated in those who experience larger blood losses (heavy menstrual bleeders). Currently little research has been conducted in this area, therefore we are conducting a survey-based study firstly to look at the prevalence of menstrual issues amongst female athletes and secondly to investigate how the menstrual cycle affects training and performance. Could all women who read this please answer the survey – not just those who feel they might have an issue with their menstrual cycle.

In order to participate in this study you must be:

- Female
- 18 years or older
- Pre-menopausal

By completing this survey you are giving consent for the information you provide to be included in this study. Your participation is voluntary and is specific to this study, and shall not be taken to imply consent to participate in any subsequent experiment or deviation from that detailed. All information will remain confidential as to your identity, and you may withdraw from the study at anytime without reason.

If there is anything you do not understand or wish to ask questions about, please feel free to ask.

Thank you for participating

Do you agree to these terms?



- 1. Age
- 2. Height _____metres
- 3. Weight _____kg
- 4. Please state any co-morbidities (e.g. diabetes, heart failure, kidney disease)
- 5. Are you premenopausal?
- YES NO
 - 6. How much time do you spend exercising each week?

	Time (minutes)
Running	
Cycling	
Swimming	
Other (please detail exercise type and time)	

7. Competition level (if more than one form of exercise is performed please select the answer to reflect the highest level):

Do not exercise	
Recreational, just for fun	
Take part in races, in a relatively non-competitive manner	
Regional level	
National level	
International level	

8. Approximately how many periods have you had in the last year?

9. Have you ever sought advice/help for heavy periods?

YES

10. To your knowledge, have you ever had anaemia?

YES	NO	DON'T KNOW	
	If YES, have you	experienced this in	the last 3 months?

YES NO DON'T KNOW

NO

11. To your knowledge, have you ever been deficient in iron?

YES		NO	DON'T KNOW		
YES		If YES, have you	been deficient in th DON'T KNOW	e last 3 months?	
	12. Ha	ave you ever supp	plemented with iron	?	
YES		NO	DON'T KNOW		
		If YES, have you	supplemented in th	e last 3 months?	
YES		NO	DON'T KNOW		
Floc Nee <i>(me</i> Nee Pas	13. Ha oding thro od of frequ <i>aning cha</i> od of doub s large bl	ave you ever expension ough to clothes or uent changes of su anges every 2 hou ole sanitary protect lood clots	erienced any of the bedding anitary towels or tar urs or less, or 12 sa ction (tampons and	following? (<i>tick all tha</i> mpons <i>nitary items per perio</i> <i>towels</i>)	t apply)
YI	14. Do pe ΞS 15. Da	o you feel that you erformance? NO ate of birth: <i>(dd/mi</i>	ır menstrual cycle d m/yyy)	isrupts your everyday	≀ lifestyle/exercise
	16. W fui	e will be conducti rther please provid	ng more research ir de your email addre	n this area. If you are ess:	happy to be contacted

4 The identified prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) and its association with reported menstrual cycle driven disruption to exercise training/performance in elite and non-elite athletes

4.1 Abstract

Background: Despite the use of a number of different means for diagnosis, HMB has been found to be common in the general population, yet the prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) in exercising women is unknown. HMB is associated with an increased incidence of iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia, both of which may have a significant effect on exercise training and performance.

Methods: A 'Female Health Questionnaire' was designed incorporating a diagnostic HMB series, demographics, exercise ability data, training status, knowledge of anaemia, iron supplementation and perception of whether the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance. The survey was conducted in two stages; initially online, advertised via social media, and then repeated via face-to-face interviews with runners registered for the 2015 London Marathon.

Results: 789 participants responded to the online survey (median age: 30 years (24 - 37 years), and 1073 completed the survey at the marathon (median age: 33 years (27 - 40 years)). Utilising a diagnostic series, HMB was identified in half of those online (54%), and by more than a third of the marathon runners (36%). Surprisingly, HMB was also identified to be prevalent amongst elite athletes (37%). Overall, 32% of exercising women reported a history of anaemia, and 50% had previously supplemented with iron. Only a minority (22%) had sought help/advice for heavy periods.

Conclusions: When using this diagnostic series, HMB was found to be highly prevalent in exercising women, associated with self-reported anaemia, increased use of iron supplementation and a perceived disruption to exercise training/performance caused by the menstrual cycle. Further research is needed to investigate the impact of HMB, iron deficiency and anaemia in exercising women.

4.2 Introduction

Heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) is thought common, affecting approximately a quarter of the general female population (28). By definition, HMB can negatively impact physical, emotional and social quality of life and reduce work capacity (26,372), but individuals are reluctant to seek help, with only a small minority (6%) of women seeking medical advice annually (373). It was estimated in 2010 that HMB cost the National Health Service of the UK more than £50 million (374). Yet, as highlighted in both chapters 2 and 3, the absence of a unified and validated identification criteria has made historical diagnosis and comparison between different populations problematic. The recent advent of more objective criteria, such as the four-part diagnostic criteria by Fraser *et al.* (28), and the criteria outlined by the American College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (218), makes evaluation significantly easier.

With the primary research focus on menstrual dysfunction in exercising women being on amenorrhoea and oligomenorrhea, other dysfunctions are seldom considered (49,54). The prevalence of HMB, and the impact it may have on performance in those who exercise is unknown. This group already have an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency through a greater erythropoietic drive, increased iron losses, the post-exercise inflammatory response and often a limited dietary iron intake (178,180,186,375-379). Considering that menstrual blood loss in those with HMB is typically five to six times greater than those without (216), it would seem prudent to suggest that iron deficiency risk may be exacerbated in those who both exercise and have HMB. This clearly has potential to inhibit exercise performance.

Despite increasing anecdotal reports (18-20), the causes for the impact of the menstrual cycle on exercise performance are unknown. HMB could provide one explanation.

4.2.1 Study aims

- The primary aim was to identify the prevalence of HMB amongst exercising women when adopting a self-created criteria (outlined in chapter 3), and to establish whether it differs according to exercise performance level (i.e. between elite athletes and recreational exercisers);
- 2. The secondary aim was to determine whether HMB was related to a perceived disruption to exercise training/performance caused by the menstrual cycle.

4.2.2 Study hypotheses

1. HMB, when identified using the outlined criteria (chapter 3) is common in those who exercise.

- 2. Identified HMB is more common in recreational than elite athletes.
- 3. Identified HMB is associated with the reporting that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance

4.3 Materials and Methods

4.3.1 Ethics and participant consent

This research was approved by the St Mary's University Ethics Committee. The participants were informed that by indicating that they agree to the terms and completing the survey they have provided written informed consent for their information to be used in this study.

4.3.2 Inclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria were:

- Female;
- Aged ≥ 18 years;
- Pre-menopausal;
- Undertake regular exercise (≥ 90 minutes/week).

4.3.3 Participants

Stage 1 - Participants were exercising women either recruited online, and through social media, including Twitter, Facebook, online blogs and forums, university newsletters, websites, or recruited by word of mouth.

Stage 2 – Participants were women attending the 2015 Virgin Money London Marathon Exhibition prior to competing in the marathon.

4.3.4 Study design

The 12-item 'Female Health Questionnaire' as described in Chapter 3, including free-text and yes-no polar questions was used and designed to take 2-3 minutes to complete. The four-part criteria was used to identify those with a self-reported history of the identified HMB symptoms and information was collected on age, recent 'personal best' sports performance times (running, cycling, swimming and rowing), training volume, previous selfreported knowledge of a history of anaemia and iron supplementation, the menstrual cycle and disruptions caused by it, and current oral contraceptive pill (OCP) use.

4.3.4.1 Stage 1 - online questionnaire

Stage 1 aimed to identify whether HMB, when using this series for diagnosis, was a problem in exercising women, and therefore whether to continue further investigation. The questionnaire was administered online between 22 January 2015 and 19 May 2015. A link

was provided to the internet-based survey in addition to some brief information about the research.

4.3.4.2 Stage 2 - marathon exhibition questionnaire

Stage 2 aimed to establish unbiased prevalence of HMB. Women registering for the 2015 London Marathon at the pre-event exhibition were surveyed using paper versions of the 'Female Health Questionnaire' as used in stage 1. No bias was applied when selecting women to question and to avoid a response bias a scripted standardised introduction was made providing no specific information about the context of the survey. To ensure maximum response yield, surveys were completed at the time of asking. The questions and format of the paper copies used at the Exhibition were identical to the online survey to maintain equivalency and reliability of this mixed mode strategy (380).

4.3.5 Data Analysis

All stage 1 data were downloaded into an excel spreadsheet. stage 2 data were inputted anonymously into an excel spreadsheet. The statistical analysis was completed using a predictive analytic software statistics computer package (IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 21.0, Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.). Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

All data were tested for normality using a Shapiro-Wilk test. Data were analysed descriptively to summarise the prevalence of HMB (identified using the outlined criteria), known anaemia, iron supplementation, the seeking of advice/help for heavy periods, age, average total weekly exercise time, 5 km personal best time in the last year (where provided), current OCP usage, number of periods in the last 12 months and the perceived disruption of the menstrual cycle on exercise training/performance in both stages 1 and 2. Chi-squared tests were used to determine whether there was an association between HMB and self-reported menstrual cycle disruptions to training/performance, previous seeking of advice/help for heavy periods, a reported history of anaemia and iron supplementation, and OCP use in each of stages 1 and 2 and amongst elite athletes. Mann-Whitney U tests were used to determine whether age, average total weekly training volume, 5 km personal best time (where given), and the reported number of periods per year were related to identified HMB presence.

After combining both groups, a sub-analysis was conducted to separate out elite athletes using the following criteria: $5 \text{ km} \le 18 \text{ minutes}$, $10 \text{ km} \le 36 \text{ minutes}$, half marathon $\le 80 \text{ minutes}$, $2 \text{ km row} \le 7 \text{ minutes}$: 45 seconds (elite running criteria defined using the 2015 'Great Run' series definitions of 'elite', rowing criteria defined by GB Rowing physiologist).

Chi-squared tests were used to determine whether there was a difference in identified HMB, self-reported menstrual cycle disruptions to training/performance, a reported history of anaemia and iron supplementation, previous seeking of advice/help for heavy periods, a reported history of anaemia and iron deficiency, and current OCP use.

Both linear regression and a Kruskal-Wallis H test with a *post hoc* analysis and Bonferroni correction were used to determine whether 5 km personal best time was linked to the number of HMB symptoms reported, and Mann-Whitney U tests were used to determine whether participant performance level (based on 5 km personal best) was related to identified HMB incidence.

A multivariable binomial logistic regression was then used to assess the relationship between identified HMB, the reporting that the menstrual cycle disrupts training/performance and a reported knowledge of anaemia.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Participant characteristics - stage 1

A total of 789 surveys were completed online. Participant characteristics are shown in Table 4.1. More than half (54.1%) of the participants were identified to have a history of HMB (identified using the outlined criteria - reporting experiencing two or more of the diagnostic HMB series at some point; Table 4.1). While 55.4% stated that their menstrual cycle disrupts their training/performance (Table 4.1).

Table 4.1 – Participant characteristics, including identified prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB).

	Stage 1 (n=789)	Stage 2 (n=1073)	Elite athletes (n=90)		
Age (years)	30 (24 - 37)	33 (27 – 40)	27 (24 – 33)		
Weekly exercise volume (min)	360 (212.5 – 530)	300 (240 – 450)	580 (420 – 820)		
5 km PB (min:s) –	23:55 (20:00 –	25:53 (23:00 –	17:26 (16:31 –		
previous 12 months	27:32)	28:00)	17:50)		
Identified HMB	54.1% (427)	35.5% (381)	36.7% (33)		
Reported menstrual cycle disruption to training/performance	55.4% (437)	31.7% (340)	51.1% (46)		
Seeking of advice/help for heavy periods	24.1% (190)	21.1% (226)	23.3% (21)		
Knowledge of a history of anaemia	38.4% (303)	28.0% (300)	52.2% (47)		
History of iron supplementation	57.2% (451)	45.3% (486)	78.9% (71)		
Periods/year	12 (8 – 12)	12 (4 – 12)	11 (4 – 12)		
Current OCP use	31.9% (252)	36.4% (391)	36.7% (33)		

PB – personal best, HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding, OCP – oral contraceptive pill Values are median (IQR).

4.4.2 Participant characteristics - stage 2

One thousand and ninety-one (1091) face-to-face surveys were collected and inputted into the Bristol Online Survey platform manually by the lead investigator and an assistant. Those with missing data or those completed by women who did not meet the inclusion criteria were excluded, resulting in a final sample size of 1073 for further analysis. Eight individuals declined to complete the survey once they had read the study information, and 61 declined answering the survey prior to being informed about the content typically citing a lack of time. Therefore, in stage 2, the survey was fully completed by 94% of randomly approached female marathon runners. Participant characteristics are shown in Table 4.1, which highlights the prevalence of HMB (when identified using the outlined criteria) in women undertaking the 2015 London Marathon to be 35.5% (Table 4.1). Overall nearly one third (31.7%) reported that their menstrual cycle disrupts their exercise training/performance (Table 4.1).

4.4.3 Results from stages 1 and 2

Across both stages, those identified with a history of HMB were more than three times more likely to cite that their menstrual cycle disrupts their exercise training/performance (stage 1: OR: 3.54; 95% CI: 2.64, 4.76; p<0.0005; stage 2: 3.21; 95% CI: 2.45 – 4.20; p<0.0005; Table 4.2). In both stages, those with a history of HMB were found to be older (stage 1: 31 (24 – 35) years vs. 29 years (24 – 39); U = 87030; p<0.0005; stage 2: 36 (29 – 40) years vs. 31 (27 – 38) years; U = 152120; p<0.0005; Table 4.2), but there was no difference in total weekly exercise volume (stage 1: 360 (240 – 540); U = 75160; p=0.51, stage 2: (300 (240 – 480) minutes vs 345 (240 – 420) minutes; U = 128639; p=0.51; Table 4.2) between those who did and did not report HMB. However, those reporting HMB had slower 5 km personal best times in both stages 1 (24 min: 05s (20:40 – 28:00) vs 22 min :59s (19:10 – 26:09); U = 36714; p=0.002) and 2 (26min :00s (23:25 – 28:04) vs 25 min: 00s (22:18 – 28:00); U = 57633; p=0.008; Table 4.2).

Table 4.2 - The perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts training/performance, seeking of help/advice for heavy periods, knowledge of a history of anaemia and iron supplementation in those who have and have not met the heavy menstrual bleeding HMB criteria, when identified using the outlined criteria.

	Stage 1				Stage 2				Elite athletes			
	HMB	No HMB	OR (95%		НМВ	No HMB	OR (95%		НМВ	No HMB	OR (95%	
	n = 427	n = 362	CI)	p-value	n = 381	n = 692	CI)	p-value	n = 33	n = 57	CI)	p-value
Reported												
menstrual cycle	60 20/ ***	20.00/	2 54 (2 64		40.00/***	00 E0/	2 24 (2 45			40 40/	0.75 (4.40	
disruption to	(000)	39.0%	3.54 (2.64	<0.0005	48.3%	ZZ.3%	3.21 (2.45	<0.0005	66.7% (22)*	42.1%) 2.75 (1.12 –	0.03
training/	(296) (141) – 4.7		- 4.76)		(184)	(156)	- 4.20)			(24)	6.73)	
performance												
Seeking of	27 20/ ***	0.60/	6 04 /4 47		44 60/ ***		0.45 (0.54			10.00/	E 00 (4 04	
advice/help for	37.2%***	8.6%	0.34 (4.17	<0.0005	44.6%****	8.1% (58)	9.15 (6.51	<0.0005	42.4% (14)***	12.3%	5.26 (1.84 -	0.001
heavy periods	(159)*	(31)	- 9.61)		(170)		- 12.85)			(7)	15.04)	
Knowledge of a	/3 1%**	32.0%	1 55 (1 16		38 1%***	22.4%	2 13 (1 62			19 1%	1 /1 (0 59 _	
history of	(104)	(110)	2.07)	0.003	(145)	(155)	2.13 (1.02	<0.0005	57.6% (19)	(20)	2 2 2 2	0.44
anaemia	(104)	(119)	- 2.07)		(145)	(155)	- 2.00)			(20)	3.33)	
History of iron	61.4%*	41.9%	1.45 (1.09	0.01	55.1%***	39.9%	1.85 (1.44	40,0005	81.8% (27)	77.2%	1.33 (0.44 –	0.60
supplementation	(262)	(189)	- 1.93)	0.01	(210)*	(276)	- 2.38)	<0.0005		(44)	3.91)	
0.000	24.6%***	40.6%	2.10 (1.55	-0.0005		42.5%	2.16 (1.64	-0.0005	00.00/ (40)	42.1%	6 1.62 (0.65	
Current OCP use	(105)	(147)	- 2.84)	<0.0005	25.5%*** (97)	(294)	- 2.85)	<0.0005	30.3% (10)	(24)	4.03)	0.29
	Stage 1				Stage 2			Elite athletes				
	НМВ	No HMB			НМВ	No HMB			НМВ	No HMB	В	
	n = 427 n = 362 U p-value	n = 381	n = 692	U	p-value	n = 33	n = 57	υp	p-value			

Age (years)	31 (24 – 35)***	29 (24 – 39)	87030	0.002	36 (29 – 40)***	31 (27 – 38)	152120	<0.0005	25.5 (22 – 34.5)	26 (24 – 30.5)	1003	0.71
Weekly exercise volume (mins)	360 (240 – 540)	360 (240 - 525)	75160	0.51	300 (240 – 480)	345 (240 - 420)	128639	0.51	590 (465 – 720)	530 (420 - 850)	913	0.96
5 km PB (min:s) – previous 12 months	24:05*** (20:40 – 28:00)	22:59 (19:10 – 26:09)	36714	0.002	26:00 (23:25 - 28:04)***	25:00 (22:18 – 28:00)	57633	0.008	17:21 (16:34 – 17:55)	17:28 (16:31 – 17:46)	665	0.29
Periods/year	12 (9 – 12)***	12 (6.25 - 12)	84643	<0.0005	12 (6 – 12)	12 (4 – 12)	125151	0.23	11 (8 – 12)*	9 (2 – 12)	1091	0.04

HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding, OR – odds ratio, CI – 95% confidence interval for the odds, U – Mann Whitney U test statistic, PB – personal best. Values are median (IQR). Where percentages are given, the number in the brackets is n.

Significant difference between those reporting and not reporting HMB within each group are shown as follows ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

The elite athletes are represented twice in this table – both within the stage data and as a separate group.
Across both stages, a known history of anaemia was reported by 603 participants (32.4%), while 1049 (56.3%) specified that they either did not have this or were unsure whether they have had this condition. Those meeting the HMB criteria were more likely to report a historical knowledge of anaemia (stage 1: 43.1% vs 32.9%; OR: 1.55; 95% CI: 1.16 – 2.07; *p*<0.0005; stage 2: 55.1% vs 39.9%; OR: 2.13; 95% CI: 1.62 – 2.80; *p*<0.0005; Table 4.2). Use of iron supplementation was also more common in those identified with HMB (stage 1: 61.4% vs 41.9%; OR: 1.45 (1.09 – 1.93); p=0.01; stage 2: 55.1% vs 39.9%; OR: 1.85; 95% CI: 1.44 - 2.38; p < 0.0005; Table 4.2). Less than a quarter of all surveyed reported having sought advice/help for heavy periods (22.3%), with this increasing in those who met the HMB criteria (stage 1: 37.2% vs 8.6%; OR: 6.34 (4.17 – 9.61); p<0.0005; stage 2: 44.6% vs 8.1%; OR: 9.15, 95% CI: 6.51 – 12.85; p<0.0005; Table 4.2). In stage 1, those identified with HMB cited more periods over the last year than those without (12 (9 - 12) vs 12 (6.25 – 12); U = 84643; p < 0.0005; Table 4.2), however there was no difference in number of periods in the last year reported by participants with and without HMB in stage 2 (12 (6-12) vs 12 (4-12); U = 125151; p=0.23; Table 4.2). In both stages 1 and 2, those identified to not have a history of HMB were approximately twice as likely to use the OCP (40.6% vs 24.6%; OR: 2.10, 95% CI: 1.55 - 2.84; *p*<0.0005, stage 2: 42.5% vs 25.5%; OR: 2.16; 95% CI: 1.64 – 2.85; *p*<0.0005; Table 4.2) than those with HMB.

4.4.4 Elite Athletes

When a sub-analysis of the elite athletes identified in both groups was conducted, 36.7% met the HMB criteria, with more than half (51.1%) indicating that their menstrual cycle disrupts their training/performance. The presence of HMB increased the odds of reporting this by 2.75 times (95% CI: 1.12 - 6.73 p = 0.03; Table 4.2).

4.4.5 Elite vs non- elite athletes

The prevalence of HMB was as common in elite athletes as the rest of the participants (p=0.19; Table 4.3). Elite athletes were also as likely to report that their menstrual cycle disrupts their training/performance, to have sought help for heavy periods (p=0.83) and to currently use the OCP (p=0.67). However, elite athletes were more likely to report knowledge of a history of anaemia (p<0.0005), and to have supplemented with iron than those who were not elite (p<0.0005; Table 4.3).

	Elite n = 90	Non-elite n = 1772	Chi-squared	p-value
НМВ	36.7% (n=33)	43.7% (n=775)	X ₂ = 1.73	0.19
Reported disruption to training/ performance	51.1% (n=46)	41.2% (n=731)	X ₂ = 3.44	0.06
Knowledge of a history of anaemia	52.2% (n=47)	31.4% (n=557)	X ₂ = 16.92	<0.0005***
History of iron supplementation	78.9% (n=71)	48.9% (n=867)	X ₂ = 30.81	<0.0005***
Current OCP use	36.7% (n=33)	34.5% (n=611)	X ₂ = 0.18	0.67
Seeking of advice/help for heavy periods	23.3% (n=21)	22.3% (n=173)	X ₂ = 0.049	0.83

Table 4.3 – A comparison between elite and non-elite characteristics.

HMB - heavy menstrual bleeding, OCP - oral contraceptive pill

Values are percentage (n).

Significant difference between elite and non-elite athletes are shown as follows ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

Association between HMB and performance outcomes

There was a relationship between 5 km personal best time in the last year and the number of HMB symptoms reported to have been experienced, each additional symptom reported was associated with a 16.9 second increase in reported personal best time (B = 16.93; 95% CI: 4.88 - 28.98; *p*=0.006).

When simply comparing those meeting and not meeting the criteria for identification of HMB, median 5 km times were significantly different (25 min: 0 s vs. 24 min: 24 s; U = 184312; *p*=0.002). When 5 km personal best times were divided into quartiles (Q1 being the fastest athletes), a significant difference was seen in the number of HMB symptoms reported by participants in the groups ($\chi^2(3) = 13.981$, *p*=0.003). A post-hoc analysis demonstrated that there was a significant difference between Q1 and Q4 (*p*=0.001; Figure 4.1).



Figure 4.1 – Reported number of symptoms of in the outlined heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) diagnostic series across participants when ranked based on 5 km personal best times. Q1 represent those with the fastest times, Q4 the slowest.

Values are median ± IQR.

Significant differences between groups are shown as follows: * p = 0.001.

Q – quartile, PB – personal best.

4.4.6 Association between HMB, a reported knowledge of a history of anaemia and disruptions to exercise training/performance caused by the menstrual cycle

In an unadjusted logistic regression model, those identified with HMB were 3.74 times more likely to report that their menstrual cycle disrupts their exercise training/performance (95% CI: 3.08 - 4.54; *p*<0.0005; Table 4.4) compared to those not identified with HMB. This relationship was slightly attenuated when adjusting for a historical knowledge of anaemia (OR: 3.53, CI: 2.90 - 4.29; *p*<0.0005; Table 4.4). Accordingly, there is evidence to suggest that those reporting historical anaemia knowledge are also more likely to report exercise training/performance disruption caused by their menstrual cycle (OR: 1.64; CI: 1.33 - 2.02; *p*<0.0005; Table 4.4). After controlling for covariates, (age, 5 km personal best (PB), typical weekly exercise volume and a history of iron supplementation), there was still a significant relationship between identified presence of HMB and reported disruptions to training/performance caused by the menstrual cycle, this was however minimally reduced (OR: 3.16; CI: 2.46 - 4.05; *p*<0.0005). However, the relationship between menstrual cycle driven disruption to exercise training/performance and knowledge of a history of anaemia was abolished (OR: 1.08, CI: 0.79 - 1.48; *p*=0.62; Table 4.4).

	Unadjusted model		Adjusted for anaemia history only			Adjusted for multiple covariates			
	OR	95% CI	p-value	OR	95% Cl	p-value	OR	95% Cl	p-value
НМВ	3.74	3.08 - 4.54	<0.0005***	3.53	2.90 - 4.29	<0.0005***	3.16	2.46 – 4.05	<0.0005***
Knowledge of a history of anaemia				1.64	1.33 - 2.02	<0.0005***	1.08	0. 79 – 1.48	0.62
Age							1.00	0.98 – 1.01	0.57
5 km PB (last 12 months)							1.00	1.00 – 1.00	0.59
Typical weekly exercise volume							1.00	1.00 – 1.00	0.65
History of iron supplementation							1.59	1.17- 2.15	0.003***

Table 4.4 - The unadjusted and adjusted results from the logistic regression of the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance.

HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding, PB – personal best time, OR – odds ratio, CI – 95% confidence interval for the odds

Significant interaction of the variable in the model are shown as follows: ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

Anaemia and iron supplementation

Across the total population, 50.3% (937 participants) reported having previously supplemented with iron, while 32.4% (603 participants) reported knowledge of having had anaemia. A total of 20.6% (384 participants) reported supplementing with iron without knowledge of a history of anaemia. This increased in elite athletes to 26.7% (24 participants). Further, of those who said they were unaware of whether they had ever had anaemia (210 participants), 50.5% (106 participants) reported that they have taken iron supplementation.

4.5 Discussion

This is the first study to identify that HMB when defined using self-reported responses to the outlined criteria, is a common problem amongst exercising women. Stage 1 of this research was used to ascertain whether HMB, when identified using this means, was a prevalent issue experienced by exercising women. It is acknowledged that this online survey was likely to be biased because women with menstrual cycle issues were more likely to complete the questionnaire, however with 54.1% meeting the HMB criteria this demonstrated that this is a significant problem within this populace when diagnosed by this means. To obtain unbiased prevalence data a large study, (stage 2) incorporating a number of controls to prevent bias, was conducted at the 2015 London Marathon Exhibition. This found that 35.5% of marathon runners met the outlined criteria for a history of HMB, therefore confirming the outcome in stage 1 that this is a common problem amongst exercising women when identified using this means. Utilising a different rule for diagnosis, HMB has previously been shown to affect more than a quarter of the general female population (28), but this is the first study to investigate prevalence amongst exercising women, regardless of diagnostic tool.

Only 43.1% and 38.1% of those with HMB from stages 1 and 2 had sought help/advice for heavy periods. HMB and discussion around the menstrual cycle is deemed a sensitive subject by some, and women may not feel comfortable discussing it with medical professionals or amongst peers, meaning that they may not know that their situation is abnormal. In the case of von Willebrand disease for example, a condition characterised by heavy bleeding, women typically report normal blood flow (381,382). Being a genetic condition, family members are also likely to have von Willebrand disease, and therefore a similar excess of blood loss, so it is thought normal. Alternatively, others may have just adjusted to living with it, feel that there is no solution, or that they don't have time to seek advice. Some also feel it is a normal cleansing process (383). This highlights the need for increased HMB awareness, but also highlights the need for a universally recognised means for diagnosis. However, this does support previous research which has demonstrated that almost half of those with HMB who have sought help did not have HMB confirmed (28), and the results of an audit conducted by the Royal College of Obstetricians showed that once diagnosed one third were not given treatment in primary care (384). This suggests that an increased awareness of HMB prevalence, associated symptoms and treatment options is required amongst medical professionals. Further, a review of treatment methods has shown there to be considerable variation in the treatment procedures and medications used, highlighting the need for further research and again, improved awareness (385). This is particularly significant given the large economic burden associated with HMB, identified both in the UK and the USA (386). Significantly, an earlier

study only found 20.7% of the participants identified with HMB to have an underlying bleeding disorder or menstrual cycle related pathologies (Gursel et al. 2014). In light of this, an increased awareness and future research into treatment options and underlying aetiology could result in significant beneficial financial implications.

The finding in this study that those meeting the HMB criteria were more likely to report knowledge of a previous diagnosis of anaemia than those who did not meet the HMB criteria is consistent with previous research, highlighting the increased iron deficiency and anaemia risk associated with HMB (19,20). There is potential for this to be greater as more than half of all respondents said that they were unaware of whether they have been anaemic. In the general population IDA has been shown to affect two thirds of women with HMB (26). Considering the increased iron losses (178,186,387,388), and the potential for reduced iron absorption (199) in those who exercise, the prevalence of iron deficiency and IDA in those identified with HMB in this group may be even greater.

Approximately one in three participants in stage 2, and more than half of those in both stage 1 and within those defined as 'elite' reported that their menstrual cycle disrupts their exercise training/performance. While this result in stage 1 is inevitably subject to bias, the results in stage 2 highlight that this is a common perception amongst exercisers. The identified presence of HMB increased the likelihood of reporting this, and those identified with HMB in stage 2 were more than three times more likely to cite this than those not identified with HMB. It could be hypothesised that an underlying iron deficiency with or without anaemia could be driving this perceived effect. When assessing the total population, and looking at both identified HMB and knowledge of a history of anaemia together, those who identified anaemia knowledge were also more likely to report that their menstrual cycle disrupts their training/performance, supporting this hypothesis. However, the addition of this to the relationship between HMB and menstrual cycle-related disruptions to training/performance marginally attenuated this association, potentially countering this. Further, when additional confounders were added, the relationship between knowledge of a history of anaemia and citations that the menstrual cycle disrupts training/performance became insignificant (p=0.62). However, in light of the potential for confusion regarding anaemia and iron deficiency, the lack of historical awareness of iron status, and the absence of haematological measures, this clearly warrants further research. It is also important to gain a better understanding of how iron deficiency without anaemia can have an impact on performance, as research is currently conflicting as will be addressed later in this thesis.

Interestingly, more than half of the population reported supplementing with iron, with this being substantially higher amongst those who were defined as elite (p < 0.0005). Many elite athletes routinely supplement with iron, and this was shown here with 78.9% reporting supplementation. Further, more than half of those who reported they were unaware of whether they have ever had anaemia, indicated that they have supplemented with iron. Coaches often encourage supplementation without prior knowledge of iron status due to the unfounded but common belief that iron deficiency is rife and supplementation may benefit performance. Indeed, one in five of the total population and one in four of the elite population who took iron supplementation did not report a historical knowledge of anaemia. While it must be appreciated that they could have had iron deficiency alone, meaning that it is difficult to draw definitive conclusions from this observation, typically many have a limited understanding of the difference between anaemia and iron deficiency causing them to be grouped together. Significantly here, less than half of those identified with HMB have sought help/advice for heavy periods, therefore it is necessary to raise awareness as while the effects of iron deficiency are yet to be conclusively elucidated, the impacts of IDA on both general wellness and exercise performance are well established as previously highlighted (386).

The sub-analysis from the elite athlete sample identified more than one third to have a history of HMB, with prevalence being no different to the non-elite population here and actually being greater than or similar to that identified in the general population – diagnosed using a different diagnostic series (28). This is somewhat surprising given the historical research focus on the female athlete triad and the new term 'Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport' – RED-S, particularly in elite athletes (224,389). However, it must be appreciated that some of this group were from stage 1, potentially overstating prevalence, and that different criteria were used to identify prevalence in the general population. It is well documented that elite female athletes, particularly endurance athletes are susceptible to amenorrhea and oligomenorrhea often as a result of a relative energy deficiency associated with a high training volume (9,31,390). It could therefore be hypothesised that increases in training volume would equate to increased risk of amenorrhea or oligomenorrhea, potentially decreasing HMB incidence, but this was not the case in this study with no identified relationship between total number of minutes exercised per week and identified HMB presence. However, the lack of a timescale for the presence of HMB symptoms makes conclusions to this avail problematic. Those with faster 5 km personal best times were however less likely to have a HMB history. The slower times seen in Q4 where HMB prevalence was higher when compared to Q1 could be caused by an increased incidence of IDA in Q4, which is impacting upon performance, alternatively increased rates of amenorrhea in Q1 could reflect the lower HMB incidence seen here.

However, these differences were only marginal, and further research is required before forming a definitive conclusion. This study suggests that other menstrual cycle issues in athletes across all levels may be commonplace, highlighting the need for further and more general research across other menstrual cycle dysfunctions in exercising women as they clearly have potential to negatively impact performance.

4.5.1 Limitations

There are a number of limitations of this study. Firstly, the self-reported nature of this questionnaire could have resulted in inaccurate data, however the HMB diagnostic criteria does not lean itself to comparison bias, but it must be appreciated that there is no universally recognised diagnosis for HMB. Secondly, stage 2 data was only collected in marathon runners, which may not be representative of other running events and sports. It has been shown that exercise increases susceptibility to iron deficiency (36), however blood parameters including markers of iron status have not been measured therefore associations between HMB identification and awareness of anaemia are subject to inaccuracy. There are a number of limitations associated with the Female Health Questionnaire as outlined in chapter 3 that need to be considered. Essentially, there are inconsistencies in the time periods used for assessment, performance times are within the last year, OCP use is current, where as the majority of other questions are based on any time in history. Additionally, any underlying causes for HMB presence were not captured, and the presence of illnesses (e.g. endometriosis) or the use of medication was not recorded, these could increase the likelihood of participants meeting the criteria for HMB diagnosis. Further, only OCP use was asked, use of other types of hormonal contraceptives were not requested. To obtain standardised performance comparisons a means for knowing finishing time in the marathon would strengthen ability to determine any relationships between participant performance level and HMB presence. Relationship between BMI and HMB presence could also be explored. Further studies are required to address these limitations.

4.6 Conclusions

This study has demonstrated that utilising the pre-defined diagnostic series, HMB, when identified by the self-report of symptoms, is common in the exercising population. Surprisingly, when utilising this diagnostic means it was as common amongst elite athletes as recreational level exercisers. HMB was associated with a known history of anaemia, iron supplementation, disruptions of the menstrual cycle to exercise training/performance and slower performance times. Further research is however needed to explore the association between HMB, iron deficiency and exercise performance, firstly to confirm this

association with haematological markers, and secondly to determine whether the disruption to exercise training/performance could be due to a deficiency of iron. The lack of advice/help for heavy periods sought by the participants in this study suggests that women may not feel or appreciate that this is a problem, have learnt to cope with it or do not want to discuss it, suggesting that more research, education and awareness is needed. Iron supplementation amongst athletes is very common, particularly amongst those categorised as elite, often despite prior knowledge of iron status.

To conclude, regarding the outlined hypotheses for this chapter, when identified using the outlined criteria, HMB was found to be prevalent in those who exercise, therefore the first hypothesis can be accepted. However, the second hypothesis that identified HMB is more common in recreational athletes was not found. Finally, the third hypothesis can also be accepted as those identified with HMB were more likely to report that their menstrual cycle disrupts their training/performance.

4.7 Future Perspectives

This study clearly highlights that when identified using this means, HMB is a common problem in exercising women. Due to the potentially significant poor awareness of this menstrual cycle dysfunction, and the evident potential it has to affect performance, education needs to be improved. Medical professionals need to be made aware of its perhaps somewhat surprising prevalence in this population, and athletes should be alerted to the typical symptoms. Treatment options also need careful consideration. Since the analysis of elite athletes was from both study groups, future research must find an elite population in its own entity to gain another indication of prevalence.

4.8 Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Dr Courtney Kipps and the London Marathon Medical Committee for their cooperation in facilitating access to the London Marathon Exhibition.

4.9 Author Contributions

The author wrote the 'Female Health Questionnaire'. The questionnaire was checked by the primary supervisors prior to use. In stage 1 of this study, the author advertised an online link to the questionnaire via Twitter and Facebook and wrote on relevant exercise and training specific forums and websites. The author was also granted access to have it publicised in the university newsletter. In stage 2 of this study, the author surveyed 1091

women across four days at the London Marathon Exhibition in 2015, getting them to complete a paper survey. The author then entered this data onto the Bristol Online Survey platform, providing a second check for errors. The author conducted the full statistical analysis.

5 The association between identified heavy menstrual bleeding and iron status, and the association of these with the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance in exercising women.

5.1 Abstract

Background: In chapter 4, when utilising an outlined diagnostic series for diagnosis (chapter 3), HMB was identified to be common in exercisers in the United Kingdom, while also associated with the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance and a historical knowledge of anaemia. The mechanism by which HMB may disrupt exercise is unknown, but could be caused by a compromised iron status. Iron status, alongside HMB presence has not previously been established in exercising women, where the menstrual cycle is frequently deemed to disrupt exercise training/performance. With the previous chapter significantly also highlighted a poor awareness of iron status, with few identified with HMB reporting to have sought help/advice for heavy periods.

Methods: Healthy, exercising and regularly menstruating women in Singapore (n=271; median age: 38 years (29 – 43 years), weight: 57.0 kg (50.2 - 63.0 kg), height: 1.60 m (1.56 - 1.64 m), BMI: 22.1 kg·m⁻² (20.0 - 24.3 kg·m⁻²)) completed a 'Female Health Questionnaire' and had blood sampling at routine healthcare appointments.

Results: Overall, HMB was identified in 60 women (22.1%) and 40 (14.8%) were diagnosed with IDA (haemoglobin < 12 g·dL⁻¹ and serum ferritin < 15 µg·L⁻¹), while 82 (30.3%) had 'severe' iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15 µg·L⁻¹), and 130 (48.0%) 'moderate' iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 30 µg·L⁻¹). Women identified with HMB were three times more likely to suffer IDA (28.3% vs 10.9%; OR: 3.23, CI: 1.59 – 6.57; p<0.0005) and more than twice as likely to suffer severe (48.3% vs 25.1%; OR: 2.79, CI : 1.54 - 5.05; p=0.001; Table 4.2) or moderate (65.0% vs 43.1%; OR: 2.45, CI: 1.35 - 4.45; p=0.003) iron deficiency. Among those identified as having HMB, few reported seeking advice/help for heavy periods, while awareness of IDA and ID was poor. Both HMB and IDA were associated with reporting that the menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance, but iron deficiency alone was not. Those with HMB were more than four times more likely to report this disruption (OR: 4.15, CI: 0.13,0.44; p<0.0005), and this relationship is likely to be independent of IDA.

Conclusions: When identified using the outlined criteria, HMB, iron deficiency and associated IDA are common in this population with a similar prevalence to the general population. HMB increased risk of a compromised iron status. HMB and IDA were independently associated with the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance, however the effect did not appear to be

cumulative. However, awareness of iron status spears to be poor and needs to be heightened, while many identified with HMB had not sought advice/help for heavy periods.

5.2 Introduction

In chapter 4, when identified using a diagnostic series (outlined in chapter 3), HMB was identified in approximately one in three exercising women of all ability in the United Kingdom (391,392). A similar percentage also cited that their menstrual cycle disrupts their exercise training/performance, increasing to nearly half of all those identified with HMB. However, if indeed HMB does cause a disruption to exercise training/performance, the mechanism by which this manifests is not known. There was a profound association between HMB and a self-reported knowledge of a history of anaemia and iron supplementation, however this has not previously been shown in this population using haematological measures. As explained in chapter 2, given that those who exercise are likely to already have an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency (178,186,376,387), the presence of HMB could exacerbate this further.

If indeed those with HMB who exercise regularly have iron deficiency, with or without anaemia, it could be hypothesised that this could in part be the cause for women to cite detrimental effects of their menstrual cycle on their exercise training and performance. Considering the known impact of IDA on oxidative metabolism, and the potential impact that iron deficiency alone may have on other iron-dependent pathways this is plausible. Further, given the previously established lack of awareness of HMB and iron status (28), it could be further be hypothesised that the identified presence of HMB, resulting in a deficiency in iron is unknown.

Significantly, since the study conducted in chapter 4 was the first time HMB was considered in those who exercise, there was an additional need to determine whether HMB presence in a similar population subset was comparable in other countries.

5.2.1 Study aims

The aims of the present study were to:

- The primary aim was to assess the incidence of HMB (when using an outlined criteria (chapter 3), in the absence of a universally applied verified diagnostic means), and its association with iron deficiency and IDA using haematological measures in women who undertake regular exercise.
- 2. The secondary aims were then to gain an indication of the level of awareness of HMB and iron status; and to identify whether there is an association between

identified HMB, iron deficiency and IDA and perceived disruption to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance caused by the menstrual cycle. If an association between HMB and a reported disruption of the menstrual cycle to exercise training/performance is identified, the role of iron status in this relationship will be evaluated.

5.2.2 Study hypotheses

HMB, when identified using the outlined criteria, is common in this population., and the identified presence of HMB is associated with an increased likelihood of iron deficiency and IDA.

- 1. Awareness of iron status in those with a compromised iron status and the seeking of help/advice for heavy periods in those with HMB is limited.
- 2. Iron status is involved in the relationship between identified HMB and individuals reporting that their menstrual cycle disrupts their everyday lifestyle/exercise performance.

5.3 Materials and methods

5.3.1 Ethics and participant consent

The 'Female Health Questionnaire' was approved by the St Mary's University Ethics Committee. Participants provided written consent at the time of clinic attendance allowing for the anonymous use of their data for research.

5.3.2 Inclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria were:

- Female;
- Aged ≥18 years;
- Pre-menopausal;
- Undertake regular exercise (≥ 60 minutes/week or indicated taking part in races).

5.3.3 Exclusion criteria

The exclusion criteria were:

- Not menstruated in the past 12 months;
- Incompletion of questionnaires.

5.3.4 Participants

As a result of a collaboration between a research group in Singapore, exercising women attending routine healthcare assessments run by The Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association (SATA) in Singapore were used in this research. Due to limited funds, this sample provided an opportune group to study, but as a result, this population must be defined as a 'convenience' sample.

5.3.5 Study design

A retrospective analysis of this convenience sample was performed to assess exercise and menstrual cycle characteristics, iron status and HMB, as identified using the preidentified criteria, in all women attending clinics for routine healthcare assessments run by The Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association (SATA) Healthcare, Singapore (insurance screening and drop-in clinics). SATA CommHealth are a non-profit organisation and were also selected to run the health checks for the Singapore 'National Population Health Survey 2016/17' (110,393).

As part of the routine 'well woman' assessment, patients had a routine blood test and were asked to complete a short 'Female Health Questionnaire' (v^2 – as outlined in chapter 3 and is abbreviated version of that used in chapter 4), to audit aspects of their health, menstrual cycle, and exercise activity (typical weekly exercise volume broken down into discipline). Since the population of Singapore is considered homogenous, with relatively little variety in types of industry and a small total area, it is assumed that this sample was largely representative of the average population, while also appreciating that this population all exercise regularly so may experience slight physiological variance as would be expected in regular exercisers. The median BMI in this study was 22.1 kg \cdot m⁻², which is in accordance with data from the 2007 National Health Surveillance Survey which found mean BMI in women between the age of 18 and 49 to range from 20.9 - 23.0 kg·m⁻² (394). It is also notable that SATA CommHealth describe themselves as having a focus on community health, providing 'basic health screening packages at affordable mass-market prices for everyone'. While also frequently used by local companies, providing annual check-ups (395). SATA CommHealth are a non-profit organisation and were also selected to run the health checks for the Singapore 'National Population Health Survey 2016/17' (396).

From July 2015 to November 2015 a total of 777 women attended the healthcare assessments, 84 were excluded due to non-completion of the questionnaires, a further 206 were excluded as they had not menstruated in the previous year, a final 216 were excluded due to not meeting the specified exercise level criteria (Figure 5.1). Therefore, data from 271 regularly exercising and menstruating women were included in the study.



Figure 5.1 – Derivation of study sample.

5.3.6 Measurements and definitions

Female Health Questionnaire

All participants completed the 'Female Health Questionnaire', comprising the structured series of questions taking 2-3 minutes for completion including a four-part criteria for the identification of HMB (392). The questionnaire was an abbreviation of that used previously in chapter 4, and described in chapter 3 (28). This also captured additional demographics including height and weight (measured by the practitioner at the time of venepuncture).

The questionnaire also asked the participants to report their exercise competition level (If participants did more than one form of exercise they were requested to report the response that reflects the highest level), the options included:

- 1. Do not exercise
- 2. Recreational, just for fun
- 3. Take part in races, in a relatively non-competitive manner
- 4. Regional level
- 5. National level
- 6. International level.

Blood measures

As part of the SATA 'well woman' routine assessments, blood is taken to check the patient's full blood count, urea and electrolytes, and serum ferritin. Following the guidelines from the World Health Organisation (WHO), for the purpose of this study, IDA was defined as [Hb] < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹ and serum ferritin < 15 g·dL⁻¹. Also in accordance with the WHO guidelines, 'severe' iron deficiency was diagnosed using a serum ferritin cut-off value of < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ (40). This is in accordance with the WHO criteria for when iron stores are depleted (40). Since, a lack of iron in bone marrow has been observed when serum ferritin is 30 μ g·L⁻¹, and using this cut-off value, sensitivity and specificity for iron deficiency diagnosis has been found to be 92% and 96% respectively (42). Therefore, for the purposes of this study, 'moderate' iron deficiency will be defined implementing a cut-off for serum ferritin of < 30 g·dL⁻¹.

5.3.7 Data analysis

Paper questionnaires were completed at the time of clinic attendance and inputted anonymously alongside blood results to a secured database.

Statistical analysis was performed using a statistics computer package (IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 21.0, Armonk, NK: IBM Corp.). Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

All data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test, and data were analysed descriptively to evaluate all questionnaire variables and iron status. Chi-squared tests were used to assess whether there was an association between HMB, when identified using the outline criteria (chapter 3), and both presence and historical knowledge of iron deficiency, IDA, anaemia, the use of iron supplementation and reporting whether the individual perceives that their menstrual cycle disrupts their everyday lifestyle/exercise performance. Mann Whitney U tests were used to determine whether haemoglobin concentration, serum ferritin, age, weight, height, BMI, typical exercise volume and participant competition level varied between groups. Chi-squared tests were also used to determine whether, in those identified with HMB, prevalence of IDA or iron deficiency was different based on whether or not participants reported seeking advice/help for heavy periods. Chi-squared tests were also used to determine if there was a difference in reporting disruptions of the menstrual cycle to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance between those with and without IDA or iron deficiency. Mann Whitney U tests were used to assess whether there was a difference in [Hb] and serum ferritin when comparing those who did and did not report these disruptions.

Cross-sectional predictive factors for reported disruptions to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance caused by the menstrual cycle and identified HMB were determined using binary logistic analyses. The independent variables assessed were the identified presence of HMB, anaemia, and then other relevant covariates including age, BMI, exercise volume and competition level.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Participant Characteristics

From July 2015 – Nov 2015 a total of 271 women were included (Figure 5.1). The median age was 38 years (29 – 43 years), weight: 57.0 kg (50.3 – 63.0 kg), height: 1.60 m (1.56 – 1.63 m) (Table 5.1). Most undertook exercise recreationally (43.2%), or indicated regularly taking part in races (40.2%), while 2.6% reported being at a regional level and 1.5% at a national or international level, 12.2% did not complete this question. Overall, 41.7% reported \leq 120 minutes of exercise each week, 32.5% reported \geq 120 but < 210 minutes, 18.8% reported \geq 210 but < 420 minutes, while 7.0% reported \geq 420 minutes of exercise each week.

Table 5.1 - Clinical characteristics of	participants.
---	---------------

	Total Sample	Range (min-max)
[Hb] (g·dL ⁻¹)	13.0 (12.2-13.6)	6.9 – 16.3
Serum ferritin (µg·L⁻¹)	31.0 (12.0-56.0)	0.5 – 276
IDA	14.8% (n=40)	
Severe ID	30.3% (n=82)	
Moderate ID	48.0% (n=130)	
НМВ	22.1% (n=60)	
Age (years)	38 (29-43)	17 – 60
Weight (kg)	57.0 (50.3-63.0)	40.3 – 120.0
Height (m)	1.60 (1.56-1.63)	1.40 – 1.79
Body Mass Index (kg·m ⁻²)	22.1 (20.0-24.3)	16.2 – 53.3
Weekly exercise volume (minutes)	120 (60-210)	
Competition level	2 (2-3)	
Seeking of advice/help for heavy periods	11.4% (n=31)	
Knowledge of a history of anaemia	17.7% (n=48)	
Knowledge of a history of anaemia in last 3M	1.8% (n=5)	
Knowledge of a history of iron deficiency	22.5% (n=61)	
Knowledge of a history of iron deficiency in last 3M	3.0% (n=8)	
History of iron supplementation	31.4% (n=85)	
Reported disruption of the MC to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance	26.2% (n=71)	

[Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, IDA – iron deficiency anaemia, ID – iron deficiency, MC – menstrual cycle

Values are median (IQR). Where percentages are given, the number in the brackets is n.

5.4.2 Identified prevalence of HMB, iron deficiency and IDA

Of the 271 women, the median [Hb] was $13.0 \text{ g} \cdot \text{dL}^{-1}$, and 14.8% had IDA ([Hb] < $12.0 \text{ g} \cdot \text{dL}^{-1}$, serum ferritin < $15 \mu \text{g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$; Table 5.1). The median serum ferritin was $31.0 \mu \text{g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ (Table 5.1). Iron deficiency was common; nearly one third (30.3%) had severe iron deficiency (serum ferritin < $15 \mu \text{g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$; Table 5.1), and nearly half (48.0%) moderate iron deficiency (serum ferritin < $30 \mu \text{g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$; Table 5.1).

Table 5.2 – A comparison of characteristics between those with and without heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB), when identified using the outlined criteria.

	НМВ	Not HMB	Test statistic	p-value
n	60	211		
%	22.1%	77.9%		
[Hb] (g·dL ⁻¹)	12.9 (11.7-13.6)	13.0 (12.3-13.6)	U = 5579	0.16
Serum ferritin (μg·L ⁻¹)	18.5*** (7.8-35.0)	34.0 (15.5-62.0)	U = 4087	<0.0005***
IDA	28.3%* (n=17)	10.9% (n=23)	X ₂ = 11.284	0.001***
Severe ID	48.3%** (n=29)	25.1% (n=53)	X ₂ = 11.931	0.001***
Moderate ID	65.0%** (n=39)	43.1% (n=91)	X ₂ = 8.954	0.003***
Age (years)	39 (27-43)	37 (29-44)	U = 6160	0.75
Weight (kg)	57.0 (51.3-64.0)	56.7 (50.0-62.0)	U = 4087	0.19
Height (m)	1.60 (1.57-1.63)	1.60 (1.55-1.64)	U = 6294	0.63
Body Mass Index (kg⋅m ⁻²)	22.5 (20.3-25.4)	22.1 (19.9-24.1)	U = 6752	0.09
Weekly exercise volume (minutes)	120 (60-180)	120 (60-210)	U = 6328	>0.99
Competition level	2.5	2.5	X ₂ = 3.44	0.63
Seeking of advice/help for heavy periods	33.3%*** (n=20)	5.2% (n=11)	X ₂ = 36.464	<0.0005***
Knowledge of a history of anaemia	30.0%* (n=18)	14.2% (n=30)	X ₂ = 8.87	0.01*
Knowledge of a history of anaemia in last 3M	1.7% (n=1)	1.9% (n=4)	X ₂ = 0.10	0.95

127

Knowledge of a history of iron deficiency	30.0% (n=18)	20.4% (n=43)	X ₂ = 4.08	0.13
Knowledge of a history of iron deficiency in last 3M	1.7% (n=1)	3.3% (n=7)	X ₂ 1.07	0.59
History of iron supplementation	43.3% (n=26)	28.0% (n=59)	X ₂ = 5.13	0.08
Reported disruption of the MC to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance	50.0%*** (n=30)	19.4% (n=41)	X ₂ = 22.58	<0.0005***

[Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, IDA – iron deficiency anaemia (([Hb < $12.0g \cdot dL^{-1}$, serum ferritin < $15\mu g \cdot L^{-1}$), severe ID – severe iron deficiency (serum ferritin < $15\mu g \cdot L^{-1}$), moderate ID - moderate iron deficiency (serum ferritin < $30 \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$), HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding, MC – menstrual cycle.

Values are median (IQR). Where percentages are given, the number in the brackets is n. Significant difference between those reporting and not reporting HMB are shown as follows ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

Of the 271 women, a total of 22.1% met the outlined criteria for HMB (two or more symptoms of the outlined diagnostic series in chapter 3). Those identified with HMB were more than three times more likely to suffer IDA (28.3% vs 10.9%; OR: 3.23, CI: 1.59 – 6.57; *p*<0.0005); Table 5.2) and twice as likely to suffer severe (48.3% vs 25.1%; OR: 2.79, CI: 1.54 - 5.05; *p*=0.001; Table 5.2) or moderate (65.0% vs 43.1%; OR: 2.45, CI: 1.35 - 4.45; *p*=0.003; Table 5.2) iron deficiency compared to those without HMB. On average, women identified with HMB had a lower serum ferritin (18.5 μ g·L⁻¹ (7.8 – 35.0 μ g·L⁻¹) vs. 34.0 μ g·L⁻¹ (15.5 – 62.0 μ g·L⁻¹); *p*<0.0005; Table 5.2). However, median haemoglobin concentration did not vary between groups (*p*=0.16; Table 5.2). There was no difference in demographics or training and competition status between those identified with and without HMB (all *p*>0.05; Table 5.2).

5.4.3 Level of awareness of HMB and iron status

Overall, amongst those with IDA, severe iron deficiency and moderate iron deficiency awareness of iron status appeared poor (Table 5.3). Less than half of those with IDA

reported prior knowledge of anaemia (40.0%), with one in 10 (10.0%) reporting recent awareness (in the previous three months). Similar statistics were seen in those with iron deficiency, with only 40.2% of those with severe iron deficiency reporting prior knowledge, and 6.1% reporting knowledge in the previous three months (Table 5.3). Across all individuals, supplementation was reported by 31.4% at any one point in time (Table 5.1). Five percent of those with IDA and less than five percent of those with iron deficiency reported use of supplementation (Table 5.3).

Table 5.3 – Reported historical knowledge of anaemia, iron deficiency and use of supplementation in those with iron deficiency anaemia and severe (serum ferritin < $15 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$) and moderate (serum ferritin < $30 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$) iron deficiency.

	n	Anaemia history	Anaemia history – 3 months	ID history	ID history – 3 months	Iron sup – 3 months
IDA	40	40.0% (n=16)	10.0% (n=4)	52.5% (n=21)	12.5% (n=5)	5.0% (n=2)
Severe ID	82	28.0% (n=23)	3.7% (n=3)	40.2% (n=33)	6.1% (n=5)	4.9% (n=4)
Moderate ID	130	23.8% (n=31)	3.1% (n=4)	33.8% (n=44)	4.6% (n=6)	3.8% (n=5)

IDA – iron deficiency anaemia, ID – iron deficiency, ID sup – reported supplementation with iron in the previous 3 months Values are percentage (n).

Advice/help for heavy periods had rarely been sought, with only a third of those identified with HMB reporting having sought this (Table 5.2). More than a third of those (35.0%) who were both identified to have HMB and to have sought advice/help for heavy periods had IDA (Table 5.4). But there was no difference in the prevalence of IDA or iron deficiency amongst those identified with HMB and who have and have sought advice/help for heavy periods (Table 5.4; all p>0.05).

Table 5.4 – The likelihood of having IDA, or severe (serum ferritin < $15 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$) or moderate (serum ferritin < $30 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$) iron deficiency based on whether those identified with HMB have or have not sought advice/help for heavy periods.

	HMB + advice/help	HMB no advice/help	X2	p-value
IDA	35.0% (n=7)	25.0% (n=10)	0.657	0.42
Severe ID	55.0% (n=11)	45.0% (n=18)	0.534	0.47
Moderate ID	75.0% (n=15)	60.0% (n=24)	1.319	0.25

HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding, IDA – iron deficiency anaemia, ID – iron deficiency, X_2 – Chi-squared test statistic

Values are percentage (n).

5.4.4 Association between identified HMB, iron deficiency and IDA with reported menstrual cycle disruptions to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance

The identified presence of HMB meant that individuals were more than four times more likely to report that their menstrual cycle disrupts their everyday lifestyle/exercise performance (50.0% vs 19.4%; p<0.0005; Table 5.5). Similarly, women with IDA were also more likely to report a disruption of their menstrual cycle to their everyday lifestyle/exercise performance compared to those without IDA (45.0% vs 22.9%, p=0.003; Table 5.5). This finding was not however mirrored in those with either severe or moderate iron deficiency (p=0.17 and p=0.42 respectively; Table 5.5). While there was also no difference in [Hb] or serum ferritin in those who did, and did not report this (p=0.14 and p=0.07 respectively; Table 5.6)

	Yes	Νο	X 2	OR	CI	p-value
HMB	50.0%*	19.4%	22 50	1 15	2.52 -	<0 000E***
(n=60)	(n=30)	(n=41)	22.30	4.15	7.63	<0.0005
IDA	45.0%*	22.9%	8 56	2 75	1.37 –	0.003
(n=40)	(n=18)	(n=53)	0.00	2.15	5.50	0.005
Severe	31.7%	23.8%	1.8/	1 / 9	0.84 -	0 17
ID (n=82)	(n=26)	(n=45)	1.04	1.45	2.64	0.17
Moderate	28.5%	24 1%			0 73 -	
ID	(n=37)	(n=34)	0.66	1.25	2 15	0.42
(n=130)	(1. 07)	(11 04)			2.10	

Table 5.5 – Likelihood of reporting that the menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance in those identified with heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB), iron deficiency anaemia (IDA) and severe and moderate iron deficiency (ID).

HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding, IDA – iron deficiency anaemia, ID – iron deficiency, X_2 – Chi-squared test statistic, OR – odds ratio, CI – confidence interval for 95% confidence of the odds

A significant difference between those reporting that their menstrual does or does not affect training and performance is shown as follows: ***p<0.005.

Table 5.6 – The effect of iron status on the perception of whether the menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance.

	Disruption to lifest	tyle/performance		
	Yes	No	U	p-value
Haemoglobin (g·dL ⁻¹)	12.7 (11.9-13.6)	13.1 (12.3-13.6)	6268	0.14
Serum ferritin (µg∙L ⁻¹)	29.0 (8.5-44.5)	32.5 (13.0-57.5)	6065	0.07

U - Mann Whitney U test statistic

Values are median (IQR).

In an unadjusted logistic regression model, those identified with HMB were 4.15 times more likely to report that their menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance (95% CI: 2.25 - 7.63, p < 0.0005; Table 5.7) compared to those without HMB. Adjusting for IDA reduced the odds ratio between HMB and the reporting of this, however there was still a very strong association (p < 0.0005). There was little evidence to suggest that an interaction between identified HMB and IDA was related to disruptions to everyday

lifestyle/exercise performance caused by the menstrual cycle, since the relationship between HMB and the citing of disruptions was marginally reduced by the addition of IDA to this model. This suggests that IDA does not have an impact on this relationship (p=0.47; 95% CI: 1.01 – 4.41; Table 5.7).

After controlling for other covariates (age, BMI, competition level and weekly exercise volume), the relationship between identified HMB and reported disruptions to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance caused by the menstrual cycle was only slightly attenuated (OR 3.66, 95% CI: 1.89 - 7.09; *p*<0.0005; Table 5.7).

	Unadjusted model		Adjusted for IDA only			Adjusted for IDA and other covariates			
	OR	95% CI	p-value	OR	95% CI	p-value	OR	95% Cl	p-value
НМВ	4.15	2.25 - 7.63	<0.0005***	3.71	1.99 - 6.92	<0.0005***	3.66	1.89 – 7.09	<0.0005***
IDA				2.11	1.01 - 4.41	0.047*	1.80	0.25 – 1.25	0.16
Age							0.98	0.95 – 1.01	0.27
BMI							0.98	0.91 – 1.05	0.50
Competition level							1.02	0.65 – 1.59	0.93
Weekly exercise volume							1.00	1.00- 1.00	0.34

Table 5.7 – The unadjusted and adjusted results from the logistic regression of the perception of disruptions of the menstrual cycle to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance.

 $\label{eq:HMB-heavy} \begin{array}{l} \mathsf{HMB}-\mathsf{heavy} \ \mathsf{menstrual} \ \mathsf{bleeding}, \ \mathsf{IDA}-\mathsf{iron} \ \mathsf{deficiency} \ \mathsf{anaemia}, \ \mathsf{BMI}-\mathsf{body} \ \mathsf{mass} \ \mathsf{index}, \\ \mathsf{OR}-\mathsf{odds} \ \mathsf{ratio}, \ \mathsf{CI}-\mathsf{confidence} \ \mathsf{interval} \ \mathsf{for} \ 95\% \ \mathsf{confidence} \ \mathsf{of} \ \mathsf{the} \ \mathsf{odds} \\ \\ \mathsf{Significant} \ \mathsf{interaction} \ \mathsf{of} \ \mathsf{the} \ \mathsf{variable} \ \mathsf{in} \ \mathsf{the} \ \mathsf{model} \ \mathsf{are} \ \mathsf{shown} \ \mathsf{as} \ \mathsf{follows}: \ \mathsf{***p} < \mathsf{0.005}, \ \mathsf{**p} \\ < 0.01, \ \mathsf{*p} < \mathsf{0.05}. \end{array}$

5.5 Discussion

In marathon runners in the United Kingdom in chapter 4, approximately one in three met the identified criteria for HMB (as outlined in chapter 3), with the presence of HMB being associated with both a reported historical knowledge of anaemia and a perceived disruption of the menstrual cycle to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance (392). In the present study, we firstly aimed to assess HMB prevalence, when identified using the same criteria as in chapter 4, in this 'convenience' sample – also appreciating this group likely forms a different ethnic population, and then to confirm the association between identified HMB and haematological measures of iron deficiency and IDA. We then wanted to determine whether the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance, a similar factor previously found to be associated with HMB could be as a result of iron deficiency with or without anaemia be it known or unknown. Finally, we wanted to gauge the level of awareness of both HMB and iron status. We firstly identified that, when using this means for identification, HMB was common in this population, with prevalence similar to that reported in both the general population previously (28) and in the marathon runners in chapter 4 (28,392). Risk of iron deficiency and IDA was found to significantly increase in those identified with HMB. Both HMB and IDA independently increased the likelihood of individuals reporting that their menstrual cycle disrupts their everyday lifestyle/exercise performance. However, the combination of HMB and IDA did not increase this association, suggesting no cumulative effect. Further, neither iron deficiency alone, nor individual [Hb] or serum ferritin levels were associated with this. Significantly, similarly to in chapter 4 awareness of iron status appeared to be poor and a relative few identified with HMB reported the seeking of advice/help for heavy periods.

Prevalence of IDA in exercising women is thought to be between 8 – 14% (119-121), and the findings from this study are similar to this, as 14.8% were found to have IDA. The ambiguity surrounding the diagnosis of iron deficiency has meant that the prevalence of iron deficiency amongst those who exercise is unsure, as described extensively in chapter 2, but using a variety of serum ferritin cut-off values, most conclude it to be around one third (46,51,244). In the present study, using a serum ferritin cut-off of < 15 μ g·L⁻¹, in accordance with the WHO's criteria, nearly one third (30.3%) were iron deficient. This increased to nearly half (48.0%) when using a more lenient serum ferritin cut off-of < 30 μ g·L⁻¹. This is significantly greater than that observed in the general United Kingdom population (using a serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ women: 8.2 – 16.0 %; men: 0 – 2.5 %) (118). This is likely due to the effect of exercise-induced iron losses (178,186,376,387), often reduced dietary intakes in exercising women (194,195,397), and the effect of a post exercise inflammatory response, reducing absorption (377).

Similarly to in chapter 4, awareness of iron status in this cohort appeared poor. Of those with IDA, 90.0% reported no knowledge of having this within the last three months. These findings were mirrored in those with iron deficiency, and this clearly needs to be addressed. Similarly, only one third of those identified with HMB indicated that they have sought advice/help for heavy periods suggesting that awareness of HMB may also be limited. Previous studies in the general population support this, highlighting that women with HMB scarcely seek help, with estimates of only 6% consulting medical professionals about their symptoms (398). As highlighted in chapter 4, this is likely to be confounded by the sensitive nature of HMB and the menstrual cycle, meaning that it is not a subject matter typically discussed, and significantly, with some cultures in particular believing it to be a normal cleansing process (383). Significantly in this study, in those identified with HMB, the prevalence of IDA or iron deficiency was no different between those who have or have not sought advice/help for heavy periods. While the source of this help was not identified, if this means of help was from medical professionals, it could be suggested that they may not be carrying out appropriate tests when conducting an assessment. Given the negative repercussions associated with IDA and the potential impacts associated with iron deficiency, it is important that awareness amongst medical professionals of the appropriate tests and subsequent effective treatment options when an individual presents with HMB are established. Further, considering the medical checks undertaken in the present study are commonplace and typically conducted on an annual basis, the poor knowledge of iron status, and significant prevalence of IDA and iron deficiency also suggests that the appropriate screening tests, in a population subset with an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency, regardless of HMB presence, may not be being conducted, and that interpretation may not be adequate (6). This could in part be due to the historical problematic difficulties in the diagnosis of both HMB and iron deficiency. Regardless, these findings highlight the need for an improved education for both medical professionals and those who exercise (399,400).

The present study found IDA to be associated with participants reporting that their menstrual cycle disrupts their everyday lifestyle/exercise performance. Interestingly however, this finding was not observed in those with severe or moderate iron deficiency, nor was it associated with [Hb] or serum ferritin levels. As previously highlighted, the impact of IDA on exercise performance is well known, however the ambiguity surrounding the effect of iron deficiency without anaemia demonstrates the need for further research (46,51). The lack of a universal agreement on serum ferritin cut-offs for diagnosis of iron deficiency particularly amongst the exercising community, in addition to other factors confounds this as discussed in chapter 2 and as will be discussed later in this thesis

(46,244). The use of serum ferritin as a sole marker of iron status has also been questioned (51), and it is possible that optimal levels of serum ferritin are different in those who exercise. The present study suggests that the ensuing reported disruption to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance caused by the menstrual cycle may be independent from the presence of either severe or moderate iron deficiency. While inevitably making an assumption, from this it could be inferred that there is no performance detriment of having either severe or moderate iron deficiency when defined using the criteria outlined in this study. However, considering the lack of association between cited disruption to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance caused by the menstrual cycle and [Hb] and serum ferritin, it could be suggested that other markers of iron status need consideration. Alternatively,, there could be another impact of HMB that is overriding any effect of iron deficiency. Prior to forming a definitive conclusion, further investigation as to the diagnosis and impact of HMB.

HMB was also associated with participants reporting that their menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance. Those identified with HMB were more than four times more likely to cite this. This relationship was not however enhanced when combined with IDA, and was only minimally attenuated when other potential covariates were considered. This indicates that the relationship between HMB and cited menstrual cycle related everyday lifestyle/exercise performance disruptions is independent of IDA. Given the absence of an association between iron deficiency, serum ferritin or haemoglobin and cited menstrual cycle disruptions to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance, the present study suggests that when using the outlined identification criteria, the relationship between HMB and everyday lifestyle/exercise performance disruptions is independent of iron status. Other underlying medical conditions clearly need consideration here and have the potential to confound this finding. However, previous research identified no underlying medical pathology in 61% of the 34,941 women who had recently received a HMB diagnosis (385). Evidently, there is a need to consider the aetiology of HMB, which as an inflammatory condition, results in an increase in release of proinflammatory cytokines such as tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (401). Clearly, increased cytokine levels could be a cause for the everyday lifestyle/exercise performance disruption caused by the menstrual cycle.

Given the lack of advice/help sought for heavy periods in those with HMB, and the poor awareness of iron status, to prevent either of these from acting as a barrier to exercise participation, education surrounding both conditions needs to be improved. If indeed HMB alone has a negative effect on exercise regardless of iron status, other reasons for this need to be addressed and potential solutions evaluated. Given that a quarter of exercising women here cite that their menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance this research is crucial. With dropout rates from exercise significantly greater in girls than boys, research in this area in addition to raising of awareness could go some way to addressing this problem.

This study clearly highlights that when identified using the outlined diagnostic series, those with HMB should undergo regular screening to check their iron status. Despite the relationship between HMB and the reporting that the menstrual cycle disrupts their everyday lifestyle/exercise performance being independent from iron status, the impact of iron deficiency anaemia alone on both general health and exercise capacity is well established. Future research should focus on best management and treatment strategies for HMB, the aetiology of HMB, in addition to assessing the impact of iron deficiency without anaemia on exercise performance.

5.5.1 Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. Firstly, as outlined in chapter 3 and 4, there are limitations to the 'Female Health Questionnaire' that must be considered, significantly the absence of a universally recognised diagnosis for HMB. Secondly, despite school education in Singapore being taught in English, results from the 2010 census found that only 79.9% of Singaporean residents ≥15 years are literate in English, thus there is potential for an element of confusion and misinterpretation in reading the questionnaire (402). For increased accuracy in the future the questionnaire should be written in multiple languages. Also, participants did not have their blood samples collected when fasted and were not given instructions to come in a rested state (i.e. having not exercised that day) therefore ferritin, as an acute phase protein, could have been falsely elevated. This group were assumed to be a healthy cohort, specific causes of HMB, such as von Willebrand disease were not evaluated and other underlying medical conditions were not factored in. To ameliorate this, future studies should include measurements for C reactive protein (CRP) and interleukin-6, while also capturing other medical conditions and requesting participants to be tested in a fasted and rested state. To further reduce likelihood of bias when identifying the relationship between iron status and the presence of HMB, the questionnaire could include information about dietary iron intake.

As these data were collected at a single time point, other factors could have impacted upon these results, such as the day in the menstrual cycle, current health state, or haemodilutionary impacts caused by factors such as hydration. Further, SATA CommHealth are only one health service offered in Singapore, making assessment of whether this data is reflective of only a certain type of patient in Singapore problematic. However, the population of Singapore is fairly homogenous, with a limited range of industry and a small area. Additionally, SATA CommHealth is specifically advertised as being affordable for the mass market, and they were chosen to conduct health screens as part of the National Population Health Survey 2016/17 suggesting that their representation of an inhabitant of Singapore is likely to be relatively unbiased. Finally, as explained in the methods, the median [Hb] and BMI in this study were comparable to the mean in women of a reproductive age in Singapore, as specified by the World Health Organisation and in data from the 2007 National Health Surveillance Survey (116,394). Further suggesting that this sample is reflective of the general Singaporean population of reproductive women. It is acknowledged that the current study is observational, therefore it is not possible to make strong causal inferences about the associations we have found.

Ethnicity was also not recorded, and factors such as typical red meat consumption may vary amongst different populations (119), thus future research should include this, in addition to validating this data in a different cohort.

5.6 Conclusions

HMB, when identified using the outlined series in chapter 3, is common in exercising women and is associated with an increased risk of iron deficiency and IDA. HMB and IDA are both independently associated with the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance. However, the effect of these was not cumulative, suggesting that the mechanism by which HMB may have this effect may be independent of iron status. Further, iron deficiency alone did not increase likelihood of individuals reporting these disruptions to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance. Future research is required to assess the effects of this condition. Given the lack of seeking of advice/help for heavy periods and the poor awareness of iron status in this population there is a need for an increased vigilance amongst healthcare professionals and education for women, this is particularly important given the potential for these to be detrimental to exercise performance and possibly quality of life. Medical professionals need to appreciate that HMB may occur in those who exercise regularly and will increase risk of iron deficiency. In light of its prevalence and its potential to effect exercise capabilities, future research should focus on identification of treatment options for HMB.

To conclude, regarding the outlined hypotheses for this chapter, the first hypothesis that HMB, when identified using the outlined series, was common and increases risk of iron deficiency and IDA in exercising women can be accepted. Since the seeking of advice/help for heavy periods in those identified with HMB and awareness of iron status appeared poor

the second hypothesis can also be accepted. However, the association between HMB and reported disruptions to to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance caused by the menstrual cycle was independent of iron status, so the final hypothesis suggesting that iron status was the cause must be rejected.

5.7 Future perspectives

The aetiology of HMB is thought to result in increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α . Therefore, it is possible that this could be causing the reported disruptions to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance, and this should be investigated further. Evidently there is a need to investigate the impact and diagnosis of iron deficiency without anaemia.

5.8 Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank SATA healthcare for their cooperation in facilitating access to the female participants.

5.9 Author Contributions

The 'Female Health Questionnaire' used in this study was written by the author and outlined in Section 3. Professor Toby Richards has a collaboration with a colleague in Singapore – Mr Tim Cushway, and it was agreed that they would help the Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association (SATA) Healthcare group in Singapore to assess whether HMB is a problem in this populace. Therefore the 'Female Health Questionnaire' was given to them for completion when patients had routine 'well-woman' health appointments. Once it became evident that HMB was common, and that the results could have significant impact on practice in this country, a formalised analysis was deemed necessary.

Therefore, all data were anonymously inputted into a secure database by researchers in Singapore, this database was then sent to the author for analysis. The author selected the criteria for definition of an 'exerciser', and in accordance with the inclusion criteria extracted the relevant data. The author performed all the statistical analysis and conducted all the data interpretation.

6 The impact of identified heavy menstrual bleeding and iron status on fatigue in exercising and menstruating women

6.1 Abstract

Background: Fatigue is particularly common in women and is frequently unexplained. This is often associated with iron deficiency and anaemia. Menstrual blood loss is the most common cause of anaemia in the developed world, with anaemia susceptibility increasing in those with heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB). The interrelationship between HMB, iron deficiency and fatigue is however unknown.

Methods:

The healthy, regularly menstruating and exercising women in Singapore attending routine clinical screening appointments used in chapter 5 were also used in this study (n = 271, median age: 38 years (29 - 43 years), weight: 57.0 kg (50.3 - 63.0 kg), height: 1.60 m (1.55-1.63 m) and BMI: 22.1 kg·m⁻² (20.0 – 24.3 kg·m⁻²)). Participants completed the Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI-20), alongside the 'Female Health Questionnaire', and had venous blood samples taken for measurement of iron status.

Results: Increased fatigue was reported both by those identified with HMB, using the outlined criteria in chapter 3 (general fatigue; p=0.04), and by those identified with anaemia (mental fatigue; p=0.047). However, the association between HMB and fatigue was not mediated by anaemia or IDA. There was no association between iron deficiency alone or IDA and fatigue (all p>0.05), nor was there a correlation between [Hb] or serum ferritin and fatigue (all p>0.05). Awareness of iron status appeared poor, and those with HMB were unlikely to report having sought help/advice for heavy periods.

Conclusion: Identified HMB and anaemia are both independently associated with increased fatigue in menstruating women. However, the relationship between identified HMB and fatigue was independent of iron status, as we found no evidence that iron status mediates this relationship. Blood tests for iron status should be considered for those identified to present with HMB and/or mental fatigue. Existing markers of iron status need to be evaluated, in addition to treatment options for those identified with HMB. Awareness of HMB and iron status both amongst individuals and in medical professionals needs to be improved.

6.2 Introduction

Fatigue is more commonly reported by female patients than by their male counterparts (403). It is one of the most common reasons to seek medical advice in primary care, reported by 14 - 31% of patients (403,404). Onset of fatigue can be slow and insidious, potentially causing it to go unnoticed. Being one of the primary symptoms, fatigue is frequently attributed to iron deficiency with or without anaemia (405). In addition to many other essential roles, iron is required for neurotransmitter synthesis, activity and degradation in both the brain and central nervous system and is therefore fundamental for cognitive function (35).

As highlighted throughout this thesis, in states where iron deficiency presents without anaemia, and therefore where haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) is not compromised, research is equivocal as to the impact on exercise capacity. Research is also inconclusive as to the effects on fatigue. Some have found iron supplementation reduces fatigue and improves mental health in iron deficient but not anaemic women (226,247), while others have found either no association between serum ferritin and fatigue, or no impact of oral or intravenous iron on either fatigue in iron deficient but not anaemic women (38,51,249). The potential reasons for this have previously been highlighted in this thesis, and may in part be due to a variation in the criteria used to diagnose iron deficiency in research studies using serum ferritin, with cut-off values ranging from $12 - 40 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ (46), different supplementation protocols and routes of administration. Evidently, there is significant potential for increased levels of fatigue to impact exercise performance.

In addition to reducing physical, social, emotional and/or material quality of life, HMB is also associated with various other co-morbidities (372,406-408). In fact, a number of the symptoms of HMB also present in states of iron deficiency and IDA, including fatigue (28). A recent study in adolescents found an independent association between HMB and iron deficiency and HMB and excessive fatigue (38). However, the potential for an interrelationship between all three has not been evaluated, it would be prudent to suggest that the fatigue associated with HMB may be due to the increased iron loss, suggesting that these are interlinked. Alternatively, as found in chapter 5, the effects of HMB may be independent from iron status.

Time for diagnosis of iron deficiency and IDA can be extensive, and an increased need to assess iron status when gynaecological conditions present has been highlighted, despite the increased susceptibility associated with HMB (409). This is exacerbated by the difficulties associated with HMB diagnosis, and the slow and insidious nature of a lack of iron.

6.2.1 Study aims

To our knowledge, the interaction between HMB, iron status and fatigue has not previously been measured in exercising women.

- The primary aim was to assess the relationship between HMB, iron status and fatigue in exercising women. Identifying whether HMB would be associated with IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency and that this association will manifest as fatigue.
- 2. The secondary aims were then to assess whether a combination of HMB and fatigue will increase the risk of IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency in this population. This has high clinical relevance, since predictive measures could be used to encourage blood tests for iron status in women presenting with fatigue.

6.2.2 Study hypotheses

- 1. HMB and IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency all increase fatigue.
- 2. The relationship between HMB and fatigue is mediated by iron status.
- 3. The combination of HMB and fatigue will increase risk of IDA and anaemia.

6.3 Materials and Methods

6.3.1 Ethics and participant consent

The 'Female Health Questionnaire' was approved by the St Mary's University Ethics Committee. Participants provided written consent at the time of clinic attendance allowing for the anonymous use of their data for research.

6.3.2 Inclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria were:

- Female;
- Aged ≥18 years;
- Pre-menopausal;
- Undertake regular exercise (≥ 60 minutes/week or indicated taking part in races).

6.3.3 Exclusion criteria

The exclusion criteria were:

- Not menstruated in the previous 12 months;
- Incompletion of questionnaires.

6.3.4 Participants

The same initial dataset was used as in chapter 5. As previously explained, as a result of a collaboration between a research group in Singapore, in addition to limited funds, this convenience sample was utilised, and included women attending routine healthcare assessments run by The Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association (SATA) in Singapore.

6.3.5 Study design

A retrospective analysis utilising this convenience sample was performed to assess the prevalence of HMB, when outlined using a pre-defined diagnostic series, iron deficiency and fatigue in all exercising women attending clinics for routine healthcare assessments run by The Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association (SATA) Healthcare, Singapore (insurance screening and drop-in clinics). Alongside a routine blood test, patients were invited to fill in a 'Female Health Questionnaire' in addition to completing the Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI-20) (410), both in English language only. Those who met the outlined inclusion criteria and completed the guestionnaires were included in the study. As highlighted in chapter 5, most employees in Singapore have yearly health checks conducted through organisations such as SATA healthcare, and it is assumed that since the population of Singapore is homogenous, with relatively little variety in types of industry and a small total area, this sample was largely representative of the average. SATA are reported to be frequently used by local companies, providing annual check-ups (395). Further, in this study, the median [Hb] of 13.0 $g \cdot dL^{-1}$, was again comparable to the mean [Hb] in women of a reproductive age in Singapore, specified by the World Health Organisation (116). The mean BMI of 22.1 kg \cdot m⁻² in this study was also in accordance with data from the 2007 Singaporean National Health Surveillance Survey which found mean BMI in women between the age of 18 and 49 to range from 20.9 - 23.0 kg·m⁻² (394).

From July 2015 to November 2015 a total of 777 women attended the healthcare assessments, 84 were excluded due to incompletion of the questionnaires, 216 were excluded as they did not meet the predefined exercise criteria, and a further 207 were excluded as they had not menstruated in the previous year (Figure 6.1). Therefore, data from 271 regularly menstruating women were included in the study.



Figure 6.1 – Derivation of study sample.

6.3.6 Measurements and definitions

Female Health Questionnaire

During clinic attendance, women completed the second version of the 'Female Health Questionnaire', as described in chapter 3. This captured; a 4-part diagnostic series for the identification of HMB; the seeking of advice/help for heavy periods; awareness of historic
and current iron status (iron deficiency or anaemia), and current and historic use of iron supplementation (392).

Blood measures

As part of the 'well woman' routine SATA assessment, blood is taken to check the patient's full blood count, urea and electrolytes, and serum ferritin. Following the guidelines from the World Health Organisation (WHO), in this study, anaemia was defined as a blood concentration of haemoglobin [Hb] < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹ (411). IDA was defined as [Hb] < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹ with a serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ (100). Iron deficiency was defined as serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ again, the level at which the WHO specifically indicates iron depletion (100). As there was no impact of the different levels of severity of iron deficiency in chapter 5, for the purpose of this study, only the more severe cut-off was applied (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹). Given the evident ambiguity surround the use of serum ferritin, anaemia alone was also considered.

Multi-dimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI-20) (Appendix 10.15)

Women were also asked to complete the MFI-20 which is a questionnaire designed to evaluate five different sub-categories of fatigue; general fatigue, physical fatigue, mental fatigue, reduced activity and reduced motivation (410). It is comprised of 20 questions, each with a five-point Likert scale which are broken down on analysis into the five subsections. The magnitude of the score is proportional to the extent of fatigue, i.e. a higher score means greater fatigue. It has previously been used effectively in both general and chronically unwell populations (412-414).

Both the MFI-20 and the 'Female Health Questionnaire' were designed to take 4 - 5 minutes in total for completion.

6.3.7 Data handling and statistical analysis

As per chapter 5, all data (questionnaire and blood results) were inputted anonymously into an excel spreadsheet. Statistical analysis was performed using a statistics computer package (IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 21.0, Armonk, New York (NY): IBM Corp.). Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

All data were tested for normality using a Shapiro-Wilk test. Data were analysed descriptively to evaluate all questionnaire variables and iron status. Chi-squared tests were firstly used to determine an association between iron status, using the criteria outlined above and identified HMB, using the criteria outlined in chapter 3. Chi-squared tests were also used to determine whether the seeking of advice/help for heavy periods varied

between those with and without anaemia, IDA and iron deficiency. Mann Whitney U tests were used to determine whether there were differences in fatigue scores between women with and without anaemia, IDA, iron deficiency, and between women who were or were not identified to have HMB. Mann Whitney U tests were also used to assess if there was a difference in fatigue specific to those identified with HMB who did or did not have IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency. Spearman's correlation coefficient was used to determine whether there was an association between [Hb] and serum ferritin with all subscales of fatigue.

In order to assess the validity and reliability and to ensure internal consistency of each of the five MFI-20 subscales three reliability tests were performed; 1. inter-item correlation, 2. corrected-to-total correlation, and 3. calculation of the standardised Cronbach's alpha coefficient. Inter-item correlations ranging from 0.30 - 0.70 were kept, while a value for the corrected item-total correlation of > 0.20 was deemed adequate (415). A relatively high reliability coefficient - Cronbach's alpha if item was deleted were also calculated. As the fatigue subscales were not normally distributed, correlations between each of the five MFI-20 subscales and [Hb] and ferritin independently were computed using Spearman's correlation analysis.

A multiple linear regression model was used to investigate the relationship between identified HMB and fatigue. To account for potential confounding, this was adjusted for age, BMI, number of periods in the last 12 months, and iron supplementation in the previous 3 months. Mediation analysis was performed using both the Barron and Kenny (417) and Sobel (418) methods to determine if IDA or anaemia were on a causal pathway between identified HMB and fatigue.

Cross-sectional predictive factors for IDA and anaemia were determined using binary logistic analyses. The independent variables assessed were the identified presence of HMB, the MFI-20 subscales, and then other relevant covariates including age, BMI, number of periods in the last 12 months, and iron supplementation in the previous 3 months. The Box-Tidwell (1962) procedure was applied to check for linearity between independent and the dependent variables (IDA and anaemia), and a Bonferroni correction was applied based on the number of terms (419) A multivariable binomial logistic regression was then used to assess the relationship between IDA and anaemia based on the identified presence of HMB, the responses to the MFI-20 and the other covariates.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Participant Characteristics

As the same population was used in this study as in chapter 5, the median age was 38 years (29 - 43 years), weight: 57.0 kg (50.3 – 63.0 kg), height: 1.60 m (1.55-1.63 m) and BMI: 22.1 kg·m⁻² (20.0 – 24.3 kg·m⁻²) (Table 5.1). Across the population (n=271), 60 women reported at least 2 of the outlined HMB criteria and were therefore identified to have HMB.

Table 6.1 – The difference between the prevalence of IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency in those who did or did not meet the outlined HMB criteria.

	Total sample	НМВ	No HMB	Test statistic	p-value
n	271	60 (22.1%)	211 (77.9%)		
IDA	14.8% (n=40)	28.3%*** (n=17)	10.9% (n=23)	X ₂ = 11.284	0.001
Anaemia	18.8% (n=51)	28.3%* (n=17)	16.1% (n=34)	X ₂ = 4.5666	0.033
ID	30.3% (n=82)	48.3%*** (n=29)	25.1% (n=53)	X ₂ = 11.931	0.001

BMI – body mass index, IDA – iron deficiency anaemia, ID – iron deficiency, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding

Values are median (IQR). Where percentages are given, the number in the brackets is n. Significant differences between those with and without HMB are shown as follows: ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

6.4.2 Prevalence and impact of identified HMB on IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency

As in chapter 5, the presence of HMB was reported by 22.1% of the study participants (Table 6.1). While 14.8% had IDA, 18.8% had anaemia, and 30.3% were iron deficient. Those with HMB were more likely to have IDA (28.3% vs 10.9%; p=0.001; Table 5.1), anaemia (28.3% vs 16.1%; p=0.03; Table 5.1), and iron deficiency (48.3% vs 25.1%; p=0.001; Table 5.1) compared to those without HMB.

6.4.3 Impact of HMB and iron status independently on fatigue

Those identified with HMB were more likely to report increased general fatigue (score: 11.50 (9.00 – 13.25) vs 11.00 (8.00 – 12.00); p=0.04; Table 6.2), but reported fatigue scores were not higher for total, physical or mental fatigue, while neither activity levels or motivation were affected (all p>0.05; Table 6.2).

Those with anaemia reported greater levels of mental fatigue than those without across the total sample (10.00 (8.00 - 12.00) vs 9.00 (7.00 - 11.00); *p*=0.047,; Table 6.3). However, neither those with IDA nor those with iron deficiency were more likely to report any increased degree of fatigue across the measured categories when compared to those without (all *p*>0.05; Table 6.3).

Amongst those identified with HMB, those who also had IDA, anaemia or iron deficiency were no more likely to report increased fatigue (all p>0.05; Table 6.4).

	НМВ	Not HMB		n value
	n=60	n=211	U	p-value
Total fatiguo	48.00 (43.75 -	47.00 (39.50 -	7183	0.11
i otal latigue	57.00)	47.00)	7105	0.11
Conoral fatiguo	11.50 (9.00 -	11.00 (8.00 -	7/12 5	0.04
General latigue	13.25)*	12.00)	7415.5	0.04
Physical fatigue	9.00 (8.00 -	10.00 (7.00 -	6766	0.41
Fliysical latigue	12.00)	12.00)	0700	0.41
Poducod activity	9.50 (7.00 -	9.00 (8.00 -	6056 5	0.61
Reduced activity	11.00)	12.00)	0050.5	0.01
Reduced	9.00 (8.00 -	9.00 (7.00 -	7112.5	0.14
motivation	10.00)	11.00)	7112.5	0.14
Montal fatique	10.00 (8.00 -	9.00 (7.00 -	7012	0.20
mentariatiyue	11.00)	11.00)	1012	0.20

Table 6.2 – A comparison in fatigue scores (MFI-20) between those identified with and without heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB).

HMB - heavy menstrual bleeding, U - Mann Whitney U test statistic

Values are median (IQR).

Significant differences between those with and without HMB are shown as follows: *p < 0.05.

	Anaemia n=51	Not Anaemia n=220	U	p- value	IDA n=40	Not IDA n=231	U	p-value	ID n=82	Not ID n=189	U	p- value
Total fatigue	50.00 (42.25- 57.00)	47.00 (39.00 - 56.00)	6066	0.37	47.00 (40.75 -57.25)	47.00 (40.00 -57.00)	4851	0.61	47.00 (40.00 - 56.50)	48.00 (41.00 - 57.00)	7265	0.41
General fatigue	11.00 (9.00 - 12.00)	11.00 (8.00 -12.00)	5782.5	0.73	11.00 (8.75 -12.00)	11.00 (9.00 - 12.00)	4595.5	0.96	10.00 (8.00 - 12.00)	11.00 (9.00- 12.00)	7233	0.38
Physical fatigue	10.00 (8.00 - 11.75)	10.00 (7.00 -12.00)	6128.5	0.30	10.00 (8.00 -12.00)	10.00 (7.00 - 12.00)	4927	0.50	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	10.00 (7.00 - 12.00)	7123	0.29
Reduced activity	9.00 (8.00 - 12.00)	10.00 (7.00 -12.00)	5878	0.59	9.00 (7.00 - 11.25)	9.00 (7.50- 11.00)	4719.5	0.83	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	10.00 (8.00 - 12.00)	7064.5	0.25
Reduced motivation	9.00 (8.00 - 11.00)	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	5731	0.81	9.00 (8.00 -11.00)	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	4776.5	0.73	9.00 (7.00 - 10.00)	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	7345	0.49
Mental fatigue	10.00 (8.00 - 12.00)*	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	6603	0.047	10.00 (8.00 -12.00)	9.00 (8.00 - 11.00)	5417.5	0.08	10.00 (8.00 - 11.00)	10.00 (8.00 - 11.00)	7777	0.96

Table 6.3 – A comparison between different fatigue scores (MFI-20) across the total sample between those with and without anaemia, IDA or ID. Anaemia ([Hb] < $12.0 \text{ g} \cdot \text{dL}^{-1}$), IDA ([Hb] < $12.0 \text{ g} \cdot \text{dL}^{-1}$ and serum ferritin < $15 \mu \text{g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$), and iron deficiency (ID; serum ferritin < $15 \mu \text{g} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$).

IDA – iron deficiency anaemia, ID – iron deficiency, U – Mann Whitney U test statistic. Values are median (IQR).

Significant differences between those with and without anaemia, IDA or ID are shown as follows: *p < 0.05

Table 6.4 – A comparison between different fatigue scores (MFI-20) in those identified with HMB (n=112) between those with and without anaemia, IDA or ID. Anaemia ([Hb < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹), IDA ([Hb] < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹ and serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹), and iron deficiency (ID; serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹).

	Anaemia n=17	Not Anaemia n=43	U	p-value	IDA n=17	Not IDA n=43	U	p-value	ID n=29	Not ID n=31	U	p-value
Total fatigue	47.00 (40.00 - 57.00)	48.00 (45.00- 57.00)	350.5	0.81	47.00 (40.00 - 57.00)	48.00 (45.00 - 57.00)	350.5	0.81	47.00 (40.00 - 57.00)	49.00 (45.50 - 57.00)	355.5	0.16
General fatigue	11.00 (9.00 - 14.00)	12.00 (9.50 - 13.00)	340	0.67	11.00 (9.00 - 14.00)	12.00 (9.50 – 13.00)	340	0.67	11.00 (9.00 – 13.00)	12.00 (10.00- 13.50)	418.5	0.64
Physical fatigue	11.00 (8.00 - 13.00)	9.00 (8.00- 11.00)	396	0.61	11.00 (8,00 - 13.00)	9.00 (8.00 - 11.00)	396	0.61	8.00 (8.00 - 12.00)	10.00 (8.00 - 11.50)	408.5	0.54
Reduced activity	10.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	394.5	0.63	10.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	394.5	0.63	9.00 (7.00 - 11.00)	10.00 (8.00 - 11.00)	398.5	0.45
Reduced motivation	9.00 (8.00 - 10.00)	9.00 (8.00 - 10.00)	332	0.58	9.00 (8.00 - 10.00)	9.00 (8.00 – 10.00)	332	0.58	8.00 (8.00 - 10.00)	10.00 (8.00 - 11.00)	378.5	0.29

	40.00 (0.00				10.00	10.00			10.00	10.00		
Mental fatigue	10.00 (0.00 -	10 (8-11)	398	0.59	(8.00 –	(8.00 –	398	0.59	(8.00 -	(8.00 -	371.5	0.24
	11.00)				11.00)	11.00)			11.00)	12.50)		

IDA – iron deficiency anaemia, ID – iron deficiency, U – Mann Whitney U test statistic.

Values are median (IQR).

6.5 Reliability of the MFI-20

A summary of the reliability tests for the MFI-20 is given in Table 6.5. It was not necessary to remove any items based on the inter-item correlations and the corrected item-total correlations as these were all greater than 0.30. While Cronbach's \propto showed acceptable reliability and good internal consistency, $\propto = 0.87$, and when standardised $\propto = 0.92$.

Table 6.5 - Mean and standard deviations for each aspect of fatigue, alongside inter-item correlations, Cronbach's alpha if the item is deleted, and the corrected item-total correlation.

	Mean	SD	GF	PF	RA	RM	MF	Cronbach's Alpha if item is deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation
General Fatigue	10.70	2.96	-	0.63	0.44	0.52	0.56	0.86	0.66
Physical fatigue	9.51	3.07	0.63	-	0.70	0.65	0.56	0.82	0.78
Reduced activity	9.28	2.65	0.44	0.70	-	0.64	0.49	0.85	0.68
Reduced motivation	8.96	2.55	0.57	0.65	0.64	-	0.56	0.84	0.74
Mental fatigue	9.49	2.82	0.56	0.56	0.49	0.56	-	0.86	0.64

SD – standard deviation, TF – total fatigue, GF – general fatigue, PF – physical fatigue, RA – reduced activity, RM – reduced motivation, MF – mental fatigue

6.5.1 Relationship between fatigue and markers of iron status

There was no strong evidence for a linear relationship between any of the MFI-20 subscales or total fatigue and either of [Hb] or serum ferritin independently (Table 6.6; all p>0.05).

	[Ht	b]	Serum f	erritin
	Correlation coefficient	p-value	Correlation coefficient	p-value
Total Fatigue	-0.01	0.83	0.05	0.44
General Fatigue	0.00	0.99	0.02	0.72
Physical fatigue	-0.05	0.38	0.10	0.12
Reduced activity	-0.01	0.92	0.04	0.49
Reduced motivation	0.04	0.53	0.02	0.75
Mental fatigue	-0.03	0.66	-0.01	0.84

Table 6.6 – The association between haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) and serum ferritin and the five subscales of the MFI-20 and total fatigue.

[Hb] – haemoglobin concentration

6.5.2 Relationship between identified HMB, anaemia, IDA and fatigue

First, in an unadjusted logistic regression model, those identified with HMB were twice as likely to have anaemia (OR: 2.06, 95% CI: 1.05 - 4.03, p=0.035; Table 6.7) compared to those without HMB. Adjusting for mental fatigue slightly decreased the odds ratio between HMB and anaemia to 1.96 (95% CI: 1.00 - 3.65). In fact, as shown in Table 6.7, there was some evidence to suggest an increase in mental fatigue was associated with a 11% increase in likelihood of anaemia (OR 1.11, 95% CI: 1.00 - 1.24; p=0.067). There was no evidence for an interaction between identified HMB and mental fatigue (p=0.20) suggesting that the effect of HMB, when identified by this means, on anaemia is independent of mental fatigue.

After controlling for other covariates (BMI, age, weekly exercise volume, iron supplementation in the last 3 months), the relationship between identified HMB and anaemia was not strengthened and became insignificant (OR 1.79, 95% CI: 0.87 - 3.67; p=0.11), the relationship between mental fatigue and anaemia was slightly attenuated (OR decreased from 1.11 to 1.12, Table 6.7).

				Adi	usted f	or mental	Adj	usted fo	or mental	
	Un	adjuste	ed model		fatique	e only	fat	igue ar	nd other	
					langu	5 only	covariates			
	OR	95%	n-value	OR	95%	n-value	OR	95%	n-value	
	OR	CI	p-value		CI	p-value	ÖN	CI	p-value	
		1.05			1.00			0.87 -		
НМВ	2.06	—	0.035*	1.96	_	0.051	1.79	3.67	0.11	
		4.03			3.85			5.07		
Mental					1.00 -	0.007	4.40	1.00 -	0.00	
fatigue				1.11	1.24	0.067	1.12	1.26	0.06	
DI							4 00	0.96 -	0.54	
BINI							1.02	1.02	0.54	
A							1 00	0.99 -	0.40	
Age							1.02	1.06	0.18	
Weekly								1 00 -		
exercise							1.00	1.00	0.96	
volume								1.00		
Iron sup.								0.71		
(last 3							2.54	-	0.58	
months)								9.05		

Table 6.7 – The unadjusted and adjusted results from the logistic regression of anaemia.

OR – odds ratio, HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding, 95% CI – 95% confidence interval for the odds, BMI - body mass index

Significant interaction of the variable in the model are shown as follows: ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

In an unadjusted logistic regression model, those identified with HMB were three times more likely to have IDA (OR: 3.23, 95% CI: 1.59 - 6.57, p=0.001; Table 6.8) compared to those without HMB. Adjusting for mental fatigue slightly decreased this relationship (OR: 3.10, 95% CI: 1.52 - 6.32, p=0.002; Table 6.8). The lack of evidence for an interaction between HMB and mental fatigue (p=0.20) suggests that the effect of HMB on IDA is independent of fatigue status.

After controlling for other covariates (BMI, age, weekly exercise volume, iron supplementation in the last 3 months), the relationship between HMB and IDA was only minimally attenuated (OR 2.65, 95% CI: 1.25 - 5.62; *p*=0.01; Table 6.8).

	Un	adjucto	d model	Adj	usted f	or fatigue	Adj	usted fo	or fatigue
		aujuste	a moder		on	ly	and	other c	ovariates
	OR	95%	n-value	OR	95%	n-value	OR	95%	n-value
	OR	CI	p-value		CI	p-value		CI	p-value
		1.59			1.52			1.25	
НМВ	3.23	-	0.001*	3.10	-	0.002	2.65	-	0.01
		6.57			6.32			5.62	
Mental				1 10	0.97 -	0 1 2 9	1 00	0.95 -	0.01
fatigue				1.10	1.24	0.130	1.09	1.24	0.21
DMI							4.04	0.97 -	0.00
BINI							1.04	1.12	0.26
A							1 00	0.98 -	0.45
Age							1.02	1.05	0.45
Weekly								1 00 -	
exercise							1.00	1.00	0.83
volume								1.00	
Iron sup.								0.27	
(last 3							1.36	-	0.71
months)								6.76	

Table 6.8 – The unadjusted and adjusted results from the logistic regression of IDA.

OR - odds ratio, HMB - heavy menstrual bleeding, 95% CI - 95% confidence interval for the odds, BMI - body mass index

Significant interaction of the variable in the model are shown as follows: ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

6.5.3 Relationship between HMB and fatigue

In an unadjusted model, those identified with HMB scored 0.983 points higher for general fatigue than those without HMB (95% CI for difference: 0.14 - 1.83 points; p=0.02; Table 6.9) on average. When potential confounders were included, this relationship was lost, as the coefficient decreased from 0.983 to 0.846 (95% CI: -0.042 – 1.735; p=0.06; Table 6.9). BMI was related to fatigue in this mutually adjusted model. For every 1 kg·m⁻² increase in BMI, mean fatigue score increased by 0.09 points (95% CI: 0.005 - 0.173 points; p=0.04; Table 6.9).

Using the Barron and Kenny method, there was no evidence to suggest that anaemia mediates the relationship between identified HMB and general fatigue. The pathway between anaemia and general fatigue was not significant (p=0.67), and a low proportion of the effect was mediated (0.0053). The Sobel test also provided no evidence of mediation (z-score 0.42; p>0.05).

Again using the Barron and Kenny method, there was also no evidence to show that IDA mediates the relationship between identified HMB and general fatigue. The pathway between IDA and general fatigue was not significant (p=0.87), and a low proportion of the effect was mediated (0.0030). The Sobel test also provided no evidence of mediation (z-score 0.17; p>0.05).

	Ur	nadjusted n	nodel	Ac	ljusted mode	el
	В	CI	p-value	В	CI	p-value
Constant	10.483	10.085 – 10.882		9.662	6.744 – 12.580	
НМВ	0.983	0.136 - 1.830	0.02*	0.846	-0.042 – 1.735	0.06
IDA				-0.357	-1.417 – 0.703	0.51
Age				-0.032	-0.070 0.007	0.11
BMI				0.089	0.005 – 0.173	0.04*
Periods in last 12 months				0.006	-0.119 – 0.132	0.92
Iron sup. (last 3 months)				-0.393	-1.174 - 0.387	0.32

Table 6.9 - The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between identified heavy menstrualbleeding (HMB) and general fatigue.

B – coefficient, OR – odds ratio, CI – 95% confidence interval for the odds, HMB – heavy menstrual bleeding, IDA - iron deficiency anaemia, BMI - body mass index
Significant interaction of the variable in the model are shown as follows:, *p < 0.05.

6.6 Discussion

As outlined in Chapter 5, HMB, when identified using the criteria outlined in chapter 3 was common in this study population, affecting approximately a quarter of the participants. It was associated with an increased prevalence of IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency. Identified HMB was found to increase general fatigue, however this pathway was not mediated by anaemia or IDA. Anaemia was associated with an increase in mental fatigue, but neither IDA nor iron deficiency alone were related to any fatigue subscale, and there was no strong correlation between any aspect of fatigue and either [Hb] or serum ferritin. The association between IDA or anaemia and fatigue, and HMB and fatigue has previously been studied, but to our knowledge this is the first study to address the interrelation between all of these in an otherwise healthy, female exercising and menstruating population.

In the present study, those identified with HMB were twice as likely to have IDA when controlling for potential confounders, demonstrating a strong, if not unsurprising association given that HMB is associated with increased blood loss (37). The association between both IDA and anaemia with fatigue is well established, and iron therapy has been shown to be effective in reducing fatigue. However, research is inconclusive as to the association between iron deficiency alone and fatigue (56,226,247-249). Interestingly, in the present study while anaemia was associated with increased mental fatigue, neither the presence of IDA nor iron deficiency resulted in an increase in measured fatigue across any of the subscales. In light of previous uncertainties regarding serum ferritin cut-off values for iron deficiency, and the results in chapter 5, the WHO criteria indicating iron 'depletion' was specifically used here for the diagnosis of iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹) (40). Further, there was also no relationship between serum ferritin or [Hb] and any of the fatigue subscales. Interestingly, a lack of association between fatigue and serum ferritin has previously been found in an adolescent population (38). These findings question the applicability and power of serum ferritin as a sole means to establish iron status. Due to the acute response to inflammation that can ensue with serum ferritin, there is potential for an underlying iron deficiency being masked, thus distorting findings (36). This is inevitably particularly relevant amongst certain populations, including those with underlying inflammatory conditions, and in those who exercise, hence in this study population. This can lead to the misdiagnosis of both iron deficiency and IDA. However, providing no prior exercise had been done on the day of testing, one would expect inflammation in a healthy population, as in the present study, to be limited.

Both the results from the present study, and those in chapter 5 suggest that the use of ferritin as a means for diagnosing iron deficiency alone needs further evaluation.

Particularly given the apparent lack of increase in fatigue in either those with IDA or iron deficiency. It would therefore be advisable to measure other markers of iron status such as transferrin saturation, transferrin, serum iron and total iron binding capacity in addition to erythrocyte and reticulocyte indices prior to concluding any relationship between iron deficiency and fatigue, and future studies should address this. Significantly, in order to minimise risk of inaccuracies, testing should occur when participants are in a rested and fasted state, markers of inflammation should also be measured, and underlying medical conditions recorded and factored into the analysis.

In the present study, when identified using the outlined criteria, HMB was associated with increased general fatigue. Previous research has highlighted the impact of HMB on quality of life (372,408). Since HMB also increased risk of IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency it would seem plausible that the increase in general fatigue associated with HMB could be as a result of the increased loss of iron, especially given the association between IDA or anaemia and fatigue (405). However, neither IDA nor anaemia were found to mediate the relationship between HMB and general fatigue. The lack of association between iron deficiency alone and general fatigue also inevitably meant that this was not on the causal pathway between HMB and general fatigue. Further, when specifically looking at iron status in those with HMB, there was no difference in reported fatigue across any of the subscales between those with or without anaemia, IDA or iron deficiency, highlighting the independence of the HMB to fatigue pathway. In light of the relatively subjective nature of the HMB criteria, and in the absence of a universally validated means for diagnosis, further research is required, however it could be suggested that the sheer physical, social and mental distress alone caused by the increase in blood loss may be the primary cause of the increased fatigue seen here as opposed to the physical increased loss of blood. A previous study assessing causes for a reduction in quality of life amongst those with HMB supports this, finding no association between volume of blood lost and quality of life score, concluding that the physical impact of HMB alone was responsible for the reduction in quality of life (372,420). Alternatively, the impact of other underlying aetiologies associated with HMB also have the potential to be responsible for its association with increased fatigue, and could override any impact of iron status, so this clearly warrants further investigation, and this should be addressed in future work. For example, being an inflammatory condition, HMB is associated with an increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (401). There is a strong relationship between TNF- α and fatigue (421), therefore it could be hypothesised that the increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines in HMB cause the ensuing fatigue. However, it is possible that TNF- α would only increase during menses, so if this is driving the fatigue, variations may be seen through the menstrual cycle.

It must also be considered that current phase of the menstrual cycle was not captured, and variation in iron status throughout the menstrual cycle is yet to be conclusively evaluated, therefore some individuals may not have been low in iron or feeling the effects of this at the time of measurement, skewing results. Further, it is significant to note that not all menstrual fluid is blood, the blood content, and therefore amount of iron which is lost can vary significantly. While the insidious nature of fatigue may have meant it was not appreciated and has become habitual to women with HMB or a compromised iron status, altering perception.

To our knowledge this is the first study to address the pathway between HMB and fatigue, and given that it appears to be independent of iron status it is important to gain a better understanding about the causes of the fatigue, in addition to identifying possible treatment options. Future studies should address the above outlined pointed alongside other accompanying factors that may be related to HMB.

The results from this study highlight that when an individual presents with either HMB and/or signs of mental fatigue it would be prudent to take a blood sample to check iron status, while this may not mediate the relationship between HMB and fatigue, and despite the impact of IDA and iron deficiency alone being unsure, there is still potential for these conditions to impact general health and well-being. Other markers of iron status should also be measured alongside these to increase reliability. Further, the independence of the association between identified HMB and fatigue in the present study, regardless of IDA or anaemia suggests that further research should address other factors associated with HMB such as an increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines that may cause this. Additionally, research evaluating the impact of both IDA and iron deficiency is necessary, in addition to assessing the use of serum ferritin for diagnosis. This will be addressed in the next chapter.

6.6.1 Limitations

Firstly, the limitations with the 'Female Healthy Questionnaire' outlined in chapters 3-5 also apply in this chapter. Additionally, the language issues of the questionnaire highlighted in chapter 5 also require consideration here, and could have caused confusion or lack of understanding of some of the questions. The absence of a measurement for inflammation could have also impacted upon study data, considering that ferritin is an acute phase reactant. Iron deficiency can take a while to manifest, making the development of symptoms slow, so feelings of fatigue may have been adjusted to and missed. Again, as previously highlighted, data collection only occurred on one day, and therefore other factors may have affected the results, for example specific day in the menstrual cycle or the presence of any illness. Since this population was assumed to be 'healthy', the potential for underlying medical conditions was not factored into the analysis, but this could have had an impact on the results. Finally, the potential bias around only using one healthcare body were outlined in chapter 5. In short, given the homogenous nature of Singaporean population in addition to the established position that SATA CommHealth have in Singapore, and the fact that the haematological data in this study are aligned to that outlined by the WHO and in the 2007 National Health Surveillance Survey the risk of bias is clearly minimised (116,394). Suggesting therefore that this sample is largely reflective of the general Singaporean population of reproductive women.

It is acknowledged that the current study is observational, therefore it is not possible to make strong causal inferences about the associations we have found. We have presented fully adjusted results, but this cannot account for unmeasured confounding. Finally, while the MFI-20 has been validated in multiple populations, it would increase reliability to conduct another questionnaire alongside this for purposes of validation.

6.7 Conclusions

This study showed that HMB and anaemia are both independently associated with an increase in fatigue in menstruating women. The general fatigue that ensued with HMB was not however mediated by anaemia or IDA. This suggests that the symptoms of HMB resulting in fatigue appear to be independent of iron status. HMB increased likelihood of IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency, while mental fatigue was independently associated with anaemia. Therefore, it would be prudent to measure iron status in women presenting with HMB and mental fatigue, however given the lack of association between IDA and iron deficiency and fatigue, the current definition of both of these also needs to be evaluated alongside any impact they may have.

To conclude, regarding the outlined hypotheses for this chapter, the first hypothesis that when identified using the outlined criteria, HMB, IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency increase fatigue cannot be accepted, while identified HMB, and anaemia were associated with an increase in fatigue, IDA and iron deficiency were not. The second hypothesis that a compromised iron status was the cause for the fatigue associated with HMB must be rejected since the associated between HMB and fatigue was independent of IDA or anaemia. Finally, the third hypothesis that HMB and fatigue together increased IDA or anaemia risk must also be rejected as there was no cumulative effect.

6.8 Future perspectives

Being an inflammatory condition, HMB is associated with increased release of proinflammatory cytokines, such as tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (401). This cytokine promotes hypoferremia, and is therefore associated with a systemic iron deficiency, resulting in a decrease in soluble transferrin receptor and serum iron. However, as an acute phase protein, serum ferritin will be transiently elevated in response to this inflammatory mediator (422). However, this would inevitably be dependent on the day of their cycle, since during menses, TNF- α would be higher, but this may return to normal during the rest of their cycle. The increased blood loss alone associated with HMB clearly increases iron deficiency risk, and here there is overt potential for this risk to be exacerbated. To my knowledge, research has only looked at these factors independently; the relationship between HMB and TNF- α , and the relationship between TNF- α and iron status, therefore further research is evidently necessary. However, this does again question the suitability and use of serum ferritin for iron deficiency diagnosis.

Further, given the association between TNF- α and fatigue, future studies should include measurement of pro-inflammatory cytokines alongside fatigue to see if these are in part responsible for the increased fatigue seen in those with HMB.

6.9 Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank SATA healthcare for their cooperation in facilitating access to the female participants.

6.10 Author Contributions

As with the Chapter 5, the 'Female Health Questionnaire' used in this study was written by the author, and the same collaboration between Professor Toby Richards, Mr Tim Cushway and the Singapore Anti-Tuberculosis Association (SATA) Healthcare group was utilised. Again, once the significant prevalence of HMB was established, there was a desire to establish the repercussions of this to emphasise need to change practice in this country, therefore a formalised analysis was deemed necessary.

The same total dataset was used as with chapter 5, but different inclusion criteria were applied by the author. The author extracted the relevant data and performed all the statistical analysis and interpreted all the data.

7 IRONWOMAN trial: the impact of intravenous iron on exercise and aerobic capacity, fatigue and mood disturbance in iron deficient, non-elite exercising women

7.1 Abstract

Introduction: Those who exercise are at an increased risk of iron deficiency, however diagnosis of iron deficiency, particularly amongst the exercising population has historically been problematic. With a lack of clarity around diagnosis and efficacy of existing markers, particularly in those who exercise, further research is required. Using the principle that a positive response to intravenous iron indicates deficiency, the primary aim of this study was to evaluate the impact of iron repletion on aerobic and exercise capacity in iron deficient, non-elite exercising women.

Methods: Thirty-two healthy exercising, iron deficient (serum ferritin $\leq 30 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$) women of a reproductive age were recruited to the study (mean age 35.0 ± 8.9 years, weight 61.9 ± 7.8 kg, height 1.65 ± 0.05 m, 22.7 ± 3.0 kg·m⁻²). Participants completed a maximal exercise test, a total haemoglobin mass test, had venous blood samples taken and answered questionnaires to assess fatigue and mood disturbance at baseline. They then received a single high dose of intravenous iron. Two weeks ± five days later baseline tests were repeated.

Results: Markers of exercise and aerobic capacity increased significantly from baseline to post-injection. Relative and absolute $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ increased by 3.30% (49.11 ± 6.41 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ to 50.73 ± 7.16 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹; *p*=0.003) and 2.35% (2974 ± 357 mL·min⁻¹ to 3044 ± 365 mL·min⁻¹; *p*=0.03) respectively. Total haemoglobin mass also increased by 3.17% (g·kg⁻¹; *p*=0.005) and 2.44% (g; *p*=0.03) after the iron injection. However, a significant degree of individual response was seen. When broken down into groups based on baseline serum ferritin, increase in exercise and aerobic capacity were only seen in those with more severe iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15 µg·L⁻¹). Despite this, there was no association between baseline serum ferritin and change in any markers of exercise or aerobic capacity. Fatigue and mood disturbance was reduced in all participants.

Conclusions: While there was an overall increase in markers of exercise and aerobic capacity, there was a significant degree of individual response. When results were broken down according to baseline serum ferritin, increases were only seen in those with more severe iron deficiency. This suggests that serum ferritin cut-offs often applied may be too high. However, the lack of association between baseline serum ferritin and exercise and aerobic response questions the appropriateness of serum ferritin as a diagnostic marker in isolation. Across the board improvements in fatigue may suggest that iron deficiency impacts upon cognition prior to aerobic and performance measures.

7.2 Introduction

Iron deficiency anaemia (IDA) and iron deficiency non-anaemia (IDNA) are more common in those who exercise than in sedentary controls (206). In agreement with previous research, approximately one third of athletes in Chapter 5 were found to be iron deficient when using serum ferritin for diagnosis (serum ferritin < 15 g·dL⁻¹) (51,120,121). The evident impact of IDA on exercise performance and general health means that intervention is necessary. However, the equivocal research surrounding the impact of iron deficiency without anaemia, particularly in those who exercise has resulted in inconclusive advice as already highlighted in this thesis. This could in part be caused by the use of [Hb] and serum ferritin for diagnosis, both of which are susceptible to distinct variation, particularly in those who exercise (Section 2.5).

Previous studies evaluating the impact of iron deficiency have applied the principle that iron deficiency can be indicated if an individual responds positively to iron therapy (47). Since intravenous injections bypass the controlled absorption mechanism, these provide the most effective means for evaluation, however, recent research specifically in the exercising population using this method has only focused on elite and highly trained athletes, who, as a result of the increased physiological stress, may respond differently to a more general exercising and healthy population in whom research is sparse (7). Due to their substantial training status, potential for improvements in exercise and aerobic capacity in elite athletes may be very small, and statistically not significant. This may be a cause for the ambiguity in this area. Further, a degree of individual variation in response to iron therapy has been found (241), the reasons for this being unknown, but this could also be a reflection of the unsuitability of the markers used for diagnosis, or alternatively the inconsistencies in the protocol utilised, as previously explained. Utilising the principle that a positive response to iron therapy suggests iron deficiency (47), measures of iron deficiency could be improved.

No benefit has been demonstrated for supplementing with iron when iron sufficient (39), however, it is well known that coaches frequently advise supplementation without prior knowledge of iron status. In fact, there is potential for excess supplementation to impact iron absorption, causing a transient increase in hepcidin, countering iron absorption (51). In fact, recent research has highlighted alternate day oral iron supplementation is more effective than consecutive day supplementation (423). Further, unnecessary supplementation can have negative health implications, particularly in those who have genetic abnormalities that predispose them to iron overload (7). In Chapter 4, nearly half of the marathon runners (45.3%) and more than three quarters of the elite athletes (78.9%) were found to supplement with iron. While of those who indicated taking

supplementation, more than half (50.5%), reported no knowledge of their iron status. Since there is currently no evidence-based guidance for treating iron deficiency without anaemia in the exercising population, clarity is evidently required, and in accordance with this, awareness of best practices when supplementing is essential.

7.2.1 Study aims

- 1. The primary aim of this study was to assess the impact of iron repletion on exercise and aerobic capacity in iron deficient, but otherwise healthy exercising women when using existing criteria for the diagnosis of iron deficiency.
- 2. The secondary aims were then to assess the impact of intravenous iron on haematological markers and subjective markers of fatigue and mood disturbance in iron deficient, but otherwise healthy exercising women when using existing criteria for the diagnosis of iron deficiency.

7.2.2 Study hypotheses

- 1. Iron repletion improves exercise and aerobic capacity in iron deficient, non-elite exercising women.
- 2. Iron repletion improves haematological markers and subjective markers of fatigue and mood disturbance in iron deficient
- 3. Response to iron repletion will be greater in those identified with more severe iron deficiency.

7.3 Materials and methods

7.3.1 Ethics and participant consent

The IRONWOMAN trial is listed on the ISRCTN registry (ISRCTN14032359) and approved by both IRAS NHS Ethics Committee (15/LO/1570), and by the St Mary's University Ethics Committee. At the time of screening, all participants were required to complete and sign a consent form.

7.3.2 Inclusion criteria

- Female;
- Aged ≥ 18 years;
- Have a baseline serum ferritin level ($\leq 30 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$);
- Undertake regular exercise (≥ 60 minutes/week); or
- Have not made any significant changes to training in the previous 6 months.

7.3.3 Exclusion criteria

- Pregnancy or lactation;
- A known reason for anaemia;
- A known history of iron overload or a family history of haemochromatosis, thalassemia or a transferrin saturation > 50%;
- Recent involvement in a study investigating a medical product (previous four weeks);
- Severe asthma or severe allergy requiring hospitalisation in the previous 12 months;
- Indication that they will be changing training over the time course of the study.

7.3.4 Participants

Recruitment of participants took the form of advertisement through various social media channels and word of mouth. Eighty-three regularly exercising women who indicated they either may be iron deficient or who had a history of iron deficiency had a full screening blood test in a fasted state and at rest (no exercise so far that day). A total of 32 women (as per the sample size calculation – Section 7.2.19.1) aged between 20 and 55 years met the inclusion criteria and were recruited to this study (Table 7.1). Since a lack of iron in bone marrow has been observed when serum ferritin is 30 μ g·L⁻¹, and using this cut-off value, sensitivity and specificity for iron deficiency diagnosis was found to be 92% and 96% respectively (42), this cut-off for serum ferritin for iron deficiency diagnosis was applied.

7.3.5 Study design

The IRONWOMAN trial was an interventional study conducted from March 2016 to October 2016. After initial screening, iron deficient, exercising women were recruited to this study. At baseline, all participants had a $\dot{v}o_{2max}$ test, the protocol for which is outlined in section 7.3.7.2, a total haemoglobin mass test, as outlined in section 7.3.8.2 and completed four questionnaires to profile fatigue and mood disturbance in addition to haematological analysis from a venous blood sample. They were then administered a single dose of intravenous iron (iron isomaltoside 1000, Pharmacosmos, UK). Each receiving 20 mg·kg⁻¹ of bodyweight. Two weeks (±5 days) later, all baseline tests were repeated. An overview of the study is described in Figure 7.1. Prior to inclusion, the full screening blood test was performed on each participant when fasted and at rest.



Figure 7.1 – Study design.

7.3.6 Measurements

7.3.7 Measurement of Exercise and aerobic capacity: Exercise test

Maximal aerobic capacity ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$), which is a component of physical fitness, was assessed on a treadmill both at baseline and post-injection. The same warm up protocol and set treadmill speed were used in both the baseline and post-injection tests.

Physiology of the measurement

In a healthy human, at rest, the amount of oxygen consumed $(\dot{V}O_2)$ is equivalent to that required by cells, while the output of carbon dioxide $(\dot{V}CO_2)$ reflects that produced. This is described by the Fick equation, showing that oxygen consumption is the product of cellular oxygen delivery and oxygen extraction (424):

$$\dot{V}O_2 = \dot{Q} \times (CaO_2 - CvO_2)$$

Where \dot{Q} - cardiac output, CaO_2 - arterial oxygen content, CvO_2 - venous oxygen content.

Therefore, where maximal cardiac output is achieved alongside maximal oxygen extraction, a total value for maximal oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$) can be obtained (424). This is a measure widely used in exercise physiology to indicate aerobic fitness.

$$\dot{V}O_{2max} = \dot{Q}_{max} \times (CaO_{2max} - CvO_{2max})$$

7.3.7.1 Equipment and calibration

All tests were performed on a Woodway treadmill in the sports performance laboratory at St Mary's University, Twickenham (Figure 7.2). Gas analysis was performed using an Jaegar Oxycon Pro (CareFusion, Hoechberg, Germany – running JLab software), which is an online breath-by-breath analyser. This measures $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$, respiratory rate, minute ventilation, tidal volume and end-tidal gas tensions. Before each test, participant demographics were inputted into the software.

Prior to usage however, a number of calibration procedures took place:

- 1. The pressure analyser was calibrated using the in-laboratory barometer (Oregon Scientific).
- 2. The volume transducer was calibrated.
- 3. The oxygen and carbon dioxide analyser was calibrated.

Volume calibration

The flow sensor was calibrated using a 3-litre syringe according to the manufacturers guidelines (Viasys Healthcare, GmbH, Hoechberg, Germany). Smooth strokes were required for calibration. Any values outside ± 0.1 litres resulted in calibration failure.

Gas calibration

After switching on the Oxycon Pro, and allowing time for it to warm up in accordance with the instructions from the manufacturer, a two-point gas calibration was conducted. The first mixture was ambient air (20.93% oxygen and 0.03% carbon dioxide), the second mixture was calibration/reference gas (16% oxygen and 5% carbon dioxide). If gaseous values were not within 0.05% (0.02% for carbon dioxide in ambient air) of these values, the calibration process failed and would have to be repeated.

A facemask containing an ergospirometric device connecting it to the Oxycon Pro was fitted to participants to ensure all inspired and exhaled gas was collected. Potential for gaseous leaks was carefully assessed.

7.3.7.2 Test procedure

Participants performed a 10-minute warm-up at a self-selected speed which was monitored and recorded. After a 5-minute break, participants undertook a maximal exercise test. The treadmill was set at a continuous pre-determined speed. The gradient of the treadmill increased in an incremental manner by 0.5% every 30 seconds until volitional exhaustion

was reached. At this point a blood capillary sample was taken immediately from the earlobe for blood lactate analysis and measured using an automated analyser (Biosen C-Line, EFK Diagnostic, Barleben, Germany). Tests were stopped when participants either hit the 'stop' button on the treadmill or stepped off the treadmill. Participants were then required to undertake active recovery. The same warm up protocol and set treadmill speed were used in both the baseline and post-injection tests. Three different fixed treadmill test speeds were applied; fast (12 km·h⁻¹), medium (10 km·h⁻¹), and slow (8 km·h⁻¹). These were determined based on 5 km best times in the last six months. The groups were as follows:

Fast: those with times < 20 minutes: 15 seconds Medium: 20 minutes: 15 seconds – 25 minutes: 15 seconds Slow: > 25 minutes: 15 seconds.

Measurement of $\dot{V}O_{2max}$

Rolling 30-second average readings were provided for all gaseous measurements. Those sitting four standard deviations from the midpoint of a seven-breath average were removed. The highest average $\dot{V}O_2$ measure was deemed to be peak $\dot{V}O_2$, and therefore the $\dot{V}O_{2max}$. Similarly, peak $\dot{V}CO_2$ and the respiratory exchange ratio were also recorded.



Figure 7.2 - $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ test in the St Mary's University performance lab.

7.3.8 Measurement of Exercise and aerobic capacity: Total haemoglobin mass test

The optimised carbon monoxide rebreathing test as described by Schmidt and Prommer (4), was used to measure total haemoglobin mass, blood volume and plasma volume at baseline and post-injection (Figure 7.3). A bolus of chemically pure carbon monoxide of $0.9 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$ body mass was administered to participants through a closed glass spirometer

(Bloodtec, Bayreuth, Germany) and rebreathed for two minutes with 4 L of oxygen. A blood gas analyser (ABL80 Flex Radiometer, Denmark) was used to measure carboxyhaemoglobin, haematocrit and haemoglobin, from capillary blood samples that were taken from the ear lobe in triplicate at baseline and six minutes and eight minutes after carbon monoxide administration. A carbon monoxide analyser (Pac700, Drager, Lubeck, Germany) was used to measure residual carbon monoxide volume both before and four minutes after rebreathing. The remaining carbon monoxide in the spirometer was added to the end-tidal carbon monoxide concentration to calculate the total volume that had not been taken up by the body. These values were then used to determine total haemoglobin mass.

7.3.8.1 Test background

The optimised carbon monoxide rebreathing test as described by Schmidt and Prommer (4), was used to measure total haemoglobin mass, blood volume and plasma volume at baseline and post-injection. Unlike a venous blood sample providing a measure of [Hb], this test factors in plasma volume to provide an overall value for total haemoglobin mass (Section 2.6). Further, since the majority of oxygen travels in the blood bound to erythrocytes, total haemoglobin mass can be used to provide a measure of oxygen carrying-capacity. Each gram of haemoglobin can bind to 1.39 mL of oxygen. Particularly amongst athletes where plasma volume shifts are likely (28,392), haemoglobin mass has been suggested to provide a more accurate indication of oxygen transportation ability, in fact, Otto *et al.* (2013) showed total haemoglobin mass to correlate more effectively with $\dot{V}O_2$ peak than [Hb] (40), and Wachsmuth *et al.* (2015) showed a lower coefficient of variation in total haemoglobin mass when compared to [Hb] (415).

7.3.8.2 Equipment and test procedure

After a 15-minute period of seated rest to allow stabilisation of blood volume, residual carbon monoxide volume was measured using a carbon monoxide analyser (Pac700, Drager, Lubeck, Germany). Capillary blood samples were then taken from the earlobe in triplicate (80 μ l – Hawksley & Sons), and were analysed immediately using blood gas analyser (ABL80 Flex Radiometer, Denmark) to measure for carboxyhaemoglobin, haematocrit and haemoglobin.

While still in a seated position, participants rebreathed a bolus of chemically pure carbon monoxide of a known volume (0.9 mL·kg⁻¹ body mass) through a closed glass spirometer (Bloodtec, Bayreuth, Germany) for two minutes with 100% pure medical grade oxygen. A mouthpiece containing approximately 10 g of soda lime (to absorb the carbon dioxide) was

fitted to one end of the spirometer. A three litre bag containing the oxygen was fitted to the other end of the spirometer. Carbon monoxide was administered through a syringe (Figure 7.3).

Test procedure

After placing the nose clip on, participants took a full inhalation, followed by full exhalation to residual volume and were connected to the mouthpiece. Participants then inhaled deeply and held their breath for ten seconds as the carbon monoxide was administered in conjunction with opening the valve to release the oxygen. This was to enable diffusion of carbon monoxide into the bloodstream. Since haemoglobin has a much greater affinity for carbon monoxide than oxygen it is assumed that this will rapidly enter the bloodstream and bind to haemoglobin (425). After this, they then breathed normally within the closed system (426) for a further one minute and 50 seconds. The carbon monoxide analyser (Pac700, Drager, Lubeck, Germany) was used to check for any gas leaks from the mouth and nose.

Prior to disconnecting from the system, participants exhaled to residual volume, and this gas was collected in the three litre bag, allowing determination of the carbon monoxide that was not absorbed. Four-minutes after rebreathing the carbon monoxide, the participants repeated the assessment for the measurement of residual carbon monoxide volume, using the carbon monoxide analyser (Pac700, Drager, Lubeck, Germany). Blood capillary samples from the earlobe were then taken in triplicate both at 6-minutes and 8-minutes after rebreathing the carbon monoxide and were again measured for carboxyhaemoglobin, haematocrit and haemoglobin immediately, using blood gas analyser (ABL80 Flex Radiometer, Denmark).



Figure 7.3 – Haemoglobin mass test equipment - glass spirometer (A), with bag (B) and mouthpiece attached (C), gas syringe (D), oxygen valve (E). Figure adapted from (4).

7.3.8.3 Calculation of total haemoglobin mass

Total haemoglobin mass was calculated using the following formula (as applied by Schmitt and Prommer, 2005) (4). This was inserted into an Excel Spreadsheet (Microsoft Excel for Apple Macintosh 2011) for automatic calculation.

tHbmass (g) = $K \times MCO \times 100 \times (\Delta HbCO\% \times 1.39)^{-1}$

K = current barometric pressure \times 760⁻¹ \times [1 + (0.003661 \times current temperature)]

 $MCO = CO_{adm} - (CO_{system+lung} (after disconnection) + CO_{exhaled} (after disconnection))$

Where:

CO_{adm} = the volume of CO administered into the system

*CO*_{system+lung} (after disconnection = CO concentration in spirometer x (spirometer volume + lung residual volume)

CO_{exhaled (after disconnection)} = end-tidal CO concentration x alveolar ventilation x time

 $\Delta HbCO\%$ = difference between baseline %HbCO and %HbCO in the blood samples after rebreathing the carbon monoxide (the average between the samples collected 6-minutes and 8-minutes after rebreathing)

1.39 = Hüfners number (ml CO x $g \cdot Hb^{-1}$) (427)

7.3.8.4 Calculation of blood volume (BV)

 $BV(ml) = \frac{tHbmass(g)}{[Hb](g \cdot dL^{-1})} \times 100$

7.3.8.5 Calculation of erythrocyte volume (EV)

 $EV(ml) = BV(ml) \times Hct(\%)$

7.3.8.6 Calculation of plasma volume

PV(ml) = BV(ml) - EV(ml)

Example

If a participant's body mass is 54 kg, they will be given 48.6 mL carbon monoxide (given that 0.9 mL CO was given per kg of body weight). According to Hüfners number, 35 g of haemoglobin will be bound. Then if the change in baseline %HbCO and post rebreathing %HbCO is 5.2% (therefore 5.2% of the total Hb is bound to CO) of the total haemoglobin mass, their overall total haemoglobin mass will be 673 g (12.5 g·kg⁻¹).

7.3.9 Haematology and biochemistry

Venepuncture was used to collect venous blood from an antecubital vein in the forearm at baseline and post-injection. A 4 mL EDTA vacutainer was filled and inverted ten times, and a 10 mL SST gel vacutainer was filled and inverted five times prior to being chilled and either taken or sent for lab analysis at the Royal Surrey Hospital, Guildford, Surrey. Full

blood count data were provided using an ADVIA 2020i, and serum ferritin was measured using the ADVIA Centaur XP immunoassay system.

7.3.10 Fatigue

To ensure internal validation three fatigue scales were completed by participants at baseline and post-injection, including (Appendix 10.15):

Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI-20)

The Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI-20) is a self-reporting tool that includes 20 statements addressing five aspects of fatigue; general, physical, reduced motivation, reduced activity and mental fatigue (410). High scores indicate increased levels of fatigue. The MFI-20 has previously been used effectively in exercise and fatigue studies and content and construct validity has been shown in a general population and in exercise and iron repletion studies (414,428-430).

Piper Fatigue Scale

The Piper Fatigue Scale is a 22-part self-assessing fatigue scale designed to evaluate current fatigue levels (431). High scores indicate a higher degree of fatigue. This has previously been used effectively in iron repletion studies with iron deficient patients (226).

European Quality of Life – 5 Dimensions – 5 Levels (EQ-5D-5L)

The European Quality of Life – 5 Dimensions – 5 Levels (EQ-5D-5L) questionnaire is a brief, utility-based means for assessing health related quality of life (368,369). It consists of a health descriptive system and a visual analogue scale (EQ-VAS) for respondents to self-classify and rate their health on the day of administration of the instrument. It has been used widely in a range of different settings to assess quality of life.

7.3.11 Mood disturbance

Brunel Mood Scale (BRUMS) (Appendix 10.15)

The Brunel Mood Scale (BRUMS) is a 24-part questionnaire which is an abbreviated version of the Profile of Mood States (POMS) questionnaire (370). It addresses six factors including confusion, tension, depression, anger, fatigue and vigour (371). Participants select a value from 0 to 4 depending on how they feel at the time of asking. This has previously been used effectively in the sporting context (58,432).

7.3.11.1 Training and menstrual cycle questionnaire

Participants were asked a series of questions about their exercise participation, menstrual cycle and health. These were designed to obtain information about training volume and exercise participation level in addition to identifying current menstruation status, including the presence of heavy menstrual bleeding, diagnosed using a four-part criteria as used in Chapters 4 - 6 and in previous studies (28,392).

7.3.11.2 Physical state and menstrual characteristics

Participants were requested to complete a questionnaire (appendix 10.14) to establish training history and performance, in addition to and menstrual characteristics, in addition to enable identification of when in the menstrual cycle tests were conducted. Participants were also asked to maintain a similar training schedule and diet between baseline and post-injection tests. Therefore every effort was made to ensure the athletes did the post-injection tests in a similar physiological state and at a comparable time of day to their baseline tests. Participants were asked to report any deviations in training or nutrition. Two participants suffered ankle injuries between the baseline and post-injection tests, and as a result were unable to partake in the post-injection exercise test. No participants reported any recent changes in training in the 6 months prior to study involvement.

7.3.12 Iron administration

All participants were given a single dose of intravenous iron (iron isomaltoside 1000, Pharmacosmos, UK). Each receiving 20 mg \cdot kg⁻¹ of bodyweight administered as a single infusion over a period of 30 - 90 minutes.

7.3.13 Data analysis

7.3.13.1 Sample size calculation

Using external data, we estimated that the standard deviation of the change form baseline in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ will be 2.5 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹. Based on this, we calculated that 32 participants will provide 90% power at the 5% significance level to detect a mean change from baseline in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ of 1.5 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹. This calculation allows for a 5% loss to follow-up.

7.3.13.2 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using a statistics computer package (IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 21.0, Armonk, NK: IBM Corp). Statistical significance was set at p<0.05. Graphpad Prism (GraphPad Prism version 7.00b for MacOS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, California, USA) was also used to visually display the data.

All data were tested for normality. Where data was normally distributed, paired t-tests were used to identify differences between baseline and post-injection data, and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used for paired non-normal data. The percentage change in all raw values from baseline to post-injection were calculated in an excel spreadsheet (Microsoft Excel for Macintosh, 2011).

Participants were divided into groups based on the World Health Organisation's serum ferritin cut-off value for iron deficiency of < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ (40). Those with a serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ were included in the 'severe' iron deficiency group, and those with a serum ferritin > 15 μ g·L⁻¹ but ≤ 30 μ g·L⁻¹ were placed into the 'moderate' iron deficiency group. Paired t-tests were then performed within each group to assess whether extent of iron deficiency affected response.

To assess the relationship between each of baseline [Hb] and baseline serum ferritin and both the change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and change in total haemoglobin mass linear regressions were performed. To describe the relationship between the combination of baseline [Hb] and serum ferritin and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ or change in total haemoglobin mass a multiple linear regression model was used. This was then adjusted for potential confounders including age, BMI, 5 km personal best time, total exercise volume each week and total running volume each week. Linear regressions were used to assess the relationship between change in [Hb] and change in serum ferritin and change in markers of exercise and aerobic capacity. Pearson's correlations were used to determine whether there was a relationship between baseline and post-injection $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass, in addition to assessing any association between the change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and change in haemoglobin mass. While Pearson's or Spearman's correlations (depending on the type of data) were also used to determine whether there was a relationship between and change in the primary outcome variables.

The potential confounding effect of day of the menstrual cycle when looking at the association between baseline [Hb] or serum ferritin and functional outcome variables was assessed using multiple linear regression.

Wilcoxon signed rank tests were used to identify differences in fatigue (MFI-20 and Piper Fatigue Scale) and mood (BRUMS Mood Scale) between baseline and post-injection. To assess the validity and reliability and to ensure internal consistency of each of the five MFI-20 subscales both at baseline and post-injection, three reliability tests were performed; 1. inter-item correlation, 2. corrected-to-total correlation, and 3. calculation of the

standardised Cronbach's alpha coefficient. Inter-item correlations ranging from 0.30-0.70 were kept, while a value for the corrected item-total correlation of > 0.20 was deemed adequate (415). A relatively high reliability coefficient - Cronbach's \propto ranging from 0.70-0.95 was considered to be sufficient (416). Cronbach's alpha if item was deleted were also calculated. Linear regressions were also run to assess the relationship between each of baseline [Hb] and baseline serum ferritin and change in the MFI subscales.

The EQ-5D-5L data was analysed by determining the percentage of individuals who reported no problems, in comparison to those who reported problems. A Wilcoxon signed-ranks test was then used to determine differences.

7.4 Results

7.4.1 Participant characteristics

Thirty-two participants completed the trial. Participant characteristics are detailed in Table 7.1.

	1	
Characteristic	Mean (± SD)	Range (min – max)
Age (years)	35.0 ± 8.9	20 - 55
Weight (kg)	61.9 ± 7.8	50.1 - 80.8
Height (m)	1.65 ± 0.05	1.55 – 1.78
BMI (kg⋅m ⁻²)	22.7 ± 3.0	18.6 – 31.6
sFer (µg·L⁻¹)	15.7 ± 7.0	7 – 30
[Hb] (g·dL ⁻¹)	12.4 ± 0.6	11.0 – 14.0
Average weekly exercise	6·59 50 + 3·34 16	1.00 – 15.30
volume (h:min:s)	0.00.00 ± 0.04.10	1.00 10.00
5 km personal best (min:s)	24:02 ± 4:04	18:36 – 36:55
Heavy menstrual bleeding	64.5% (n=20)	-
Menstrual cycle affected	54 8% (n=17)	_
training and performance		

Table 7.1 – Baseline participant characteristics.

BMI – body mass index, sFer – serum ferritin, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration Values are mean ± SD.

7.4.2 Exercise and aerobic capacity

All markers of exercise and aerobic capacity increased significantly from baseline to postinjection (Table 7.2; Figure 7.4; p<0.05). Relative and absolute $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ increased by 3.30% (49.11 ± 6.41 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹ to 50.73 ± 7.16 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹; p=0.003) and 2.35% (2974 ± 357 mL·min⁻¹ to 3044 ± 365 mL·min⁻¹; p=0.03) respectively. Overall, the $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ of 70% of the participants increased two weeks after the iron injection, with the mean increase being 1.62 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹.

Total haemoglobin mass also increased by 3.17% (g·kg⁻¹; Table 7.2; Figure 7.4; p=0.005) and 2.44% (g; Table 7.2; Figure 7.4; p=0.03) after the iron injection, and on average participants were able to keep running on the treadmill for 56 seconds longer after the injection (p<0.0005).

Table 7.2 – A comparison between exercise and aerobic capacity, and haematology and biochemistry measures at baseline and post intravenous iron injection.

	Baseline	Post	Percentage change	p-value	
Exercise and aerobic capacity					
VO _{2max} (mL·kg⁻ ¹·min⁻¹) [#]	49.11 ± 6.41	50.73 ± 7.16	+3.30%	0.003**	·
[.] VO₂max (mL∙min⁻¹) [#]	2974 ± 357	3044 ± 365	+2.35%	0.026*	
tHbmass (g·kg⁻¹)	9.93 ± 1.10	10.22 ± 1.29	+3.17%	0.007**	
tHbmass (g)	610 ± 65	618 ± 60	+2.44%	0.026*	
Blood Volume (g·kg ⁻¹)	87.2 ± 8.47	86.2 ± 11.19	-1.05%	0.53	-
TTE (mins) [#]	10.13 ± 2.17	10.93 ± 2.29	+7.90%	<0.0005****	
Haematology and Biochemistry	Baseline	Post	Percentage change	p-value	Clinical reference range
sFer (µg·L⁻¹)	15.7 ± 7.0	367.4 ± 144.3	+2242%	<0.0005****	15 – 250
[Hb] (g·dL⁻¹)	12.4 ± 0.6	13.1 ± 0.6	+5.52%	<0.0005****	11.5 – 16.5
Hct (ratio)	0.37 ± 0.02	0.40 ± 0.02	+6.40%	<0.0005****	0.37 – 0.47
MCH (pg)	29.4 ± 1.8	29.8 ± 1.4	+1.49%	0.011*	26 – 35
MCV (fL)	88.5 ± 4.2	90.8 ± 3.9	+2.56%	<0.0005****	75 – 105
CH (pg)	29.03 ± 1.75	29.75 ± 1.63	+2.84%	<0.0005****	
CHCM (g·L ⁻¹)	329.23 ± 7.48	330.37 ± 10.58	+0.35%	0.50	
HDW (g·L ⁻¹)	24.96 ± 1.98	23.70 ± 1.73	-4.86%	<0.0005****	
Hyperchromia (%)	0.46 ± 0.24	0.51 ± 0.41	+22.52%	0.97	·

Hypochromia (%)	2.35 ± 2.61	1.70 ± 1.94	-0.65%	0.022*	
Large platelets (10 ⁹ ·L ⁻¹)	7.39 ± 2.70	7.89 ± 3.64	+6.32%	0.29	
Lymphocytes (10 ⁹ ·L ⁻¹)	1.38 ± 0.36	1.68 ± 0.51	+24.21%	0.0003***	1.0 – 4.0
Macro (%)	0.54 ± 0.63	1.36 ± 1.25	+260.83%	<0.0005****	
MCHC (g·L ⁻¹)	33.20 ± 0.83	32.83 ± 0.83	-1.05%	0.073	290 – 350
Micro (%)	1.34 ± 1.69	0.93 ± 0.94	-15.02%	0.0042**	
Monocytes (10 ⁹ ·L ⁻ ¹)	0.31 ± 0.11	0.31 ± 0.10	+5.34%	0.99	0.2 – 0.8
MPC (g·dL ⁻¹)	23.73 ± 1.85	23.13 ± 2.01	-2.18%	0.16	
MPM (pg)	2.19 ± 0.20	2.16 ± 0.18	-1.38%	0.12	
MPV (fL)	9.75 ± 0.78	9.89 ± 1.11	+1.46%	0.36	
Neutrophils (10 ⁹ ·L ⁻ ¹)	2.97 ± 1.59	3.12 ± 1.16	+41.48%	0.46	2.0 - 7.5
PCT (%)	0.24 ± 0.06	0.24 ± 0.05	+5.00%	0.41	
PDW (%)	57.13 ± 24.56	52.56 ± 6.41	-2.51%	0.71	
Platelets (10 ^{9.} L ⁻¹)	242.94 ± 61.19	248.94 ± 56.03	+4.49%	0.33	150 – 450
RBC (10 ¹² ·L ⁻¹)	4.23 ± 0.25	4.40 ± 0.27	+4.06%	0.0029**	3.5 – 5.5
RDW (%)	13.72 ± 1.60	14.37 ± 1.73	+4.92%	0.0016**	11.0 – 15.0
WBC (10 ⁹ ·L ⁻¹)	5.07 ± 1.83	5.37 ± 1.43	+12.67%	0.21	

tHbmass – total haemoglobin mass, TTE – time to exhaustion, sFer – serum ferritin, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, MCH – mean cell haemoglobin, MCV – mean cell volume,

CH – corpuscular haemoglobin content, CHCM – corpuscular haemoglobin concentration mean, HDW – haemoglobin distribution width, MCHC – mean cell haemoglobin concentration, MPC – mean platelet component, MPM - , MPV – mean platelet volume, PCT – platelet haematocrit, PDW – platelet distribution width, RBC – red blood cells, RDW – red cell distribution width, WBC – white blood cells

Values are mean ± SD.

Significant differences between baseline and post injection tests are shown as follows: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0005.

[#] Note that due to sustained injuries n=30 for these data.




-40-





Figure 7.4 – Effect of intravenous iron on primary and secondary endpoints. Individual changes in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$, time to exhaustion (TTE), total haemoglobin mass (tHbmass), haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]), corpuscular haemoglobin content (CH) and ferritin

(sFer) from baseline to 2 weeks post intravenous iron. Data are presented as a percent change from baseline with individual changes shown in grey, and mean change in black. Significant differences between baseline and post injection tests are shown as follows: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

7.4.3 Haematology and biochemistry

Full results are shown in Table 7.2. Both serum ferritin and [Hb] increased significantly from baseline to follow up (Table 7.2; Figure 7.4; p<0.0005). Other red cell measures including haematocrit (p<0.0005), corpuscular haemoglobin content (p<0.0001), mean cell haemoglobin (p=0.01), mean cell volume (p<0.0005) and red cell distribution width (p=0.002) also increased (Table 7.2).

7.4.4 The effect of baseline serum ferritin

Participants were grouped into 'severe' and 'moderate' iron deficiency using the World Health Organisation (WHO) cut-off value of a serum ferritin < $15\mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ (40,41). Those with a serum ferritin < $15\mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ were defined as having 'severe' iron deficiency, and those with a serum ferritin > $15 \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ but $\leq 30 \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ were defined as having 'moderate' iron deficiency. $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and relative total haemoglobin mass only increased in those in the severely iron deficient group (Table 7.3; Figure 7.5; *p*<0.05).

	sFer < 15µ	g·L ⁻¹ (n=18)	p-value	sFer > 15 µg·L ⁻¹ µg·L ⁻¹ (n=1	p-value	
	Baseline	Post		Baseline	Post	
VO _{2max} (mL∙kg⁻ ¹∙min⁻¹)#	50.1 ± 5.11	52.5 ± 5.53	0.0009***	47.82 ± 7.84	48.43 ± 8.56	0.48
VO _{2max} (mL∙min⁻¹) [#]	2922.4 ± 295.53	3044.5 ± 310.08	0.0029**	3042.85 ± 426.88	3043.46 ± 440.46	0.99
TTE (min:sec) [#]	10.2 ± 2.29	10.83 ± 2:36	0.058	10.03 ± 2.09	11.05 ± 2.29	0.0052**
tHbmass (g⋅kg⁻¹)	10.1 ± 0.80	10.4 ± 0.89	0.039*	9.61 ± 1.39	9.96 ± 1.69	0.066
tHbmass (g)	596.30 ± 57.33	609.8 ± 50.77	0.15	612.36 ± 65.01	629.46 ± 70.27	0.14
[Hb] (g·dL ⁻¹)	12.3 ± 0.7	13.1 ± 0.7	0.0014**	12.5 ± 0.6	13.0 ± 0.5	0.0083**

Table 7.3 – Changes in exercise and aerobic capacity when comparing those with severe (sFer < 15 μ g·L⁻¹) and moderate (sFer > 15 μ g·L⁻¹ but ≤ 30 μ g·L⁻¹) iron deficiency.

tHbmass – total haemoglobin mass, TTE – time to exhaustion, sFer – serum ferritin, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration

Values are mean ± SD.

Significant differences between baseline and post injection tests within each group are shown as follows: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0005.

[#] Note that due to sustained injuries n=17 for sFer < 15μ g·L-1 and n=13 for sFer > 15 μ g·L-1 but ≤ 30 μ g·L-1.



Figure 7.5 – Percentage change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ from baseline in response to intravenous iron when participants were grouped by baseline serum ferritin. Severe iron deficiency – sFer < 15 µg·L⁻¹ and moderate iron deficiency - sFer > 15 µg·L⁻¹ but ≤ 30 µg·L⁻¹.

7.4.5 Relationship between baseline iron status and change in end points.

No relationship was found between either baseline [Hb] or serum ferritin and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ independently (Table 7.4; [Hb] vs change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) – *p*=0.66 and (mL·min⁻¹) *p*=0.71; serum ferritin vs change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹) – *p*=0.20 and (mL·min⁻¹) – *p*=0.21), or total haemoglobin mass (Table 7.7; [Hb] vs change in total haemoglobin mass – (g·kg⁻¹) *p*=0.42 and (g) *p*=0.37, serum ferritin vs change in total haemoglobin mass – (g·kg⁻¹) *p*=0.89 and (g) *p*=0.96).

		[Hb]			sFer		
	В	CI	p-value	В	CI	p-value	
Delta VO _{2max}	0.26	-1.27 –	0.66	0.001	-0.235 –	0.20	
(mL·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)	0.30	1.99	0.00	-0.091	0.052	0.20	
Delta VO _{2max}	17 78	-115.59	0.71	E 400	-13.999	0.21	
(mL∙min ⁻¹)	-17.70	- 80.03	0.71	-5.425	- 3.154	0.21	
Delta tHbmass	0 122	-0.199 –	0.42	0.02	-0.032 –	0.00	
(g·kg⁻¹)	0.135	0.465	0.42	-0.02	-0.02 0.028		
Delta tHbmass	0.22	-11.464	0.37	0.047	-1.898 –	0.06	
(g)	9.22	- 29.909	0.37 -0.04		1.803	0.90	

Table 7.4 – The relationship between baseline haemoglobin ([Hb]) and serum ferritin (sFer) and the changes in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass.

tHbmass – total haemoglobin mass, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, sFer – serum ferritin, B – co-efficient

In unadjusted models assessing the relationship between the combination of baseline [Hb] and serum ferritin and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ or total haemoglobin mass, no association was found (Tables 7.5 – 7.8; all *p*>0.05). The inclusion of potential confounders did not affect any of these relationships (Tables 7.8 – 7.11; all *p*>0.05).

	Un	adjusted mo	odel	Adjusted model			
Variable	В	CI	p-value	В	CI	p-value	
Constant	-99.73	-361.42 161.96	0.44	175.88	-143.58 - 495.33	0.27	
Baseline [Hb]	9.44	-11.82 – 30.71	0.37	-7.15	-29.48 – 15.18	0.51	
Baseline sFer	-0.15	-2.03 – 1.72	0.87	0.80	-1.16 – 2.77	0.41	
Age				0.58	-0.84 – 2.01	0.41	
BMI				-4.82	-10.23 – 0.59	0.08	
5 km PB				-0.02	-0.10– 0.06	0.65	
Total exercise/week				0.05	-0.02 – 0.12	0.16	
Total running/week				0.03	-0.10 – 0.16	0.65	

Table 7.5 - The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between the combination ofhaemoglobin ([Hb]) and serum ferritin and change in total haemoglobin mass (g).

[Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, sFer – serum ferritin, BMI – body mass index, 5 km PB – 5 km personal best, B – co-efficient, CI – confidence interval

	Una	idjusted m	odel	Adjusted model			
Variable	В	CI	p-value	В	CI	p-value	
Constant	-1.34	-5.53 – 2.86	0.52	3.118	-2.12 – 8.36	0.23	
Baseline [Hb]	0.14	-0.20 – 0.48	0.41	-0.125	-0.49 – 0.24	0.49	
Baseline sFer	-0.004	-0.03 – 0.03	0.81	0.011	-0.02 – 0.04	0.49	
Age				0.008	-0.02 – 0.03	0.46	
BMI				-0.084	-0.17 – 0.01	0.06	
5 km PB				-0.000	-0.001 – 0.001	0.76	
Total exercise/week				0.001	0.000 – 0.002	0.17	
Total running/week				0.000	-0.002 – 0.003	0.68	

Table 7.6 - The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between haemoglobin ([Hb]) and serum ferritin and change in total haemoglobin mass $(g \cdot kg^{-1})$.

[Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, sFer – serum ferritin, BMI – body mass index, 5 km PB
5 km personal best, B – co-efficient, CI – confidence interval

	Una	adjusted mo	odel	Adjusted model			
Variable	В	CI	p-value	В	CI	p- value	
Constant	320.50	-889.41 _ 1530.42	0.59	564.36	- 1129.04– 2257.77	0.50	
Baseline [Hb]	-13.40	-110.67 - 83.88	0.78	-14.72	-129.82 - 100.38	0.79	
Baseline sFer	-5.33	-14.09 – 3.43	0.22	-7.53	-18.07 – 3.01	0.15	
Age				-5.69	-13.35 – 1.98	0.14	
BMI				-6.96	-41.66 – 27.74	0.68	
5 km PB				0.10	-0.32 – 0.51	0.63	
Total exercise/week				0.26	-0.10 – 0.61	0.15	
Total running/week				-0.43	-1.13 – 0.27	0.21	

Table 7.7 - The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between haemoglobin ([Hb]) andserum ferritin and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (mL·min⁻¹)

[Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, sFer – serum ferritin, BMI – body mass index, 5 km PB

-5 km personal best, B - co-efficient, CI - confidence interval

	Un	adjusted m	odel	Adjusted model			
Variable	В	CI	p-value	В	CI	p- value	
Constant	-2.32	-22.43 – 17.79	0.82	2.56	-24.75 – 29.87	0.85	
Baseline [Hb]	0.44	-1.18 – 2.05	0.58	0.50	-1.36 – 2.36	0.56	
Baseline sFer	-0.09	-0.24 – 0.05	0.20	-0.13	-0.30 – 0.04	-1.57	
Age				-0.10	-0.22 – 0.03	-1.65	
BMI				0.20	-0.36 – 0.76	0.75	
5 km PB				-0.003	-0.01 — 0.004	-0.91	
Total exercise/week				0.000	-0.01 — 0.01	-0.10	
Total running/week				-0.01	-0.02 — 0.002	-1.67	

Table 7.8 - The unadjusted and adjusted relationship between haemoglobin ([Hb]) and serum ferritin and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹).

[Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, sFer – serum ferritin, BMI – body mass index, 5 km PB – 5 km personal best, B – co-efficient, CI – confidence interval

No relationship was found between change in [Hb] or change in serum ferritin and the changes in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass. (Table 7.9; Figure 7.9f; all *p*>0.05).

		Delta [Hb]			Delta sFer		
	В	CI	p-value	В	CI	p-value	
Delta VO _{2max}	0.41	-1.15 –	0.60	0.004	-0.01 –	0.29	
(mL·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)	0.41	1.96	0.00	-0.004	0.003	0.20	
Delta VO _{2max}	14 70	-78.49 –	0.75	0.16	-0.58 –	0.46	
(mL∙min ⁻¹)	14.70	107.89	0.75	-0.10	0.27	0.40	
Delta tHbmass	-0.09	-0.35 —	0.51	0.00	-0.002 –	0.73	
(g·kg⁻¹)	-0.09	0.18	0.51	0.00	0.001		
Delta tHbmass	-7.90	-24.28 –	0 33	-0.02	-0.11 –	0.68	
(g)	-7.90	8.49	0.00	-0.02	0.07		

Table 7.9 – The relationship between both change in haemoglobin ([Hb]) and change in serum ferritin (sFer) and the changes in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass.

tHbmass – total haemoglobin mass, B – co-efficient, CI – confidence interval, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, sFer – serum ferritin

7.4.6 Relationship between $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass

There was a significant relationship between $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass both at baseline (*p*<0.0005; Figure 7.6) and post injection (*p*<0.0005; Figure 7.6). However, there was no relationship between the magnitude of the change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and the magnitude of the change in total haemoglobin mass (r=-0.05; *p*=0.81; Figure 7.7).



Figure 7.6 – The relationship between total haemoglobin mass and $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ at a. baseline and b. post injection.



∆tHbmass (g)

Figure 7.7 – The relationship between change in total haemoglobin mass and change in total $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ in response to the intravenous iron injection.

7.4.7 Other markers that are potentially related to change in endpoints.

There was a significant relationship between each of baseline $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (*p*=0.003; Figure 7.8 c), reported 5 km personal best time (*p*=0.02; Figure 7.8 a), the total amount of exercise reported over a typical week (*p*=0.009; Figure 7.8 b), haematocrit (*p*=0.02; Figure 7.8e), and corpuscular haemoglobin concentration mean (*p*=0.01; Figure 7.8 d), and the change in haemoglobin mass after the iron treatment. Therefore, those who had a higher baseline $\dot{V}O_{2max}$, or who reported a faster 5 km personal best time were more likely to show a greater increase in total haemoglobin mass, and those who did more exercise each week were more likely to have a greater increase in total haemoglobin mass (Figure 7.8). A lower baseline CHCM, and a higher baseline haematocrit were associated with a larger change in haemoglobin mass (Figure 7.8 d and e). Change in haemoglobin mass was also related to both mean platelet component (*p*=0.019; Figure 7.9 a) and platelet distribution width (*p*=0.032; Figure 7.9 b).





Figure 7.8 - Relationship between change in total haemoglobin mass and a. 5 km personal best time, b. weekly exercise volume, c. baseline $\dot{V}O_{2max}$, d. CHCM, and haematocrit in response to intravenous iron, f. Relationship between change in haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]) and change in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ in response to intravenous iron. tHbmass – total haemoglobin mass, PB – personal best, CHCM - corpuscular haemoglobin concentration mean, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration.



Figure 7.9 – Relationship between change in total haemoglobin mass (tHbmass) and baseline platelet biomarkers. a. association between change in haemoglobin mass and baseline mean platelet component, b. association between change in haemoglobin mass and platelet distribution width.

7.4.8 Training and menstrual cycle questionnaire

Controlling for day of the menstrual cycle had no impact on the association between baseline [Hb] or serum ferritin and any of the primary outcome measures (Table 7.10; all p>0.05). Nearly two thirds of the participants met the criteria for having a history of heavy menstrual bleeding (64.5%; Table 7.1).

Table 7.10 – The impact of day of the menstrual cycle on the relationship between baseline haemoglobin ([Hb]) and serum ferritin (sFer) and changes in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass.

		Base	eline		Post-injection			
	[Hb]		sFe	ər	[H	b]	sFer	
	В	p- value	В	p- value	В	B p- value		p- value
Delta VO _{2max} (mL·kg ⁻¹ ·min ⁻¹)	-0.89	0.40	-0.08	0.31	-0.69	0.50	-0.082	0.29
Delta ऐO₂ _{max} (mL·min ⁻¹)	-19.69	0.77	-4.64	0.36	-8.90	0.89	-4.26	0.38
Delta tHbmass (g·kg⁻¹)	-0.077	0.70	-0.006	0.66	-0.04	0.86	-0.004	0.77
Delta tHbmass (g)	-2.26	0.86	-0.36	0.71	-0.13	0.99	-0.17	0.86

tHbmass – total haemoglobin mass, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration, sFer – serum ferritin, B – co-efficient

7.4.9 Fatigue

7.4.9.1 Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory

A decrease in fatigue was seen after iron treatment when assessed using the multidimensional fatigue inventory (MFI), with a reduction observed across all subscales (all p < 0.01; Figure 7.10).



Figure 7.10 – Effects of intravenous iron on fatigue (MFI). A comparison between subscale Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory scores (MFI);

Values are median ± IQR at baseline and post-injection.

Significant differences between baseline and post injection tests are shown as follows: *p < 0.01, **p < 0.001.

A summary of the reliability tests for the MFI-20 both at baseline and post-injection is given in Tables 7.11 and 7.12. It was not necessary to remove any items in Table 7.11 based on the inter-item and corrected inter-item correlations as they were all greater than 0.30. While Cronbach's \propto showed acceptable reliability and good internal consistency, $\propto = 0.81$, and when standardised $\propto = 0.91$. However as shown in Table 7.12, there were three correlations < 0.30 between general fatigue and each of reduced activity, reduced motivation and mental fatigue. Despite this, Cronbach's \propto showed acceptable reliability and good internal consistency, $\propto = 0.79$, and when standardised $\propto = 0.88$.

	Moon (+							Cronbach's	Corrected			
		TF	GF	PF	RA	RM	MF	\propto if item is	Item-Total			
	50)							deleted	Correlation			
Total	52.72 ±		0.60	0.95	0.01	0.97	0.77	0.96	1.00			
Fatigue	13.88	-	0.09	0.65	0.01	0.07	0.77	0.00	1.00			
General	11.13 ±	0.60		0.79	0.25	0.44	0.00	0.90	0.64			
Fatigue	2.54	0.69	-	0.76	0.35	0.41	0.30	0.00	0.04			
Physical	9.86 ±	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.85	0.78		0 50	0.63	0.46	0.76	0.81
fatigue	3.67	0.05	0.70	-	0.03	0.05	0.40	0.70	0.01			
Reduced	9.25 ±	0.04	0.25	0 50		0.70	0.54	0.77	0.76			
activity	3.45	0.01	0.55	0.59	-	0.70	0.51	0.77	0.70			
Reduced	9.72 ±	0.87	0 / 1	0.63	0.76	_	0.64	0.76	0.84			
motivation	3.66	0.07	0.41	0.05	0.70	-	0.04	0.70	0.04			
Mental	12.77 ±	0.77	0.36	0.46	0.51	0.64	_	0.77	0.70			
fatigue	3.92	0.77	0.30	0.40	0.51	0.04	-	0.77	0.70			

Table 7.11 – Mean and standard deviations for each aspect of fatigue, alongside inter-item correlations, Cronbach's \propto if the item is deleted and the corrected item-total correlation for tests at baseline.

TF – total fatigue, GF – general fatigue, PF – physical fatigue, RA – reduced activity, RM – reduced motivation, MF – mental fatgue

Table 7.12 – Mean and standard deviations for each aspect of fatigue, alongside inter-item
correlations, Cronbach's alpha if the item is deleted and the corrected item-total correlation
for the post-injection tests.

	Mean ± SD	TF	GF	PF	RA	RM	MF	Cronbach's ∝ if item is deleted	Corrected Item-Total Correlation
Total	41.91 ±		0.40	0.94	0.94	0.00	0.71	0.91	1 00
Fatigue	11.46	-	0.40	0.04	0.04	0.00	0.71	0.01	1.00
General	9.75 ±	0.40	_	0.54	0 10	0.20	0.01	0.81	0.33
Fatigue	1.87	0.40		0.04	0.10	0.20	0.01	0.01	0.00
Physical	7.44 ±	0.84	0 54	_	0.55	0.67	0.50	0.76	0.80
fatigue	2.61	0.01	0.04		0.00	0.01	0.00	0110	
Reduced	7.34 ±	0.84	0 10	0 55	_	0 83	0.47	0.74	0 79
activity	3.53	0.04	0.10	0.00		0.00	0.47	0.74	0.75
Reduced	7.47 ±	0 00	0.28	0.67	0.83	_	0 / 0	0.72	0.87
motivation	3.46	0.50	0.20	0.07	0.00	_	0.49	0.72	0.07
Mental	9.91 ±	0.71	0.01	0 50	0.47	0 / 0	_	0.76	0.62
fatigue	3.44	0.71	0.01	0.00	0.47	0.49	-	0.70	0.02

TF – total fatigue, GF – general fatigue, PF – physical fatigue, RA – reduced activity, RM – reduced motivation, MF – mental fatgue

In an unadjusted model, neither baseline [Hb] nor baseline serum ferritin were associated with change in any of total, general, physical or mental fatigue or reduced activity (Table 7.13; all p>0.05). Baseline [Hb] was also not related to reduced motivation (Table 7.13; p=0.99), however this was related to baseline serum ferritin (Table 7.13; p=0.02).

Table 7.13 – The unadjusted relationship between MFI subscales at baseline and baseline haemoglobin concentration and level of seru	m ferritin.
B – coefficient, CI – confidence interval, [Hb] – haemoglobin concentration	

	Total fatigue			General fatigue			Physical fatigue			Reduce activity			Reduced motivation			Mental fatigue		
	В	CI	p- value	В	CI	p- value	В	CI	p- value	В	CI	p- value	В	CI	p- value	В	CI	p- value
Baseline [Hb]	1.32	-6.01 - 8.64	0.72	-0.28	-1.48 - 0.92	0.64	0.64	-1.23 - 2.51	0.49	-0.32	-2.37 – 1.72	0.75	0.01	-2.13 - 2.15	0.99	1.27	-0.58 – 3.11	0.17
Serum ferritin	0.60	-0.04 - 1.24	0.07	0.08	-0.02 - 0.19	0.12	0.08	-0.09 - 0.25	0.34	0.12	-0.07 - 0.30	0.21	0.22	0.04 – 0.40	0.02*	0.10	-0.07 - 0.27	0.25

Significant relationships are shown as follows: *p < 0.05.

7.4.9.2 Piper Fatigue Scale

When assessed using the Piper Fatigue scale, all dimensions of fatigue decreased (all p < 0.01; Figure 7.11). All reported values reduced by more than one-point. Previous studies suggest a minimum of a one-point reduction for clinical significance (431).



Figure 7.11 – Effects of intravenous iron on fatigue (Piper fatigue score). A comparison between subscale Piper fatigue scores (PFS; median \pm IQR) at baseline and post-injection. Significant differences between baseline and post injection tests are shown as follows: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ****p < 0.0005.

7.4.9.3 EQ-5D-5L

When assessed using the EQ-5D-5L scale, impacts on usual activity (p=0.008), pain/discomfort (p=0.05) and anxiety/depression (p=0.03) all reduced (Table 7.14), while using the EQ-VAS, health overview increased from a median of 78.5 (70 – 85) to 85.0 (75 – 90) (z = 60.0; p=0.001). No problems in 'Self-care' were reported at baseline or post injection.

Table 7.14 – Effects of intravenous iron on feelings of health on the day of testing using the EQ-5D-5L questionnaire. The percentage of participants who reported no problem compared to those who reported any problem (from slight to extreme).

EQ-5D Dimension		Baseline	Post	p-value	
Mobility	No problems	96.88%	100.00%	>0.9999	
	Problems	3.13%	0.00%		
Self-care	No problems	100.00%	100.00%		
	Problems	0.00%	0.00%	-	
Usual activity	No problems	75.00%	96.88%	0.0070##	
	Problems	25.00%	3.13%	0.0078**	
Pain/discomfort	No problems	50.00%	50.00%	0.046*	
	Problems	50.00%	50.00%		
Anxiety/depression	No problems	46.88% 59.38%			
	Problems	53.13%	40.63%	0.027*	

Significant differences between baseline and post injection tests are shown as follows: ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05

7.4.10 Mood disturbance

7.4.10.1 BRUMS

Iron supplementation had a significant impact on mood disturbance when using the BRUMS mood score. Perceived vigour increased (p<0.0005), while tension (p<0.0005), depression (p=0.002), fatigue (p=0.001), and confusion (p=0.002) all decreased in response to intravenous iron (Figure 7.12).



Figure 7.12 - Effect of intravenous iron on mood disturbance using the BRUMS mood scale. A comparison between mood disturbance at baseline and post-injection. Significant differences between baseline and post injection tests are shown as follows: ****p < 0.0001, ***p < 0.005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

Score

n

Baseline

Postiniection

Score

10-

5-

0

Baseline

Postiniection

7.5 Discussion

Previous research evaluating the effect of iron repletion on markers of exercise performance in iron deficient but not anaemic athletes has been inconclusive, resulting in a lack of clarity regarding both the impact and diagnosis of this condition. Studies are confounded by several inconsistencies which are likely to have exacerbated the variability in outcomes. The key finding in the IRONWOMAN trial was that a single high dose of intravenous iron was associated with an increased exercise and aerobic capacity in healthy iron-deficient, non-elite, regularly exercising women when measured two weeks after iron administration. Haematological markers of iron status improved, while fatigue and mood disturbance decreased. Since iron deficiency can be indicated by a positive response to iron therapy (47), it would seem prudent to suggest that the iron deficiency criteria (serum ferritin \leq 30 µg·L⁻¹) used in this study is appropriate for diagnosis. However, there was a distinct degree of individual variation in response, and when participants were divided into groups according to their baseline serum ferritin measurement, improvements in exercise and aerobic capacity were only seen in those with 'severe' iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15µg·L⁻¹). Yet, the magnitude of the change in exercise and aerobic capacity was not directly associated with baseline serum ferritin or baseline [Hb], questioning the suitability of these markers, which are typically the clinical markers used for the diagnosis of iron deficiency and IDA. To my knowledge this is the first study to measure all of these outcome variables at any one time in otherwise healthy, non-elite exercising women in response to an intravenous iron injection, and to evaluate the suitability of [Hb] and serum ferritin for diagnosis when assessing this using evaluation of key outcome variables.

As discussed throughout this thesis, and evaluated in Section 2.13.3, studies in sports science and sports medicine have typically defined iron deficiency using serum ferritin values ranging from $12 - 40 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$, and have used different protocols incorporating different supplementation routes (oral, intravenous or intramuscular) and dosing strategies, with equivocal results. These studies frequently have small sample sizes, and haven't conducted sample size calculations, and often differ through the involvement of athletes of varying degrees of training status (48-54). Injection studies where the controlled absorption process in enterocytes is bypassed are sparse, and have focused on elite athletes (51,52). The participants in this study were specifically non-elite, therefore representing a large proportion of the exercising population. Despite this, the overall magnitude of the improvements in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass found here were similar to those seen in the intravenous iron group in the well trained runners in the study by Garvican *et al.* (2014) (52).

It has previously been suggested that the evident discrepancies in research may be due to some participants being slightly anaemic at baseline, therefore improvements in aerobic performance could be attributed to increases in [Hb] (52). Given the impact of IDA on aerobic performance, this seems plausible, and a number of studies support this hypothesis, showing increases in [Hb] alongside improvements in aerobic performance (236,243,433). The wide [Hb] reference range, typically $12.0 \text{ g} \cdot \text{dL}^{-1} - 16.0 \text{ g} \cdot \text{dL}^{-1}$ in women, means that there is also potential for significant decreases in [Hb] to occur before IDA is diagnosed as previously highlighted in Section 2.5, so a relative state of anaemia may be present, yet unknown and not diagnosed. However, the recent study by Garvican et al. (2014) found improvements in exercise measures without concomitant increases in [Hb] in response to intravenous iron in iron deficient endurance runners (52). In the present study, a mean increase in [Hb] was observed, however [Hb] did not increase in all participants. Further, increases in VO_{2max} and/or total haemoglobin mass were not always accompanied by increases in [Hb]. Where there was a change in both [Hb], and VO_{2max} or total haemoglobin mass, there was no association between the magnitude of these changes. In light of these results, this suggests that non-haematological effects of iron deficiency could be hypothesised.

According to the Fick equation, maximal oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$) depends on cardiac output and oxygen extraction (section 7.3.7.1) (1). Since the transport of oxygen is dependent on [Hb], increases in [Hb] will clearly be a cause for increases in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$. However, there are a number of possible causes for increases in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ without concomitant increases in [Hb], as seen here. Firstly, there could have been an increase in cardiac output, through a proportional increase in total haemoglobin mass and blood volume, or alternatively, oxygen extraction and utilisation may have improved through iron-dependent mechanisms (1). In instances where haemoglobin mass increased without an associated increase in [Hb], it is likely that blood volume increased proportionally with total erythrocyte mass.

As previously highlighted and shown in earlier studies, the suitability of [Hb] as a tool for the identification of red cell volume, and therefore the diagnosis of IDA is questionable (section 2.5). The use of total haemoglobin mass provides a more accurate means for identifying when oxygen transport capacity is limited, particularly amongst those who exercise, as this group are particularly susceptible to plasma volume shifts and changes in blood volume (108). Previous research has found total haemoglobin mass to correlate more effectively with $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ peak, with a lower coefficient of variation when compared to [Hb] (section 2.6) (241,434). Accordingly, total haemoglobin mass has been suggested to aid the accuracy of IDA diagnosis. A close correlation was also found in this study (Figure

7.6) in support of this, therefore providing further evidence for the use of haemoglobin mass, particularly amongst the exercising population. Future clinical practice could consider longitudinal monitoring of haemoglobin mass, where significant decrements may indicate a state of IDA.

Significantly, while there was a strong correlation between total haemoglobin mass and $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ both at baseline and post-injection, there was no relationship between the magnitude of the change in these markers in response to iron repletion. Again, this suggests that in some participants, the improvement in exercise capacity (VO_{2max}) could have been caused by non-haematological factors, such as an improvement in iron dependent oxygen extraction and utilisation mechanisms, for example increased function of the iron-containing haem enzymes and iron-sulphur clusters. Therefore suggesting, in this non-elite, iron deficient population, that factors other than those associated with erythropoiesis may be limiting VO_{2max} . While previously discussed in the literature, this has not been demonstrated before. To my knowledge, to date, one other study has evaluated the association between changes in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass in response to iron therapy. Wachsmuth et al. (2015) assessed response to oral iron therapy over a 12week supplementation period, and, unlike in this study, a direct relationship was found between the magnitude of changes in VO_{2max} and total haemoglobin mass (241). The reason for this discrepancy is unsure, however it is significant to note that in the present study. intravenous iron therapy was used as opposed to oral therapy, bypassing the controlled uptake mechanism in enterocytes. It is also possible that there was insufficient time for the full response to iron treatment to manifest here. The restoration of nonhaematological impacts of iron deficiency could occur prior to those related to erythropoietic demands. Future studies should address this, considering other time points. However, in the study by Garvican et al. (2014), in those receiving four iron injections, the final tests were performed two weeks after the final injection (52), however Burden et al. (2015) had follow up tests after four weeks (51).

Evidently, the results in the present study beg the question of the impact of iron deficiency without anaemia. In addition to being a key component of haemoglobin, and being vital for oxygen delivery, iron is essential for numerous other functions as highlighted previously in this thesis. For example, its role in the electron transport chain, culminating in ATP production within mitochondria, utilising its ability to freely exchange electrons suggests that there are likely to be other non-haematological impacts of iron deficiency with the potential to affect exercise capacity. As previously highlighted, research in animals, in particular in rodent models, is far advanced of that in humans, where the non-haematological functions of iron have been studied, and the impact of iron deficiency in

the absence of anaemia is better understood (227). The sparsity of research in humans makes conclusions problematic, but it is possible that where increases in exercise capacity occurred in isolation of changes in red cell mass, and therefore oxygen transport capacity, these may be in part caused by improvements in mitochondrial or enzymatic functioning involving iron-dependent pathways for example, enhancing the production of ATP. This would be in accordance with the findings by Finch *et al.* in 1976, as iron deficiency without anaemia was found to impact mitochondrial activity in rats (227). Thereby iron repletion would cause functional improvements without an associated change in [Hb] or total haemoglobin mass. It is possible that this response may be more likely in non-elite exercisers where non-oxidative mechanisms may not be so well developed.

Significantly, in less well trained individuals, limitations in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ have been attributed to oxygen consumption as opposed to oxygen supply (i.e. erythrocyte mass) (1). Therefore, in elite athletes with true IDNA, where oxygen supply is not limited, as [Hb] is not compromised, improvements in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ may be less likely to be significant when compared to non-elite athletes since oxygen consumption mechanisms are already well-developed. This provides another potential cause for discrepancies in research.

It is also significant that an increase in total haemoglobin mass was seen in some participants without an increase in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$. This is likely to be due to limitations to oxygen extraction and utilisation.

Despite the overall increase in exercise and aerobic capacity seen in this trial, when separating participants into groups according to baseline serum ferritin, increases were only seen in those with 'severe' iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹). This finding is similar to results from both Krayenbuehl et al. (2011) (56), when assessing fatigue in iron deficient non-athletes and Garvican et al. (2014) (52) evaluating exercise performance in iron deficient well-trained distance runners, both concluding that response to iron therapy was more significant in those who were more iron deficient. This suggests that, contrary to the belief of many, the criteria for iron deficiency diagnosis (serum ferritin \leq 30 µg·L⁻¹) in this study may be too high, and that lower serum ferritin cut-off values may be required. This could in part explain some of the ambiguity in previous studies, since many applied significantly higher serum ferritin cut-off values. Despite the WHO suggesting that serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹ signifies iron depletion (100), a lack of iron in bone marrow has been observed when serum ferritin is 30 μ g·L⁻¹ (42). Accordingly, particularly amongst the athlete population, performance is considered to be affected much earlier than when serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹, and as a result, clinically, treatment is typically initiated well before serum ferritin levels have dropped to this point (46,173). Appreciably though, despite the

improvements in aerobic and exercise performance seen in those with 'severe' iron deficiency, there was still a wide range of individual variation in response seen across all endpoints.

In addition to mean [Hb], mean serum ferritin and red cell indices (MCH, MCV, CH, RBC, RDW) all significantly increased in response to the intravenous iron in this study. An increase in serum ferritin in response to iron therapy has been widely shown and would be expected after administration of a high dose of intravenous iron directly into the circulation, bypassing the mechanism for controlled absorption in enterocytes (46,244). Despite a previous study showing a correlation between baseline serum ferritin and the magnitude of increase in total haemoglobin mass in response to oral iron therapy (241), when specifically looking at the individual results in this study, no relationship was observed between baseline serum ferritin and the magnitude of the change in either total haemoglobin mass or VO_{2max}. Given the direct administration route, bypassing the gut, there was no confounding issue of absorption. Evidently, and in accordance with previous research, this study highlights that the suitability of serum ferritin for the diagnosis of iron deficiency in the exercising population needs to be questioned. A conclusion that was also drawn in Chapters 5 and 6, where a lack of association between serum ferritin and fatigue was observed. The use of other markers should be explored for diagnosis, particularly in those who exercise. However, in light of the individual responses seen here, particularly amongst those with a serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹, one could also postulate that optimal levels of serum ferritin may be specific to an individual, and that for best practice, athletes should be monitored longitudinally over time, with intervention only when significant decreases from their normal occur. While it is significant that two weeks may not have been suffice to enable a full response to be established, some participants had not shown any indication of response by this point. Previous research has demonstrated that two weeks is suffice for a significant response to be evident (52,53,435).

If indeed optimal ferritin values are specific to an individual and longitudinal monitoring was possible, given the limitations associated with both serum ferritin and [Hb], as previously suggested, total haemoglobin mass measurements could be used alongside these to provide a better indication of the onset of iron deficiency. This has been used effectively in a previous study to monitor recovery from iron deficiency (241).

As [Hb] and serum ferritin are the primary indicators for the diagnosis of IDA, in the present study the combination of these was also considered, assessing whether, in conjunction, they were associated with changes in exercise and aerobic capacity, therefore establishing whether, despite no individual relationship between [Hb] and serum ferritin and response, when combined they had a cumulative effect. However, no association was found, even after factoring in potential confounders, again supporting the questions surrounding their suitability. Given the possible implications associated with iron deficiency, in addition to the known negatives of iron treatment when not necessary, the lack of power that [Hb] and serum ferritin have in this study to determine response to intravenous iron, and therefore to indicate the presence of iron deficiency needs to be addressed. The power of other markers of iron status such as transferrin saturation, soluble transferrin receptor, hepcidin, and total iron binding capacity, at identifying response to iron therapy should be evaluated, possibly in conjunction with [Hb] and serum ferritin to provide a more robust analysis of iron status. In isolation, these markers (e.g. transferrin saturation) may not have the power to accurately identify iron deficiency, but power could be significantly increased when combined with other markers (436). Again, this need is likely to be particularly relevant in those who exercise who are subject to exercise related variation in haematological indices. The soluble transferrin receptor/log ferritin index has shown significant potential for example and should be investigated further (115).

Despite the lack of association between baseline serum ferritin and [Hb] and exercise and aerobic capacity, baseline VO_{2max}, total weekly exercise volume and 5 km personal best time were all independently found to be associated with the change in circulating mass of haemoglobin. This suggests that these could in part be determinants of change in aerobic capacity. Hence, individuals who were fitter and who trained more responded better to iron treatment. While it should be highlighted that these relationships are only moderate to weak, it is interesting that three different indicators of fitness and exercise status point to a relationship. One could infer that since the follow-up testing was only conducted two weeks after the injection, the relationship could be as a result of an increased erythropoietic stimulus, triggered by the increased exercise volume and potentially increased intensity of exercise in those who train more and are fitter. Alternatively, these fitter individuals could have an accelerated and more efficient erythropoietic response. From a nonhaematological perspective, it could be hypothesised that fitter individuals have a more efficient mechanism for iron utilisation and incorporation into enzymes, again meaning that they respond more quickly than those deemed less fit. Previous research has demonstrated changes in total haemoglobin mass (52,435), and VO_{2max} (53) in response to iron treatment across participants of all training levels within a comparable, and in some cases a shorter timescale, countering this. However, this is not to say that the time course for reaching the peak response is not dictated by fitness, so the full extent of response may not have been reached after two weeks. It is however significant that previous repletion studies using intravenous iron have only been conducted in elite and well-trained athletes, therefore this option needs further consideration in a more general exercising female

population. Again, as previously highlighted, there is a lack of studies in non-elite athletes, and future studies are required to evaluate difference in response time between elite and non-elite athletes.

A number of studies have also suggested that fitness may be a determinant in response. A recent meta-analysis found increases in VO_{2max} to occur only in trained women when compared to those untrained in response to iron treatment (232), and another study assessing response to oral iron therapy also demonstrated an increased response in those with a higher baseline VO_{2max} (241). Conversely, in a different meta-analysis, significant increases in \dot{VO}_{2max} in response to iron repletion were only seen in those with a baseline $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ < 40 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹, with no effect being concluded in those with a $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ > 45 mL·kg⁻¹·min⁻¹(46). This was thought due to a reduced potential for improvement (46). In the present study this was not the case, however owing to the specific lack of intravenous iron repletion studies in non-elite athletes, only studies involving oral and intramuscular administration routes were included in the meta-analysis (46). Further research is evidently required to evaluate the determinant of fitness on response. Markers of erythropoiesis such as reticulocytes, GDF-15, and erythropoietin, should also be included to provide a better mechanistic understanding of iron deficiency, while there is an evident need to assess the effect of low iron on mitochondrial function. It could be hypothesised that optimal serum ferritin levels are associated with fitness, suggesting that when using this for diagnosis, less fit individuals may not experience impairments in physical function as readily as those who are fitter, likely because there is more potential for underlying inflammation or a haemoconcentration to reduce accuracy of measurement in those who train more and at an increased intensity. However, when controlling for 5 km personal best time and total exercise and running time each week, there was still an absence of any relationship between serum ferritin and the magnitude of markers of exercise and aerobic capacity.

Baseline corpuscular haemoglobin concentration mean (CHCM) and haematocrit were also found to be associated with change in haemoglobin mass in response to iron repletion. These relationships are not surprising given they are associated with erythrocyte production, size and content. However, it could be suggested that future research could consider the use of these as part of a diagnostic panel for the diagnosis of iron deficiency, particularly given the ease of a blood test when compared to the measurement of total haemoglobin mass using the carbon monoxide rebreathing test.

Previous research has shown an association between markers of thrombocytosis and IDA (437). While specific markers of platelet function and therefore thrombocytosis were not measured in the present study, a relationship between both baseline mean platelet

component and baseline platelet distribution width and change in haemoglobin mass was observed. It is thought that there are some iron-containing enzymes in platelets that aid the haemostasis process, so when iron levels are insufficient, platelet function is compromised (438). Again, this is an area that should be addressed in future work.

As highlighted in Chapter 6, fatigue is a significant health issue which is particularly common in women (403,404). IDA is a leading cause of fatigue, but research evaluating the association between iron deficiency alone and fatigue is unsure. Most research in non-athletic iron deficient but not anaemic individuals suggests a reduction in fatigue and improvements in quality of life in response to iron therapy without a concomitant increase in [Hb] (56,226,247,248,439). However, some contradict this, finding no impact of iron repletion in the reduction of fatigue (249), again likely in part caused by the ambiguity surrounding the serum ferritin cut-off values used for the diagnosis of iron deficiency in addition to varying study protocols amongst the aforementioned other inconsistent factors (226,247). In Chapter 6, despite using the WHO's serum ferritin cut-off to indicate iron depletion, neither iron deficiency, nor IDA were associated with increased fatigue, however anaemia alone was ([Hb] < 12.0 g·dL⁻¹). Due to the insidious nature of fatigue it must be appreciated that individuals may have adjusted to the fatigue and established a new sense of 'normal', which isn't realised until iron stores are repleted, hence repletion studies are required for a more accurate evaluation.

It has been suggested that for peak cognitive performance serum ferritin levels should in fact be higher than those viewed as optimal for physical performance, with some suggesting a serum ferritin cut-off of < 50 μ g·L⁻¹ (247). Accordingly, impacts of iron deficiency on exercise and aerobic capacity are hypothesised to be secondary to cognitive performance (58). There is however an absence of previous research assessing the impact of iron deficiency on fatigue and mood disturbance alongside exercise capacity and haematology in individuals who exercise. This has been highlighted in the literature, with only speculative prior hypotheses, thus making conclusions to this avail difficult (51,52). To my knowledge, the IRONWOMAN trial is the first study to capture all these factors in iron-deficient, but otherwise healthy regularly exercising women. In support of the hypothesis that cognitive performance is impaired prior to physical performance, there was a universal improvement in factors associated with cognition, i.e. a reduction in fatigue and mood disturbance, without a universal increase in exercise and aerobic capacity. It must however be appreciated that the reduction in fatigue and mood disturbance could be attributable to a placebo effect, particularly because this was an observational non-blinded study. In fact, a placebo effect has been found in previous studies regardless of blinding (56,226). In an attempt to ameliorate this impact in the present study, construct validity was

obtained by conducting three separate fatigue questionnaires, alongside a mood questionnaire. Reliability tests were also specifically performed on the MFI-20, and I believe that the sheer number of questions in addition to the time lag between questionnaire completion would also have helped to minimise the impact.

When specifically evaluating the responses from the MFI-20 questionnaire, the magnitude of the change in the fatigue subscales was not related to baseline [Hb], suggesting that fatigue reductions were not due to underlying IDA. Bar the association between serum ferritin and change in motivation, no other changes in fatigue subscales were related to baseline serum ferritin. Given that there was a decrease in fatigue and mood disturbance in some participants without a concomitant increase in total haemoglobin mass or [Hb], again, non-haematological effects of iron deficiency could be implicated, suggesting that an increase in oxygen transport was not responsible for the improvements seen. Iron is thought to have a number of roles in neurotransmitter biochemistry in the brain, including dopamine and serotonin signalling, the development of the neural network, energy metabolism and myelination (440). Therefore, it is possible that these could be compromised in states of iron deficiency, prior to functions associated with physical performance and oxygen carriage. This could potentially provide an explanation as to why cognitive performance could be impacted prior to physical function in iron deficient states.

With likelihood of iron deficiency being significantly greater in those identified with heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) when utilising the criteria applied throughout this thesis as previously shown in Chapters 5 and 6 in this thesis, it was interesting to see that in the present study prevalence of this condition was nearly double that of the general exercising population discussed in Chapter 4 (35.5%) (28,392). This is in accordance with earlier findings that HMB increases risk of IDA and iron deficiency. A relatively recent study found an association between platelet dysfunction, IDA and HMB, suggesting that IDA causes the platelet dysfunction which is the reason for the increased menstrual blood loss (441). It could therefore be suggested, that the lack of iron could be responsible for HMB. Specific markers of platelet aggregation and secretion were not included in the present study, but should be considered in future work. Given that previous studies found iron therapy to reverse the presence of HMB (408), this could have significant future potential given the prevalence and impact of both HMB and IDA as shown in this thesis. There is a lack of previous studies addressing platelet aggregation and secretion in those with HMB and iron deficiency without anaemia, however, considering the results in the present study, further investigation is clearly warranted.

In this study, barring the two participants whose exercise results were excluded due to injury, no differences were reported in training pre- and post- supplementation, and no dietary alterations were highlighted. Further, controlling for day of the menstrual cycle had no significant impact on the results.

It is common for athletes to supplement with iron, often prior to knowledge of iron status. This was demonstrated in Chapter 4 where 78.9% reported supplementing with oral iron, despite more than half being unaware of iron status. Previous studies have demonstrated no benefit of iron supplementation in iron sufficient athletes, and given that not all participants showed an improvement in exercise and aerobic capacity despite evident increases in serum ferritin, this study is in agreement (51). In light of the placebo effect, it is difficult to gage the true source of the reduction in fatigue and mood disturbance. Further, as already highlighted in this thesis, given the side effects associated with oral supplementation, including gastrointestinal distress, nausea (257), increases in oxidative stress and inflammation (61), in addition to the upregulation of hepcidin expression, decreasing iron absorption and potentially worsening iron status (261), supplementation should only be used when necessary. Further, excess iron supplementation is a risk factor in those genetic abnormalities that predispose them to iron overload, for example in those with haemochromatosis (7). Elite endurance athletes may be at particular risk where mutations to the HFE haemochromatosis gene are more common than in the general population (259). Dependant on the circumstances, if iron deficiency is evident or thought possible, dietary modifications should be the initial treatment option.

While demonstrating that cut-off values for serum ferritin for the diagnosis of iron deficiency may be too lenient, the present study also highlights the potential unsuitability of both serum ferritin and [Hb] for the diagnosis of both iron deficiency and IDA. Other markers need to be assessed to determine whether they could provide a more accurate analysis, while longitudinal monitoring of iron status should be considered as it is possible that optimal values for markers of iron status are specific to an individual. Given the impacts that iron deficiency can have, as demonstrated here, in addition to the potential side effects of unnecessary supplementation, future research needs to focus on improving iron deficiency diagnosis. While the mechanism for iron deficiency should also be established.

7.5.1 Limitations

With no randomisation, this research is subject to bias caused by a placebo effect. However, while time to exhaustion, fatigue and mood are subject to variation to this avail, total haemoglobin mass and haematological indices cannot be altered, and providing $\dot{V}O_2$ peak is attained, this is also not subject to a placebo effect. The multiple different measures collected here will reduce the impact of the placebo effect somewhat, however it cannot be ignored, and future studies should take the form of a randomised, double-blinded controlled trial.

The follow-up tests were only conducted two weeks after intravenous iron administration, therefore it is unlikely that the full response was captured. Additionally, the initial response (i.e. after 48 hours) as shown in previous research was not measured (51). However many studies have shown significant outcomes in a comparable time frame (52,53,435). Further, while participants were asked to maintain a normal diet through the duration of the study food diaries were not kept, so specific dietary intake was not monitored. Training diaries were kept; however, it was difficult to determine effort and physiological impact of different training sessions. In an attempt to reduce these effects, participants were requested to have post-injection tests in the same physiological state as those conducted at baseline, therefore they were asked to keep training and lifestyle as similar as possible in the couple of days prior to each test. This was very difficult to control as physiological state and wellness can be influenced by many external factors, and particularly since these athletes were not elite, other lifestyle impacts are likely to play a part such as diet and sleep. However, these factors should not impact total haemoglobin mass measurements, which have been found to be relatively stable in trained athletes (1), or haematological measures. The addition of reticulocyte measures, GDF-15 and erythropoietin would have enabled assessment of whether the improvements in aerobic and exercise capacity were due to a haematological response and future studies should include these. While measures of hepcidin and other iron status parameters would enable increased mechanistic understanding as to the factors driving the results seen, while also offering future possible diagnostic means.

While all participants had run on a treadmill before, they had not all previously undertaken a $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ test. Therefore, in the follow-up test they may have been more comfortable with the equipment. They were however blinded to total time on the treadmill.

7.6 Conclusions

A single high dose intravenous iron injection was associated with an increase in exercise and aerobic capacity in otherwise healthy non-elite, iron-deficient exercising women. However, there was a significant degree of individual variation despite increases in serum ferritin in all participants. When participants were divided into groups based on baseline serum ferritin, increases in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and total haemoglobin mass were only observed in those with severe iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15 µg·L⁻¹). Despite this, the magnitude of improvements in exercise and aerobic capacity were not associated with either baseline serum ferritin or [Hb], suggesting response could be driven by a different mechanism, or questioning the suitability of existing markers used for iron deficiency diagnosis. Following iron repletion there was a universal decrease in fatigue and mood disturbance, while this may in part be due to a placebo effect, it could also be that iron deficiency affects cognitive performance prior to exercise and aerobic capacity.

To conclude, regarding the outlined hypotheses for this chapter, the first hypothesis that iron repletion improves exercise and aerobic capacity in iron deficient (serum ferritin < 30 μ g·L⁻¹), non-elite exercising women can be accepted. The second hypothesis that iron repletion reduces fatigue and mood disturbance in iron deficient (serum ferritin < 30 μ g·L⁻¹), non-elite exercising women can also be accepted. Despite, there being a significant degree of individual variation in response, and no direct correlation, the third hypothesis that those with a lower baseline serum ferritin saw greater increases in exercise and aerobic capacity and reductions in fatigue and mood disturbance can also be accepted.

7.7 Future perspectives

The IRONWOMAN trial clearly demonstrates the limitations of using serum ferritin as a sole marker of iron status in those who exercise. While serum ferritin may be able to establish an 'at risk' population, future studies should consider using other biomarkers in addition to, or as an alternative to this to improve diagnosis. Future studies should also include a blinded placebo group, to further ascertain whether iron deficiency first impacts cognitive performance prior to factors associated with physical performance. In an attempt to gain a better mechanistic understanding, muscle oxidative capacity should be measured.

The relationship between IDA and HMB should be further established, if indeed IDA can cause HMB, intravenous iron therapy could have fundamental use in treatment of this condition, which was shown in previous research to have a substantial impact.

7.7.1 Future studies

The present study clearly highlights the need for further research in this field. The following factors need consideration:

When using the same diagnostic criteria, the impact of iron repletion on markers of erythropoiesis and mitochondrial oxidative function. This will enable a better understanding as to whether the presence of non-haematological impacts of iron deficiency.

A randomised control trial needs to be conducted to minimise the impact of bias. This should involve both elite and non-elite athletes to enable determination as to whether baseline fitness dictates response. Based on previous research, more follow-up time points are warranted, for example at 48 hours post injection and four weeks post injection. Platelet measures should be investigated alongside HMB presence to identify any presence of a causal relationship.

7.8 Author Contributions

The author recruited all the potential participants, and conducted all screening blood tests and either organised for a courier to collect these for delivery to the laboratory or delivered them personally, following advice regarding the required environmental conditions. The author provided feedback to participants regarding whether they met the inclusion criteria and where this was met, scheduled the subsequent appointments (baseline test, iron injection and follow up tests). The author conducted all baseline and follow up tests (exercise and total haemoglobin tests and oversaw the completion of the questionnaires). A trained medical professional at the Iron Therapy Clinic administered the intravenous iron.

The author inputted all data onto a secured database and conducted the statistical analysis and the interpretation of the results.

8 General Discussion, overall conclusions and future research

In this section, the key findings in this thesis will be outlined, providing overall conclusions while also describing future perspectives, studies and recommendations.

Firstly, this thesis examined whether HMB, when identified using the outlined criteria for diagnosis, is a dysfunction that is common in exercising women. In the absence of a validated and universally accepted means for the diagnosis of HMB, a four-part series, similar to that which has been used previously was applied as explained in chapter 3. This relied on individuals to self-report symptoms experienced. After establishing, when using this diagnostic means that HMB was common, there was a need to evaluate unbiased prevalence. This was done using London Marathon runners. The presence of identified HMB and its association with individuals perceiving that their menstrual cycle disrupts their exercise training/performance was then evaluated. The prevalence of iron deficiency, iron deficiency anaemia (IDA) and anaemia in a different exercising cohort was then established. The association between these and HMB (when identified using the same means) both independently and together with the perceived menstrual cycle disruption to exercise training/performance or everyday lifestyle/exercise performance and fatigue was then evaluated. Finally, the impact of iron repletion in iron deficient non-elite exercising women was assessed when diagnosing iron deficiency using serum ferritin, which is the primary diagnostic marker used clinically. In so doing, the efficacy of serum ferritin for iron deficiency diagnosis was evaluated. Significantly, despite non-elite exercising women encompassing a very large and growing population, research as to the impact of iron deficiency both on physiological and psychological elements within this group is lacking.

8.1 Prevalence and impact of HMB in the exercising population

Despite the lack of a universal consensus on a means for HMB diagnosis, research has shown HMB to be common in the general population, previously found to affect 27.2% of a European population (28), and 10 - 35% of reproductive aged women in the United States (442). This condition has not however been researched in those who exercise, and this thesis provides new insights into the potential occurrence of HMB in this group. With the assumption that the primary menstrual cycle dysfunctions in those who exercise are amenorrhea and oligomenorrhea, little research has addressed other menstrual dysfunctions, yet both chapters 4 and 5 highlight that using a diagnostic series, incorporating aspects of other diagnostic means, (28) (218), HMB is a significant issue in this population. Appreciably, and contrary to many beliefs, HMB was also identified in elite athletes, affecting 36.7%. Despite prevalence in the Singaporean population in chapter 5

being lower (22.1%), evidently, HMB is still a significant issue amongst this exercising group. The differences in prevalence between the likely primarily British and Singaporean groups could be due to ethnicity, since, while not recorded, it can be assumed that the majority of participants in chapter 4 were Caucasian, and that the majority of participants in chapter 5 were Asian. While difficult to decisively conclude, since there is a lack of research comparing these two populations when using the same means for diagnosis.

The NICE define HMB as "excessive menstrual blood loss which interferes with a woman's physical, social, emotional and/or material quality of life" (26). However, this definition is purely subjective, relying on the perception of an individual, and suggests that it is the sheer physical impact of the blood loss that causes identification of HMB, not the actual volume of blood lost. The historical definition established by Hallberg et al. utilised an objective measure of 80 mL of blood loss (217), but one has to question the applicability of this discreet value. They used an alkaline haematin method to estimate haemoglobin loss. However, blood volume can vary significantly between women, therefore it would be more appropriate to identify HMB as a percentage of total blood volume, if indeed it is the blood loss that deems an individual to be a heavy bleeder. Further, the physical identification of blood loss is difficult, not only due to hygiene concerns, which are likely to lead to the lack of desire to measure, but blood is also lost when passing urine, defecating, or through flooding into clothing or bedding. Additionally, given that not all menstrual fluid is blood, this causes further problems in quantification.

The criteria utilised in this thesis, while not validated, provides a more objective, realistic and hygienic indication of blood loss, which could easily be used by practitioners. Despite still having a subjective, perceptual element, the questions have increased clarity when compared to the NICE definition, aiding individuals and practitioners with an indication of what may be abnormal. Significantly, the key consideration is the impact that HMB may have, if this is purely psychological then the need to intervene is different to if there is either an underlying aetiology, an associated impact on iron status or other resulting factors that could negatively impact health and well-being. A simple tool for quick evaluation of risk is warranted, and further evaluation can follow to better understand need for treatment. This thesis highlights that when applying the outlined criteria, there is potential for this tool to identify those who are at increased risk of a compromised iron status and those who may suffer disruption to lifestyle/exercise training/performance. For the purposes of this research it was important to establish whether HMB should be considered in those who exercise and whether there are negative repercussions associated with it, and these were clearly demonstrated. Further, as previously explained, iron deficiency can take a while to manifest, therefore it is very possible for the impact of HMB on iron status can take a while to manifest. It is also significant to note that the aetiology of HMB is often unknown. A 2014 study in university students, which diagnosed HMB using the pictorial blood assessment chart, found only 20.7% of the participants with HMB (n=82) to have underlying bleeding disorders or menstrual cycle related pathologies (i.e. endometriosis or polycystic ovary syndrome) (Gursel et al. 2014). This is significant, suggesting the presence of HMB as a condition in its own entirety that needs to be appreciated.

Chapters 4 and 5 clearly demonstrate the potential for HMB, when using the outlined diagnostic series, to be a cause for disruption to exercise training/performance or to everyday lifestyle/exercise performance. The marathon runners with HMB in chapter 4 were more than three times more likely to report that their menstrual cycle disrupts their exercise training/performance than those without HMB, while those with HMB in chapter 5 were more than four times more likely to cite this when compared to those without HMB. Previous research in the general population has focused on the effects of HMB on quality of life, but as already outlined there is a dearth of research assessing prevalence and effects of HMB in those who exercise. In light of this, the mechanism for this association is unsure. Given the known association between HMB and iron deficiency, which was demonstrated in chapters 5 and 6, it would seem prudent to suggest that a lack of iron may be the cause for any detriment in performance. In fact, HMB is considered to be the primary cause of IDA and iron deficiency in the general population (443). Chapter 4 supported this hypothesis, finding a reported history of anaemia to be greater in those identified with HMB than in those without. However, despite confirming haematologically that identified HMB presence increased the risk of a compromised iron status in chapter 5, when factored into a model, the relationship between HMB and the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance was found to be independent of either IDA or iron deficiency. This suggests that the mechanism by which HMB may cause this is independent of iron status. future research must address this, and there is a clear need for treatment options. Being an inflammatory condition, it is possible that the increased levels of inflammation may be a cause for performance detriment, however prior to establishing this further research is needed to objectively measure performance.

Interestingly, the identified prevalence of HMB in chapter 7 was significantly higher than that in the chapters 4 - 6 and in that found previously in the general population. It has been suggested that IDA can cause a platelet dysfunction which results in increased menstrual blood loss (441). As a result, it could be hypothesised that a lack of iron is causing HMB as opposed to the converse. In fact iron repletion has been found to be an effective treatment for HMB in these instances (408). Further research should address this
association, in particular in those without anaemia. Iron repletion could be considered as a potential treatment option.

The subjective nature of the question surrounding the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance makes the drawing of conclusions problematic, however, while not addressing physical performance and still including a subjective element, chapter 6 provided a different means for evaluating the potential impact of HMB. The presence of HMB was clearly associated with increased general fatigue.

While this thesis used one tool to establish prevalence of HMB, there is a clear need to create one universally agreed diagnosis means. As already highlighted in this thesis existing tools have elements which will affect accuracy. It would however be advisable to identify the significance and implication of identification of HMB when identifying the best tool to use. For example, this thesis has demonstrated the increased risk of a compromised iron status and an association with the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance in those identified with HMB. While this firstly suggests that this tool could be used by practitioners to identify when a blood test should be taken for iron status, the results from this thesis also highlight that associated effects of HMB need consideration, such as an increased production of inflammatory markers.

8.2 HMB, iron status and fatigue

The symptoms of HMB and IDA are similar, both impacting on quality of life and altering ability to execute everyday social, mental and physical activities (28). In light of this, it could be suggested that a poor iron status could be on the causal pathway between HMB and fatigue. However, to date, the interrelationship between HMB, a suboptimal iron status and fatigue has not been assessed. A recent study in adolescents evaluated the association between HMB and serum ferritin and the effect of HMB on fatigue independently, but did not evaluate whether iron status was responsible for the increased fatigue seen in those with HMB (38). This hypothesis was tested in chapter 6, where interestingly, the association between identified HMB and an increase in general fatigue was not found to be mediated by IDA or anaemia. This suggests that the fatigue associated with HMB is caused by a different mechanism, independent of iron status.

The results from chapters 5 and 6 demonstrate that HMB, when identified using the outlined criteria throughout this thesis, is a condition in its own entity, and that the repercussions that ensue with this are not simply those associated with IDA or iron deficiency. The increased release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α could be

the cause for this, and (401) the relationship between TNF- α and fatigue is well established (421). Impairments in exercise are also inevitable in response to increased levels of underlying inflammation, therefore future research should investigate this, as a better understanding of this could guide potential treatment mechanisms. This association has not previously been highlighted and given the demonstrated potential for exercise impairment and high prevalence in those who exercise, this is of particular significance. This could even provide another potential means for diagnosis.

8.3 Prevalence of iron deficiency

The prevalence of IDA in the exercising population in chapters 5 and 6 was 14.8%, this is comparable to previous studies reporting a prevalence of 8 – 14% (119-121), and likely slightly higher due to this being an exercising population. As highlighted already, the diagnosis of iron deficiency has historically been problematic, particularly in those who exercise, with prevalence ranging from 24 – 47% (59). In chapter 5, applying the WHO criteria for iron depletion (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹), 29.9% were iron deficient. When applying a more lenient criteria, in accordance with other studies in athletes, and in line with findings from Wish *et al.* (2006) (436), where bone marrow iron stores were found to be compromised when serum ferritin < 30 μ g·L⁻¹, prevalence was 48.0%. Unsurprisingly, and as previously shown, the identified presence of HMB, using the diagnostic series outlined, increased the likelihood of a compromised iron status.

With the potential for nearly one in two exercising women to be iron deficient, there is an evident need to evaluate the diagnosis and resulting need for treatment, optimal treatment options and the mechanism by which iron deficiency has an effect. As outlined in chapter 2, there are a number of reasons for the existing lack of clarity. Chapter 7 aimed to address this and to advance understanding, as will be discussed subsequently.

8.4 Impact of iron deficiency

8.4.1 Effect on exercise and aerobic capacity

Results from previous studies regarding the effect of iron deficiency on exercise and aerobic capacity are equivocal, in part due to inconsistencies in study protocol (e.g. study duration, supplementation route and outcome measurements), iron deficiency diagnosis, participant performance level and sample sizes (46). In chapter 7, while an overall increase in exercise and aerobic capacity was seen, when broken down into groups based on baseline serum ferritin, increases were only evident in those more severely iron deficient (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹). No association was found between serum ferritin and the

magnitude of change in outcome markers, and primary endpoints did not increase in all participants in the severely iron deficient group. This suggests that while a serum ferritin < $15 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ could be used to identify increased risk, these results clearly question the suitability of the use of serum ferritin alone for iron deficiency diagnosis in those who exercise.

8.4.2 Effect on fatigue and mood disturbance

Iron deficiency is associated with fatigue, and previous studies have found a reduction in fatigue in response to iron repletion in iron deficient but not anaemic individuals (56,226,247,248,439), however this has not been found by all (249). While chapter 6 found anaemia to be associated with increased fatigue, these findings were not mirrored in those with IDA or iron deficiency. However, in response to iron therapy in chapter 7 there was a universal decrease in fatigue and mood disturbance. The potential for a placebo effect cannot be ignored here, however construct validity was obtained by conducting three separate fatigue questionnaires. It is important to consider that due to the insidious nature of fatigue, it can be missed, and may not be appreciated until iron stores are repleted. A lack of association was found between serum ferritin and fatigue in either chapter 6 or 7, and to date, only one other study has addressed this, also concluding no relationship, again highlighting the need to re-evaluate markers used for iron deficiency diagnosis (38), while a future double-blinded study is necessary.

8.4.3 Diagnosis

The majority of previous research has focused on assessing the efficacy of iron repletion, and has not specifically evaluated the suitability of markers to diagnose iron deficiency. Further, most recent studies in the sporting context have been conducted in elite or welltrained athletes, and there is a particular absence of studies using intravenous iron in nonelite exercisers. To my knowledge, the IRONWOMAN trial is the first study to assess iron repletion in non-elite exercising women when repleting iron stores using intravenous iron. This is significant because not only may elite athletes respond differently to non-elite exercisers (1), but this has the potential to influence a very large number of people.

Clinically being the primary marker used for the diagnosis of iron deficiency (40,100,444), serum ferritin was used for diagnosis throughout this thesis. However, the findings from chapters 5, 6 and 7 all clearly question its suitability in those who exercise. There is much ambiguity surrounding the appropriate serum ferritin cut-off in the literature and amongst medical professionals (46). In chapter 5, in an attempt to address this, when evaluating the association between identified HMB, iron status and reported menstrual cycle effects on performance, both a 'severe' and 'moderate' serum ferritin iron deficiency cut-off was

applied. The WHO's criteria for depleted iron stores (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹) was used to define 'severe' iron deficiency. Then a more lenient diagnosis (serum ferritin < 30 μ g·L⁻¹), reflecting that postulated by Wish *et al.* (2006) (436), and in line with that commonly used clinically and in sports science research, was used and termed 'moderate' iron deficiency. However, as neither 'severe' nor 'moderate' iron deficiency were associated with the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts everyday lifestyle/exercise performance, this study did not help to address the ambiguity surrounding iron deficiency diagnosis. In light of this, chapter 6 only applied the serum ferritin cut-off for 'severe' iron deficiency. While HMB and anaemia were found to be associated with an increase in fatigue, there was no relationship between IDA or iron deficiency and fatigue, and significantly there was also no relationship between either [Hb] or serum ferritin and fatigue.

In chapter 7, increases in aerobic and endurance capacity were only seen in the group with severe iron deficiency (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹), yet response was not associated with or dictated by baseline serum ferritin levels. Factoring in [Hb] did not aid in the prediction of response, suggesting that an underlying state of IDA was not confounding results. It could be hypothesised that optimal levels of serum ferritin are specific to an individual, therefore for best practice, serum ferritin could be monitored regularly over time, ensuring that athletes are in a comparable state when tested (rested and fasted), with any significant declines in serum ferritin indicating need for intervention. Despite being subject to a placebo effect, the universal reduction in mood disturbance and fatigue is significant and needs further assessment, but again serum ferritin was not associated with this.

Evidently, the results from chapters 5, 6 and 7 highlight a need to reassess the use of serum ferritin alone as a primary means for indicating iron deficiency. There is a clear need to investigate the use of other markers. Given that nearly one in two were found to be iron deficient in chapters 5 and 6, and that the exercise industry is rapidly expanding, this has fundamental clinical significance. This need is exacerbated by the large number of individuals supplementing with iron. Clear guidelines are necessary.

8.4.4 Mechanism of iron deficiency

The findings in chapter 7 suggest that there are non-haematological effects of iron deficiency, which may occur prior to haematological effects. In some participants, $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ increased without concomitant increases in total haemoglobin mass or [Hb]. Non-haematological effects of iron deficiency on exercise capacity have not been shown before in humans. Research in iron deficient rodent models has shown mitochondrial function and composition to be affected in iron deficient states (227). However, as described in chapter 2, research in humans as to the impact and mechanism of iron deficiency is equivocal.

The increase in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ without an increase in markers of erythropoiesis seen in chapter 7 suggests that the improvements could be due to enhanced cellular oxygen uptake or utilisation, both involving iron dependent pathways, for example enhanced iron containing haem enzyme activity in the electron transport chain in mitochondria. Indeed, in non-elite athletes there is increased potential for factors other than haemoglobin mass to impact upon $\dot{V}O_{2max}$, and research suggests that the $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ of non-elite athletes is more likely to be limited by cellular uptake kinetics than by oxygen supply when compared to elite athletes (1). The training status and performance level of athletes may therefore affect their response, and given the historical lack of research in non-elite athletes, particularly when using intravenous iron, this could be the reason for the novel non-haematological effects of iron deficiency found here. The use of intravenous iron in chapter 7 as opposed to oral iron meant that the controlled absorption route through enterocytes was bypassed. This provides a more reliable assessment of the effect of iron repletion and the resulting efficacy of markers of iron deficiency.

While inevitably subject to a placebo effect, the universal reduction in fatigue and mood disturbance seen in chapter 7 supports previous hypotheses that optimal serum ferritin levels for the prevention of impacts on cognitive performance may in fact be higher than often thought. It has been hypothesised that cognitive performance will be affected when serum ferritin < 50 μ g·L⁻¹ (247). This suggests that iron deficiency impairs cognitive performance prior to functional repercussions. However, to my knowledge no previous studies have evaluated both markers relating to fatigue and physical function in iron deficient women to further establish this, therefore to my knowledge this is the first study to assess this. Given the additional non-haematological roles of iron this is plausible, however as previously highlighted, studies looking at the mechanism for this in humans are lacking. The outcomes of this research could have significant implications, particularly given the sheer number of women with relatively low ferritin levels, in fact, a study in a general adolescent European population found mean serum ferritin in women to be 29.9 μ g·L⁻¹ (445). The addition of a blinded placebo group in a future study would be very insightful to aid further evaluation.

8.4.5 Awareness and supplementation

The findings of this thesis are in agreement with previous work highlighting a poor awareness of iron status, and the potential for a lack of awareness of HMB. Fraser *et al.* (2015) found that 46% of those with HMB have not sought medical help, suggesting no prior knowledge (28). In the marathon population in chapter 4, 55.6% had not sought advice/help for heavy periods, while 66.6% and 68.9% in chapters 5 and 6 had not sought

this. Worryingly however, in chapter 6, the prevalence of IDA, anaemia and iron deficiency did not differ in those with HMB who had or had not sought advice/help. While making an assumption, this could suggest that appropriate medical tests are not being conducted in response to HMB. A lack of awareness amongst medical professionals has previously been shown (384), and the ambiguity of the diagnosis of HMB is a likely confounder. In light of the significant impact of HMB shown here; being associated with perceived menstrual cycle driven disruptions to exercise training/performance , increasing fatigue and worsening iron status, there is an evident need to raise awareness of this condition. Further, when using this means for diagnosis, as it is clearly a prevalent condition amongst athletes and exercising women, sports medics should specifically be alerted to it. Given the ease of the applied diagnostic series, use of this or an abbreviation should be considered amongst medical professionals. However, the need for treatment options is imperative, and priority needs to be placed on research to this avail. For example, given the likely increase in inflammation, nutritional interventions with anti-inflammatory benefit could be prioritised during or prior to menstruation.

With less than half of those with IDA (41.2%) in chapter 5 reporting prior knowledge, and only 8.8% suggesting prior knowledge in the previous three months, awareness of iron status was poor. Given the known impact of IDA, this is concerning and more needs to be done to highlight the symptoms of this condition. Notably, many were found to supplement with iron despite a lack of prior knowledge of iron status, with nearly 80% of elite athletes in chapter 4 reporting supplementation. While of those in this study who indicated a lack of awareness of prior anaemia, more than half reported having taken iron supplementation. It is known that coaches encourage athletes to supplement with iron, however both chapter 7 and previous research (39) have demonstrated no benefit of unnecessary supplementation, and given the possible side effects associated with unnecessary supplementation, including an increase in oxidative stress and inflammation (61), and the consequences that this may have on iron absorption, it is important to improve education and clarify when supplementation should be used. Further, there are added risks associated with unnecessary supplementation, particularly in those with mutations to the haemochromatosis, HFE gene. Individuals with this genotype have an increased likelihood of iron overload. Significantly, this condition is particularly common in elite athletes (259), highlighting that supplementation must only be administered when iron status is known.

Throughout this thesis, it is evident that the use and suitability of serum ferritin for the determination of iron status particularly in those who exercise regularly is questionable. It is the most common and cost effective test used clinically, however its ability to diagnose iron deficiency appears limited, and has been found to exhibit significant disparity

throughout the day in athletes, with variation ranging from 13 - 75% (45). Chapters 5 - 7 show no evidence to specifically demonstrate that serum ferritin alone can be used to elucidate who will respond to iron therapy, and therefore to diagnose iron deficiency. While it is evident that those with serum ferritin < $15 \ \mu g \cdot L^{-1}$ are at an increased risk of detriments to aerobic and exercise capacity, this was not universal. Further, while all participants in the IRONWOMAN study saw a reduction in fatigue and mood disturbance this was independent of baseline serum ferritin. With this in mind it would be prudent to investigate the use of other markers, possibly in conjunction with serum ferritin to determine iron status, while also considering whether optimal serum ferritin levels are specific to an individual. From the perspective of applying these findings clinically, it would be advisable to monitor athletes longitudinally, always testing them in a rested and fasted state, with intervention only when a significant decline is observed.

8.5 Limitations

Throughout this thesis a number of limitations have been outlined in each chapter. To summarise, it must be acknowledged that in the absence of any universally approved validated tool, the diagnostic series applied for the identification of HMB throughout this thesis was self-derived. This could obviously lean to significant inaccuracies, while also appreciating that the underlying goal of HMB identification still needs to be established. There were also a number of limitations associated with the female health questionnaires utilised, including inconsistency of time frames for reporting of factors such as performance times and training volumes, adding to risk of bias in the development of conclusions. It also must be appreciated that these questions were subjective.

The use of the convenience sample in chapters 5 and 6 also needs to be highlighted, this is a different population which may have encountered language barriers regarding questionnaire completion.

The lack of a control group or randomisation in the IRONWOMAN study meant that this is subject to a placebo effect, and this needs to be addressed in future studies. This study was also limited by only measuring one time point in follow-up and the lack of measurement of additional iron parameters and erythropoietic biomarkers.

8.6 Future studies and directions

There are a number of future directions that could be taken based on the findings throughout this thesis. Firstly, the limitations highlighted involving the female health questionnaires used in this thesis warrant the need for the development of a new version.

8.6.1 Future derivation of a Female Health Questionnaire

In order to develop this research further, and given the highlighted limitations with the female health questionnaires applied in this thesis, it would be advisable to develop a new questionnaire that can be used widely. In order to do this, it is vital for a universally recognised and approved diagnosis for HMB to be established. Essentially, as already highlighted consideration of the desired impact of HMB firstly needs to be identified; is it the physical or psychological impact that is the key factor. Once this is known, a realistic means for diagnosis needs to be used. There are a number of benefits to the application of the criteria used throughout this thesis as previously highlighted, including those related to hygiene, the increased element of objectivity and the ease of application, so a similar series could be applied. Even if this is used to highlight risk, it would really advance practice in this field, and evidently as identified here, the enhanced risk of a compromised iron status alone warrants its application.

Addressing the other issues with the Female Health Questionnaire, in order to gain association with awareness, individuals should specifically be asked whether they have sought medical advice about heavy menstrual bleeding and whether they deem themselves to have this condition. Timescales throughout the questionnaire also need to be consistent, however arguably, given that the repercussions of HMB can be slow to manifest the proposed time scale may be long in duration. Perhaps this could in part be overcome by simply asking whether heavy periods have disrupted exercise training/performance. Further, identification of performance level may, as opposed to performance times or training volume may be more appropriate.

Regarding use of hormonal contraception, a future questionnaire should establish whether any form of hormonal contraception is used, and could also consider asking whether this was initiated as a means to treat HMB. The presence of underlying pathologies should also be recorded, as it could help develop understanding as to the aetiology of the condition.

8.6.2 Other future directions

Despite the ambiguity surrounding HMB diagnosis, it is evident throughout this thesis that utilising the applied criteria, risk of a compromised iron status, fatigue and citation that the

menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance. These areas all need to be considered in further details and future studies should be conducted to better understand these relationships. Primarily, due to the lack of involvement of iron status in either of the associations between identified HMB and fatigue or reported menstrual cycle-driven disruptions to exercise training/performance, other haematological markers should be measured. For example TNF- α , or oxidative stress, to determine whether these could indicate the primary biomarkers involved in these relationships. It would also be beneficial to more objectively measure performance and fatigue.

A randomised and blinded study needs to be conducted to minimise any element of bias in the IRONWOMAN trial – this is particularly significant from the perspective of impact on fatigue and mood disturbance. Future studies should also address other time points, and given the questionable ability of serum ferritin at identifying a compromised iron status throughout this thesis, future studies should include additional markers of iron status.

8.7 Conclusions

In conclusion, this thesis firstly addressed the prevalence of HMB when evaluated using a diagnostic series outlined in chapter 3, and then the association between this and the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance and fatigue. It then assessed the potential involvement of iron in these relationships, and finally evaluated the effect of iron repletion on markers of exercise and aerobic capacity and cognitive performance. In so doing, the efficacy of existing markers used for the diagnosis of iron deficiency was evaluated, while also highlighting the potential impact that both HMB and iron deficiency may have.

This thesis highlights the presence of some common issues experienced by women in sport that have the ability to significantly affect their exercise performance and general health. Given the increasing acknowledgement that the menstrual cycle can have an impact on exercise performance there is much scope for future research to evaluate further means in which the menstrual cycle can affect performance, while also identifying appropriate strategies to mitigate this. This is a particularly exciting time for research in female athletes.

Overall conclusions can be summarised as follows and are outlined in Figure 8.1:

i. When utilising the outlined criteria to identify presence, HMB is common in both exercising women and elite athletes. In light of the overt lack of investigation

surrounding HMB, this finding is of great significance, particularly given its association with: the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance; increases in fatigue; and an enhanced risk of iron deficiency, as evidenced in this thesis.

- ii. The association between HMB (when identified using the outlined criteria) and the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance is independent of iron status. Other associated outcomes of HMB, e.g. release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, need to be assessed to determine whether this is overriding any impact of a compromised iron status. However, given the potential limitations associated with serum ferritin for iron deficiency diagnosis, this relationship should be further evaluated using additional iron status markers.
- iii. The association between HMB (when identified using the outlined criteria) and fatigue is not mediated by IDA or iron deficiency when using serum ferritin and haemoglobin concentration for diagnosis. Again, factors associated with HMB need to be considered as these may be the primary in driving the increase in fatigue.
- iv. An increase in endurance and aerobic capacity and a reduction in fatigue and mood disturbance was seen in non-elite, exercising, iron deficient women when repleted with intravenous iron. However, when individuals were separated into two groups based on severity of iron deficiency, endurance and aerobic capacity only increased in those with more severe iron deficiency as defined using serum ferritin. Despite this, there was a range of individual variation in response, and serum ferritin was not able to predict this. Those with an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency can be identified, but future work must address other markers of iron status alongside serum ferritin or as an alternative to this measure to enhance reliability of diagnosis. Considering the significant reported use of supplementation, this work is essential. Further, the impacts of iron deficiency on cognitive performance need further consideration, particularly since there is potential for these to be affected prior to impacts on exercise and aerobic capacity.



Figure 8.1 - An overview of the conclusions. i. There is an association between identified HMB and IDA and ID; ii. The association between HMB and the perception that the menstrual cycle disrupts exercise training/performance is independent of IDA and ID; iii. The relationship between identified HMB and fatigue is not mediated by IDA and ID; and iv. There was an overall increase in exercise and aerobic capacity in response to intravenous iron in iron deficient (serum ferritin < 15 μ g·L⁻¹), non-elite exercising women, but this response was not universal and independent of serum ferritin. However, a reduction in fatigue was observed in all. There is potential for IDA and possibly ID to actually be a causative factor for the development of HMB.

8.8 Key recommendations

- Diagnosis of HMB a universal tool needs to be created for HMB diagnosis. This
 needs to factor in the subjective nature of this condition, but also the repercussions
 and implications that may ensue. Further agreement as to the desired outcome of
 HMB needs to be evaluated, be is psychological or physical.
- Awareness of HMB with the majority of individuals who met the outlined HMB not reporting to have sought help/advice for heavy periods, it could be suggested that awareness that blood loss is potential abnormal and excessive is poor. In light of the negative implications that were found to be associated with HMB here an improved education is necessary. Firstly, appreciation amongst sports medical professionals that HMB is a common condition in athletes of all levels is necessary. Secondly, appropriate tests, e.g. measurements of iron status, need to be

performed where HMB is diagnosed. Finally, a greater understanding of HMB is needed amongst individuals, so that they know when to visit a medical professional. Excessive bleeding is evidently not a topic frequently discussed, however increased discussion and knowledge around this should reduce the potential reluctance of women to discuss this personal issue.

- Given the implications, priority should also be placed on finding appropriate treatment options for HMB alongside evaluating the aetiology of this condition – which could also aid in future physical diagnosis.
- The use of serum ferritin alone for iron deficiency diagnosis is evidently questionable. While it could be used to assess risk, measurement of other markers alongside serum ferritin is advisable, e.g. transferrin saturation. For best practice, iron status should be monitored longitudinally, alongside total haemoglobin mass, with intervention only when a significant decline is seen.
- Future research needs to address the potential for other more suitable markers for the diagnosis of iron deficiency.
- This thesis highlights that unnecessary iron supplementation is rife and does not benefit aerobic or exercise capacity. Many athletes, those who are elite in particular, supplement without knowledge of iron status. Given the potential adverse side effects of unnecessary supplementation it is important that individuals and their support personal appreciate that supplementation must only be taken when necessary. A food first approach at correcting iron status should be taken where possible.

9 References

1. Schmidt W, Prommer N. Impact of Alterations in Total Hemoglobin Mass on V'O2max. Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 2010 Apr;38(2):68–75.

2. Petkus DL, Murray-Kolb LE, De Souza MJ. The Unexplored Crossroads of the Female Athlete Triad and Iron Deficiency: A Narrative Review. Sports Medicine. 3rd ed. 2017 Mar 13;6(4):319.

3. Gulec S, Anderson GJ, Collins JF. Mechanistic and regulatory aspects of intestinal iron absorption. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2014 Aug 15;307(4):G397–409.

4. Schmidt W, Prommer N. The optimised CO-rebreathing method: a new tool to determine total haemoglobin mass routinely. Eur J Appl Physiol. Springer-Verlag; 2005 Dec;95(5-6):486–95.

5. Reiner M, Niermann C, Jekauc D, Woll A. Long-term health benefits of physical activity--a systematic review of longitudinal studies. BMC Public Health. BioMed Central; 2013 Sep 8;13(1):813.

6. Ljungqvist A, Jenoure PJ, Engebretsen L, Alonso JM, Bahr R, Clough AF, et al. The International Olympic Committee (IOC) consensus statement on periodic health evaluation of elite athletes, March 2009. 2009. pp. 347–65.

7. Zoller H, Vogel W. Iron supplementation in athletes--first do no harm. Nutrition. Elsevier; 2004 Jul;20(7-8):615–9.

8. Costello JT, Bieuzen F, Bleakley CM. Where are all the female participants in Sports and Exercise Medicine research? Eur J Sport Sci. Routledge; 2014;14(8):847–51.

9. McGregor AJ, Choo E. Gender-specific medicine: yesterday"s neglect, tomorrow"s opportunities. Acad Emerg Med. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2012 Jul;19(7):861–5.

10. McGregor AJ, Templeton K, Kleinman MR, Jenkins MR. Advancing sex and gender competency in medicine: sex & gender women's health collaborative. Biology of Sex Differences. BioMed Central; 2013;4(1):11.

11. Bruinvels G, Burden RJ, McGregor AJ, Ackerman KE, Dooley M, Richards T, et al. Sport, exercise and the menstrual cycle: where is the research? Br J Sports Med. BMJ Publishing Group Ltd and British Association of Sport and Exercise Medicine; 2016 Jun 6;:bjsports–2016–096279.

12. Donoghue GD. Women's Health in the Curriculum. Philadelphia: NAWHME; 1996 Jan.

13. Academies I. Women's Health Research: Progress, Pitfalls, and Promise. Washington, DC: Committee on Women's Health Research; 2010 Jan.

14. Costello JT, Bieuzen F, Bleakley CM. Where are all the female participants in Sports and Exercise Medicine research? Eur J Sport Sci. Routledge; 2014;14(8):847–51.

15. Lebrun C, Joyce SM, Constantini N. Effects of female reproductive hormones on sports performance. In: Endocrinology of Physical Activity and Sport. 2nd ed. 2013. pp. 281–322.

16. Oosthuyse T, Bosch AN. The effect of the menstrual cycle on exercise metabolism: implications for exercise performance in eumenorrhoeic women. Sports Med. Springer International Publishing; 2010 Mar 1;40(3):207–27.

17. Sung E, Han A, Hinrichs T, Vorgerd M, Manchado C, Platen P. Effects of follicular versus luteal phase-based strength training in young women. SpringerPlus. Springer International Publishing; 2014;3(1):668.

 18. Periods in sport: Half of athletes don't perform as well when menstruating. 2015
 Aug 10. Available from: http://www.telegraph.co.uk/women/womenslife/11794088/Periods-in-sport-Half-of-athletes-dont-perform-as-well-whenmenstruating.html

19. Periods in sport: New research on the menstrual cycle effect. 2015 Aug 11. Available from: http://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/33858956

Ingle S. Jazmin Sawyers: period pain forced me to pull out of Boston long jump.
 Jun 5. Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/sport/2017/jun/05/jazmin--sawyers-period-pain-athletics-long-jump

21. Warren MP, Perlroth NE. The effects of intense exercise on the female reproductive system. Journal of Endocrinology. BioScientifica; 2001 Jul;170(1):3–11.

22. Roupas N, Georgopoulos N. Menstrual function in sports. HORMONES. 2011 Apr 15;10(2):104–16.

23. Stefani L, Galanti G, Lorini S, Beni G, Dei M, Maffulli N. Female athletes and menstrual disorders: a pilot study. Muscles Ligaments Tendons J. 2016 Apr;6(2):183–7.

24. Czajkowska M, Drosdzol-Cop A, Gałązka I, Naworska B, Skrzypulec-Plinta V. Menstrual Cycle and the Prevalence of Premenstrual Syndrome/Premenstrual Dysphoric Disorder in Adolescent Athletes. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. Elsevier; 2015 Dec;28(6):492–8.

25. Warren MP, Goodman LR. Exercise-induced endocrine pathologies. J Endocrinol Invest. Springer International Publishing; 2003 Sep;26(9):873–8.

26. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Heavy mesntrual bleeding: assessment and management [Internet]. 2007 Jan. Available from: http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG44NICEGuideline.pdf

27. Hallberg L, Nilsson L. DETERMINATION OF MENSTRUAL BLOOD LOSS. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1964;16:244–8.

28. Fraser IS, Mansour D, Breymann C, Hoffman C, Mezzacasa A, Petraglia F. Prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding and experiences of affected women in a European patient survey. Int J Gynaecol Obstet. 2015 Mar;128(3):196–200.

29. Peuranpää P, Heliövaara-Peippo S, Fraser I, Paavonen J, Hurskainen R. Effects of anemia and iron deficiency on quality of life in women with heavy menstrual bleeding. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 12 ed. 2014 Jul;93(7):654–60.

30. Reilly T. The Menstrual Cycle and Human Performance: An Overview. Biological Rhythm Research. Taylor & Francis Group; 2000 Feb 1;31(1):29–40.

31. Nazem TG, Ackerman KE. The female athlete triad. Sports Health. 4 ed. SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2012 Jul;4(4):302–11.

32. Cauci S, Francescato MP, Curcio F. Combined Oral Contraceptives Increase High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein but Not Haptoglobin in Female Athletes. Sports Medicine. Springer International Publishing; 2016 Apr 15;47(1):175–85.

33. Lebrun CM, Petit MA, McKenzie DC, Taunton JE, Prior JC. Decreased maximal aerobic capacity with use of a triphasic oral contraceptive in highly active women: a randomised controlled trial. Br J Sports Med. BMJ Group; 2003 Aug;37(4):315–20.

34. Wikström-Frisén L, Boraxbekk CJ, Henriksson-Larsén K. Effects on power, strength and lean body mass of menstrual/oral contraceptive cycle based resistance training. J Sports Med Phys Fitness. 2017 Jan;57(1-2):43–52.

35. Beard J. Iron biology in immune function, muscle metabolism and neuronal functioning. Journal of Nutrition. 2001 Feb 1;131(2S-2):568S–579S.

36. Beard J, Tobin B. Iron status and exercise. Am J Clin Nutr. 2000 Aug;72(2 Suppl):594S–7S.

37. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, United Nations University. Worldwide prevalence of anaemia 1993-2005 [Internet]. Geneva; 2008 Jan. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/43894/1/9789241596657_eng.pdf

38. Wang W, Bourgeois T, Kilma J, Berlan ED, Fischers AN, O'Brien SH. Iron deficiency and fatigue in adolescent females with heavy menstrual bleeding. Haemophilia. 2013 Mar 19;19(2):225–30.

39. Deugnier Y, Loréal O, Carré F, Duvallet A, Zoulim F, Vinel JP, et al. Increased body iron stores in elite road cyclists. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2002 May;34(5):876–80.

40. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, United Nations University. Iron Deficiency Anaemia [Internet]. Geneva; 2010 Jan. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/66914/1/WHO_NHD_01.3.pdf?ua=1

41.WHO | World Health Organization. WHO [Internet]. Geneva: World Health
Organization;2011Jan1.Availablefrom:http://www.who.int/vmnis/indicators/serum_ferritin

42. Mast AE, Blinder MA, Lu Q, Flax S, Dietzen DJ. Clinical utility of the reticulocyte hemoglobin content in the diagnosis of iron deficiency. Blood. 2002 Feb 15;99(4):1489–91.

43. Suedekum NA, Dimeff RJ. Iron and the Athlete. Curr Sports Med Rep. 2005 Aug;4(4):199–202.

44. Schumacher YO, Schmid A, Grathwohl D, Bültermann D, Berg A. Hematological indices and iron status in athletes of various sports and performances. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2002 May;34(5):869–75.

45. Malczewska J, Raczynski G, Stupnicki R. Iron Status in Female Endurance Athletes and in Non-Athletes. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2000 Sep;10(3):260–76.

46. Burden RJ, Morton K, Richards T, Whyte GP, Pedlar CR. Is iron treatment beneficial in, iron-deficient but non-anaemic (IDNA) endurance athletes? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. BMJ Publishing Group Ltd and British Association of Sport and Exercise Medicine; 2015 Nov;49(21):1389–97.

47. Garza D, Shrier I, Kohl HW, Ford P, Brown M, Matheson GO. The clinical value of serum ferritin tests in endurance athletes. Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine. 1997 Jan;7(1):46–53.

48. Blee T, Goodman C, Dawson B, Stapff A. The effect of intramuscular iron injections on serum ferritin levels and physical performance in elite netballers. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport. Elsevier; 1999 Dec;2(4):311–21.

49. Fogelholm M, Jaakkola L, Lampisjärvi T. Effects of iron supplementation in female athletes with low serum ferritin concentration. Int J Sports Med. © Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York; 1992 Feb;13(2):158–62.

50. Hinton PS, Giordano C, Brownlie T, Haas JD. Iron supplementation improves endurance after training in iron-depleted, nonanemic women. J Appl Physiol. 2000 Mar;88(3):1103–11.

51. Burden RJ, Pollock N, Whyte GP, Richards T, Moore B, Busbridge M, et al. Effect of Intravenous Iron on Aerobic Capacity and Iron Metabolism in Elite Athletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2015 Jul;47(7):1399–407.

52. GARVICAN LA, Saunders PU, CARDOSO T, MACDOUGALL IC, LOBIGS LM, Fazakerley R, et al. Intravenous Iron Supplementation in Distance Runners with Low or Suboptimal Ferritin. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2014 Feb;46(2):376–85.

53. Peeling P, Blee T, Goodman C, Dawson B, Claydon G, Beilby J, et al. Effect of Iron Injections on Aerobic-Exercise Performance of Iron-Depleted Female Athletes. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2007 Jun;17(3):221–31.

54. Klingshirn LA, Pate RR, Bourque SP, Davis JM, Sargent RG. Effect of iron supplementation on endurance capacity in iron-depleted female runners. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1992 Jul;24(7):819–24.

55. MACDOUGALL IC. Strategies for iron supplementation: Oral versus intravenous. Kidney International. 1999 Mar;55:S61–6.

56. Krayenbuehl P-A, Battegay E, Breymann C, Furrer J, Schulthess G. Intravenous iron for the treatment of fatigue in nonanemic, premenopausal women with low serum ferritin concentration. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2011 Sep 22;118(12):3222–7.

57. Murray-Kolb LE, Beard JL. Iron treatment normalizes cognitive functioning in young women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007 Mar;85(3):778–87.

58. Woods A, Garvican-Lewis LA, Saunders PU, Lovell G, Hughes D, Fazakerley R, et al. Four weeks of IV iron supplementation reduces perceived fatigue and mood disturbance in distance runners. Alway SE, editor. PLoS ONE. Public Library of Science; 2014;9(9):e108042.

59. Rowland T. Iron Deficiency in Athletes. American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine. 3rd ed. SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2012 Jul;6(4):319–27.

60. Tsalis G, Nikolaidis MG, Mougios V. Effects of Iron Intake Through Food or Supplement on Iron Status and Performance of Healthy Adolescent Swimmers During a Training Season. Int J Sports Med. © Georg Thieme Verlag KG Stuttgart · New York; 2004 May;25(4):306–13.

61. Schümann K, Kroll S, Weiss G, Frank J, Biesalski HK, Daniel H, et al. Monitoring of hematological, inflammatory and oxidative reactions to acute oral iron exposure in human volunteers: preliminary screening for selection of potentially-responsive biomarkers. Toxicology. 2005 Aug 15;212(1):10–23.

62. Ganz T, Nemeth E. Hepcidin and Disorders of Iron Metabolism. Annual Review of Medicine. Annual Reviews; 2011 Feb 18;62(1):347–60.

63. Taylor KG, Konhauser KO. Iron in Earth Surface Systems: A Major Player in Chemical and Biological Processes. Elements. GeoScienceWorld; 2011 Apr 10;7(2):83–8.

64. Ilbert M, Bonnefoy V. Insight into the evolution of the iron oxidation pathways. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013 Feb;1827(2):161–75.

65. Webb EC. Enzyme Nomenclature. In: The Terminology of Biotechnology: A Multidisciplinary Problem. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 1990. pp. 51–60.

66. Aisen P. Chemistry and biology of eukaryotic iron metabolism. The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology. 2001 Oct;33(10):940–59.

67. Abbaspour N, Hurrell R, Kelishadi R. Review on iron and its importance for human health. J Res Med Sci. Medknow Publications; 2014 Feb;19(2):164–74.

68. Papanikolaou G, Pantopoulos K. Iron metabolism and toxicity. Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology. 2005 Jan;202(2):199–211.

69. Klausner RD, Rouault T. The molecular basis of iron metabolism. Harvey Lect. 1996;92:99–112.

70. Johnson-Wimbley TD, Graham DY. Diagnosis and management of iron deficiency anemia in the 21st century. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England; 2011 May;4(3):177–84.

71. Pantopoulos K, Porwal SK, Tartakoff A, Devireddy L. Mechanisms of Mammalian Iron Homeostasis. Biochemistry. 2012 Jul 24;51(29):5705–24.

72. Saito H. METABOLISM OF IRON STORES. Nagoya J Med Sci. Nagoya University School of Medicine/Graduate School of Medicine; 2014 Aug;76(3-4):235–54.

73. Ganz T. Systemic iron homeostasis. Physiological Reviews. American Physiological Society; 2013 Oct;93(4):1721–41.

74. Pasricha S-RS, Flecknoe-Brown SC, Allen KJ, Gibson PR, McMahon LP, Olynyk JK, et al. Diagnosis and management of iron deficiency anaemia: a clinical update. Med J Aust. 2010 Nov 1;193(9):525–32.

75. Hunt JR, Zito CA, Johnson LK. Body iron excretion by healthy men and women. Am J Clin Nutr. American Society for Nutrition; 2009 Jun;89(6):1792–8.

76. Rochette L, Gudjoncik A, Guenancia C, Zeller M, Cottin Y, Vergely C. The ironregulatory hormone hepcidin: a possible therapeutic target? Pharmacol Ther. 2015 Feb;146:35–52.

77. Hoffbrand AV, Moss PAH. Essential Haematology. Sixth Edition. Oxford, UK: John Wiley & Sons; 2011.

78. Ponka P. Tissue-specific regulation of iron metabolism and heme synthesis: distinct control mechanisms in erythroid cells. Blood. 1997 Jan 1;89(1):1–25.

79. Dailey HA, Meissner PN. Erythroid heme biosynthesis and its disorders. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2013 Apr 1;3(4):a011676–6.

80. Wu CK, Dailey HA, Rose JP, Burden A, Sellers VM, Wang BC. The 2.0 A structure of human ferrochelatase, the terminal enzyme of heme biosynthesis. Nat Struct Biol. 2001 Feb;8(2):156–60.

81. Pasricha S-R, McHugh K, Drakesmith H. Regulation of Hepcidin by Erythropoiesis: The Story So Far. Annual Reviews; 2016 Jul 17;36(1):417–34.

82. Ordway GA, Garry DJ. Myoglobin: an essential hemoprotein in striated muscle. J Exp Biol. The Company of Biologists Ltd; 2004 Sep;207(Pt 20):3441–6.

83. Beaton GH, Corey PN, Steele C. Conceptual and methodological issues regarding the epidemiology of iron deficiency and their implications for studies of the functional consequences of iron deficiency. Am J Clin Nutr. 1989 Sep;50(3 Suppl):575–85–discussion586–8.

84. Sánchez M, Sabio L, Gálvez N, Capdevila M, Dominguez-Vera JM. Iron chemistry at the service of life. IUBMB Life. 2017 Feb 2;59(1-2):1217.

85. Paul BT, Manz DH, Torti FM, Torti SV. Mitochondria and Iron: current questions. Expert Rev Hematol. 2017 Jan;10(1):65–79.

86. Berg JM, Tymoczko JL, Stryer L. Biochemistry [Internet]. 5 ed. Freeman WH, editor. New York. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK22505/

87. Rouault TA. The role of iron regulatory proteins in mammalian iron homeostasis and disease. Nat Chem Biol. 2006 Aug;2(8):406–14.

88. Rouault TA. Iron-sulfur proteins hiding in plain sight. Nat Chem Biol. 2015 Jul;11(7):442–5.

89. Cassat JE, Skaar EP. Iron in infection and immunity. Cell Host Microbe. Elsevier; 2013 May 15;13(5):509–19.

90. Drakesmith H, Prentice AM. Hepcidin and the iron-infection axis. Science. American Association for the Advancement of Science; 2012 Nov 9;338(6108):768–72.

91. Brasse-Lagnel C, Karim Z, Letteron P, Bekri S, Bado A, Beaumont C. Intestinal DMT1 cotransporter is down-regulated by hepcidin via proteasome internalization and degradation. Gastroenterology. Elsevier; 2011 Apr;140(4):1261–1.

92. Peyssonnaux C, Zinkernagel AS, Datta V, Lauth X, Johnson RS, Nizet V. TLR4dependent hepcidin expression by myeloid cells in response to bacterial pathogens. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2006 May 1;107(9):3727–32.

93. Buratti P, Gammella E, Rybinska I, Cairo G, Recalcati S. Recent Advances in Iron
Metabolism: Relevance for Health, Exercise, and Performance. Med Sci Sports Exerc.
2015 Aug;47(8):1596–604.

94. Denic S, Agarwal MM. Nutritional iron deficiency: an evolutionary perspective. Nutrition. 2007 Jul;23(7-8):603–14.

95. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, United Nations University. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity [Internet]. Geneva. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/85839/3/WHO_NMH_NHD_MNM_11.1_eng.pdf? ua=1

96. Camaschella C. New insights into iron deficiency and iron deficiency anemia. Blood Rev. Elsevier; 2017 Feb 13;0(0).

97. Powers JM, Buchanan GR. Diagnosis and management of iron deficiency anemia. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2014 Aug;28(4):729–45–vi–vii.

98. Hallberg L, Bengtsson C, Lapidus L, Lindstedt G, Lundberg PA, Hultén L. Screening for iron deficiency: an analysis based on bone-marrow examinations and serum ferritin determinations in a population sample of women. Br J Haematol. 1993 Dec;85(4):787–98.

99. Hunt JR. How important is dietary iron bioavailability? Am J Clin Nutr. 2001 Jan;73(1):3–4.

100. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, United Nations University. Iron Deficiency Anaemia: Assessment, Prevention, and Control. Scand J Clin Lab Invest [Internet]. Taylor & Francis; 2001 Jan 1. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/66914/1/WHO_NHD_01.3.pdf

101. Beard J, Han O. Systemic iron status. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects. 2009 Jul;1790(7):584–8.

102. Skarpańska-Stejnborn A, Basta P, Trzeciak J, Szcześniak-Pilaczyńska Ł. Effect of intense physical exercise on hepcidin levels and selected parameters of iron metabolism in rowing athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2015 Feb;115(2):345–51.

103. Rodenberg RE, Gustafson S. Iron as an ergogenic aid: ironclad evidence? Curr Sports Med Rep. 2007 Jul;6(4):258–64.

104. Jacobs A, Miller F, Worwood M, Beamish MR, Wardrop CA. Ferritin in the serum of normal subjects and patients with iron deficiency and iron overload. Br Med J. BMJ Group; 1972 Oct 28;4(5834):206–8.

105. Pittori C, Buser A, Gasser UE, Sigle J, Job S, Rüesch M, et al. A pilot iron substitution programme in female blood donors with iron deficiency without anaemia. Vox Sang. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2011 Apr;100(3):303–11.

106. Alaunyte I, Stojceska V, Plunkett A. Iron and the female athlete: a review of dietary treatment methods for improving iron status and exercise performance. J Int Soc Sports Nutr. BioMed Central; 2015 Oct 6;12(1):50.

107. Heinrich H. Falsely low normal values for serum ferritin? Clin Chem. 1981 May;27(5):768–9.

108. Eichner ER. Sports anemia, iron supplements, and blood doping. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1992 Sep;24(9 Suppl):S315–8.

109. Gore CJ, Scroop GC, Marker JD, Catcheside PG. Plasma volume, osmolarity, total protein and electrolytes during treadmill running and cycle ergometer exercise. European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology. Springer-Verlag; 1992;65(4):302–10.

110. Deli CK, Fatouros IG, Koutedakis Y, Jamurtas AZ. Iron supplementation and physical performance. In: M H, N D, Y K, editors. Current Issues in Sports and Exercise Medicine. 2013.

111. Zimmermann MB, Hurrell RF. Nutritional iron deficiency. Lancet. Elsevier; 2007 Aug 11;370(9586):511–20.

112. Mei Z, Cogswell ME, Parvanta I, Lynch S, Beard JL, Stoltzfus RJ, et al. Hemoglobin and ferritin are currently the most efficient indicators of population response to iron interventions: an analysis of nine randomized controlled trials. Journal of Nutrition. 2005 Aug;135(8):1974–80.

113. Schumacher YO, Schmid A, König D, Berg A. Effects of exercise on soluble transferrin receptor and other variables of the iron status. Br J Sports Med. British Association of Sport and Excercise Medicine; 2002 Jun;36(3):195–9.

114. Brugnara C. Iron deficiency and erythropoiesis: new diagnostic approaches. Clin Chem. 2003 Oct;49(10):1573–8.

115. Skikne BS, Punnonen K, Caldron PH, Bennett MT, Rehu M, Gasior GH, et al. Improved differential diagnosis of anemia of chronic disease and iron deficiency anemia: a prospective multicenter evaluation of soluble transferrin receptor and the sTfR/log ferritin index. American Journal of Hematology. Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company; 2011 Nov;86(11):923–7.

116. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, United Nations University. The global prevalence of anaemia in 2011. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2015 Jan.

117. Stoltzfus RJ. Iron deficiency: global prevalence and consequences. Food Nutr Bull. SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2003 Dec;24(4 Suppl):S99–103.

118. Henderson L, Irving K, Gregory J, Bates CJ, Prentice A, Perks J, et al. *The National Diet and Nutrition Survey: adults aged 19 to 64 years.* London: TSO; 2003 Jan.

119. Dubnov G, Constantini NW. Prevalence of iron depletion and anemia in top-level basketball players. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2004 Feb;14(1):30–7.

120. Sinclair LM, Hinton PS. Prevalence of iron deficiency with and without anemia in recreationally active men and women. J Am Diet Assoc. Elsevier; 2005 Jun;105(6):975–8.

121. Di Santolo M, Stel G, Banfi G, Gonano F, Cauci S. Anemia and iron status in young fertile non-professional female athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol. Springer-Verlag; 2008 Apr;102(6):703–9.

122. Wintrobe MM. Classification of the Anemias on the Basis of Differences in the Size and Hemoglobin Content of the Red Corpuscles. Experimental Biology and Medicine. SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England; 1930 Jun 1;27(9):1071–3.

123. Wintrobe MM. The size and hemoglobin content of the erythrocyte. Methods of determination and clinical application. 1932. Vol. 115, The Journal of laboratory and clinical medicine. 1990. 14 p.

124. Bessman JD, Gilmer PR, Gardner FH. Improved classification of anemias by MCV and RDW. Am J Clin Pathol. 1983 Sep;80(3):322–6.

125. Brugnara C, Mohandas N. Red cell indices in classification and treatment of anemias: from M.M. Wintrobes's original 1934 classification to the third millennium. Curr Opin Hematol. 2013 May;20(3):222–30.

126. Buttarello M. Laboratory diagnosis of anemia: are the old and new red cell parameters useful in classification and treatment, how? Int J Lab Hematol. 2016 May 16;38(suppl 1):123–32.

127. Aslinia F, Mazza JJ, Yale SH. Megaloblastic anemia and other causes of macrocytosis. Clin Med Res. Marshfield Clinic; 2006 Sep;4(3):236–41.

128. Cascio MJ, DeLoughery TG. Anemia: Evaluation and Diagnostic Tests. Med Clin North Am. 2017 Mar;101(2):263–84.

129. Savage DG, Ogundipe A, Lindenbaum J, Stabler SP, Hallen R. Etiology and Diagnostic Evaluation of Macrocytosis. The American Journal of the Medical Sciences. 2000 Jun;319(6):343–52.

130. DeLoughery TG. Microcytic anemia. N Engl J Med. Massachusetts Medical Society; 2014 Oct 2;371(14):1324–31.

131. Weiss G, Goodnough LT. Anemia of chronic disease. N Engl J Med. 2005 Mar 10;352(10):1011–23.

132. Spinneker A, Sola R, Lemmen V, Castillo MJ, Pietrzik K, Gonzalez-Gross M. Vitamin B6 status, deficiency and its consequences--an overview. Nutr Hosp. 2007 Jan;22(1):7–24.

133. Clayton PT. B6-responsive disorders: a model of vitamin dependency. J Inherit Metab Dis. 8 ed. 2006 Apr;29(2-3):317–26.

134. Urrechaga E. Red blood cell microcytosis and hypochromia in the differential diagnosis of iron deficiency and beta-thalassaemia trait. Int J Lab Hematol. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2009 Oct;31(5):528–34.

135. Longo DL, Camaschella C. Iron-Deficiency Anemia. N Engl J Med. 2015 May 7;372(19):1832–43.

136. Miller JL. Iron deficiency anemia: a common and curable disease. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2013 Jul 1;3(7):a011866–6.

137. Shankar P, Boylan M, Sriram K. Micronutrient deficiencies after bariatric surgery. Nutrition. 2010 Nov;26(11-12):1031–7.

138. Vitale G, Barbaro F, Ianiro G, Cesario V, Gasbarrini G, Franceschi F, et al. Nutritional aspects of Helicobacter pylori infection. Minerva Gastroenterol Dietol. 2011 Dec;57(4):369–77.

139. Miller EM. The reproductive ecology of iron in women. Am J Phys Anthropol. 2016 Jan;159(Suppl 61):S172–95.

140. Hurrell R, Egli I. Iron bioavailability and dietary reference values. Am J Clin Nutr. American Society for Nutrition; 2010 May;91(5):1461S–1467S.

141. Monsen ER, Hallberg L, Layrisse M, Hegsted DM, Cook JD, Mertz W, et al. Estimation of available dietary iron. Am J Clin Nutr. 1978 Jan;31(1):134–41.

142. Shayeghi M, Latunde-Dada GO, Oakhill JS, Laftah AH, Takeuchi K, Halliday N, et al. Identification of an intestinal heme transporter. Cell. Elsevier; 2005 Sep 9;122(5):789–801.

143. Food Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, United Nations University. Human vitamin and mineral requirements. Rome: FAO; 2001. 19 p.

144. Collins JF, Prohaska JR, Knutson MD. Metabolic crossroads of iron and copper. Nutr Rev. 2010 Mar;68(3):133–47.

145. UNDERWOOD EJ. Copper. In: Trace Elements in Human and Animal Nutrition. Elsevier; 1977. pp. 56–108.

146. Prohaska JR. Impact of copper deficiency in humans. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2014 May;1314(1):1–5.

147. Beck KL, Conlon CA, Kruger R, Coad J. Dietary determinants of and possible solutions to iron deficiency for young women living in industrialized countries: a review. Nutrients. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute; 2014 Sep 19;6(9):3747–76.

148. Blanco-Rojo R, Toxqui L, López-Parra AM, Baeza-Richer C, Pérez-Granados AM, Arroyo-Pardo E, et al. Influence of diet, menstruation and genetic factors on iron status: a cross-sectional study in Spanish women of childbearing age. Int J Mol Sci. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute; 2014 Mar 6;15(3):4077–87.

149. Rangan AM, Aitkin I, Blight GD, Binns CW. Factors affecting iron status in 15-30 year old female students. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 1997 Dec;6(4):291–5.

150. Galán P, Hercberg S, Soustre Y, Dop MC, Dupin H. Factors affecting iron stores in French female students. Hum Nutr Clin Nutr. 1985 Jul;39(4):279–87.

151. Brussaard JH, Brants HA, Bouman M, Löwik MR. Iron intake and iron status among adults in the Netherlands. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1997 Nov;51 Suppl 3:S51–8.

152. Cade JE, Moreton JA, O'Hara B, Greenwood DC, Moor J, Burley VJ, et al. Diet and genetic factors associated with iron status in middle-aged women. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005 Oct;82(4):813–20.

153. Pynaert I, De Bacquer D, Matthys C, Delanghe J, Temmerman M, De Backer G, et al. Determinants of ferritin and soluble transferrin receptors as iron status parameters in young adult women. Public Health Nutr. Cambridge University Press; 2009 Oct;12(10):1775–82.

154. Worthington-Roberts BS, Breskin MW, Monsen ER. Iron status of premenopausal women in a university community and its relationship to habitual dietary sources of protein. Am J Clin Nutr. 1988 Feb;47(2):275–9.

155. Faber M, Gouws E, Benadé AJ, Labadarios D. Anthropometric measurements, dietary intake and biochemical data of South African lacto-ovovegetarians. S Afr Med J. 1986 Jun 7;69(12):733–8.

156. Haider LM, Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G, Ekmekcioglu C. The effect of vegetarian diets on iron status in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 2016 Nov 23;19:1–16.

157. Harvey LJ, Armah CN, Dainty JR, Foxall RJ, John Lewis D, Langford NJ, et al. Impact of menstrual blood loss and diet on iron deficiency among women in the UK. Br J Nutr. 2005 Oct;94(4):557–64.

158. Hallberg L, Brune M, Rossander L. Iron absorption in man: ascorbic acid and dosedependent inhibition by phytate. Am J Clin Nutr. 1989 Jan;49(1):140–4.

159. Conrad ME, Schade SG. Ascorbic acid chelates in iron absorption: a role for hydrochloric acid and bile. Gastroenterology. 1968 Jul;55(1):35–45.

160. Teucher B, Olivares M, Cori H. Enhancers of iron absorption: ascorbic acid and other organic acids. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. Verlag Hans Huber; 2004 Nov;74(6):403–19.

161. Blanco-Rojo R, Pérez-Granados AM, Toxqui L, González-Vizcayno C, Delgado MA, Vaquero MP. Efficacy of a microencapsulated iron pyrophosphate-fortified fruit juice: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study in Spanish iron-deficient women. Br J Nutr. 2011 Jun;105(11):1652–9.

162. Layrisse M, Martínez-Torres C, Leets I, Taylor P, Ramírez J. Effect of histidine, cysteine, glutathione or beef on iron absorption in humans. Journal of Nutrition. 1984 Jan;114(1):217–23.

163. Taylor PG, Martínez-Torres C, Romano EL, Layrisse M. The effect of cysteinecontaining peptides released during meat digestion on iron absorption in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 1986 Jan;43(1):68–71.

164. Huh EC, Hotchkiss A, Brouillette J, Glahn RP. Carbohydrate fractions from cooked fish promote iron uptake by Caco-2 cells. Journal of Nutrition. 2004 Jul;134(7):1681–9.

165. Armah CN, Sharp P, Mellon FA, Pariagh S, Lund EK, Dainty JR, et al. L-alphaglycerophosphocholine contributes to meat's enhancement of nonheme iron absorption. J Nutr. 2008 May;138(5):873–7.

166. Iqbal TH, Lewis KO, Cooper BT. Phytase activity in the human and rat small intestine. Gut. BMJ Publishing Group; 1994 Sep;35(9):1233–6.

167. Egli I, Davidsson L, Zeder C, Walczyk T, Hurrell R. Dephytinization of a complementary food based on wheat and soy increases zinc, but not copper, apparent absorption in adults. Journal of Nutrition. 2004 May;134(5):1077–80.

168. Gibson RS, Bailey KB, Gibbs M, Ferguson EL. A review of phytate, iron, zinc, and calcium concentrations in plant-based complementary foods used in low-income countries and implications for bioavailability. Food Nutr Bull. SAGE PublicationsSage CA: Los Angeles, CA; 2010 Jun;31(2 Suppl):S134–46.

169. Siegenberg D, Baynes RD, Bothwell TH, Macfarlane BJ, Lamparelli RD, Car NG, et al. Ascorbic acid prevents the dose-dependent inhibitory effects of polyphenols and phytates on nonheme-iron absorption. Am J Clin Nutr. 1991 Feb;53(2):537–41.

170. Hurrell RF, Reddy M, Cook JD. Inhibition of non-haem iron absorption in man by polyphenolic-containing beverages. Br J Nutr. 1999 Apr;81(4):289–95.

171. Brune M, Rossander L, Hallberg L. Iron absorption and phenolic compounds: importance of different phenolic structures. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1989 Aug;43(8):547–57.

172. Cook JD, Dassenko SA, Whittaker P. Calcium supplementation: effect on iron absorption. Am J Clin Nutr. 1991 Jan;53(1):106–11.

173. Hallberg L, Rossander-Hulthén L, Brune M, Gleerup A. Inhibition of haem-iron absorption in man by calcium. Br J Nutr. 1993 Mar;69(2):533–40.

174. Roughead ZKF, Zito CA, Hunt JR. Inhibitory effects of dietary calcium on the initial uptake and subsequent retention of heme and nonheme iron in humans: comparisons using an intestinal lavage method. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005 Sep;82(3):589–97.

175. Cook JD, Monsen ER. Food iron absorption in human subjects. III. Comparison of the effect of animal proteins on nonheme iron absorption. Am J Clin Nutr. 1976 Aug;29(8):859–67.

176. Lynch SR, Dassenko SA, Cook JD, Juillerat MA, Hurrell RF. Inhibitory effect of a soybean-protein--related moiety on iron absorption in humans. Am J Clin Nutr. 1994 Oct;60(4):567–72.

177. Brune M, Magnusson B, Persson H, Hallberg L. Iron losses in sweat. Am J Clin Nutr. 1986 Mar;43(3):438–43.

178. DeRuisseau KC, Cheuvront SN, Haymes EM, Sharp RG. Sweat Iron and Zinc Losses during Prolonged Exercise. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2002 Dec;12(4):428–37.

179. Waterman JJ, Kapur R. Upper gastrointestinal issues in athletes. Curr Sports Med Rep. 2012 Mar;11(2):99–104.

180. Peeling P, Dawson B, Goodman C, Landers G, Trinder D. Athletic induced iron deficiency: new insights into the role of inflammation, cytokines and hormones. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2008 Jul;103(4):381–91.

181. Otte JA, Oostveen E, Geelkerken RH, Groeneveld AB, Kolkman JJ. Exercise induces gastric ischemia in healthy volunteers: a tonometry study. J Appl Physiol. 2001 Aug;91(2):866–71.

182. Peters HP, De Vries WR, Vanberge-Henegouwen GP, Akkermans LM. Potential benefits and hazards of physical activity and exercise on the gastrointestinal tract. Gut. BMJ Publishing Group; 2001 Mar;48(3):435–9.

183. Miller BJ, Pate RR, Burgess W. Foot impact force and intravascular hemolysis during distance running. Int J Sports Med. © Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York; 1988 Feb;9(1):56–60.

184. McInnis MD, Newhouse IJ, Duvillard von SP, Thayer R. The effect of exercise intensity on hematuria in healthy male runners. European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology. 1998 Dec;79(1):99–105.

185. Blacklock NJ. Bladder trauma in the long-distance runner: "10,000 metres haematuria". Br J Urol. 1977 Apr;49(2):129–32.

186. Telford RD, Sly GJ, Hahn AG, Cunningham RB, Bryant C, Smith JA. Footstrike is the major cause of hemolysis during running. American Physiological Society; 2003 Jan;94(1):38–42.

187. Zourdos MC, Sanchez-Gonzalez MA, Mahoney SE. A brief review: the implications of iron supplementation for marathon runners on health and performance. J Strength Cond Res. 2015 Feb;29(2):559–65.

188. King DA, Gabbett TJ, Gissane C, Hodgson L. Epidemiological studies of injuries in rugby league: suggestions for definitions, data collection and reporting methods. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport. Elsevier; 2009 Jan;12(1):12–9.

189. Selby GB, Eichner ER. Endurance swimming, intravascular hemolysis, anemia, and iron depletion. The American Journal of Medicine. Elsevier; 1986 Nov;81(5):791–4.

190. Giblett ER. Haptoglobin: A Review. Vox Sang. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 1961 Sep;6(5):513–24.

191. Wassell J. Haptoglobin: function and polymorphism. Clin Lab. 2000;46(11-12):547–52.

192. Levy AP, Asleh R, Blum S, Levy NS, Miller-Lotan R, Kalet-Litman S, et al. Haptoglobin: basic and clinical aspects. Antioxid Redox Signal. Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801 USA; 2010 Feb;12(2):293–304.

193. Shih AWY, McFarlane A, Verhovsek M. Haptoglobin testing in hemolysis: measurement and interpretation. American Journal of Hematology. 2014 Apr;89(4):443–7.

194. Ziegler P, Sharp R, Hughes V, Evans W, Khoo CS. Nutritional status of teenage female competitive figure skaters. J Am Diet Assoc. 2002 Mar;102(3):374–9.

195. Gropper SS, Blessing D, Dunham K, Barksdale JM. Iron status of female collegiate athletes involved in different sports. Biol Trace Elem Res. 2006 Jan;109(1):1–14.

196. Rowland TW, Kelleher JF. Iron deficiency in athletes. Insights from high school swimmers. Am J Dis Child. 1989 Feb;143(2):197–200.

197. Whiting SJ, Barabash WA. Dietary Reference Intakes for the micronutrients: considerations for physical activity. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada; 2006 Feb;31(1):80–5.

198. Robach P, Cairo G, Gelfi C, Bernuzzi F, Pilegaard H, Viganò A, et al. Strong iron demand during hypoxia-induced erythropoiesis is associated with down-regulation of iron-related proteins and myoglobin in human skeletal muscle. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2007 Jun 1;109(11):4724–31.

199. Nemeth E, Valore EV, Territo M, Schiller G, Lichtenstein A, Ganz T. Hepcidin, a putative mediator of anemia of inflammation, is a type II acute-phase protein. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2003 Apr 1;101(7):2461–3.

200. Steensberg A, van Hall G, Osada T, Sacchetti M, Saltin B, Klarlund Pedersen B. Production of interleukin-6 in contracting human skeletal muscles can account for the

exercise-induced increase in plasma interleukin-6. J Physiol (Lond). Wiley-Blackwell; 2000 Nov 15;529 Pt 1(Pt 1):237–42.

201. Febbraio MA. Exercise and inflammation. J Appl Physiol. 2007 Jul;103(1):376–7.

202. Ostrowski K, Rohde T, Zacho M, Asp S, Pedersen BK. Evidence that interleukin-6 is produced in human skeletal muscle during prolonged running. J Physiol (Lond). Wiley-Blackwell; 1998 May 1;508 (Pt 3)(Pt 3):949–53.

203. Peeling P, Dawson B, Goodman C, Landers G, Wiegerinck ET, Swinkels DW, et al. Effects of exercise on hepcidin response and iron metabolism during recovery. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2009 Dec;19(6):583–97.

204. Peeling P. Exercise as a mediator of hepcidin activity in athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol. Springer-Verlag; 2010 Nov;110(5):877–83.

205. Sandström G, Rödjer S, Jacobsson S, Nelson D, Börjesson M. Increased Level of Serum Hepcidin in Female Adolescent Athletes. Clin J Sport Med. Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine; 2017 Apr 27; Publish Ahead of Print:1.

206. Woolf K, St Thomas MM, Hahn N, Vaughan LA, Carlson AG, Hinton P. Iron Status in Highly Active and Sedentary Young Women. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2009 Oct;19(5):519–35.

207. Landahl G, Adolfsson P, Börjesson M, Mannheimer C, Rödjer S. Iron Deficiency and Anemia: A Common Problem in Female Elite Soccer Players. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2005 Dec;15(6):689–94.

208. Milic R, Martinovic J, Dopsaj M, Dopsaj V. Haematological and iron-related parameters in male and female athletes according to different metabolic energy demands. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2010 Sep 30;111(3):449–58.

209. Johnson-Wimbley TD, Graham DY. Diagnosis and management of iron deficiency anemia in the 21st century. Therap Adv Gastroenterol. SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England; 2011 May;4(3):177–84.

210. Dasharathy SS, Mumford SL, Pollack AZ, Perkins NJ, Mattison DR, Wactawski-Wende J, et al. Menstrual bleeding patterns among regularly menstruating women. Am J Epidemiol. 2012 Mar 15;175(6):536–45.

211. Newton J, Barnard G, Collins W. A rapid method for measuring menstrual blood loss using automatic extraction. Contraception. Elsevier; 1977 Sep;16(3):269–82.

212. The Menorrhagia Research Group, Warrilow G, Kirkham C, Ismail KM, Wyatt K, Dimmock P, et al. Quantification of menstrual blood loss. The Obstetrician & Gynaecologist. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2011 Jan 24;6(2):88–92.

213. Hallberg L, Hôgdahl A-M, Nilsson L, Rybo G. Menstrual Blood Loss–A Population Study: Variation at different ages and attempts to define normality. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 1966 Jan;45(3):320–51. 214. Hallberg L, Nilsson L. Constancy of Individual Menstrual Blood Loss. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 1964 Jan;43(4):352–9.

215. Rybo GR, Hallberg L. Influence of Heredity and Environment on Normal Menstrual Blood Loss: A Study of Twins. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 1966 Jan;45(4):389–410.

216. Napolitano M, Dolce A, Celenza G, Grandone E, Perilli MG, Siragusa S, et al. Irondependent erythropoiesis in women with excessive menstrual blood losses and women with normal menses. Ann Hematol. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2014 Apr;93(4):557–63.

217. Hallberg L, Nilsson L. Determination of Menstrual Blood Loss. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1964;16(2):244–8.

218. Srivaths LV, Bercaw JL, Dietrich JE. Heavy Menstrual Bleeding. In: Management of Bleeding Patients [Internet]. Cham: Springer, Cham; 2016. pp. 199–206. Available from: https://www.acog.org/Patients/FAQs/Heavy-Menstrual-Bleeding

219. Marret H, Fauconnier A, Chabbert-Buffet N, Cravello L, Golfier F, Gondry J, et al. Clinical practice guidelines on menorrhagia: management of abnormal uterine bleeding before menopause. Vol. 152, European journal of obstetrics, gynecology, and reproductive biology. Elsevier; 2010. pp. 133–7.

220. El-Hemaidi I, Gharaibeh A, Shehata H. Menorrhagia and bleeding disorders. Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2007 Dec;19(6):513–20.

221. Grajewski B, Nguyen MM, Whelan EA, Cole RJ, Hein MJ. Measuring and identifying large-study metrics for circadian rhythm disruption in female flight attendants. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2003 Oct;29(5):337–46.

222. Brown LM, Clegg DJ. Central effects of estradiol in the regulation of food intake, body weight, and adiposity. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 2010 Oct;122(1-3):65–73.

223. YEAGER KK, AGOSTINI R, Nattiv A, DRINKWATER B. The female athlete triad: disordered eating, amenorrhea, osteoporosis. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1993 Jul;25(7):775–7.

224. Mountjoy M, Sundgot-Borgen J, Burke L, Carter S, Constantini N, Lebrun C, et al. The IOC consensus statement: beyond the Female Athlete Triad--Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport (RED-S). BMJ Publishing Group Ltd and British Association of Sport and Exercise Medicine; 2014. pp. 491–7.

225. Ponikowski P, Filippatos G, Colet JC, Willenheimer R, Dickstein K, Lüscher T, et al. The impact of intravenous ferric carboxymaltose on renal function: an analysis of the FAIR-HF study. Eur J Heart Fail. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2015 Mar;17(3):329–39.

226. Favrat B, Balck K, Breymann C, Hedenus M, Keller T, Mezzacasa A, et al. Evaluation of a single dose of ferric carboxymaltose in fatigued, iron-deficient women---

PREFER a randomized, placebo-controlled study. Collins JF, editor. PLoS ONE. Public Library of Science; 2014;9(4):e94217.

227. Finch CA, Miller LR, Inamdar AR, Person R, Seiler K, Mackler B. Iron deficiency in the rat. Physiological and biochemical studies of muscle dysfunction. J Clin Invest. American Society for Clinical Investigation; 1976 Aug;58(2):447–53.

228. Willis WT, Brooks GA, Henderson SA, Dallman PR. Effects of iron deficiency and training on mitochondrial enzymes in skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol. 1987 Jun;62(6):2442–6.

229. Davies KJ, Maguire JJ, Brooks GA, Dallman PR, Packer L. Muscle mitochondrial bioenergetics, oxygen supply, and work capacity during dietary iron deficiency and repletion. Am J Physiol. 1982 Jun;242(6):E418–27.

230. Toxqui L, Vaquero M. Chronic Iron Deficiency as an Emerging Risk Factor for Osteoporosis: A Hypothesis. Nutrients. Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute; 2015 Apr;7(4):2324–44.

231. Martinovic J, Dopsaj V, Kotur-Stevuljevic J, Dopsaj M, Nesic G. Oxidative stress status in elite female volleyball athletes with depleted iron stores. Br J Sports Med. British Association of Sport and Excercise Medicine; 2011 Apr 10;45(6):534–5.

232. Pasricha SR, Low M, Thompson J, Farrell A, De-Regil LM. Iron Supplementation Benefits Physical Performance in Women of Reproductive Age: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of Nutrition. 2014 May 20;144(6):906–14.

233. Pedlar CR, Whyte GP, Burden R, Moore B, Horgan G, Pollock N. A Case Study of an Iron-Deficient Female Olympic 1500-m Runner. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance. 2013 Nov;8(6):695–8.

234. Powell PD, Tucker A. Iron supplementation and running performance in female cross-country runners. Int J Sports Med. © Georg Thieme Verlag Stuttgart · New York; 1991 Oct;12(5):462–7.

235. Matter M, Stittfall T, Graves J, Myburgh K, Adams B, Jacobs P, et al. The effect of iron and folate therapy on maximal exercise performance in female marathon runners with iron and folate deficiency. Clinical Science. 1987 Apr;72(4):415–22.

236. LaManca JJ, Haymes EM. Effects of iron repletion on VO2max, endurance, and blood lactate in women. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1993 Dec;25(12):1386–92.

237. FRIEDMANN B, WELLER E, MAIRB URL H, B RTSCH P. Effects of iron repletion on blood volume and performance capacity in young athletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2001 May;:741–6.

238. Hinton P, Sinclair LM. Iron Supplementation Maintains Ventilatory Threshold And Improves Energetic Efficiency In Iron-deficient Nonanemic Athletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc.
2005 May;37(Supplement):S445. 239. DellaValle DM, Haas JD. Impact of Iron Depletion Without Anemia on Performance in Trained Endurance Athletes at the Beginning of a Training Season: A Study of Female Collegiate Rowers. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2011 Dec;21(6):501–6.

240. Radjen S, Radjen G, Zivotic-Vanovic M, Radakovic S, Vasiljevic N, Stojanovic D. Effect of iron supplementation on maximal oxygen uptake in female athletes. Vojnosanitetski pregled. 2011;68(2):130–5.

241. Wachsmuth NB, Aigner T, Völzke C, Zapf J, Schmidt WF. Monitoring recovery from iron deficiency using total hemoglobin mass. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2015 Feb;47(2):419–27.

242. HEINRICH HC, Hallberg L, Vannotti A, Harwerth HG. Iron deficiency. Pathogenesis, clinical aspects, therapy. Hallberg L, Harwerth HG, Vannotti A, editors. London; 1970. 82 p.

243. Rowland TW. The Effect of Iron Therapy on the Exercise Capacity of Nonanemic Iron-Deficient Adolescent Runners. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine. American Medical Association; 1988 Feb 1;142(2):165–9.

244. Low MSY, Speedy J, Styles CE, De-Regil LM, Pasricha S-R. Daily iron supplementation for improving anaemia, iron status and health in menstruating women. Pasricha S-R, editor. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2016 Apr 18;4:CD009747.

245. Peeling P, Blee T, Goodman C, Dawson B, Claydon G, Beilby J, et al. Effect of iron injections on aerobic-exercise performance of iron-depleted female athletes. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab. 2007 Jun;17(3):221–31.

246. Ganzoni AM. [Intravenous iron-dextran: therapeutic and experimental possibilities]. Schweiz Med Wochenschr. 1970 Feb 14;100(7):301–3.

247. Verdon F, Burnand B, Stubi C-LF, Bonard C, Graff M, Michaud A, et al. Iron supplementation for unexplained fatigue in non-anaemic women: double blind randomised placebo controlled trial. BMJ. British Medical Journal Publishing Group; 2003 May 24;326(7399):1124–0.

248. Sharma R, Stanek JR, Koch TL, Grooms L, O'Brien SH. Intravenous iron therapy in non-anemic iron-deficient menstruating adolescent females with fatigue. American Journal of Hematology. 2016 Oct;91(10):973–7.

249. Waldvogel S, Pedrazzini B, Vaucher P, Bize R, Cornuz J, Tissot J-D, et al. Clinical evaluation of iron treatment efficiency among non-anemic but iron-deficient female blood donors: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Medicine. 16 ed. BioMed Central; 2012 Jan 24;10(1):378.

250. Hinton PS. Iron and the endurance athlete. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. NRC Research Press; 2014 Sep;39(9):1012–8.

251. Khatiwada S, Gelal B, Baral N, Lamsal M. Association between iron status and thyroid function in Nepalese children. Thyroid Research. 10 ed. BioMed Central; 2016 Jan 27;9(1):281.

252. Harber VJ, Petersen SR, Chilibeck PD. Thyroid Hormone Concentrations and Muscle Metabolism in Amenorrheic and Eumenorrheic Athletes. Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology. NRC Research Press Ottawa, Canada; 1998 Jun;23(3):293–306.

253. Youdim MB, Ben-Shachar D, Yehuda S. Putative biological mechanisms of the effect of iron deficiency on brain biochemistry and behavior. Am J Clin Nutr. 1989 Sep;50(3 Suppl):607–15–discussion615–7.

254. Hagobian TA, Yamashiro M, Hinkel-Lipsker J, Streder K, Evero N, Hackney T. Effects of acute exercise on appetite hormones and ad libitum energy intake in men and women. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism. NRC Research Press; 2013 Jan;38(1):66–72.

255. Hou Y, Zhang S, Wang L, Li J, Qu G, He J, et al. Estrogen regulates iron homeostasis through governing hepatic hepcidin expression via an estrogen response element. Gene. 2012 Dec;511(2):398–403.

256. Schrier SL, Auerbach M. Treatment of iron deficiency anemia in adults [Internet]. Mentzer WC TJE, editor. http://www.uptodate.comcontentstreatment-of-iron-deficiencyanemia-in-adults. 2016 [cited 2017 Apr 29]. Available from: http://www.uptodate.com/contents/treatment-of-iron-deficiency-anemia-in-adults

257. Tolkien Z, Stecher L, Mander AP, Pereira DIA, Powell JJ. Ferrous sulfate supplementation causes significant gastrointestinal side-effects in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Strnad P, editor. PLoS ONE. 2015;10(2):e0117383.

258. Feder JN, Gnirke A, Thomas W, Tsuchihashi Z, Ruddy DA, Basava A, et al. A novel MHC class I-like gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Nat Genet. Nature Publishing Group; 1996 Aug;13(4):399–408.

259. Hermine O, Dine G, Genty V, Marquet L-A, Fumagalli G, Tafflet M, et al. Eighty percent of French sport winners in Olympic, World and Europeans competitions have mutations in the hemochromatosis HFE gene. Biochimie. 2015 Dec;119:1–5.

260. European Association For The Study Of The Liver. EASL clinical practice guidelines for HFE hemochromatosis. Vol. 53, Journal of hepatology. 2010. pp. 3–22.

261. Moretti D, Goede JS, Zeder C, Jiskra M, Chatzinakou V, Tjalsma H, et al. Oral iron supplements increase hepcidin and decrease iron absorption from daily or twice-daily doses in iron-depleted young women. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2015 Oct 22;126(17):1981–9.

262. Auerbach M, Macdougall I. The available intravenous iron formulations: History, efficacy, and toxicology. Hemodial Int. 2017 Jun;21 Suppl 1:S83–S92.

263. Nielsen OH, Coskun M, Weiss G. Iron replacement therapy. Current Opinion in Gastroenterology. 2016 Mar;32(2):128–35.

264. Auerbach M, Coyne D, Ballard H. Intravenous iron: from anathema to standard of care. American Journal of Hematology. Wiley Subscription Services, Inc., A Wiley Company; 2008 Jul;83(7):580–8.

265. Auerbach M, Ballard H, Glaspy J. Clinical update: intravenous iron for anaemia. Lancet. Elsevier; 2007 May 5;369(9572):1502–4.

266. Anderson GJ, Vulpe CD. Mammalian iron transport. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009 Oct;66(20):3241–61.

267. Dev S, Babitt JL. Overview of iron metabolism in health and disease. Hemodial Int. 2017 Jun;21 Suppl 1(S1):S6–S20.

268. Sheftel AD, Zhang AS, Brown C, Shirihai OS, Ponka P. Direct interorganellar transfer of iron from endosome to mitochondrion. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2007 Jun 19;110(1):125–32.

269. Hamdi A, Roshan TM, Kahawita TM, Mason AB, Sheftel AD, Ponka P. Erythroid cell mitochondria receive endosomal iron by a "kiss-and-run" mechanism. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research. 2016 Dec;1863(12):2859–67.

270. Vyoral D, Hradilek A, Neuwirt J. Transferrin and iron distribution in subcellular fractions of K562 cells in the early stages of transferrin endocytosis. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Cell Research. 1992 Oct;1137(2):148–54.

271. Jacobs A. Low molecular weight intracellular iron transport compounds. Blood. 1977 Sep;50(3):433–9.

272. Hider RC, Kong XL. Glutathione: a key component of the cytoplasmic labile iron pool. BioMetals. 3rd ed. Springer Netherlands; 2011 Jul 17;24(6):1179–87.

273. Shi H, Bencze KZ, Stemmler TL, Philpott CC. A Cytosolic Iron Chaperone That Delivers Iron to Ferritin. Science. 2008 May 30;320(5880):1207–10.

274. Rouhier N, Couturier J, Johnson MK, Jacquot J-P. Glutaredoxins: roles in iron homeostasis. Trends Biochem Sci. 2010 Jan;35(1):43–52.

275. Flatmark T, Romslo I. Energy-dependent accumulation of iron by isolated rat liver mitochondria. Requirement of reducing equivalents and evidence for a unidirectional flux of Fe(II) across the inner membrane. J Biol Chem. 1975 Aug 25;250(16):6433–8.

276. Lange H, Kispal G, Lill R. Mechanism of iron transport to the site of heme synthesis inside yeast mitochondria. J Biol Chem. 1999 Jul 2;274(27):18989–96.

277. Lane DJR, Merlot AM, Huang ML-H, Bae D-H, Jansson PJ, Sahni S, et al. Cellular iron uptake, trafficking and metabolism: Key molecules and mechanisms and their roles in disease. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2015 May;1853(5):1130–44.

278. Wolff NA, Ghio AJ, Garrick LM, Garrick MD, Zhao L, Fenton RA, et al. Evidence for mitochondrial localization of divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1). FASEB J. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology; 2014 May;28(5):2134–45.

279. Wolff NA, Garrick LM, Zhao L, Garrick MD, Thévenod F. Mitochondria represent another locale for the divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1). Channels (Austin). Taylor & Francis; 2014;8(5):458–66.

280. Paradkar PN, Zumbrennen KB, Paw BH, Ward DM, Kaplan J. Regulation of mitochondrial iron import through differential turnover of mitoferrin 1 and mitoferrin 2. Mol Cell Biol. 2009 Feb;29(4):1007–16.

281. Chen W, Paradkar PN, Li L, Pierce EL, Langer NB, Takahashi-Makise N, et al. Abcb10 physically interacts with mitoferrin-1 (Slc25a37) to enhance its stability and function in the erythroid mitochondria. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. National Acad Sciences; 2009 Sep 22;106(38):16263–8.

282. Mancias JD, Pontano Vaites L, Nissim S, Biancur DE, Kim AJ, Wang X, et al. Ferritinophagy via NCOA4 is required for erythropoiesis and is regulated by iron dependent HERC2-mediated proteolysis. Elife. 2015 Oct 5;4:117.

283. Wesselius LJ, Nelson ME, Skikne BS. Increased release of ferritin and iron by ironloaded alveolar macrophages in cigarette smokers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. American Public Health Association; 1994 Sep;150(3):690–5.

284. Cohen LA, Gutierrez L, Weiss A, Leichtmann-Bardoogo Y, Zhang D-L, Crooks DR, et al. Serum ferritin is derived primarily from macrophages through a nonclassical secretory pathway. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2010 Sep 2;116(9):1574–84.

285. Arosio P, Yokota M, Drysdale JW. Characterization of serum ferritin in iron overload: possible identity to natural apoferritin. Br J Haematol. 1977 Jun;36(2):199–207.

286. Cook JD, Flowers CH, Skikne BS. The quantitative assessment of body iron. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2003 May 1;101(9):3359–64.

287. Jacobs A, Worwood M. Ferritin in serum. Clinical and biochemical implications. N Engl J Med. 1975 May 1;292(18):951–6.

288. Wang W, Knovich MA, Coffman LG, Torti FM, Torti SV. Serum ferritin: Past, present and future. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2010 Aug;1800(8):760–9.

289. Saito H, Tomita A, Ohashi H, Maeda H, Hayashi H, Naoe T. Determination of ferritin and hemosiderin iron in patients with normal iron stores and iron overload by serum ferritin kinetics. Nagoya J Med Sci. Nagoya University School of Medicine/Graduate School of Medicine; 2012 Feb;74(1-2):39–49.

290. Oliveira F, Rocha S, Fernandes R. Iron Metabolism: From Health to Disease. Journal of Clinical Laboratory Analysis. 2014 Jan 29;28(3):210–8.

291. Ramm GA, Ruddell RG. Hepatotoxicity of iron overload: mechanisms of ironinduced hepatic fibrogenesis. Berk PD, Bacon BR, editors. Semin Liver Dis. Copyright © 2005 by Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc., 333 Seventh Avenue, New York, NY 10001, USA; 2005 Nov;25(4):433–49.

292. Lieu PT, Heiskala M, Peterson PA, Yang Y. The roles of iron in health and disease. Molecular Aspects of Medicine. 2001 Feb;22(1-2):1–87.

293. Bonsdorff von L, Lindeberg E, Sahlstedt L, Lehto J, Parkkinen J. Bleomycindetectable iron assay for non-transferrin-bound iron in hematologic malignancies. Clin Chem. 2002 Feb;48(2):307–14.

294. Skaar EP. The battle for iron between bacterial pathogens and their vertebrate hosts. Madhani HD, editor. PLoS Pathog. Public Library of Science; 2010 Aug 12;6(8):e1000949.

295. Thomsen JH, Etzerodt A, Svendsen P, Moestrup SK. The haptoglobin-CD163heme oxygenase-1 pathway for hemoglobin scavenging. Oxid Med Cell Longev. Hindawi Publishing Corporation; 2013;2013(7416):523652–11.

296. Alayash Al, Andersen CBF, Moestrup SK, Bülow L. Haptoglobin: the hemoglobin detoxifier in plasma. Trends Biotechnol. Elsevier; 2013 Jan;31(1):2–3.

297. Chiabrando D, Vinchi F, Fiorito V, Tolosano E. Haptoglobin and Hemopexin in Heme Detoxification and Iron Recycling. In: Acute Phase Proteins - Regulation and Functions of Acute Phase Proteins. InTech; 2011.

298. Moestrup SK, Møller HJ. CD163: a regulated hemoglobin scavenger receptor with a role in the anti-inflammatory response. Ann Med. 2004;36(5):347–54.

299. Tolosano E, Fagoonee S, Morello N, Vinchi F, Fiorito V. Heme scavenging and the other facets of hemopexin. Antioxid Redox Signal. Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801 USA; 2010 Feb;12(2):305–20.

300. Hvidberg V, Maniecki MB, Jacobsen C, Højrup P, Møller HJ, Moestrup SK. Identification of the receptor scavenging hemopexin-heme complexes. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2005 Oct 1;106(7):2572–9.

301. Le Blanc S, Garrick MD, Arredondo M. Heme carrier protein 1 transports heme and is involved in heme-Fe metabolism. AJP: Cell Physiology. 2012 Jun 15;302(12):C1780–5.
302. Latunde-Dada GO, Simpson RJ, McKie AT. Recent advances in mammalian haem

transport. Trends Biochem Sci. Elsevier; 2006 Mar;31(3):182–8.

303. Qiu A, Jansen M, Sakaris A, Min SH, Chattopadhyay S, Tsai E, et al. Identification of an intestinal folate transporter and the molecular basis for hereditary folate malabsorption. Cell. Elsevier; 2006 Dec 1;127(5):917–28.

304. Lane DJR, Bae D-H, Merlot AM, Sahni S, Richardson DR. Duodenal cytochrome
b (DCYTB) in iron metabolism: an update on function and regulation. Nutrients.
Multidisciplinary Digital Publishing Institute; 2015 Mar 31;7(4):2274–96.

305. McKie AT, Barrow D, Latunde-Dada GO, Rolfs A, Sager G, Mudaly E, et al. An iron-regulated ferric reductase associated with the absorption of dietary iron. Science. American Association for the Advancement of Science; 2001 Mar 2;291(5509):1755–9.

306. McKie AT. The role of Dcytb in iron metabolism: an update. Biochem Soc Trans. Portland Press Limited; 2008 Dec;36(Pt 6):1239–41.

307. Asard H, Barbaro R, Trost P, Bérczi A. Cytochromes b561: ascorbate-mediated trans-membrane electron transport. Antioxid Redox Signal. Mary Ann Liebert, Inc. 140 Huguenot Street, 3rd Floor New Rochelle, NY 10801 USA; 2013 Sep 20;19(9):1026–35.

308. POLLACK S, KAUFMAN R, CROSBY WH, BUTKIEWICZ JE. REDUCING AGENTS AND ABSORPTION OF IRON. Nature. 1963 Jul 27;199:384.

309. Shawki A, Knight PB, Maliken BD, Niespodzany EJ, Mackenzie B. H(+)-coupled divalent metal-ion transporter-1: functional properties, physiological roles and therapeutics. Curr Top Membr. Elsevier; 2012;70:169–214.

310. Mackenzie B. Iron Imports. II. Iron uptake at the apical membrane in the intestine. AJP: Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology. American Physiological Society; 2005 Aug 11;289(6):G981–6.

311. Mims MP, Prchal JT. Divalent metal transporter 1. Hematology. Taylor & Francis; 2013 Sep 4;10(4):339–45.

312. Wang J, Pantopoulos K. Regulation of cellular iron metabolism. Biochemical Journal. Portland Press Limited; 2011 Mar 15;434(3):365–81.

313. Leidgens S, Bullough KZ, Shi H, Li F, Shakoury-Elizeh M, Yabe T, et al. Each member of the poly-r(C)-binding protein 1 (PCBP) family exhibits iron chaperone activity toward ferritin. J Biol Chem. American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology; 2013 Jun 14;288(24):17791–802.

314. CREAMER B. THE TURNOVER OF THE EPITHELIUM OF THE SMALL INTESTINE. British Medical Bulletin. 1967 Sep;23(3):226–30.

315. Ward DM, Kaplan J. Ferroportin-mediated iron transport: expression and regulation. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012 Sep;1823(9):1426–33.

316. Liu X-B, Yang F, Haile DJ. Functional consequences of ferroportin 1 mutations. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases. 2005 Jul;35(1):33–46.

317. Wallace DF, Harris JM, Subramaniam VN. Functional analysis and theoretical modeling of ferroportin reveals clustering of mutations according to phenotype. Am J Physiol, Cell Physiol. 2010 Jan;298(1):C75–84.

318. Rice AE, Mendez MJ, Hokanson CA, Rees DC, Björkman PJ. Investigation of the Biophysical and Cell Biological Properties of Ferroportin, a Multipass Integral Membrane Protein Iron Exporter. Journal of Molecular Biology. 2009 Feb;386(3):717–32.

319. McKie AT, Marciani P, Rolfs A, Brennan K, Wehr K, Barrow D, et al. A novel duodenal iron-regulated transporter, IREG1, implicated in the basolateral transfer of iron to the circulation. Mol Cell. 2000 Feb;5(2):299–309.

320. Kosman DJ. Redox cycling in iron uptake, efflux, and trafficking. J Biol Chem.
American Society for Biochemistry and Molecular Biology; 2010 Aug 27;285(35):26729–
35.

321. Chen H, Attieh ZK, Su T, Syed BA, Gao H, Alaeddine RM, et al. Hephaestin is a ferroxidase that maintains partial activity in sex-linked anemia mice. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2004 May 15;103(10):3933–9.

322. Knutson M, Wessling-Resnick M. Iron Metabolism in the Reticuloendothelial System. Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 2008 Sep 29;38(1):61–88.

323. Bento I, Peixoto C, Zaitsev VN, Lindley PF. Ceruloplasmin revisited: structural and functional roles of various metal cation-binding sites. Acta Crystallogr D Biol Crystallogr. International Union of Crystallography; 2007 Feb;63(Pt 2):240–8.

324. Gudjoncik A, Guenancia C, Zeller M, Cottin Y, Vergely C, Rochette L. Iron, oxidative stress, and redox signaling in the cardiovascular system. Traber MG, editor. Mol Nutr Food Res. 2014 Aug;58(8):1721–38.

325. Marques L, Auriac A, Willemetz A, Banha J, Silva B, Canonne-Hergaux F, et al. Immune cells and hepatocytes express glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored ceruloplasmin at their cell surface. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases. 2012 Feb 15;48(2):110–20.

326. Itkonen O, Stenman U-H, Parkkinen J, Soliymani R, Baumann M, Hämäläinen E. Binding of hepcidin to plasma proteins. Clin Chem. Clinical Chemistry; 2012 Jul;58(7):1158–60.

327. Nemeth E. Hepcidin Regulates Cellular Iron Efflux by Binding to Ferroportin and Inducing Its Internalization. Science. 2004 Dec 17;306(5704):2090–3.

328. Qiao B, Sugianto P, Fung E, Del-Castillo-Rueda A, Moran-Jimenez M-J, Ganz T, et al. Hepcidin-induced endocytosis of ferroportin is dependent on ferroportin ubiquitination. Cell Metab. Elsevier; 2012 Jun 6;15(6):918–24.

329. Ganz T. Hepcidin and iron regulation, 10 years later. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2011 Apr 28;117(17):4425–33.

330. Percy L, Mansour D, Fraser I. Iron deficiency and iron deficiency anaemia in women. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. Elsevier; 2017 Apr;40:55–67.

331. ERLANDSON ME, WALDEN B, STERN G, HILGARTNER MW, WEHMAN J, SMITH CH. Studies on congenital hemolytic syndromes, IV. Gastrointestinal absorption of iron. Blood. 1962 Mar;19:359–78.
332. Finch C. Regulators of iron balance in humans. Blood. 1994 Sep 15;84(6):1697–702.

333. Parrow NL, Fleming RE. Bone morphogenetic proteins as regulators of iron metabolism. Annual Reviews; 2014;34(1):77–94.

334. Andriopoulos B, Corradini E, Xia Y, Faasse SA, Chen S, Grgurevic L, et al. BMP6 is a key endogenous regulator of hepcidin expression and iron metabolism. Nat Genet. 2009 Apr;41(4):482–7.

335. Truksa J, Lee P, Beutler E. Two BMP responsive elements, STAT, and bZIP/HNF4/COUP motifs of the hepcidin promoter are critical for BMP, SMAD1, and HJV responsiveness. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2009 Jan 15;113(3):688–95.

336. Verga Falzacappa MV, Casanovas G, Hentze MW, Muckenthaler MU. A bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-responsive element in the hepcidin promoter controls HFE2mediated hepatic hepcidin expression and its response to IL-6 in cultured cells. Journal of Molecular Medicine. Springer-Verlag; 2008 Apr 18;86(5):531–40.

337. Core AB, Canali S, Babitt JL. Hemojuvelin and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling in iron homeostasis. Front Pharmacol. Frontiers; 2014;5:104.

338. Kim A, Nemeth E. New insights into iron regulation and erythropoiesis. Curr Opin Hematol. 2015 May;22(3):199–205.

339. Chung B, Verdier F, Matak P, Deschemin J-C, Mayeux P, Vaulont S. Oncostatin M is a potent inducer of hepcidin, the iron regulatory hormone. FASEB J. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology; 2010 Jun;24(6):2093–103.

340. Smith CL, Arvedson TL, Cooke KS, Dickmann LJ, Forte C, Li H, et al. IL-22 regulates iron availability in vivo through the induction of hepcidin. J Immunol. American Association of Immunologists; 2013 Aug 15;191(4):1845–55.

341. Besson-Fournier C, Latour C, Kautz L, Bertrand J, Ganz T, Roth M-P, et al. Induction of activin B by inflammatory stimuli up-regulates expression of the iron-regulatory peptide hepcidin through Smad1/5/8 signaling. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2012 Jul 12;120(2):431–9.

342. Peeling P, McKay AKA, Pyne DB, Guelfi KJ, McCormick RH, Laarakkers CM, et al. Factors influencing the post-exercise hepcidin-25 response in elite athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol. 2nd ed. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2017 Jun;117(6):1233–9.

343. Silvestri L, Pagani A, Nai A, De Domenico I, Kaplan J, Camaschella C. The serine protease matriptase-2 (TMPRSS6) inhibits hepcidin activation by cleaving membrane hemojuvelin. Cell Metab. Elsevier; 2008 Dec;8(6):502–11.

344. Schmidt PJ, Toran PT, Giannetti AM, Björkman PJ, Andrews NC. The transferrin receptor modulates Hfe-dependent regulation of hepcidin expression. Cell Metab. Elsevier; 2008 Mar;7(3):205–14.

253

345. Pugh CW, O'Rourke JF, Nagao M, Gleadle JM, Ratcliffe PJ. Activation of hypoxiainducible factor-1; definition of regulatory domains within the alpha subunit. J Biol Chem. 1997 Apr 25;272(17):11205–14.

346. Liu Q, Davidoff O, Niss K, Haase VH. Hypoxia-inducible factor regulates hepcidin via erythropoietin-induced erythropoiesis. J Clin Invest. American Society for Clinical Investigation; 2012 Dec;122(12):4635–44.

347. Kautz L, Jung G, Valore EV, Rivella S, Nemeth E, Ganz T. Identification of erythroferrone as an erythroid regulator of iron metabolism. Nat Genet. 2014 Jun 1;46(7):678–84.

348. Kautz L, Jung G, Du X, Gabayan V, Chapman J, Nasoff M, et al. Erythroferrone contributes to hepcidin suppression and iron overload in a mouse model of -thalassemia. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2015 Oct 22;126(17):2031–7.

349. Zhang D-L, Ghosh MC, Rouault TA. The physiological functions of iron regulatory proteins in iron homeostasis - an update. Front Pharmacol. Frontiers; 2014;5(e36):124.

350. Marro S, Chiabrando D, Messana E, Stolte J, Turco E, Tolosano E, et al. Heme controls ferroportin1 (FPN1) transcription involving Bach1, Nrf2 and a MARE/ARE sequence motif at position -7007 of the FPN1 promoter. Haematologica. Haematologica; 2010 Aug;95(8):1261–8.

351. Zenke-Kawasaki Y, Dohi Y, Katoh Y, Ikura T, Ikura M, Asahara T, et al. Heme induces ubiquitination and degradation of the transcription factor Bach1. Mol Cell Biol. 2007 Oct;27(19):6962–71.

352. Oyake T, Itoh K, Motohashi H, Hayashi N, Hoshino H, Nishizawa M, et al. Bach proteins belong to a novel family of BTB-basic leucine zipper transcription factors that interact with MafK and regulate transcription through the NF-E2 site. Mol Cell Biol. American Society for Microbiology (ASM); 1996 Nov;16(11):6083–95.

353. Abboud S, Haile DJ. A novel mammalian iron-regulated protein involved in intracellular iron metabolism. J Biol Chem. 2000 Jun 30;275(26):19906–12.

354. Taylor M, Qu A, Anderson ER, Matsubara T, Martin A, Gonzalez FJ, et al. Hypoxiainducible factor- 2α mediates the adaptive increase of intestinal ferroportin during iron deficiency in mice. Gastroenterology. Elsevier; 2011 Jun;140(7):2044–55.

355. Anderson SA, Nizzi CP, Chang Y-I, Deck KM, Schmidt PJ, Galy B, et al. The IRP1-HIF- 2α axis coordinates iron and oxygen sensing with erythropoiesis and iron absorption. Cell Metab. Elsevier; 2013 Feb 5;17(2):282–90.

356. Muckenthaler MU, Rivella S, Hentze MW, Galy B. A Red Carpet for Iron Metabolism. Cell. Elsevier; 2017 Jan 26;168(3):344–61.

357. Drakesmith H, Schimanski LM, Ormerod E, Merryweather-Clarke AT, Viprakasit V, Edwards JP, et al. Resistance to hepcidin is conferred by hemochromatosis-associated

mutations of ferroportin. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2005 Aug 1;106(3):1092–7.

358. Jeong SY, David S. Glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored ceruloplasmin is required for iron efflux from cells in the central nervous system. J Biol Chem. 2003 Jul 18;278(29):27144–8.

359. Shah YM, Matsubara T, Ito S, Yim S-H, Gonzalez FJ. Intestinal hypoxia-inducible transcription factors are essential for iron absorption following iron deficiency. Cell Metab. Elsevier; 2009 Feb;9(2):152–64.

360. Anderson ER, Taylor M, Xue X, Ramakrishnan SK, Martin A, Xie L, et al. Intestinal HIF2α promotes tissue-iron accumulation in disorders of iron overload with anemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. National Acad Sciences; 2013 Dec 10;110(50):E4922–30.

361. Masaratana P, Patel N, Latunde-Dada GO, Vaulont S, Simpson RJ, McKie AT. Regulation of iron metabolism in Hamp -/- mice in response to iron-deficient diet. European Journal of Nutrition. Springer-Verlag; 2012 Jan 13;52(1):135–43.

362. Chiabrando D, Fiorito V, Marro S, Silengo L, Altruda F, Tolosano E. Cell-specific regulation of Ferroportin transcription following experimentally-induced acute anemia in mice. Blood Cells, Molecules, and Diseases. 2013 Jan;50(1):25–30.

363. National Collaborating Centre for Womens, Health C. Heavy menstrual bleeding
 clinical guideline [Internet]. Available from:
 http://wwwniceorguk/nicemedia/pdf/CG44FullGuidelinepdf.

364. Quinn SD, Higham J. Outcome measures for heavy menstrual bleeding. Womens Health (Lond). SAGE PublicationsSage UK: London, England; 2016 Jan;12(1):21–6.

365. Higham JM, Shaw RW. Clinical associations with objective menstrual blood volume. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1999 Jan;82(1):73–6.

366. Grimes DA. Estimating vaginal blood loss. J Reprod Med. 1979 Apr;22(4):190–2.

367. HIGHAM JM, O'BRIEN PMS, Shaw RW. Assessment of menstrual blood loss using a pictorial chart. BJOG. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 1990 Aug;97(8):734–9.

368. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, Janssen M, Kind P, Parkin D, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). Qual Life Res. Springer Netherlands; 2011 Dec;20(10):1727–36.

369. EuroQol Group. EuroQol--a new facility for the measurement of health-related quality of life. Health Policy. 1990 Dec;16(3):199–208.

370. Terry PC, Lane AM, Lane HJ, Keohane L. Development and validation of a mood measure for adolescents. Journal of Sports Sciences. Taylor & Francis; 1999 Jan;17(11):861–72.

371. Terry PC, Lane AM, Fogarty GJ. Construct validity of the Profile of Mood States — Adolescents for use with adults. Psychology of Sport and Exercise. 2003 Apr;4(2):125–39.

372. Karlsson TS, Marions LB, Edlund MG. Heavy menstrual bleeding significantly affects quality of life. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2014 Jan;93(1):52–7.

373. McCormick A, Flemming D, Charlton J. Morbidity statistics from general practice: fourth national study 1991-1992. London: Her Majesty's Stationary Office; 1995 Jan.

374. Beebeejaun Y, Varma R. Heavy menstrual flow: current and future trends in management. Rev Obstet Gynecol. MedReviews, LLC; 2013;6(3-4):155–64.

375. de Oliveira EP, Burini RC. The impact of physical exercise on the gastrointestinal tract. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2009 Sep;12(5):533–8.

376. Siegel AJ, Hennekens CH, Solomon HS, Van Boeckel B. Exercise-related hematuria. Findings in a group of marathon runners. JAMA. 1979 Jan 26;241(4):391–2.

377. Nemeth E, Rivera S, Gabayan V, Keller C, Taudorf S, Pedersen BK, et al. IL-6 mediates hypoferremia of inflammation by inducing the synthesis of the iron regulatory hormone hepcidin. J Clin Invest. American Society for Clinical Investigation; 2004 May;113(9):1271–6.

378. Roecker L, Meier-Buttermilch R, Brechtel L, Nemeth E, Ganz T. Iron-regulatory protein hepcidin is increased in female athletes after a marathon. Eur J Appl Physiol. Springer-Verlag; 2005 Dec;95(5-6):569–71.

379. McClung JP, Martini S, Murphy NE, Montain SJ, Margolis LM, Thrane I, et al. Effects of a 7-day military training exercise on inflammatory biomarkers, serum hepcidin, and iron status. Nutrition Journal. BioMed Central; 2013 Nov 4;12(1):13.

380. Kaplowitz MD, Hadlock TD, Levine R. A comparison of web and mail survey response rates. Public Opinion Quarterly. 2004;68(1):94–101.

381. Kirtava A, Crudder S, Dilley A, Lally C, Evatt B. Trends in clinical management of women with von Willebrand disease: a survey of 75 women enrolled in haemophilia treatment centres in the United States. Haemophilia. 2004 Mar;10(2):158–61.

382. Kirtava A, Drews C, Lally C, Dilley A, Evatt B. Medical, reproductive and psychosocial experiences of women diagnosed with von Willebrand's disease receiving care in haemophilia treatment centres: a case-control study. Haemophilia. 2003 May;9(3):292–7.

383. Garside R, Britten N, Stein K. The experience of heavy menstrual bleeding: a systematic review and meta-ethnography of qualitative studies. J Adv Nurs. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2008 Sep;63(6):550–62.

384. Obstetricians RCO, Gynaecologists. Third Annual Report: National Heavy Menstrual Bleeding Audit [Internet]. 2013 Jan. Available from: https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/research--

audit/nationalhmbaudit_3rdannualreport_september2013.pdf

385. Copher R, Le Nestour E, Law A, Pocoski J, Zampaglione E. Retrospective analysis of variation in heavy menstrual bleeding treatments by age and underlying cause. Curr Med Res Opin. 2013 Feb;29(2):127–39.

386. Liu Z, Doan QV, Blumenthal P, Dubois RW. A Systematic Review Evaluating Health-Related Quality of Life, Work Impairment, and Health-Care Costs and Utilization in Abnormal Uterine Bleeding. Value in Health. 2007 May;10(3):183–94.

387. de Oliveira EP, Burini RC. The impact of physical exercise on the gastrointestinal tract. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care. 2009 Sep;12(5):533–8.

388. Siegel AJ, Hennekens CH, Solomon HS, Van Boeckel B. Exercise-related hematuria. Findings in a group of marathon runners. JAMA. 1979 Jan 26;241(4):391–2.

389. Barrack MT, Ackerman KE, Gibbs JC. Update on the female athlete triad. Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med. 2013 Jun;6(2):195–204.

390. Nattiv A, Loucks AB, Manore MM, Sanborn CF, Sundgot-Borgen J, Warren MP, et al. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. The female athlete triad. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007 Oct;39(10):1867–82.

391. Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Richards T, Pedlar C. The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding among athletes and mass start runners of the 2015 London Marathon. Br J Sports Med. BMJ Publishing Group Ltd and British Association of Sport and Exercise Medicine; 2016 May;50(9):566–6.

392. Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Richards T, Pedlar C. The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Menorrhagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes. Clarke SL, editor. PLoS ONE. Public Library of Science; 2016;11(2):e0149881.

393. Dunn LL, Suryo Rahmanto Y, Richardson DR. Iron uptake and metabolism in the new millennium. Trends in Cell Biology. Elsevier; 2007 Feb;17(2):93–100.

394. Ministry of Health S. National Health Surveillance Survey 2007. Singapore: Epidemiology & Disease Control Division, Ministry of Health, Singapore; 2009 Jan.

395. Directory SD. Health Screening. http://www.doctors.com.sg/health-screening-singapore.html.

396. Ministry of Health S. National Population Health Survey 2016/17. https://www.moh.gov.sgcontentmohwebhomepressRoompressRoomItemReleasenational -population-health-survey--national-population-health-survey---faqs.html.

397. Institute of Medicine (US) Panel on Micronutrients. Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc [Internet]. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press; 2001. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK222310/
398. FD MA, J C. Morbidity statistics from general practice: fourth national study 1991-

1992. London: Her Majesty's Stationary Office; 1995.

399. Schumacher U, Schumacher J, Mellinger U, Gerlinger C, Wienke A, Endrikat J.
Estimation of menstrual blood loss volume based on menstrual diary and laboratory data.
BMC Womens Health. BioMed Central; 2012 Aug 20;12(1):24.

400. Whitaker L, Critchley HOD. Abnormal uterine bleeding. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2016 Jul;34:54–65.

401. Malik S, Day K, Perrault I, Charnock-Jones DS, Smith SK. Reduced levels of VEGF-A and MMP-2 and MMP-9 activity and increased TNF-alpha in menstrual endometrium and effluent in women with menorrhagia. Hum Reprod. 2006 Aug;21(8):2158–66.

402. MoTal DOS. Republic of Singapore Census of Population 2010 [Internet]. Available from: https://www.singstat.gov.sg/docs/default-source/default-documentlibrary/publications/publications_and_papers/cop2010/census_2010_release1/cop2010sr 1.pdf

403. Pawlikowska T, Chalder T, Hirsch SR, Wallace P, Wright DJ, Wessely SC. Population based study of fatigue and psychological distress. BMJ. BMJ Group; 1994 Mar 19;308(6931):763–6.

404. Cullen W, Kearney Y, Bury G. Prevalence of fatigue in general practice. Ir J Med Sci. 2002 Jan;171(1):10–2.

405. Auerbach M, Adamson JW. How we diagnose and treat iron deficiency anemia. Tefferi A, editor. American Journal of Hematology. 2015 Nov 17;91(1):31–8.

406. Heavy menstrual bleeding: assessment and management | Guidance and guidelines | NICE. NICE; 2007 Jan 1. Available from: http://www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG44NICEGuideline.pdf

407. Hallberg L, Nilsson L. Determination of Menstrual Blood Loss. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1964 Jan;16(2):244–8.

408. Nelson AL, Ritchie JJ. Severe anemia from heavy menstrual bleeding requires heightened attention. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2015 Jul;213(1):97.e1–6.

409. Percy L, Mansour D. Iron deficiency and iron-deficiency anaemia in women's health. The Obstetrician & Gynaecologist. 2017 Apr 17;19(2):155–61.

410. Smets EM, Garssen B, Bonke B, De Haes JC. The Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory (MFI) psychometric qualities of an instrument to assess fatigue. J Psychosom Res. 1995 Apr;39(3):315–25.

411. World Health Organization, United Nations Children's Fund, United Nations University. Haemoglobin concentrations for the diagnosis of anaemia and assessment of severity [Internet]. 2011 Jan. Available from: http://www.who.int/vmnis /indicators/haemoglobin.pdf

412. Visser MR, Smets EM. Fatigue, depression and quality of life in cancer patients: how are they related? Support Care Cancer. 1998 Mar;6(2):101–8.

258

413. Dekkers OM, Biermasz NR, Smit JWA, Groot LE, Roelfsema F, Romijn JA, et al. Quality of life in treated adult craniopharyngioma patients. Eur J Endocrinol. European Society of Endocrinology; 2006 Mar;154(3):483–9.

414. Lin J-MS, Brimmer DJ, Maloney EM, Nyarko E, Belue R, Reeves WC. Further validation of the Multidimensional Fatigue Inventory in a US adult population sample. Popul Health Metr. 3rd ed. BioMed Central; 2009 Dec 15;7(1):18.

415. Streiner DL, Norman GR, Cairney J. Health Measurement Scales. Oxford University Press; 2014.

416. Terwee CB, Bot SDM, de Boer MR, van der Windt DAWM, Knol DL, Dekker J, et al. Quality criteria were proposed for measurement properties of health status questionnaires. J Clin Epidemiol. Elsevier; 2007 Jan;60(1):34–42.

417. Baron RM, Kenny DA. The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology. 1986;51(6):1173–82.

418. Sobel ME. Asymptotic Confidence Intervals for Indirect Effects in Structural Equation Models. Sociological Methodology. 1982;13:290.

419. Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS. Using multivariate statistics. 5 ed. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon; 2007.

420. de Souza SS, Camargos AF, Ferreira MCF, de Assis Nunes Pereira F, de Rezende CP, Araújo CAA, et al. Hemoglobin levels predict quality of life in women with heavy menstrual bleeding. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2010 May;281(5):895–900.

421. Louati K, Berenbaum F. Fatigue in chronic inflammation - a link to pain pathways. Arthritis Res Ther. BioMed Central; 2015 Oct 5;17(1):254.

422. Atkinson SH, Rockett KA, Morgan G, Bejon PA, Sirugo G, O'Connell MA, et al. Tumor necrosis factor SNP haplotypes are associated with iron deficiency anemia in West African children. Blood. American Society of Hematology; 2008 Nov 15;112(10):4276–83.

423. Stoffel NU, Cercamondi CI, Brittenham G, Zeder C, Geurts-Moespot AJ, Swinkels DW, et al. Iron absorption from oral iron supplements given on consecutive versus alternate days and as single morning doses versus twice-daily split dosing in iron-depleted women: two open-label, randomised controlled trials. Lancet Haematol. 2017 Nov;4(11):e524–33.

424. Levine BD. .VO2max: what do we know, and what do we still need to know? J Physiol (Lond). Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2008 Jan 1;586(1):25–34.

425. Thom SR. Carbon monoxide transport and actions in blood and tissues. Compr Physiol. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 2011 Jan;1(1):421–46.

426. Cole SK, Billewicz WZ, Thomson AM. Sources of variation in menstrual blood loss. J Obstet Gynaecol Br Commonw. 1971 Oct;78(10):933–9.

427. Gorelov V. Theoretical value of Hüfner's constant. Anaesthesia. Blackwell Science Ltd; 2003 Dec 16;59(1):97–7.

428. Ericsson A, Mannerkorpi K. Assessment of fatigue in patients with fibromyalgia and chronic widespread pain. Reliability and validity of the Swedish version of the MFI-20. Disabil Rehabil. 2007 Nov 30;29(22):1665–70.

429. Ericsson A, Bremell T, Cider Å, Mannerkorpi K. Effects of exercise on fatigue and physical capacity in men with chronic widespread pain - a pilot study. BMC Sports Sci Med Rehabil. 3rd ed. BioMed Central; 2016;8(1):29.

430. Holm C, Thomsen LL, Norgaard A, Langhoff-Roos J. Single-dose intravenous iron infusion or oral iron for treatment of fatigue after postpartum haemorrhage: a randomized controlled trial. Vox Sang. 2017 Feb 15.

431. Piper BF, Dibble SL, Dodd MJ, Weiss MC, Slaughter RE, Paul SM. The revised Piper Fatigue Scale: psychometric evaluation in women with breast cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum. 1998 May;25(4):677–84.

432. Lane AM, Jackson A, Terry PC. Preferred modality influences on exercise-induced mood changes. J Sports Sci Med. Dept. of Sports Medicine, Medical Faculty of Uludag University; 2005 Jun 1;4(2):195–200.

433. Magazanik A, Weinstein Y, Abarbanel J, Lewinski U, Shapiro Y, Inbar O, et al. Effect of an iron supplement on body iron status and aerobic capacity of young training women. European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology. 2nd ed. Springer-Verlag; 1991;62(5):317–23.

434. Otto JM, O'Doherty AF, Hennis PJ, Cooper JA, Grocott MP, Snowdon C, et al. Association between preoperative haemoglobin concentration and cardiopulmonary exercise variables: a multicentre study. Perioperative Medicine. BioMed Central; 2013;2(1):18.

435. Garvican L, Martin D, Quod M, Stephens B, Sassi A, Gore C. Time course of the hemoglobin mass response to natural altitude training in elite endurance cyclists. Scand J Med Sci Sports. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2012 Feb;22(1):95–103.

436. Wish JB. Assessing iron status: beyond serum ferritin and transferrin saturation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2006 Sep;1 Suppl 1(Supplement 1):S4–8.

437. Park M-J, Park P-W, Seo Y-H, Kim K-H, Park S-H, Jeong J-H, et al. The relationship between iron parameters and platelet parameters in women with iron deficiency anemia and thrombocytosis. Platelets. 2013;24(5):348–51.

438. Polette A, Blache D. Effect of vitamin E on acute iron load-potentiated aggregation, secretion, calcium uptake and thromboxane biosynthesis in rat platelets. Atherosclerosis. 1992 Oct;96(2-3):171–9.

439. Vaucher P, Druais P-L, Waldvogel S, Favrat B. Effect of iron supplementation on fatigue in nonanemic menstruating women with low ferritin: a randomized controlled trial. CMAJ. Canadian Medical Association; 2012 Aug 7;184(11):1247–54.

440. Scott SP, Murray-Kolb LE. Iron Status Is Associated with Performance on Executive Functioning Tasks in Nonanemic Young Women. J Nutr. American Society for Nutrition; 2016 Jan;146(1):30–7.

441. Akay OM, Akin E, Mutlu FS, Gulbas Z. Effect of Iron Therapy on Platelet Function among Iron-Deficient Women with Unexplained Menorrhagia. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb. 2008;36(2):80–3.

442. Marsh EE, Brocks ME, Ghant MS, Recht HS, Simon M. Prevalence and knowledge of heavy menstrual bleeding among African American women. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics. 2014 Jan 2;125(1):56–9.

443. Berglinger C, Breymann C. Treatment of iron deficiency [Internet]. Available from: http://www.santeweb.ch/include_php/previewdoc.php?file_id=6438

444. Killip S, Bennett JM, Chambers MD. Iron deficiency anemia. Am Fam Physician. 2007 Mar 1;75(5):671–8.

445. Ferrari M, Mistura L, Patterson E, Sjöström M, Díaz LE, Stehle P, et al. Evaluation of iron status in European adolescents through biochemical iron indicators: the HELENA Study. Eur J Clin Nutr. Nature Publishing Group; 2011 Jan 19;65(3):340–9.

10 Appendices

10.1 Publication: The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding among athletes and mass start runners of the 2015 London Marathon. (Letter to the Editor)

Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Richards T, Pedlar C. The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding among athletes and mass start runners of the 2015 London Marathon. Br J Sports Med. 2016 May; 50(9):566.

BJSM Online First, published on November 26, 2015 as 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095505 PostScript

LETTER

The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding among athletes and mass start runners of the 2015 London Marathon

The single most common cause of iron deficiency anaemia in the developed world in premenopausal females is the menstrual cycle.¹ It is well recognised and reported that amenorrhoea and oligomenorrhoea are common in elite athletes typically as a result of relative energy deficiency;² however, little is known about the prevalence of other menstrual abnormalities. Heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB or menorrhagia) affects a quarter of the general population,3 yet no data exist for athletes or exercising women. It is possible that HMB might impact significantly on women's participation in sport. HMB can lead to fatigue, anxiety, reduced mood and energy levels with a negative impact on quality of life and productivity." Furthermore, iron turnover in exercising females is likely to be increased further due to factors such as haemolysis putting them at a high risk of iron deficiency anaemia.⁵ Iron is an essential micronutrient required for numerous biological functions, and deficiency can result in adaptive changes limiting haemoglobin production and a state of iron deficiency anaemia. We sought to identify the prevalence and impact of HMB in exercising females where anaemia may have a significant effect on training and performance.

We recently conducted a 'Female Health Questionnaire', which incorpo-rated a validated diagnostic HMB series, demographics, athlete ability data, training status, known anaemia, iron supplementation and questions concerning the effect of the menstrual cycle on training and performance. The survey was initially conducted online (n=789 women),

advertised via social media. Subsequently, to obtain non-biased data, the same survey was then conducted via face-to-face interviews with runners during registration for the 2015 London Marathon Exhibition (n=1073 women). Among the group a total of 90 participants were classified as 'elite'. The key findings from this survey were that HMB was common in both groups; reported by over half of those online (54%), and by more than a third of the marathon runners (36%). In total, 55% (online) and 32% (marathon runners) stated that their menstrual cycle impacted on training and performance, this being more common in those with HMB (χ^2 =183.4, p<0.01). Surprisingly, HMB was also prevalent among elite athletes (37%). Overall, 32% of all participants reported a history of anaemia, with this also being more common in those who have experienced HMB (41% vs 26%; χ^2 =70.765, p<0.01), while 50% had previously supplemented with iron. Only a minority (22%) had sought medical advice. No significant association was found between average weekly exercise volume and HMB presence.

In summary, we found HMB to be highly prevalent in female athletes, associated with anaemia, an increased use of iron supplementation and reported negative impacts on performance. Somewhat unexpectedly, our results suggest that HMB is more common in the exercising population than in the general population. Although there are a number of limitations to this questionnaire-based study, we highlight that HMB may be underrecognised. Further research is needed to describe this issue and to understand its implications. Interventions to support female athletes such as iron therapy,⁶ and an increased awareness of HMB among sports medicine professionals could have far reaching benefits for the female athlete.

Georgie Bruinvels,^{1,2,3} Richard Burden,^{2,4} Nicola Brown,² Toby Richards,¹ Charles Pedlar^{2,3}

¹Division of Surgery and Interventional Science,

University College London, London, UK ²School of Sport, Health and Applied Science, St Mary's University, Twickenham, UK ³Orreco Ltd., London, UK ⁴English Institute of Sport, Loughborough, UK

Correspondence to Georgie Bruinvels, School of Sport, Health and Applied Science, St Many's University, Waldegrave Road, Twickenham, London TW1 4SX, UK; georgie.bruinvels.14@ucl.ac.uk

Twitter Follow Georgie Bruinvels at @gbruinvels

Acknowledgements The authors thank Dr Courtney Kipps and the London Marathon Medical Committee for their cooperation in facilitating access to the London Marathon Exhibition.

Contributors GB participated in protocol design, data collection, data analyses and manuscript preparation. CP, TR, RB and NB participated in the protocol design data analysis and manuscript preparation

Competing interests None declared.

Patient consent Obtained.

Ethics approval St Mary's University Ethics Commit

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; internally peer review

To cite Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, et al. Br J Sports Med Published Online First: [please include Day Month Year] doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-095505 Accepted 31 October 2015

Br J Sports Med 2015;0:1. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2015-095505

REFERENCES

- Annibale B, Lahner E, Chistolini A, et al. Endoscopic evaluation of the upper gastrointestinal tract is worthwhile in premenopausal women with iron-deficiency anaemia irrespective of menstrual flow Scand J Gastroenterol 2003:38:239-45.
- Mountjoy M, Sundgot-Borgen J, Burke L, *et al.* The IOC consensus statement: beyond the Female Athlete Triad-Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport (RED-S). Br J Sports Med 2014;48:491-7.
- Sports med 2014;4:351–7. Fraser IS, Mansour D, Breymann C, et al. Prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding and experiences of affected women in a European patient survey. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2015;128:196–200. Karlsson TS, Marions LB, Edlund MG, Heavy menstrual
- bleeding significantly affects quality of life. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2014;93:52–7. Telford RD, Sly GJ, Hahn AG, et al. Footstrike is the
- major cause of hemolysis during running. J Appl sin/ 2003-94-38-42
- Burden RJ, Morton K, Richards T, *et al.* Is iron treatment beneficial in iron-deficienct but non-anaemic (IDNA) endurance athletes: a meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med 2015;49:1389-97.

Br J Sports Med Month 2015 Vol 0 No 0

BMJ Sports med module 2015 to 510 Copyright Article author (or their employer) 2015. Produced by BMJ Publishing Group Ltd under licence.

10.2 Publication: The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Menorrhagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes. (Research Article)

Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Richards T, Pedlar C. The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Menorrhagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes. PLoS One. 2016 Feb 22; 11(2):e0149881.





The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Menorrhagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes

Georgie Bruinvels $^{1,2,3\,\ast},$ Richard Burden $^{2,3,4},$ Nicola Brown 2, Toby Richards 1, Charles Pedlar 2,3

Division of Surgery and Interventional Science, University College London, London, United Kingdom,
 School of Sport, Health and Applied Science, St Mary's University, Twickenham, United Kingdom,
 Orreco Ltd, Institute of Technology, Sligo, Ireland, 4 English Institute of Sport, Loughborough, United Kingdom

* georgie.bruinvels.14@ucl.ac.uk

Abstract

G OPEN ACCESS

Citation: Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Richards T, Pedlar C (2016) The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Menorthagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes. PLoS ONE 11(2): e0149881. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0149881

Editor: Stephen L. Clarke, Oklahoma State University, UNITED STATES

Received: November 15, 2015

Accepted: February 6, 2016

Published: February 22, 2016

Copyright: © 2016 Bruinvels et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: All relevant data are within the paper and its Supporting Information files.

Funding: The author(s) received no specific funding for this work, however a number of the authors are affiliated to the commercial company Orreo Ltd. The funder provided support in the form of salaries for authors [GB, RB and CP], but did not have any additional role in the study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. The specific roles of these authors are articulated in the 'author contributions' section. To identify the prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) in exercising females where anemia may have a significant effect on training and performance a 'Female Health Questionnaire' was designed incorporating a validated diagnostic HMB series, demographics, exercise ability data, training status, anemia, iron supplementation and whether the menstrual cycle had affected training and performance. The survey was conducted in two stages; initially online, advertised via social media, and then repeated via face-to-face interviews with runners registered for the 2015 London Marathon. 789 participants responded to the online survey, and 1073 completed the survey at the marathon. HMB was reported by half of those online (54%), and by more than a third of the marathon runners (36%). Surprisingly, HMB was also prevalent amongst elite athletes (37%). Overall, 32% of exercising females, associated with self-reported anemia, and 50% had previously supplemented with iron. Only a minority (22%) had sought medical advice. HMB is highly prevalent in exercising females, associated with self-reported anemia, increased use of iron supplementation and a perceived negative impact on performance. Further research is needed to investigate the impact of HMB, iron deficiency and anemia in exercising females.

Introduction

Heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB) is common, affecting a quarter of the female population.[1] HMB can negatively impact on physical, emotional and social quality of life and reduce work capacity.[2,3]

Diagnosing HMB can be subjective and definitions include; blood loss of more than 80ml per menstrual cycle or "excessive menstrual blood loss which interferes with a woman's physical, social, emotional and/or material quality of life".[3,4] In a recent Europe-wide study a diagnosis of HMB was given if two or more of the following criteria were met; 1. passing of large

PLOS

Competing Interests: Three of the authors are affiliated to the commercial company Orreco Ltd, however this does not alter the authors' adherence to PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.

blood clots, 2. need for double sanitary protection (both towels and tampons), 3. need for frequent changes of tampons and towels (meaning changes every 2 hours or less, or 12 sanitary items per period) and 4. flooding through to clothes or bedding.[1]

The greater blood loss in HMB increases susceptibility to iron deficiency, which if left untreated may progress to iron deficiency anemia (IDA). Iron is an essential micronutrient required for numerous biological functions, including oxygen transport, cellular and mitochondrial respiration, electron transfer reactions, gene regulation, cell growth and differentiation.[5] Compromised iron stores cause adaptive changes, eventually resulting in limitations to the production of hemoglobin and a state of IDA. Menstruation is the most common single cause of IDA in females of a childbearing age,[6] with HMB specifically identified as the principal cause of iron deficiency and IDA in clinical practice in this population.[7] In a recent study of women with HMB, 63% of respondents reported being deficient in iron at some point.[1] However, despite the high prevalence of HMB, awareness is poor, with only a small minority (6%) of women seeking medical help annually.[8]

The impact of compromised iron stores on oxidative metabolism in endurance athletes can be significant, potentially reducing total hemoglobin mass, oxygen carrying capacity and performance.[9,10] Furthermore, those who exercise are at higher risk of iron deficiency as a result of increased iron loss through hematuria (blood in urine), gastrointestinal bleeding, sweating and hemolysis (particularly exacerbated in impact sports involving foot strike).[11-14] Research into the impact of iron deficiency without anemia is inconclusive, with an identified need for further research.[15]

While HMB has been shown to affect more than a quarter of women in the general population, the prevalence of HMB and the impact upon training and performance in exercising females has been unknown. We have recently published this headline data in a brief letter, [16] and in this paper we aim to 1. provide the full methods and results from this study, identifying the prevalence of HMB in exercising females; 2. determine any differential effect on exercisers of varying abilities; and 3. outline the perceived reported impact of HMB on training and performance which we were able to do through this research.

Materials and Methods

This research has been approved by the St Mary's University Ethics Committee. A 12-item 'Female Health Questionnaire' including free-text and yes-no polar questions was developed and designed to take 2–3 minutes to complete. The four-symptom definition of HMB [] was used to identify HMB sufferers and information was collected on age, 'personal best' sports performance times, current training volume, previous history of anemia and iron supplementation (including as part of a multivitamin), the menstrual cycle and difficulties caused by it, and oral contraceptive pill (OCP) usage (S1 Appendix). The participants were informed that by indicating that they agree to the terms and completing the survey they have provided written informed consent for their information to be used in this study. The inclusion criteria were: female, aged \geq 18 years, pre-menopausal and regularly exercising (\geq 90 minutes/week).

Stage 1-online questionnaire

The questionnaire was administered online and advertised through social media including Twitter, Facebook, online blogs and forums, university newsletters, websites and by word of mouth between 22 January 2015 and 19 May 2015. A link was provided to the internet-based survey in addition to some brief information about the research.

Stage 2-marathon exhibition questionnaire

Females registering for the 2015 London Marathon at the pre-event exhibition were surveyed using the same questionnaire. No bias was applied when selecting females to question and to avoid a response bias a scripted standardized introduction was made providing no specific information about the context of the survey. To ensure maximum response yield, surveys were completed at the time of asking. The questions and format of the paper copies used at the Exhibition were identical to the online survey to maintain equivalency and reliability of this mixed mode strategy. [17]

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed descriptively to summarize the prevalence of HMB, known anemia, iron supplementation, the seeking of medical help and impact of HMB on training and performance in both stages 1 and 2. The statistical analysis was completed using a predictive analytic software statistics computer package (IBM SPSS Statistics for Macintosh, Version 21.0, Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.). Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. Chi-squared tests were used to determine whether there was an association between HMB and presence of anemia and HMB and self-reported impacts on training and performance. Mann-Whitney U and Kruskal Wallis H tests were used to determine whether age and average weekly training volume were related to HMB. A Kruskal-Wallis H test with *post hoc* analysis and correction was used to determine whether 5km personal best time was linked to the number of HMB symptoms experienced, and Mann-Whitney U tests and Chi-squared tests were used to HMB incidence.

After combining both groups, a sub-analysis was conducted to separate out elite athletes using the following criteria: $5\text{km} \le 18$ minutes, $10\text{km} \le 36$ minutes, half marathon ≤ 80 minutes, 2km row ≤ 7 minutes: 45 seconds (elite running criteria defined using the 2015 'Great Run' series definitions of 'elite', rowing criteria defined by English Institute of Sport physiologist). Participants were split into the following groups based on typical total minutes exercised per week <90, 90–180, 180–360, 360–540, 540–720, and >720 minutes.

Results

Stage 1

A total of 789 surveys were completed online. More than half (54.1%) of the participants had experienced HMB at some point (Table 1).[16] 55.4% stated that their menstrual cycle impacts upon their training and performance (Table 1), with those meeting the HMB criteria (n = 427) being more likely to state this (69.3% vs. 39.0%; $\chi 2 = 867.593$, p < 0.01) (Table 2).[16] Those with a history of HMB were found to be older (31 years ±9.32 vs. 29 years ±7.49; H(2) = 10.392, p < 0.01).

Of the 427 participants who met the HMB criteria, 37.2% had sought medical help for heavy periods (Table 2).

Stage 2

1091 face-to-face surveys were collected and inputted into the Bristol Online Survey platform manually by the lead investigator and an assistant. Those with missing data or those completed by females who did not meet the inclusion criteria were excluded, resulting in a final sample size of 1073 for further analysis. Eight individuals declined to complete the survey once they had read the study information, and 61 declined answering the survey prior to being informed



Table 1. Self reported prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB), the effects on training and performance, seeking of help, history of anemia and iron supplementation. [16]

	Stage 1 (n = 789)	Stage 2 (n = 1073)	Elite athletes (n = 90)
НМВ	427 (54.1%)	381 (35.5%)	33 (36.7%)
Affects training and performance	437 (55.4%)	340 (31.7%)	46 (51.1%)
Sought help	190 (24.1%)	226 (21.1%)	21 (23.3%)
History of anemia	303 (38.4%)	300 (28.0%)	47 (52.2%)
History of iron supplementation	451 (57.2%)	486 (45.3%)	71 (78.9%)

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0149881.t001

about the content typically citing a lack of time. Therefore, in stage 2, the survey was fully completed by 94% of randomly approached female marathon runners.

The prevalence of HMB in females undertaking the 2015 London Marathon was 35.5% (<u>Table 1</u>).[16] Overall nearly one third (31.7%) said that their menstrual cycle impacts upon their training and performance (<u>Table 1</u>).[16] This was more than twice as likely to be a problem in those with HMB (48.3% vs. 22.5%; $\chi 2 = 1151.481$, p < 0.01; <u>Table 2</u>). Those who have experienced HMB were older than those who have not (35 years ± 7.95 vs. 32 years ± 7.83 ; H(2) = 18.936, p < 0.01). Of the 381 participants who met the criteria for HMB, 44.6% had sought medical help (<u>Table 2</u>).

Across both groups, known anemia was reported by 603 (32.4%) participants, while 1049 (56.3%) specified that they were unsure whether they have had anemia.[16] Reported anemia was more common in those with HMB (40.7% vs. 26.0%; $\chi 2 = 70.765$, p < 0.01).[16] Use of iron supplementation was also more common in those reporting HMB (58.4% vs. 50.3%; $\chi 2 = 39.199$, p < 0.01).[16] Less than a quarter of all surveyed reported having sought help for heavy periods (22.3%), with this increasing in those who met the HMB criteria (40.7%).[16]

When a sub-analysis was conducted and elite athletes were separated out from both groups, 36.7% met the HMB criteria, with 51.1% indicating that their menstrual cycle has impacted upon their training and performance, with these being significantly related ($\chi 2 = 5.046$, p < 0.05). A history of anemia was reported by 52.2%, with 78.9% having supplemented with iron (<u>Table 1</u>).

When participants who specified a 5km personal best time (n = 1166) were divided into groups based on the number of HMB symptoms they have experienced, a significant difference was found between groups (H(4) = 11.464, p < 0.05), despite distributions looking similar. However, a *post hoc* analysis using pairwise statistics revealed no statistically significant pairwise comparisons. When simply comparing those with and without HMB, median 5km times were

Table 2. Self reported prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding (HMB), its effects on training and performance, seeking of help, history of anemia and iron supplementation in those who have met the HMB criteria.

	Stage 1 (n = 427)	Stage 2 (n = 381)	Elite athletes (n = 33)
Affects training and performance	296 (69.3%)*	184 (48.3%)*	22 (66.7%)***
Sought help	159 (37.2%)*	170 (44.6%)*	14 (42.4%)**
History of anemia	184 (43.1%)*	145 (38.1%)*	19 (57.6%)
History of iron supplementation	262 (61.4%)***	210 (55.1%)*	27 (81.8%)

Significant differences between the values here from those meeting the HMB criteria and those who haven't are shown as follows: *p < 0.001,

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0149881.t002

^{**}p < 0.001, **p < 0.01,

^{***}p < 0.05.







significantly different (25 minutes:0 seconds vs. 24 minutes:24 seconds; z = 3.099, p < 0.05). When 5km personal best times were divided into quartiles (Q1 being the fastest athletes), a significant difference was seen in HMB prevalence between groups ($\chi 2 = 14.890$, p < 0.01), the faster runners in Q1 being less likely to have HMB (39.1%) than the slower runners in Q4 (53.1%) (Fig 1).

No statistically significant association was found between average weekly exercise volume and HMB presence (z = -0.811, p > 0.05). Those exercising for >720 minutes each week appeared as likely to suffer from HMB as those exercising for <90 minutes each week ($\chi^2 = 6.765$, p > 0.05).

Discussion

This is the first study to identify that HMB is a common problem amongst exercising females. Stage 1 of this research was used to ascertain whether HMB was prevalent amongst exercising females. It is acknowledged that this online survey was likely to be biased because females with menstrual cycle issues were more likely to complete the questionnaire, however with 54.1% meeting the HMB criteria this demonstrated that this is a significant problem within this populace. To obtain unbiased prevalence data a large study (stage 2) incorporating a number of controls to prevent bias was conducted at the 2015 London Marathon Exhibition. This found that 35.5% marathon runners met the HMB criteria therefore confirming the outcome in stage 1 that this is a common problem amongst exercising females. HMB has previously been shown to affect more than a quarter of the general female population, [1] but this is the first study to investigate prevalence amongst exercising females.

Only 43.1% and 38.1% of those females from stages 1 and 2 with HMB had sought medical help. This highlights the need for increased HMB awareness. However, previous research has demonstrated that almost half of females meeting the criteria for HMB who sought help did not have HMB confirmed,[\perp] and the results of an audit conducted by the Royal College of Obstetricians showed that once diagnosed one third were not given treatment in primary care. [18] This suggests that from both a diagnostic and treatment perspective an increased

awareness of HMB prevalence and treatment options is required. However, a review of treatment methods has shown there to be considerable variation in the treatment procedures and medications used, highlighting the need for further research.[19]

Due to the increased blood loss, those with HMB are more likely to suffer from iron deficiency and anemia, and this is consistent with our finding that those meeting the HMB criteria were more likely to report previous diagnosis of anemia than those who do not (40.7% compared to 26.0%). This may be higher as more than half of all respondents said that they were unaware whether or not they have been anemic. In the general population IDA has been shown to affect two thirds of women with HMB.[3] Regardless of menstruation, those participating in endurance exercise are susceptible to iron deficiency due to increased iron losses as a result of foot strike hemolysis, sweating, and gastrointestinal bleeding.[11-14] Dietary intake of iron has also been found to be suboptimal in those who exercise, and particularly in females. [20] This iron deficiency and IDA risk is further exacerbated in those with HMB. Many elite athletes routinely supplement with iron-as shown here with 78.9% reporting supplementation. Coaches often encourage supplementation without knowledge of iron status due to the unfounded but common belief that iron deficiency is rife and supplementation may benefit performance. Less than half of those with HMB have sought medical help, therefore it is necessary to raise awareness as clinical iron deficiency and IDA can result in fatigue, weakness impaired cognition and psychological morbidity, negatively impacting upon quality of life.[21]

Similar to the findings from Marret et al, [22] this study demonstrated that HMB was marginally more likely in those who were older. Unsurprisingly those with HMB were more likely to report that their menstrual cycle impacts upon their training and performance.

The sub-analysis from the elite athlete sample showed that more than one third met the HMB criteria. This is somewhat surprising because it is well documented that elite female athletes, particularly endurance athletes are susceptible to amenorrhea and oligomenorrhea often as a result of a relative energy deficiency associated with a high training volume.[23,24] This suggests that elite athletes may also be susceptible to other menstrual disturbances. Furthermore, it could be hypothesized that increases in training volume would equate to increased risk of amenorrhea or oligomenorrhea, potentially decreasing HMB incidence, but this was not the case here with no identified relationship between total number of minutes exercised per week and HMB presence. However, those with faster 5km personal best times were less likely to report HMB, with the median 5km time in the HMB group being slower. The slower times seen in Q3 and Q4 where HMB prevalence is higher when compared to Q1 could be caused by an increased incidence of IDA, which is impacting upon performance, alternatively increased rates of amenorrhea in Q1 could reflect the lower HMB incidence seen here. However these differences were only marginal, and further research is required before forming a definitive conclusion. Historically, much research has focused on the female athlete triad and the new term 'Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport'-RED-S, particularly in elite athletes.[25,26] These syndromes are characterized by amenorrhea or oligomenorrhea, however this study suggests that other menstrual cycle issues are also commonplace, highlighting the need for further more general research across other menstrual cycle irregularities in exercising women.

There are a number of limitations of this study. Firstly, the self-reported nature of this questionnaire could have resulted in inaccurate data, however the HMB diagnostic criteria does not lean itself to comparison bias. Secondly, stage 2 data was only collected in marathon runners, which may not be representative of other running events and sports. It has been shown that exercise increases susceptibility to iron deficiency,[27] however blood parameters including markers of iron status have not been measured therefore we are making an assumption. Additionally, the presence of illnesses (i.e. endometriosis) or the use of medication was not recorded, these could increase the likelihood of participants meeting the HMB criteria. To obtain

standardized performance comparisons a means for knowing finishing time in the marathon would strengthen ability to determine any relationships between participant performance level and HMB presence. Relationship between anthropometrical parameters and and HMB presence could also be explored. Further studies are required to address these limitations.

Conclusions

This study has demonstrated that HMB is common in the exercising population. HMB was associated with anemia, iron supplementation and slower performance times. Further research is however needed to explore the impact of HMB and iron deficiency on performance. The lack of medical help sought by the participants in this study suggests that either females don't feel or realize this is a problem, or have learnt to cope with it, highlighting that more research and awareness is needed. HMB is also surprisingly common amongst elite athletes, ostensibly impacting upon their training and performance, and potentially causing iron deficiency, although further research is needed to confirm this association.

Supporting Information

S1 Appendix. 'Female Health Questionnaire'. The 'Female Health Questionnaire' that was completed either online or at the 2015 London Marathon Exhibition by all surveyed (n = 1862). (DOCX)

S2 Appendix. 'Letter to the Editor'. Letter to the Editor: The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding amongst athletes and mass start runners of the 2015 London Marathon. (DOCX)

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Dr Courtney Kipps and the London Marathon Medical Committee for their cooperation in facilitating access to the London Marathon Exhibition.

Author Contributions

Conceived and designed the experiments: GB RB NB TR CP. Performed the experiments: GB. Analyzed the data: GB RB NB TR CP. Contributed reagents/materials/analysis tools: GB RB NB TR CP. Wrote the paper: GB RB NB TR CP.

References

- Fraser IS, Mansour D, Breymann C, Hoffman C, Mezzacasa A, Petraglia F. Prevalence of heavy menstrual bleeding and experiences of affected women in a European patient survey. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2015; 128: 196–200. doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijgo.2014.09.027</u> PMID: <u>25627706</u>
- Karlsson TS, Marions LB, Edlund MG. Heavy menstrual bleeding significantly affects quality of life. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2014; 93: 52–7. doi: <u>10.1111/aogs.12292</u> PMID: <u>24266506</u>
- National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Heavy Menstrual Bleeding. 2007. Available: <u>http:// www.nice.org.uk/nicemedia/pdf/CG44NICEGuideline.pdf</u>.
- Hallberg L, Nilsson L. Determination of Menstrual Blood Loss. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1964; 16: 244– 8. PMID: <u>14161862</u>
- Deli CK, Fatouros IG, Koutedakis Y, Jamurtas AZ. Iron supplementation and physical performance In: Hamlin A. P. M., editor editors. Current Issues in Sports and Exercise Medicine; 2013.
- Taylor S, Rampton D. Treatment of iron deficiency anemia: practical considerations. Pol Arch Med Wewn 2015; 125: 452–60. PMID: <u>25922941</u>

- Beglinger C, Breymann C. Treatment of iron deficiency. 2010. Available: <u>http://www.santeweb.ch/</u> include_php/previewdoc.php?file_id=6438.
- McCormick A, Fleming D, Charlton J. Morbidity statistics from general practice: fourth national study 1991–1992. London: HMSO; 1995.
- Garvican LA, Loubigs L, Telford R, Fallon K, Gore CJ. Haemoglobin Mass in an Anaemic Female Endurance Runner Before and After Iron Supplementation. Int J Sports Physiol Perform 2011; 6: 137– 40. PMID: 21487157
- 10. Hinton PS. Iron and the endurance athlete. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2014; 39: 1012–8. doi: 10.1139/ apnm-2014-0147 PMID: 25017111
- 11. de Oliveira EP, Burini RC. The impact of physical exercise on the gastrointestinal tract. Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab 2009; 12: 533–58.
- DeRuisseau KC, Cheuvront SN, Haymes EM, Sharp RG. Sweat Iron and Zinc Losses During Prolonged Exercise. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 2002; 12: 428–37. PMID: <u>12500986</u>
- Telford RD, Sly GJ, Hahn AG, Cunningham RB, Bryant C, Smith JA. Footstrike is the major cause of hemolysis during running. J Appl Physiol 2003; 94: 38–42. PMID: <u>12391035</u>
- Siegel AJ, Hennekens CH, Solomon HS, Van Boeckel B. Exercise-related hematuria. Findings in a group of marathon runners. JAMA 1979; 241: 391–2. PMID: <u>758557</u>
- Burden RJ, Pollock N, Whyte GP, Richards T, Moore B, Busbridge M, et al. Impact of Intravenous Iron on Aerobic Capacity and Iron Metabolism in Elite Athletes. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2015; 47: 1399–407.
 Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Richards T, Pedlar C. Letter to the Editor. The prevalence and impact
- of heavy menstrual bleeding amongst athletes and mass start runners of the 2015 London Marathon. Br J Sports Med [Internet]. 2015 Nov 26 [cited 2016 January 20]. doi: <u>10.1136/bjsports-2015-095505</u> [Epub ahead of print].
- Kaplowitz MD, Hadlock TD, Levine R. A comparison of web and mail survey response rates. Public Opinion Quarterly 2004; 68; 94–101.
- Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. Third Annual Report: National Heavy Menstrual Bleeding Audit. 2013. Available: <u>https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/researchaudit/nationalhmbaudit_3rdannualreport_september2013.pdf</u>.
- Copher R, Le Nestour E, Law A, Pocoski J, Zampaglione E. Retrospective analysis of variation in heavy menstrual bleeding treatments by age and underlying cause. Curr Med Res Opin 2013; 29: 127– 39. doi: <u>10.1185/03007995.2012.759096</u> PMID: <u>23268728</u>
- 20. Rowland TW, Kelleher JF. Iron deficiency in athletes. Insights from high school swimmers. Am J Dis Child 1989; 143: 197–200. PMID: 2916491
- Liu Z, Doan QV, Blumenthal P, Dubois RW. A systematic review evaluating health related quality of life, work impairment, and health-care costs and utilization in abnormal uterine bleeding. Value Health 2007; 10: 183–94. PMID: <u>17532811</u>
- Marret H, Fauconnier A, Chabbert-Buffet N, Cravello L, Golfier F, Gondry J, et al. Clinical practice guidelines on menorrhagia: management of abnormal uterine bleeding before menopause. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2010; 152: 133–7. doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejogrb.2010.07.016</u> PMID: <u>20688424</u>
- Nattiv A, Loucks AB, Manore MM, Sanborn CF, Sundgot-Borgen J, Warren MP. American College of Sports Medicine position stand. The female athlete triad. American College of Sports Medicine. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007; 39: 1867–82. PMID: <u>17909417</u>
- Nazem TG, Ackerman KE. The female athlete triad. Sports Health 2012; 4: 302–11. PMID: <u>23016101</u>
 Barrack MT, Ackerman KE, Gibbs JC. Update on the female athlete triad. Curr Rev Musculoskeletal Med 2013; 6: 195–204.
- Mountjoy M, Sundgot-Borgen J, Burke L, Carter S, Constantini N, Lebrun C, et al. The IOC consensus statement: beyond the Female Athlete Triad-Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport (RED-S). Br J Sports Med 2014; 48: 491–7. doi: <u>10.1136/bjsports-2014-093502</u> PMID: <u>24620037</u>
- 27. Beard J, Tobin B. Iron status and exercise. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 72: 594-7.

10.3 Publication: Sport exercise and the menstrual cycle: where is the research? (Editorial)

Bruinvels G, Burden RJ, McGregor AJ, Ackerman KE, Dooley M, Richards T, Pedlar C. Sport exercise and the menstrual cycle: where is the research? Br J Sports Med. 2017 Mar:51(6):487-488

> Downloaded from http://bjsm.bmj.com/ on June 8, 2016 - Published by group.bmj.com BJSM Online First, published on June 6, 2016 as 10.1136/bjsports-2016-096279 Editorial

Sport, exercise and the menstrual cycle: where is the research?

G Bruinvels,^{1,2,3} R J Burden,^{2,3,4} A J McGregor,⁵ K E Ackerman,⁶ M Dooley,⁷ T Richards,¹ C Pedlar^{2,6}

Despite a decreasing gender gap in exercise participation, there still remains a significant under-representation of women included in sport and exercise medicine research studies.1 A review of 1382 sport and exercise research studies involving over 6 million participants, from 2011 to 2013, found the representation of women to be 39%.1 The complexities of the menstrual cycle are considered major barriers to the inclusion of women in clinical trials.

Historically, partially due to concerns of potentially damaging unborn fetuses, medical trials-including drug trialswere conducted solely in men. Further, women were perceived as more physiologically variable, therefore utilising only male participants would allow meaningful results with fewer participants and less funding. Since men were viewed as adequate proxies for women, the years of exclusion of female participants from research were considered inconsequential. However, it is now known that women can respond very differently to drug

treatments than men. Evidence suggests that women are almost twice more likely to have an adverse reaction to a drug than their male counterparts, and 80% of drugs withdrawn from the market are due to unacceptable side effects in women.²

When research involving exercise metabolism includes women, participants are often tested in the early follicular phase of their menstrual cycle, when hormone levels are at their lowest, in order to minimise the possible impacts oestradiol and progesterone may have on the study outcomes.3 This type of research practice leaves much ambiguity around how such hormones may influence the unique physiological processes in women, from blood pressure to substrate metabolism, thus perpetuating the significant gap in understanding how the menstrual cycle impacts exercise performance. Sheel⁴ recently described a number of sex differences in the physiological response to exercise, likely caused in part by ovarian hormones, highlighting a lack of understanding and a need for further research.

We recently reported that 41.7% of exercising women believe their menstrual cycle has a negative impact on exercise training and performance.5 However, largely due to the dearth of sports and exercise research in women, explanations for this are lacking. Heavy menstrual bleeding with unknown or undiagnosed

iron deficiency could be a cause but this is speculative.

There is a clear need to gain better understanding of female physiology and to define the effects of the cyclical variations in hormones, both positive and negative, on athletic performance. Also, a greater understanding of the menstrual cycle is needed to address the reported negative impacts on exercise training in order to encourage participation and avoid further disparity in gender representation.

Twitter Follow Georgie Bruinvels at @gbruinvels and Richard Burden @rich_burden, Charles Pedlar @pedlarcr

Contributors GB, RJB, AJM, KEA, MD, TR and CP all participated in manuscript preparation

Competing interests None declared.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

To cite Bruinvels G. Burden RJ. McGregor AJ. et al. Br J Sports Med Published Online First: [please include Day Month Year] doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096279 Accepted 26 April 2016

Br J Sports Med 2016:0:1

doi:10.1136/bjsports-2016-096279

REFERENCES

- Costello JT, Bieuzen F, Bleakley CM. Where are all the female participants in Sports and Exercise Medicine research? *Eur J Sport Sci* 2014;14:847–51. Rademaker M. Do women have more adverse drug
- 2 reactions? Am J Clin Dermatol 2001;2:349-51. Oosthuyse T. Bosch AN. The effect of the menstrual 3
- cycle on exercise metabolism: implications for exercise performance in eumenorrhoeic women. Sports Med . 2010;40:207–27. 4 Sheel AW. Sex differences in the physiology of
- exercise: an integrative perspective. *Exp P* 2016;101:211–2.
- Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, et al. The prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding (menorrhagia) in elite and non-elite athletes. PLoS ONE 2016;11: e0149881

Bruilles G, et al. D 3 spore med month 2010 1.1.1. Copyright Article author (or their employer) 2016. Produced by BMJ Publishing Group Ltd under licence. Bruinvels G, et al. Br J Sports Med Month 2016 Vol 0 No 0

*

¹ University College London, London, UK; ²St Mary's University, Twickenham, UK; ³ORRECO Ltd, Institute of Technology, Sligo, Ireland; ⁴English Institute of Sport, Loughborough, UK; ⁵Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island, USA; ⁶Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts, USA; ⁷The Poundbury Clinic, Dorchester, Dorset, UK

Correspondence to G Bruinvels, Division of Surgery and Interventional Science, University College London, 21 University Street, London WC1E 6AU, UK; georgie bruinvels@ucl.ac.uk, @gbruinvels

10.4 Other publications

Publications under review

Publication under second review:

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Brown N, Simpkin A, Mansour D, Brown J, Richards T. The impact of heavy menstrual bleeding and iron status on fatigue in menstruating women.

Other publications during PhD

Ackerman KE, Holtzman B, Cooper KM, Flynn EF, **Bruinvels G**, Tenforde AS, Popp KL, Simpkin AJ, Parziale AL⁻ Low Energy Availability Surrogates Correlate with Health and Performance Consequences of Relative Energy Deficiency in Sport (RED-S). Br J Sports Med. 2018 Mar; doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2017-098958

Lewis NA, Towey C, **Bruinvels G**, Howatson G, Pedlar CR. Effects of exercise on alterations in redox homeostasis in elite male and female endurance athletes using a clinical point-of-care test. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2016 Oct; 41(10):1026-1032

Blagrove R, **Bruinvels G**, Read P. Early sport-specialization and intensive training in adolescent female athletes: risks and recommendations. Strength and Conditioning Journal. 2017:1 doi:10.1519/ssc.00000000000315

Pedlar C, Brugnara C, **Bruinvels G,** Burden R. Iron Balance and Iron Supplementation for the Female Athlete: A Practical Approach. Eur J Sports Science. 2017 Dec 27;349(2):1–11

Wang G, Durussel J, Shurlock J, Mooses M, Fuku N, **Bruinvels G**, Pedlar C, Burden R, Murray A, Yee B, Keenan A, McClure JD, Sottas PE, Pitsiladis. Validation of whole-blood transcriptome signature during microdose recombinant human erythropoietin (rHuEpo) administration. BMC Genomics. BioMed Central; 2017 Nov 14;18(Suppl 8):817.

10.5 Oral presentations

Past

Bruinvels G, Durussel J, McClure JD, McBride MW, Wondimu DH, Wang G, Mooses M, Mooses K, Wang J, Murray A and Pitsiladis Y. Blood gene expression profiles of trained athletes in response to altitude exposure and differentiation from rHuEpo doping.

2014 In: Abstracts of the 93rd Annual Meeting of the German Physiological Society, Mainz, Germany. March 2014.

Bruinvels G. Iron Metabolism in Endurance Iron-Deficient, Non-Anaemic (IDNA) Athletes. Presented to the Robbins Group, Department of Physiology, Anatomy and Genetics at the University of Oxford. November 2014

Bruinvels G, Burden R, Brown N, Pedlar C, Richards T. The Prevalence and impact of heavy menstrual bleeding in exercising women. Female Athlete Conference, Boston. June 2015

Bruinvels G. Women's health in sport. The prevalence and impact of iron deficiency on exercise performance. Joint Women's Health and Patient Blood Management Initiative: Advisory Board, Singapore. January 2017

Ackerman KA, **Bruinvels G**. Periods, Performance, and the Pill – Effects of the Menstrual Cycle on Performance and Contraception Choices for the Modern Female Athlete. 2018 Annual Meeting, World Congress on Exercise is Medicine.

10.6 Abstracts and Posters

2016

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Yong TT, Cushway T, Richards T. Heavy Menstrual Bleeding and iron status in exercising women in Singapore. Network for the Advancement of Patient Blood Management, Haemostasis and Thrombosis. 17th Annual Symposium, April 2016.

2017

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Yong TT, Cushway T, Richards T. The impact of heavy menstrual bleeding (menorrhagia) and iron status in exercising females. British Jounral of Sports Medicine. Feb 2017, 51(4)304 IOC World Conference – Prevention of Injury and Illness in Sport

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Brown N, Butcher A, Chau M, Richards T. IRONWOMAN Trial: The impact of intravenous iron on exercise performance in iron deficiency, exercising women. Network for the Advancement of Patient Blood Management, Haemostasis and Thrombosis. 18th Annual Symposium, April 2017

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Butcher A, Chau M, Cushway T, Richards T. The impact of heavy menstrual bleeding and iron status on fatigue in menstruating women. Network for the Advancement of Patient Blood Management, Haemostasis and Thrombosis. 18th Annual Symposium, April 2017

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Brown N, Butcher A, Chau M, Richards T. IRONWOMAN Trial: The impact of intravenous iron on exercise performance in iron deficiency, exercising women. Seventh Congress of the International Bioiron Society (2017)

Bruinvels G, Pedlar C, Burden R, Butcher A, Chau M, Cushway T, Richards T. The impact of heavy menstrual bleeding and iron status on fatigue in menstruating women. Seventh Congress of the International Bioiron Society (2017)

Yong TT, **Bruinvels G**, Pedlar C, Burden R, Cushway, T, Richards T. Heavy Menstrual Bleeding, iron status and fatigue in exercising women in Singapore. Royal College of Obstetrics & Gynaecologists World Congress 2017.

Parziale AL, **Bruinvels G**, Richards T, Pedlar CR, Ackerman KE. The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding Among Exercising Women. 2017 Annual Meeting, World Congress on Exercise is Medicine

10.7 Grants

SCA-Libresse-Bodyform – two-year grant for research Pharmacosmos - £10,000 & intravenous iron for IRONWOMAN trial

10.8 Selected media exposure

Written Press

Live Science - http://www.livescience.com/54988-fewer-women-in-exerciseresearch.html

Motherboard - http://motherboard.vice.com/en_ca/read/why-are-sports-researchers-so-scared-of-menstruation

BuzzFeed News - https://www.buzzfeed.com/kellyoakes/we-need-more-women-insports-medicine-trials-say-scientists?utm_term=.oaJQNB196#.nn4G7RA8j

CBC News - http://www.cbc.ca/news/health/sport-exercise-menstrual-cycle-1.3618140

eCanada Now - http://www.ecanadanow.com/are-fewer-women-in-sports-studiesbecause-of-their-menstrual-cycle/99210/

The i Newspaper - https://inews.co.uk/essentials/sport/women-excluded-sport-studiesdue-menstrual-cycle/

The Tech Times - http://www.techtimes.com/articles/163467/20160608/monthly-period-prevents-women-from-participating-in-sports-medicine-research.htm

Medical Daily - http://www.medicaldaily.com/gender-gap-sports-research-menstrualcycle-389021

Parent Herald - http://www.parentherald.com/articles/48120/20160608/menstruation-keeping-women-sports-exercise-research.htm

Newsweek US - http://www.newsweek.com/having-periods-major-barrier-includingwomen-sports-medicine-research-467067

Think Progress - http://thinkprogress.org/health/2016/06/08/3785632/menstruationclinical-research/

The Australian - http://thinkprogress.org/health/2016/06/08/3785632/menstruationclinical-research/

Mo News Update - http://monewsupdate.pro/menstrual-period-to-prevent-womensparticipation-in-sports-medicine-laboratory

Athlete Muscle - http://www.athletemuscle.com/monthly-period-prevents-women-fromparticipating-in-sports-medicine-research/

Balita News Tabloid, the Philippines - http://balita.net.ph/2016/06/10/apektado-nga-bang-menstrual-period-ang-pag-eehersisyo/

Axtop.net – Indonesian news site - http://axtop.net/apakah-wanita-yang-lebih-sedikitdalam-latihan-studi-karena-periode-mereka/

Yahoo News - https://www.yahoo.com/news/fewer-women-exercise-studies-because-periods-145216028.html?ref=gs

Economia y Negocios, Chile

http://www.economiaynegocios.cl/noticias/noticias.asp?id=259858

Huffington Post - http://www.huffingtonpost.com/entry/ridiculous-reason-women-are-excluded-from-exercise-studies_us_57597f78e4b00f97fba7698f

http://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/women-excluded-from-sport-and-exercise-

research_uk_575189ebe4b0b23a261a310f

Pacific Standard Mag - https://psmag.com/does-a-womans-period-affect-her-athletic-performance-2d7317f963c0#.478646ksn

Popular Science - http://www.popsci.com/surprise-researchers-think-women-are-being-excluded-from-clinical-trials?dom=rss-default&src=syn

On Medica - http://www.onmedica.com/newsArticle.aspx?id=17996adb-83f0-493e-8cfcc758e8d2c261 Health, Diet, Fitness and Nutrition - http://livinghealthytips.xyz/women-still-excludedfrom-meaningful-sport-and-exercise-research-argue-experts/310757/releases.html

True Viral News - http://trueviralnews.com/?p=198991

True Viral News - http://trueviralnews.com/?p=198458

Scimex - https://www.scimex.org/newsfeed/women-missing-from-sports-research

True Breaking News - http://science.truebreakingnews.com/?p=7108

Daily Magazine - http://dailymagazine.news/are-fewer-women-in-exercise-studiesbecause-of-their-periods-nid-184305.html

CanBan Bizz, Australia - http://canban.biz/menstruation-shuts-out-women-from-clinical-trials-editorial-54388.html

Sports Vice, USA - https://sports.vice.com/en_us/article/for-elite-athletes-periods-arestill-a-question-mark

Athletics Weekly - http://www.athleticsweekly.com/featured/special-report-menstrualcycle-impact-on-athletics-performance-50765

Huffington Post - http://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/entry/period-stigma-report-bodyformmost-girls-avoid-sport-while-on-period_uk_57b2f9eae4b0730aab6465c5

http://fusion.net/story/331665/olympics-periods-female-athletes/

Konbini - http://www.konbini.com/en/lifestyle/china-swimming-fun-yuanhui-tacklesperiod-taboo/

Straits Times - http://www.straitstimes.com/opinion/kudos-to-fu-yuanhui-for-being-openabout-her-period

Slate

http://www.slate.com/blogs/xx_factor/2016/08/16/fu_yuanhui_discussed_having_her_peri od_during_the_olympics.html

BBC World News - http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-china-37081669

Women's SportsNet - 'Confronting the Taboo of Menstruation' - http://wsnet.co.uk/WSN-TV/confronting-taboo-menstruation-survey-yourstmarys-uni-london

BBC Sport - 'Periods in sport: New research on the menstrual cycle effect' -

http://www.bbc.co.uk/sport/33858956

The Telegraph - 'Half of athletes don't perform well when menstruating' http://www.telegraph.co.uk/women/womens-life/11794088/Periods-in-sport-Half-ofathletes-dont-perform-as-well-when-menstruating.html

Sport Executive - 'The last great sporting taboo' - http://sportexecutive.dk/last-greatsporting-taboo-2/; https://issuu.com/sportexecutive/docs/se_08_2015_sportex_uk_net/28 **Women's SportsNet** - 'The Prevalence and Impact of Heavy Menstrual Bleeding (Menorrhagia) in Elite and Non-Elite Athletes' - http://wsnet.co.uk/WSN-TV/prevalenceand-impact-heavy-menstrual-bleeding-menorrhagia-elite-and-non-elite-athletes Radio and TV

BBC Sportsday – Women in Sport week http://www.bbc.com/sport/get-inspired/37561658.app BBC Radio 5 live http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/b07xf34j BBC Radio 4 Women's Hour http://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/b07mvxs6 CBC News http://www.cbc.ca/news/health/sport-exercise-menstrual-cycle-1.3618140

Written article

Sport Health, Australia

https://asp-au.secure-zone.net/v2/index.jsp?id=684/750/8761&Ing=en

10.9 Other work

Miles L, Bruinvels G, Otto JM, Chau M, and Richards T. Cochrane Protocol 0224: Iron therapy for iron deficient non-anaemic adults. Started June 2015, work still on going

10.10 IRONWOMAN Trial: Participant Information Sheet





PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET Version 3 – 8 October 2015

Study Title: IRON WOMAN – Iron therapy for female athletes

Chief Investigator: Professor Toby Richards Student Researcher: Miss Georgie Bruinvels Principal Investigators: Dr Charles Pedlar and Dr Richard Burden

You are being invited to take part in this pilot research study as a result of your recent expression of interest in our work. Before you decide whether to participate, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully. Please do us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information.

Study Purpose and Research Overview

This study is being conducted to fulfil the requirements of a Graduate Research Degree (PhD) being undertaken by Miss Georgie Bruinvels, Division of Surgery and Interventional Science at University College London (UCL).

Our research group aims to optimise the health and well being of athletes. The research group at St Mary's University, Twickenham in collaboration with UCL is specifically looking at the effects of low iron (i.e. iron deficiency anaemia and iron deficiency non-anaemia) and it's impact on performance.

Endurance exercise can cause small iron loss through haematuria (blood in urine), gastrointestinal bleeding, sweating and haemolysis (destruction of red blood cells, particularly exacerbated in impact sports involving foot strike). Females who participate regularly in endurance training therefore have an increased susceptibility to iron deficiency, and this is likely to be exacerbated in menstruating females. Iron is essential for the healthy functioning of the body and deficiency will eventually result in a reduction in energy levels, weakness, impaired cognition and motivation amongst other long-term detrimental affects to the human body.

The purpose of this study is therefore to see whether intravenous iron supplementation improves exercise performance and quality of life in iron deficient exercising women.

Why have I been invited to take part in this study?

We are contacting you because you have indicated that you may be low in iron and exercise on a regular basis.

Do I have to take part in this study?

You are under no obligation to take part in this research, participation is voluntary, but if you do decide to partake please read and keep this information sheet, and sign the consent form at the end. If you decide that you no longer want to be a part of this research then you will be able to withdraw safely, at any time with no notice or reasoning. Declining to take part or withdrawing from this study will have no impact on future care or involvement in other research.

What will happen to me if I take part in this study?

You are being contacted because you think you may meet our predefined criteria for being iron deficient. If you decide that you would like to continue involvement in this study you will undergo some tests and answer some questionnaires, then be given a single injection of iron. The initial tests and completion of questionnaires will then be repeated on one or two occasions. The aim of giving you iron is to return your iron levels to a 'clinically normal' level. You will need to visit St Mary's University,



Twickenham on four occasions for a number of tests, and 112 Harley Street, London as explained below;

- 1. Screening test this will involve having a blood test to check your iron status to see if you are eligible for this research. During the visit to the lab you will be given an overview of the study and will be able to ask questions. This will take place at St Mary's University, Twickenham.
- 2. Baseline testing you will be required to have an exercise test (the test is called a VO_{2max} test, and it measures the maximum amount of oxygen that you can take in and use while exercising. It is the main test used in exercise physiology to assess physical fitness, and a higher value indicates a higher level of fitness), a blood test, a total haemoglobin mass test (explained below), provide a urine sample and answer 5 questionnaires (approx. 2 hours for all tests). This will take place at St Mary's University, Twickenham.
- 3. Iron injection after the baseline tests you will be required to go to the iron therapy clinic located at 112 Harley Street, London to receive an iron injection. This will be given by a trained medical professional. Iron will be infused over a minimum period of 15 minutes and you will be observed for 30 minutes after this. (approx. an hour in total)
- 4. Follow up testing 2 weeks after you have had the iron injection you will be required to come back to St Mary's University, Twickenham and repeat the tests that were performed at baseline, including an exercise test, a blood test, a total haemoglobin mass test, provision of a urine sample and to complete the 5 questionnaires. 3 months (12 weeks) after the iron injection you will be required to come back to St Mary's again for a blood test and to answer the 5 questionnaires.

How long am I likely to be in this study?

After you have come into the lab for your familiarisation trial you will complete your baseline tests, you will receive your iron injection within the next 2 weeks, follow up testing will take place 2 weeks and 3 months (12 weeks) after this. Therefore from the baseline testing you will be in the study for approximately 16 weeks.

What are the possible benefits of taking part in this study?

You will receive information about your current level of physical fitness, and will be given key target training and heart rate zones that you can use for your training. You will also gain information about your general health and well-being. If your iron deficiency is having an impact on your quality of life and exercise performance you will also benefit from the restoration of your iron levels.

What are the possible side effects, disadvantages and risks of taking part in this study?

The risks associated with a VO_{2max} test are minimal but include the following: fatigue, muscle soreness, irregular heartbeat and chest pain. We will conduct testing in the standardised procedure under the guidance of an experienced exercise physiologist; heart rate and rate of perceived exhaustion will be continuously monitored throughout the test in a controlled environment.

We will also require you to complete a total haemoglobin mass test. This test is routinely used in sport and exercise science and provides another way of measuring fitness, showing how much oxygen your body can transfer. The test involves breathing a very small amount of carbon monoxide, less than you would breathe in when sitting in a queue of traffic. This will be performed by a trained physiologist, and is very unlikely to have any effects on your health and wellbeing.

The most common reported side effects of intravenous iron are dizziness, high blood pressure and/or injection site reactions.



Other uncommon side effects (occur in less than 1 in 100 (1%) and more than 1 in 1,000 (0.1%) patients receiving iron) are allergic reaction (hypersensitivity), sensation of pain (paraesthesia), a change in your taste sensation (dysgeusia), high heart rate (tachycardia), low blood pressure (hypotension), redness in the face (flushing), difficulty breathing (dyspnoea), vomiting, upset stomach (dyspepsia), flatulence, abdominal pain, constipation, diarrhoea, itching (pruritus), hives (urticaria), redness of the skin (erythema), rash, muscle, joint and/or back pain (myalgia and arthralgia), muscle spasm, fever (pyrexia), tiredness (fatigue), chest pain, swelling of the hands and/or the feet (oedema peripheral), pain and/or chills.

In all the clinical trials reported to date (including over 6000 patients) there has been no report of increased side effects in patients receiving the intravenous iron compared to those patients who received the placebo.

If you encounter any problems following the IV iron treatment you should contact Professor Toby Richards immediately (Tel: 0207 679 6454).

Is it compulsory for me to take part?

No, it is not compulsory; participation is voluntary and specific to this study. If you do agree to be involved in this study it does not mean that you agree to being involved in other studies.

What are the alternatives for treatment of iron deficiency?

In the UK, typically iron is given in tablet form, however this is typically poorly absorbed and there are some side effects including abdominal pain, constipation and heartburn. Also, restoration of iron stores typically takes 3-6 months. Additionally, those who exercise may have increased levels of inflammation, which will hinder absorption. Conversely, intravenous iron which can be administered as a single treatment in a relatively short length of time (minimum of 15 minuets) enables rapid restoration of iron status. Intravenous iron is widely and effectively used in countries such as Switzerland and Australia.

Why will iron be delivered intravenously and not orally?

As restoration of iron stores is slow and poorly absorbed through oral iron treatment intravenous iron therapy is being used. This has been shown to be much more effective.

What will happen if I do not want to carry on with the study?

If you decide during the study that you no longer want to participate you can withdraw yourself at any time and do not need to give a reason. After study completion, any stored blood or tissue samples that can still be identified as yours will be destroyed if you would like.

If there is anything you do not understand or wish to ask questions about, please feel free to ask.

In the unlikely event of a loss of capacity to consent, the research team will retain tissue and personal data collected during this study and continue to use it confidentially for research purposes. This could include further research after the current project has ended.

What if something goes wrong?

In the unlikely event that you are harmed while taking part in this research project, there are no special compensation arrangements. But, if you are harmed due to someone's carelessness, then you may have grounds for legal action but you may have to pay for it.

Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?



All information that is collected about you during the course of the research will be kept strictly confidential. You will be referred to by a unique code, and any information about you will have your name and address removed so that you cannot be recognised.

Will my General Practitioner be notified?

On agreement, your general practitioner will be informed of your inclusion and will be provided with your results from this research.

What if new information becomes available?

Sometimes during the course of a research project, new information becomes available about the subject being studied. Should this happen a member of the research team will tell you about it and discuss with you whether you want to continue in the study.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

Results will be published in a peer-reviewed scientific journal once the study is completed. You will be given with a lay summary of the research results. You will not be identified in any publication.

Who has reviewed the study?

All research in the NHS is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. This study has been reviewed and given favourable opinion by the London-Westminster Research Ethics Committee.

The St Mary's University Ethics Committee has also reviewed and approved this research.

What will happen to any samples I give?

Any blood samples that are taken as part of the research study will be transferred to a central laboratory for analysis. The blood will only be identified by using your unique study number. The blood will be frozen at -80°C. The samples will be transported to a laboratory in central London called The Doctors Laboratory (TDL). The bloods will be analysed. Any serum excess (blood product) will be stored for future research. All results will be sent to the statistician who is based at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM). This is where the staff organising this study are based. Unless you withdraw your consent, we will ask you to gift your blood to the people running the study and in so doing give up all future claims to its use that may include further research.

If you wish to find out more about this research study, you can contact:

Georgie Bruinvels - georgie.bruinvels@stmarys.ac.uk; georgie.bruinvels.14@ucl.ac.uk

Thank you for taking time to read this information.

10.11 IRONWOMAN Trial: NHS Ethics Approval letter



Research Ethics Service London - Westminster Research Ethics Committee 4 Minshull Street Manchester M 1 3DZ

Telephone: 0207 104 8012

16 November 2015

Mr Toby Richards University College London Division of Surgery & Interventional Science 74 Huntley Street London WC1E 6AA

Dear Mr Richards

REC reference:

IRAS project ID:

Study title:

The role and effect of intravenous iron isomaltoside at improving functional performance outcome measures and quality of life in iron deficient exercising females 15/LO/1570 180318

Thank you for your submission of 03 November 2015, responding to the Committee's request for further information on the above research and submitting revised documentation.

The further information has been considered on behalf of the Committee by the Chair and Mr Robert Goldstein.

We plan to publish your research summary wording for the above study on the HRA website, together with your contact details. Publication will be no earlier than three months from the date of this opinion letter. Should you wish to provide a substitute contact point, require further information, or wish to make a request to postpone publication, please contact the REC Manager, Ms Rachel Katzenellenbogen, nrescommittee.london-westminster@nhs.net.

Confirmation of ethical opinion

On behalf of the Committee, I am pleased to confirm a favourable ethical opinion for the above research on the basis described in the application form, protocol and supporting documentation as revised, subject to the conditions specified below.

Conditions of the favourable opinion

The favourable opinion is subject to the following conditions being met prior to the start of the

study.

Management permission or approval must be obtained from each host organisation prior to the start of the study at the site concerned.

Management permission ("R&D approval") should be sought from all NHS organisations involved in the study in accordance with NHS research governance arrangements.

Guidance on applying for NHS permission for research is available in the Integrated Research Application System or at <u>http://www.rdforum.nhs.uk</u>.

Where a NHS organisation's role in the study is limited to identifying and referring potential participants to research sites ("participant identification centre"), guidance should be sought from the R&D office on the information it requires to give permission for this activity.

For non-NHS sites, site management permission should be obtained in accordance with the procedures of the relevant host organisation.

Sponsors are not required to notify the Committee of approvals from host organisations.

Registration of Clinical Trials

All clinical trials (defined as the first four categories on the IRAS filter page) must be registered on a publically accessible database within 6 weeks of recruitment of the first participant (for medical device studies, within the timeline determined by the current registration and publication trees).

There is no requirement to separately notify the REC but you should do so at the earliest opportunity e.g when submitting an amendment. We will audit the registration details as part of the annual progress reporting process.

To ensure transparency in research, we strongly recommend that all research is registered but for non clinical trials this is not currently mandatory.

If a sponsor wishes to contest the need for registration they should contact Catherine Blewett (<u>catherineblewett@nhs.net</u>), the HRA does not, however, expect exceptions to be made. Guidance on where to register is provided within IRAS.

It is the responsibility of the sponsor to ensure that all the conditions are complied with before the start of the study or its initiation at a particular site (as applicable).

Ethical review of research sites

NHS sites

The favourable opinion applies to all NHS sites taking part in the study, subject to management permission being obtained from the NHS/HSC R&D office prior to the start of the study (see "Conditions of the favourable opinion" below).

Non-NHS sites

The Committee has not yet completed any site-specific assessment (SSA) for the non-NHS research site(s) taking part in this study. The favourable opinion does not therefore apply to any non-NHS site at present. We will write to you again as soon as an SSA application(s) has been reviewed. In the meantime no study procedures should be initiated at non-NHS sites.

Approved documents

The final list of documents reviewed and approved by the Committee is as follows:

Document	Version	Date
Evidence of Sponsor insurance or indemnity (non NHS Sponsors only)		20 July 2015
GP/consultant information sheets or letters [IRON WOMAN Trial - Letter to GP]	1	20 August 2015
IRAS Checklist XML [Checklist_24082015]		24 August 2015
Other [Response to validation query]		26 August 2015
Participant consent form [IRONWOMAN - Consent Form v2]	V2	03 November 2015
Participant information sheet (PIS) [IRON WOMAN Trial - Participant information sheet v3]	V3	03 November 2015
REC Application Form [REC_Form_24082015]		24 August 2015
Referee's report or other scientific critique report		31 October 2014
Research protocol or project proposal [IRON WOMAN Trial - Protocol]	1	20 August 2015
Summary CV for Chief Investigator (CI) [Toby Richards - 2 page CV]	1	18 August 2015

Statement of compliance

The Committee is constituted in accordance with the Governance Arrangements for Research Ethics Committees and complies fully with the Standard Operating Procedures for Research Ethics Committees in the UK.

After ethical review

Reporting requirements

The attached document "After ethical review – guidance for researchers" gives detailed guidance on reporting requirements for studies with a favourable opinion, including:

- Notifying substantial amendments
- Adding new sites and investigators
- Notification of serious breaches of the protocol
- Progress and safety reports
- Notifying the end of the study

The HRA website also provides guidance on these topics, which is updated in the light of changes in reporting requirements or procedures.

User Feedback

The Health Research Authority is continually striving to provide a high quality service to all applicants and sponsors. You are invited to give your view of the service you have received and the application procedure. If you wish to make your views known please use the feedback form available on the HRA website: http://www.hra.nhs.uk/about-the-hra/governance/guality-assurance/

HRA Training

We are pleased to welcome researchers and R&D staff at our training days – see details at http://www.hra.nhs.uk/hra-training/

15/LO/1570	Please quote this number on all correspondence

With the Committee's best wishes for the success of this project.

Yours sincerely

Dr Alan Ruben Chair

Email:nrescommittee.london-westminster@nhs.net

Enclosures: "After ethical review – guidance for researchers"

Copy to: Mr Toby Richards, University College London

10.12 IRONWOMAN Trial: St Mary's Ethics Approval



Georgie Bruinvels (SHAS): 'Ironwoman - iron therapy for female athletes'.

29 February 2016

Dear Georgie

University Ethics Sub-Committee

Thank you for submitting your ethics application for the above research.

I can confirm that your application has been considered by the Ethics Sub-Committee and that ethical approval is granted.

Yours sincerely

Dr Conor Gissane Chair of the Ethics Sub-Committee

Cc Charlie Pedlar Richard Burden
10.13 IRONWOMAN Trial: Informed consent





INFORMED CONSENT Version 2 – 28 October 2015

Study Title: IRONWOMAN – Iron therapy for female athletes

Participant Identification Number for this trial:

Chief Investigator: Professor Toby Richards Student Researcher: Miss Georgie Bruinvels Principal Researchers: Dr Charles Pedlar and Dr Richard Burden

Please initial boxes to indicate agreement with each specific point below.

- I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason without my legal rights being affected.
- I am satisfied that the researchers have explained the purpose, principles and procedures of the study, outlining any possible risks.
- I understand how my data will be collected and used and that confidential information will only be seen by researchers.
- I understand that I will have three venous blood samples and a urine sample collected, and I give permission for these to be stored in accordance with the Human Tissue Act for current and future research.
- I understand that I will be required to perform two maximal exercise tests (and have a familiarisation trial).
- I understand that I will have my haemoglobin mass measured on two occasions.
- I understand that I am gifting my samples to the investigators and in so doing give up all future claims to its use that may include further research with the appropriate ethical approval.
- I agree to my General Practitioner being informed of my participation in this study.
- I agree to take part in the above study.

Name of participant	Date	Signature
Name of person taking consent	Date	Signature

10.14 IRONWOMAN Trial: Female athlete monitoring questionnaire

< Return PREVIEW Ironwoman Trial Female Health Skip: Next > 1/3 🌣 Questionnaire

Ironwoman Trial Female Health Questionnaire

0% complete

Page 1

There is much ambiguity about the possible impacts of the menstrual cycle on exercise performance. Research in the female athlete at all menstrual cycle phases is lacking, however we are really keen to start addressing this and help understand why many females feel that their menstrual cycle holds them back.

In order to participate in this study you must be:

- Female
- 18 years or older
- Pre-menopausal

By completing this survey you are giving consent for the information you provide to be included in this study. Your participation is voluntary and is specific to this study, and shall not be taken to imply consent to participate in any subsequent experiment or deviation from that detailed. All information will remain confidential as to your identity, and you may withdraw from the study at anytime without reason. If there is anything you do not understand or wish to ask questions about, please feel free to ask.

Thank you for participating

Do you agree to these terms?

- O Yes
- O No

This part of the survey uses a table of questions, view as separate questions instead?

Please specify your personal best times for all/any of the below in the last year

	Time (minutes:seconds)
5km run (inc Parkrun)	
10km run	
Half marathon	
10M TT cycle	
25M TT cycle	
100km cycle	
2km row	

Do you use the oral contraceptive pill? * Required

O Yes

🔘 No

If you use any other contraceptive device that will stop regular bleeding please specify

Approximately how many periods have you had in the last year?

How long does your average menstrual cycle last (days)? - from the start of one bleed to the next



How long does each bleed normally last? (days)

Have you ever sought advice/help for heavy periods?

◯ Yes	○ No

To your knowledge have you ever had anaemia?

◯ Yes	⊖ No	O Don't know
Have you ever supplem	ented with iron?	
◯ Yes	⊖ No	O Don't know

Have you ever experienced any of the below during your period? (please select all that apply)

Flooding through to clothes or bedding
Need of frequent changes of sanitary towels or tampons (meaning changes every 2 hours or less or 12 sanitary items per period)
Need of double sanitary protection (tampons and towels)
Pass large blood clots
 Pass large blood clots

Do you feel that your menstrual cycle disrupts your training/performance?

◯ Yes	○ No

This part of the survey uses a table of questions, view as separate questions instead?

How many days after you started your previous menstrual cycle were you at the following times:

	Day after started previous menstrual cycle (first day of bleeding)
Screening blood test	
Baseline tests	
Iron injection	
Follow up tests	

10.15 Questionnaires

10.15.1.1 The MFI-20



MFI® MULTIDIMENSIONAL FATIGUE INVENTORY

SE. Smets, B.Garssen, B. Bonke.

Instructions:

By means of the following statements we would like to get an idea of how you have been feeling **lately**. There is, for example, the statement:

"I FEEL RELAXED"

If you think that this is **entirely true**, that indeed you have been feeling relaxed lately, please, place an **X** in the extreme left box; like this:

yes, that is true $\boxtimes_1 \square_2 \square_3 \square_4 \square_5$ no, that is not true

The more you **disagree** with the statement, the more you can place an **X** in the direction of "no, that is not true". Please do not miss out a statement and place only one **X** in a box for each statement.

1	I feel fit.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	D 5	no, that is not true
2	Physically, I feel only able to do a little.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	D 5	no, that is not true
3	I feel very active.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
4	I feel like doing all sorts of nice things.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
5	I feel tired.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
6	I think I do a lot in a day.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
7	When I am doing something, I can keep my thoughts on it.	yes, that is true		2	□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
8	Physically I can take on a lot.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
9	I dread having to do things.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
10	I think I do very little in a day.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
11	I can concentrate well.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
12	I am rested.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	D 5	no, that is not true
13	It takes a lot of effort to concentrate on things.	yes, that is true	D 1	2	□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
14	Physically I feel I am in a bad condition.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
15	I have a lot of plans.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
16	I tire easily.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
17	I get little done.	yes, that is true		D 2	□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
18	I don't feel like doing anything.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
19	My thoughts easily wander.	yes, that is true			□3	•4	□5	no, that is not true
20	Physically I feel I am in an excellent condition.	yes, that is true	D 1	2	□3	4	□5	no, that is not true

Thank you very much for your cooperation

10.15.1.2 The EQ-5D-5L Questionnaire

EQ-5D-5L Questionnaire

Under each heading, please tick the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY

MOBILITY I have no problems in walking about I have slight problems in walking about I have moderate problems in walking about I have severe problems in walking about I am unable to walk about	
SELF-CARE I have no problems washing or dressing myself I have slight problems washing or dressing myself I have moderate problems washing or dressing myself I have severe problems washing or dressing myself I am unable to wash or dress myself	
USUAL ACTIVITIES (e.g. work, study, housework, family or leisure activities) I have no problems doing my usual activities I have slight problems doing my usual activities I have moderate problems doing my usual activities I have severe problems doing my usual activities I am unable to do my usual activities	
PAIN / DISCOMFORT I have no pain or discomfort I have slight pain or discomfort I have moderate pain or discomfort I have severe pain or discomfort I have extreme pain or discomfort	
ANXIETY / DEPRESSION I am not anxious or depressed I am slightly anxious or depressed I am moderately anxious or depressed I am severely anxious or depressed I am extremely anxious or depressed	

- We would like to know how good or bad your health is TODAY.
- This scale is numbered from 0 to 100.
- 100 means the <u>best</u> health you can imagine.
 0 means the <u>worst</u> health you can imagine.
- Mark an X on the scale to indicate how your health is TODAY.
- Now, please write the number you marked on the scale in the box below.

YOUR HEALTH TODAY =



10.15.1.3 Piper Fatigue Scale

1. To v No Dis	vhat deg tress	ree is th	ne fatigu	ie you a	re feelin	g now c	ausing	you dist A Grea	ress? It Deal
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
2. To v comple	vhat deg ete your	jree is tł work or	ne fatigu school	e you a activitie	re feelin s?	ig now i	nterferin	g with y	our ability to
None 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	A Grea 9	t Deal 10
3. To v socializ with yc	vhat deg ze our frienc	jree is tł ds?	ne fatigu	ie you a	re feelin	ig now i	nterferin	g with y	our ability to
None 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	A Grea 9	t Deal 10
4. To v engage	vhat deg e in sexu	ree is th ual activ	ne fatigu ity?	ie you a	re feelin	g now i	nterferin	g with y	our ability to
None 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	A Grea 9	t Deal 10
5. Ove ability	rall, how to engag	/ much i ge in the	s the fat kind of	tigue wh activitie	iich you s you ei	are nov njoy doi	v experie ng?	encing i	nterfering with your
None 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	A Grea 9	it Deal 10
6. How experie	would y	you des ow?	cribe the	e degree	e of inter	nsity or	severity	of the fa	atigue which you are
None 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Severe 9	10
7. To v	vhat deg	Iree wou	uld you o	describe	the fati	gue whi	ch you a	are expe	eriencing now as
Pleasa 1	int 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Unplea 9	sant 10
8. To v beina?	vhat deg	Iree wou	uld you o	describe	the fati	gue whi	ch you a	are expe	eriencing now as
Agreea 1	able 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Disagre 9	eeable 10
9. To v beina?	vhat deg	Iree wou	uld you o	describe	the fati	gue whi	ch you a	are expe	eriencing now as
Protect 1	tive 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Destru 9	ctive 10
10. To	what de	gree wo	ould you	describ	e the fa	tigue wl	nich you	are exp	periencing now as
Positiv	e 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Negativ 9	ve 10
11. To	what de	egree wo	ould you	describ	e the fa	tigue wl	nich you	are exp	periencing now as
being: Norma 1	l 2	3	4	5	6	7	8	Abnorn 9	nal 10

12. To what degree are you now feeling:											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
13. To what degree are you now feeling: Awake Sleepv											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
14. To Livelv	what degree are you now feeling:							Listless	5		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
15. To what degree are you now feeling: Refreshed Tired											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
16. To what degree are you now feeling: Energetic Unenergetic											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
17. To Patient	what de	gree are	e you no			Impatient					
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
18. To what degree are you now feeling: Relaxed Tense											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
19. To what degree are you now feeling: Exhilarated Depressed											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
20. To what degree are you now feeling: Able to concentrate Unable to concentrate											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
21. To what degree are you now feeling:Able to rememberUnable to remember											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		
22. To what degree are you now feeling:Able to think clearlyUnable to think clearly											
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10		

10.15.1.4 BRUMS Mood Scale

	Not at	A little	Moderately	Quite	Extremely
	all			a bit	
Panicky	0	1	2	3	4
Lively	0	1	2	3	4
Confused	0	1	2	3	4
Worn out	0	1	2	3	4
Depressed	0	1	2	3	4
Downhearted	0	1	2	3	4
Annoyed	0	1	2	3	4
Exhausted	0	1	2	3	4
Mixed-up	0	1	2	3	4
Sleepy	0	1	2	3	4
Bitter	0	1	2	3	4
Unhappy	0	1	2	3	4
Anxious	0	1	2	3	4
Worried	0	1	2	3	4
Energetic	0	1	2	3	4
Miserable	0	1	2	3	4
Muddled	0	1	2	3	4
Nervous	0	1	2	3	4
Angry	0	1	2	3	4
Active	0	1	2	3	4
Tired	0	1	2	3	4
Bad	0	1	2	3	4
Tempered					
Alert	0	1	2	3	4
Uncertain	0	1	2	3	4